Perinatal Depression in Rural Ghana:

Burden, Determinants, Consequences, and Impact of a Community-Based Intervention.

Benedict Weobong (MSc)



A thesis submitted to the University of London in consideration for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Nutrition and Public Health Intervention Research

Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health

London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2012

Supervisor: Betty Kirkwood

Statement of authorship/declaration

I Benedict Weobong, affirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own, and any other information derived from both published and unpublished work has been duly acknowledged.

Signed:



Date:

Acknowledgements

"He has made all things beautiful in His time, and He has also set eternity in the hearts of men; yet they cannot fathom what God has done from beginning to end" (Ecclesiastis 3:11). Permit me to delve into the realm of my christian faith, but these words spoken several thousands of years ago fittingly describe all the emotions and passion that have come about as I take the first step into the world of academia and research. This could not have materialised without the involvement of many distinguished and very admirable people, I could not even begin to mention all of them in the little space and window I have. Nevertheless, some notable individuals and groups deserve to be recognised.

First and foremost, but for the generosity and confidence entrusted in me by Prof. Betty Kirkwood, I may not have realised this dream. My relationship with Prof. Kirkwood dates back about ten years ago when I took the daring step to tell her my plans to build a career around perinatal mental health and how her maternal VitA trial cohort could be a huge resource in shaping up my plans. Where on earth was I ever going to be able to have the rare opportunity to conduct mental health research on over 100,000 women under continues surveillance, if not for the opportunity I had to work with Prof. Kirkwood. Her generosity was and has been unending, as I was offered the chance to train for my PhD under her supervision, with reduced fees made possible through the collaborative institutions scheme of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine . It has been a very rewarding period under her mentorship and I am particularly grateful for all the inspiration, useful guidance, and the extraordinary bond of friendship that has evolved over this period. I have absolutely no regrets that she has been my supervisor, and indeed look forward to a long term mutually rewarding working relationship with her looking at the close links between mental health and maternal/child health and development.

Closely following on the heels of the immense role Prof. Kirkwood has played is that from Prof. Martin Prince of the Institute of Psychiatry, London. My interest in mental health research which was whipped up by Dr.Victor Doku, was sustained by Prof. Martin Prince who agreed to be my sponsor and supervisor for my MSc. studies. This relationship went on beyond my MSc. training as he was also instrumental in helping me to conceptualise my PhD research and the role he has played as my affiliate supervisor. His expertise in the subject area has been very useful to me in this training, and I look forward to benefiting more from his vast experience in the field of mental health.

I have also had support from some notable senior colleagues like: Dr. Seyi Soremekun who provided great support in getting my data prepared for analysis, Dr. Guus ten Asbroek who served as one of my advisors and was on the ground with me during the data collection, and Dr. Zelee Hill who helped with the ethical clearance application from the school and her useful comments on the training material used for training field data collectors. In addition, I pay tribute to my PhD student colleagues also supervised by Prof. Kirkwood; Dr. Linda Vesel, and Dr. Alexander Manu, who have been incredible office mates and very supportive when the going gets tough.

I also recognise the support from the director and staff of my home institution, Kintampo Health Research Centre, Ghana. Of particular mention is Dr. Seth Owusu-Agyei who made time to support me during the data collection, and his interest in learning progress of field work anytime he had the opportunity. The data managers; Mr. Seeba Amenga-Etego and Mr. Samuel Danso, and Mr. Justin Fenty offered great support and I am grateful. The field data collectors were superb and I am particularly thankful to the women who provided this invaulable data.

My friends and family have been so very supportive. My friends: Margaret Made, Eric kasisi Pwamang, Simon Adoa, Sahala Yahaya, Evelyn King, Dr. Sathish Sivakumar, Bismark Dinko, and Bob Kafari have been my essential family in the UK, and I will forever remain thankful for all their material and emotional support.

Throughout my educational training the role of my family has always been very instrumental. My parents; Mr. Charles Weobong and Mrs. Rose Mary Weobong have been incredible with the constant calls to check on me, and the patience of dealing with my not being around to help with those little things I used to do for them. My brothers; Conrad and Donatus have been fantastic and their continued encouragement to plod on and make Godfrey proud has been my source of energy.

Dedication

To the ever loving memory of Godfrey and Ophelia Weobong, both of whom I/we sorely miss. I know you have been watching!

Prologue

This thesis is a compilation of research findings on the topic of perinatal depression in the low and middle income country (LMIC), Ghana. The thesis is presented in the "Research Paper Style", rather than the "Book Style" as provided in section 15.5 of the LSHTM Research Degree Handbook. The presentation of the findings is to tell a coherent story of the epidemiology of perinatal depression.

The thesis is thus structured with this in mind and has four main sections. The introduction in section A contains two chapters. Background to the PhD project, rationale, aims, and conceptual framework for the PhD are presented in chapter 1. In chapter 2, a narrative of relevant literature in perinatal depression, including gaps is presented. This transitions into section B of the thesis where an overview of the methodology employed in this project is presented. This section contains chapters 3 and 4 which outlines the setting of the research project and data collection procedures.

Section C is where the story of the findings through prepared research articles is presented. Preceding this is an overview chapter (5) describing the background characteristics of the study population, denominators, and brief psychometric properties of the depression tool used in this PhD. At the beginning of the coherent story I present in chapters 6 and 7, the burden and determinants of antenatal and postnatal depression. Then in chapters 8 and 9, I discuss the consequences of antenatal and of postnatal depression on the health of the mother and baby. Finally, I present in chapter 10 findings from a home-visits intervention (NewHints) with the potential to reduce the burden of postnatal depression among recently delivered mothers.

In the last section of the thesis (section D), I present a general summary of my findings, suggest an agenda for future work, and discuss programmatic implications of the findings in chapter 11.

Abstract

The relative lack of research in mental health in low and middle income countries is symptomatic of the 10/90 gap in general health research where only 10% of the world's expenditure on health research is dedicated to the poorest 90% of the world's population. Globally there has been modest declines in both maternal and child deaths but there are still wide disparities between developed and developing countries; as the total number of under 5 deaths has declined, from 11.6 million in 1990 to 7.2 million in 2011, the proportion of deaths occurring in sub-Saharan Africa has increased from 33% in 1990 to 49% in 2011, and the region also bears the biggest burden (>50%) of maternal deaths. Innovations to reducing this burden are urgently needed in parallel with intensified efforts to increase coverage of proven effective maternal and child health interventions. One such innovation might be to include a focus on eliciting contextual determinants, and preventing and/or treating perinatal depression that is depression occurring during pregnancy or after birth, since there is some evidence suggesting that this is associated with adverse effects on infant health and development, and maternal health.

This thesis is designed to add to this sparse evidence base by providing data on the burden of antenatal and postnatal depression in rural Ghana, examining determinants of this burden, investigating the links between perinatal depression and maternal and child health outcomes, and evaluating whether a home-visits intervention had reduced this burden. The research was undertaken within seven contiguous districts of the Brong Ahafo region of Ghana between January 2008 and July 2009. All women of reproductive age in these districts were part of a surveillance system supporting two randomised controlled trials that involved 4-weekly visits by resident fieldworkers who collected data on socio-demographics, obstetric histories, pregnancies, births, deaths and infant and maternal health. The research for this PhD involved training the surveillance field workers to also administer the depression module of the Patient Health Questionnaire screening tool (PHQ-9) to pregnant women and recently delivered mothers between 4-12 weeks after birth.

8

21135 pregnant women and 18356 recently delivered women were screened for depression, 13929 of whom were screened at both time points. The prevalence of postnatal depression (PND) was 3.8% (95% CI 3.5%, 4.1%), comprising 0.1% (95% CI: 0.08%-0.1%) who met criteria for major depression and 3.7% (95% CI: 3.4%-3.9%) for minor depression. The prevalence of antenatal depression (AND) was much higher 9.9% (95% CI: 9.5%-10.3%); 12.5% of these cases persisted into the postnatal period and accounted for 34.4% of postnatal cases.

The following determinants were identified for antenatal depression: maternal age 30 years or older, never married, lower wealth status, non-Catholic religion, non-indigenous ethnicity, unplanned pregnancy, and previous pregnancy loss.

And the following were identified for postnatal depression: never married, non-indigenous ethnicity, AND, season of delivery, peripartum/postpartum complications, newborn ill-health, still birth or neonatal death. Determinants were similar for 'new' cases of postnatal depression and for cases where depression was also detected antenatally.

AND was found to be associated with the following consequences: prolonged labour, postpartum complications, peripartum complications, CS/instrumental delivery, severe newborn illness, and bed net non-use during pregnancy. PND was associated with increased risk of infant mortality up to six months (rate ratio [RR], 2.83 (1.56-5.16) and 12 months (RR, 1.79 (1.04-3.09) of age. Postnatal depression was also associated with increased risk of infant morbidity.

Home-visits by community volunteers aimed at preventing neonatal deaths had no impact on attenuating prevalence of postnatal depression (relative risk [RR] 0.99 (95% CI 0.65, 1.50; p=0.96).

This is the first large cohort study in SSA to provide evidence of determinants and consequences of perinatal depression, rather than studying the more general common mental disorder which include depression. The conclusions reached in this PhD are:1) Most risk factors of postnatal depression relate to adverse birth outcomes of the mother and/or baby, whereas those of antenatal depression are sociodemographic and pregnancy-specific, 2) Both antenatal

and postnatal depression may have deleterious effects on the health of the mother and/or on child health and survival, 3) A case for clinical interventions for depression is established both during pregnancy and after birth, 4) Though often self-limiting, tackling antenatal depression could prevent up to a third of the burden of postnatal depression, 5) The timely implementation of such interventions using existing primary care structures may provide an important adjunct to improving maternal health and child health and survival efforts.

Funding

•

This work was supported by the UK Department for International Development, Save the Children's Saving Newborn Lives Programme from The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and the World Health Organisation. WB also received support for his fees, travel and subsistence from the Psychiatric Research Trust of the Institute of Psychiatry, the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and the UK Department for International Development.

Table of Contents

Prologue		7
Abstract		8
Section A		18
Chapter 1: B	ackground, Rationale, Aims, Conceptual Framework for PhD	19
1.1 Ba	ckground:	19
1.1.1	DON Study	19
1.1.2	Works Leading up to the DON Cohort Study	19
1.1.3	Motivating Experiences	20
1.2 Pe	rinatal Depression: Definition and Aetiology	21
1.2.1	Defining Perinatal Depression	21
1.2.2	Historical Perspectives	22
1.2.3	Aetiology	23
1.3 Th	neoretical Background to Thesis	23
1.4 Ra	tionale: Need for Studies in SSA and Relevance of the DON Study to the Chil	d and
Maternal	MDGs 4&5	25
1.5 Ai	m, Objectives & Conceptual Framework	26
1.6 Ro	ble of Author	32
1.7 Re	eferences to Chapter 1	33
2. Chapter	r 2: Literature Review	37
2.1 Se	arch Strategy	37
2.2 M	easuring Perinatal Depression	38
2.3 Ep	bidemiology of Perinatal Depression	43
2.3.1	Incidence, Prevalence, and Persistence of Antenatal Depression (AND)	43
2.3.2	Incidence and Prevalence of Postnatal Depression (PND)	44
2.3.3	Epidemiology of the Course of Perinatal Depression	46
2.4 De	eterminants of Perinatal Depression	51
2.4.1	Determinants of Antenatal Depression	51
2.4.2	Determinants of Postnatal Depression	53
2.4.3	Determinants of the Course of Perinatal Depression	56
2.5 Co	onsequences of Perinatal Depression for the Health of the Mother and Baby	58
2.5.1	Consequences of Antenatal Depression	58
2.5.2	Consequences of Postnatal Depression	59
2.6 Aj	oproaches to Tackling Perinatal Depression	61
2.6.1	Antenatal Depression	62
2.6.2	Postnatal Depression	64

2.7	Perinatal Depression in Ghana		
2.8	Non-perinatal Depression in Ghana		
2.9	Conclusions/Gaps		
2.10	References to Chapter 2		
Section 1	В		
3. Cha	apter 3: Country Profile: Geography, Economy, Health and Study Setting		
3.1	Geography, Governance and Economy		
3.1.	1 Geography and Governance		
3.1.	2 Economy		
3.2	Demographic and Reproductive Health		
3.2.	1 Demographic and Socio-Economic Indicators		
3.2.	2 Reproductive Health		
3.3	Mental Health in Ghana	100	
3.4	Study Setting: Data Collection Site	103	
3.5	References to Chapter 3	106	
4. Cha	pter 4: Methods	107	
4.1	Overview of Design	107	
4.2	DON Data Collection Procedure	107	
4.2.	1 Measure of Depression	107	
4.2.	2 PHQ-9 Training, Supervision and Quality Control	109	
4.2.	3 DON Postnatal Data	110	
4.3	Surveillance Data Used in DON	111	
4.4	The Newhints Trial	116	
4.4.	1 Newhints Intervention	116	
4.4.	2 Newhints Control Zone	118	
4.4.	3 Impact Evaluation	118	
4.5	Analysis Plan	119	
4.6	Ethical Conduct of Study	120	
4.7	References to Chapter 4	121	
Section C			
5. Chapter 5: Study Population and PHQ-9 Results			
5.1	Flow Chart and Denominators	123	
5.2 Socio-Demographic Characteristics of Study Population and Prevalence of Antenatal and Postnatal Depression			
5.3	PHQ-9: Item Frequencies and Scores	126	
6. Chapter 6- Research Paper 1: Prevalence and Determinants of Antenatal Depression Among Pregnant Women in a Predominantly Rural Population in Ghana: The DON Population- based Study			

6.1	Abstract	129	
6.2	Introduction	130	
6.3	Materials and Methods	131	
6.4	Results	134	
6.5	Discussion	136	
6.6	References to Chapter 6	141	
7. Cha Findings	pter 7- Research Paper 2: Determinants of Postnatal Depression in Rural Ghana: from the DON Population-based Cohort Study.	150	
7.1	Abstract	151	
7.2	Introduction	152	
7.3	Materials and Methods	153	
7.4	Results	157	
7.5	Discussion	159	
7.5	1 Conflict of Interest	163	
7.5	2 Acknowledgements	163	
7.6	References to Chapter 7	165	
8. Chapter 8- Research Paper 3: Association of Antenatal Depression with Adverse Consequences for the Mother and Newborn in Rural Ghana: Findings from the DON Population-based Cohort Study 179			
8.1	Abstract	180	
8.2	Introduction	182	
8.3	Materials and Methods	183	
8.4	Results	186	
8.5	Discussion	189	
8.6	References to Chapter 8	199	
 9. Chapter 9- Research Paper 4: Association of Postnatal Depression with Increase Infant Mortality and Morbidity: findings from the DON Population-based Cohort Study in Rural 203 			
9.1	Abstract	204	
9.2	Introduction	205	
9.3	Materials and Methods	206	
9.4	Results	210	
9.5	Discussion	211	
9.6	References to Chapter 9	223	
10. Chapter 10- Research Paper 5: Impact of the 'Newhints' Home visits Intervention Trial			
10. Con Postn	Chapter 10- Research Paper 5: Impact of the 'Newhints' Home visits Intervention Tr atal Depression in Rural Ghana	ial 226	
10. C on Postn 10.1	Chapter 10- Research Paper 5: Impact of the 'Newhints' Home visits Intervention Tr atal Depression in Rural Ghana Abstract	ial 226 227	

10.3	Materials and Methods	
10.4	Results	
10.5	Discussion	
10.6	References to Chapter 10	
Section 1	D	
11. C	Chapter 11: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications	
11.1	Summary of Principal Findings	
11.1	1.1 Burden of Perinatal Depression	
11.1	1.2 Determinants of Perinatal Depression	
11.1	1.3 Consequences of Perinatal Depression	
11.	1.4 Impact of 'Newhints' Intervention	
11.2	Strengths and Limitations	
11.2	2.1 Strengths	
11.2	2.2 Limitations	
11.3	Conclusions and Recommendations	
11.3	3.1 Five Main Research Areas:	
11.3	3.2 Programmatic Implications for Mental Health Policy and Practice in	n sub-Saharan
Afr	ica	
12. A	Appendix 1: PHQ-9 Validation Study Published Report	
13. A	Appendix 2: Coverage of Epidemiological Studies on Perinatal Depression dle Income Countries	within Low 262
14 A	Appendix 3: Data Collection Forms	262
14.1	DON Form	270
14.1	Profile Form	
14.2	Birth Form	
14.5	Process Evaluation Form	270
14.4	Postpartum Form	
14.5	Infant Form	
14.0	Month Pregnancy Form	300
14.7	Month Standard Form	
14.0		

List of abbreviations/Acronyms:

PND	Postnatal Depression
AND	Antenatal Depression
PPD	Postpartum Depression
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
LAMIC/LMIC	Low and Middle-Income Countries
HIC	High-Income Countries
PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire-9
EPDS	Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale
CPRS	Comprehensive Psychopathological Rating Scale
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual version IV
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases, 10th Edition
DSM-IV TR	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual version IV: Text Revision
BDI	Beck's Depression Inventory
SCID	Structured clinical Interview for Depression
RDT	Research Diagnostic Tool
CIDI	Composite International Diagnostic Inventory
GDHS	Ghana Health and Demographic Survey
SPI	Goldberg's Standardized Psychiatric Interview
LBW	Low Birth Weight
NewHinTs	Newborn Home Intervention Trial
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
IoP	Institute of Psychiatry
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine
DON	Depression in ObaapaVitA and NewHinTs
ObaapaVitA	Obaapa Vitamin A Trial
DON_PP	DON Postpartum
DON_PREG	DON Pregnancy
IEC	Institutional Ethics Committee
PMR	Perinatal Mortality Ratio
IMR	Infant Mortality Rate
MMR	Maternal Mortality Ratio
DfID	Department for International Development
PRT	Psychiatric Research Trust
SNL	Saving Newborn Lives
WHO	World Health Organisation

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Conceptual Framework of PhD	30
Figure 1.2: Bio-psychosocial Model of Home-visits Intervention, PND and Mother/Child	
Survival	31
Figure 3.1: Map of Study Area	105
Figure 4.1: Recruitment Schedule for Data Collection	115
Figure 4.2: Newhints Integrated Intervention Package	118
Figure 5.1: Recruitment Profile for DON	124
Figure 5.2: Comparison of PHQ-9 Total Scores Between Women Screened for Both Antenatal and	
Postnatal Depression	127
Figure 5.3: Comparison of PHQ-9 Item Frequency and DSM-IV Caseness between Women	
Screened for both Antenatal and Postnatal Depression	127
Figure 6.1: Recruitment Profile for Participants in the Study	146
Figure 7.1: Recruitment Profile for Participants in the Study	170
Figure 8.1: Recruitment Profile	193
Figure 9.1: Flow Chart on Postnatal Depression Screening within Cohort	216
Figure 9.2: Child Survival by Presence of Antenatal and/or Postnatal Depression up to Six Months	
of Age, Restricted to Babies Alive at Time of the Postnatal Depression	
Assessment	217
Figure 10.1: Trial Profile	236
-	

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Objectives of this PhD Considered Under Research Paper of the PhD	27
Table 2.1: Criterion Validation Studies of the PHQ-9 in Low and Middle Income Countries	42
Table 2.2: Summary of Evidence on Approaches to Tackling Perinatal Depression	68
Table 4.1: Source and Genre of Data for Analysis of Each Objective.	113
Table 4.2: Timing of DON Study within ObaapaVitA and Newhints Trials	114
Table 5.1: Prevalence of Antenatal and Postnatal Depression Among Women Assessed for Both	126
Online Table 6.1: Socio-demographic Characteristics of Women Included and Excluded from	
Analysis of Determinants of Antenatal Depression	147
Table 6.1: Sample Characteristics and Association of Socio-economic/socio-demographic	
Determinants with Risk of Antenatal Depression Among Women in Ghana	148
Table 6.2: Sample Characteristics and Association of Pregnancy/ obstetric-related Factors with	
Risk of Antenatal Depression Among Women in Ghana	149
Table 6.3: Final Multivariable Model of Independent Determinants of Antenatal Depression	149
Online Table 7.1: Socio-demographic Characteristics of Women Included and Excluded from	
Analysis of Determinants of Postnatal Depression	171
Table 7.1: Sample Characteristics and Association of Socio-economic/socio-demographic Factors	
with Risk of Prevalent Postnatal Depression Among Women in Ghana	172
Table 7.2: Sample Characteristics and Association of Obstetric History/Pregnancy/Birth/Baby-	
related Factors with Risk of Postnatal Depression Among Women in Ghana	173
Table 7.3: Final Multivariable Logistic Regression Model of Factors Independently Associated	
with Postnatal Depression Among Women in Rural Ghana	175
Table 7.4: Final Multivariable Logistic Regression Model of Risk Factors for Persistence Antenatal	
Depression Among Women with Antenatal Depression in Rural Ghana	176
Online Table 7.2: Comparing Persistent cases with Onset Postnatal Depression with Respect to	
Background Socio-demographic/socio-economic Factors among Women in Rural Ghana	177
Online Table 7.3: Comparing Persistent cases with Onset Postnatal Depression with Respect	
Obstetric History/Pregnancy/Birth/Baby-related Factors among Women in Rural Ghana	178
Table 8.1: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Risk of Adverse Perinatal/neonatal Outcomes	194

Table 8.2: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Poor Birth Outcomes Including Morbidity among195

Mothers with Singleton Births	
Online Table 8.1: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Risk of Specific Peripartum Complications	196
Online Table 8.2: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Risk of Specific Postpartum Complications	197
Table 8.3: Effect of Antenatal Depression on the Uptake of Selected Key Newborn Care Practices	198
Table 9.1:Association of Postnatal Depression with Infant Mortality	218
Table 9.2: Association Between Maternal Postnatal Depression and Infant Morbidity	219
Online Table 9.1: Effect of Antenatal and/or Postnatal depression on Infant Mortality Up to Six	
Months	220
Online Table 9.2: Association Between Antenatal and/or Postnatal depression and Infant Morbidity	222
Table 10.1: Selected Trials Assessing the Effect of Community-based Interventions on Perinatal	
Depression	237
Table 10.2: Socio-demographic/socio-economic Categorical Characteristics of Trial Participants in	
Depression Sub-study	238
Table 10.3: Baseline Estimates of Perinatal Depression	238
Table 10.4: Effect of Home-visits on DSM-IV Major/Minor Postnatal Depression Among Recently	
Delivered Women (ITT)	238
Table 11.1: Summary of Study Findings and Recommendations for Intervention Strategy	252

Section A

Chapter 1: Background, Rationale, Aims, Conceptual Framework for PhD

1.1 Background:

1.1.1 DON Study

In this thesis the acronym 'DON' will feature prominently. This is the popular name of the study culminating in providing data for this PhD on perinatal depression, that is depression that occurs during pregnancy and/or after the baby is born. 'DON' stands for '**D**epression in **O**baapaVitA and **N**EWHINTS'. DON is thus a perinatal depression cohort study nested within the **O**baapaVitA and **N**EWHINTS' trials in the Brong-Ahafo region of Ghana^{1, 2}. It aimed to: (1) describe the epidemiology of perinatal depression; (2) to ascertain the association between perinatal depression and adverse consequences for maternal and child health; (3) to evaluate the impact of a psycho-educational home visits intervention to prevent newborn deaths on attenuating perinatal depression.

1.1.2 Works Leading up to the DON Cohort Study

Epidemiological research work in the area of perinatal mental health in Ghana started at the Kintampo Health Research Centre (KHRC) in 2005 as a project for my MSc in Research Methods at the Institute of Psychiatry for which I received a research training fellowship grant from the Wellcome Trust. I started off the research agenda with a cross-cultural adaptation of screening scales for postnatal depression for my MSc project. This involved the following: Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS), and the Self-Reporting Questionnaire (SRQ-20). My approach to cross-cultural adaptation of these screening tools involved a rigorous translation into Twi using both bilingual and bi-cultural expertise from Ghana and UK and was in keeping with Prince's recommended three steps when attempting to validate measures across cultures³. I therefore preceeded the testing of the screening tools by checking the cultural relevance of the

construct of morbid unhappiness in a cross section of various categories of women: grand mothers, postnatal mothers and antenatal mothers in a qualitative study. I also checked the comprehensibility of the items on the questionnaires with particular focus on the phrasing of the questions. Shortly following on the heels of this initial qualitative exploration of the construct of psychological distress during pregnancy and following child birth, I collaborated with an MPH student from the School of Public Health, University of Ghana to explore further the concept and causal factors through qualitative techniques. In both studies, the concept of morbid unhappiness was recognized and appreciated, but there was no agreement on a single term describing it. Participants referred to the concept as the 'worrying sickness' or 'thinking sickness', which are consistent with other reports in Africa or non-Western regions underscoring the fact that the concept of depression does exist but a single term describing it is non-existent^{4, 5}.

The MSc work laid the foundation for the DON cohort study designed to investigate and describe the epidemiology of perinatal depression and also test the possibility of using a psycho-educational intervention to promote perinatal mental health in a large sample.

1.1.3 Motivating Experiences

In shaping the interest to conduct this investigation, field experiences recorded during the cross-cultural adaptation of screening tools played a key role. During one of my interviews with a recently delivered mother, her baby who was then in the room (the interview was conducted outside) started crying unceasingly. But for constant pleas from me for the woman to attend to the baby, she would have remained adamant and uncaring. This woman showed clear signs of morbid unhappiness during the interview. It was at this point that I wondered what the scale of morbid unhappiness was and what the fate of such new born babies could be, if they (new born) would not be attended to even in such overt distress situations.

1.2 Perinatal Depression: Definition and Aetiology

1.2.1 Defining Perinatal Depression

Perinatal depression encompasses depression experienced by women either during pregnancy (antenatal depression) or after they have given birth (postnatal depression). Traditionally, definitions of postnatal depression are backed by two existing diagnostic systems: the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV TR)⁶, and the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10)⁷. Thus, whilst the DSM-IV recognizes postnatal depression as a major/minor depressive disorder, with onset at four weeks postnatally, the ICD-10 recognizes postnatal depression as a mild mental and behavioural disorder commencing within six weeks postnatally⁸. Irrespective of these two positions, common clinical manifestations of depression during pregnancy or after birth are: depressed mood, markedly diminished pleasure in almost all previously enjoyable activities, insomnia or hyper insomnia, significant weight loss or weight gain, psychomotor agitation or retardation, loss of energy, feelings of worthlessness and excessive guilt, reduced self-esteem and self-confidence, difficulty in concentration, and suicidal ideation^{6,7}.

It is important to note that presentation of perinatal depression does not differ from that among women in the general population, though the particular postnatal period is likely to confer a threefold increase in risk^{9, 10} and may contribute towards the notion that perinatal depression is a sub-type of general depression¹¹. Similarly, in a recent meta-analysis estimates of antenatal depression in the second and third trimesters were double those in the general adult population¹². These patterns of pregnancy and after birth period vulnerability notwithstanding, the overwhelming position in the discourse surrounding perinatal depression occurring at other times, and the use of the term does not indicate that such depression always develops [at pregnancy] or after delivery or is necessarily caused by the specific stress of childbirth¹³ or pregnancy. Admittedly, severe symptoms of depression may be particularly experienced during the special period of [pregnancy] and after birth because of the psychological and social

21

ramifications of [pregnancy] or infant care¹⁴, though normal pregnancy and after birth symptoms may confound genuine depression symptoms.

Whether pregnancy and birth are particularly special periods or not, the current view point is that these periods should be viewed as general stressors of life, like any other 'life event' which can trigger an attack of illness across the whole spectrum of psychiatric disorders¹⁵.

1.2.2 Historical Perspectives

Contrary to widely held opinion that work in the area of perinatal psychiatric morbidity has only recently emerged as a psychiatric sub-specialty, an extensive documentation of knowledge of psychiatric disorders of women during and following pregnancy dates as far back as 1858 in the work of Louis-Victor Marce¹⁶. Marce's contribution to modern psychiatry provides historical evidence that as early as the mid-eighteenth century, risk factors and consequences of perinatal mood disorders were already documented. This is encapsulated in the following quote:

"Where subjects are predisposed to mental illness through either hereditary antecedents, previous illnesses, or through an excessive nervous susceptibility, pregnancy, delivery and lactation can have disastrous repercussions."¹⁷.

Marce also noted that the majority (62.5%) of clinically important mental illness in pregnancy was likely to be *depressive (melancholia)*, and such symptoms tended to be self-limiting and disappear as pregnancy progressed. These observations accord remarkably well with contemporary findings particularly in sub-Saharan Africa¹⁸⁻²⁰ and high-income countries^{21, 22}. For such women, Marce recommended physicians provided reassurance as well as close monitoring for later recurrence of episodes. Indeed, Marce also disputed the view that pregnancy had beneficial effects on women's mental health and strongly advised against pregnancy as means of treatment for women who were already mentally ill¹⁶.

22

1.2.3 Aetiology

Though the aetiology of depression is unknown, various plausible aetiological pathways have been identified. Explanatory models for the explanation of the aetiology have been proposed from biological and psychological perspectives ²³. The biological model outlines various physiological changes during the perinatal period, and posits that such depression results from six underlining mechanisms²³: nutritional deficiencies, iron-deficiency anaemia, hormonal fluctuations, abnormality in biopterin/neopterin levels, alterations in Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal (HPA) axis, and alterations in neurotransmitter levels. On the other hand the psychological perspective argues that cognitive, behavioural, learned helplessness, and selfcontrol factors contribute to such depressive states during pregnancy and after delivery²⁴.

1.3 Theoretical Background to Thesis

The research presented in this thesis took into consideration issues of cross-cultural psychiatry^{25, 26}, where measuring perinatal pychiatric morbidity from a culture's perspective has been advocated. Thus, there was the need to culturally adapt a tool that allows for 'emic' (derived from within the culture) conceptualizations of perinatal psychiatric morbidity²⁷

Using tools from the West with 'etic' (from outside the culture) understandings can be fraught with measurement error because the meaning of words can be affected by a range of social and cultural factors²⁸. The reason for doing this was not to place 'emic' conceptualisations over and above the use of international or widely used diagnostic tools or vice-versa but to avoid the assumptions of cross-cultural equivalence inherent in quantitative research instruments²⁹. Thus, our decision to use the semi-structured Comprehensive Psychopatholigical Rating Scale³⁰ in the validation study, was to allow for questions to be asked and responses intepreted by a local clinician without direct reference to Western concepts, constructs or diagnostic nosologies. Aiming to achieve semantic equivalence especially in situations where translation of screening/diagnostic batteries is inevitable is key to ensuring cross-cultural comparisons across sites.

This approach to cross-cultural psychiatry has been previously cited in work carried out in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). In Zimbabwe for instance, the word 'depression' is used to illustrate an illness which is characterized by emotional symptoms³¹. Patel et al therefore argue that it is very vital to understand the cultural connotations of depressive symptoms used by patients in order to avoid any confusion with Western nosologies. Further to this, in their cross-cultural qualitative study of postnatal depression, Oates and colleagues argued that in order to avoid the assumptions of cross-cultural equivalence inherent in quantitative research instruments and the questionnaire method, qualitative methods were the appropriate way to explore and gain understanding of attitudes and beliefs of women and those involved in caring for them²⁹. Having said this, it could well be that the symptoms of depression are fairly universal and measuring tools developed in a given context can be used in others provided that conceptual translation is maintained³¹.

Beyond establishing 'emic' conceptualisations of perinatal psychiatric morbidity, other theoretical assumptions guiding this thesis are those advocated by the new movement for global mental health' (www.globalmentalhealth.org). One of the driving arguments of this movement posits that maternal mental health is a critical mediator between social adversity and poor infant growth. Thus, the link between perinatal depression and adverse infant outcomes is especially strong in low socio-economic populations where women face greater adversities and are less empowered³². In considering these links however, another school of thought argues that because the pathways have not been consistent in different populations, socio-economic and sociocultural factors may interact in determining the effect of maternal mental health on child survival³³.As a result the movement advocates for more research in low and middle-income countries.

The search light is thus on the public health burden of perinatal psychiatric morbidity on child and maternal health outcomes in settings where maternal and child health programmes/interventions are lacking, and also because only research that is conducted locally can be expected to affect awareness and lead to new policy development³⁴.

24

A contextual understanding of the epidemiology of burden, determinants, consequences and the formulation of culturally appropriate interventions targeting perinatal depression is therefore key.

1.4 Rationale: Need for Studies in SSA and Relevance of the DON Study to the Child and Maternal MDGs 4&5

Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) is a geographical or political term used to describe the area of the African continent which lies south of the Sahara, or those African countries which are fully or partially located south of the Sahara³⁵. It contrasts with North Africa, which is considered a part of the Arab world. Sub-Saharan Africa faces serious political, economic and social challenges. With an annual rate of growth of 2.3 per cent, and the current population of over one billion, another one billion is expected to be added by 2044³⁶. And despite improved economic performance in recent years, the overall gross domestic product growth rate is below the 6 to 8 per cent that is required over a 10-year period in order to achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs)³⁷.

Globally, under 5 child mortality has been declining at a rate of just over 2% per annum since 1990, the baseline year for the MDGs, with evidence of accelerating decline in many regions including sub-Saharan Africa since 2000³⁸. Similarly, globally there has been a modest and encouraging progress in reducing maternal deaths with an average of 2% per annum decline in the maternal mortality ratio between 1990 and 2010³⁹. There are still wide disparities between developed and developing countries and between regions, with sub-Saharan Africa accounting for a disproportionate and increasing burden of both under 5 and maternal deaths. As the total number of under 5 deaths has declined, from 11.6 million in 1990 to 7.2 million in 2011, the proportion of deaths occurring in sub-Saharan Africa has increased from 33% in 1990 to 49% in 2011⁴⁰. Furthermore sub-Saharan Africa accounts for 56% of maternal deaths (162,000 out of 287,000)³⁹ and the region is generally not on track to reach either the fourth MDG on child mortality or the fifth on maternal mortality.

Innovations to reducing this burden are urgently needed in parallel with intensified efforts to increase coverage of proven effective maternal and child health interventions. One such innovation might be to include a focus on preventing and/or treating perinatal depression³⁴ since there is some evidence suggesting that this is associated with adverse effects on infant and child health and development^{34, 41, 42}, maternal health⁴³⁻⁴⁸ and even child survival^{49, 50}.

This thesis aims to add to this sparse evidence base by investigating the links between perinatal depression and both maternal and child health outcomes in rural Ghana, as well as adding to the relatively limited evidence base on the burden of perinatal depression in sub-Saharan Africa.

1.5 Aim, Objectives & Conceptual Framework

The overall aim of this PhD was to contribute original contextual knowledge concerning the links between perinatal depression and maternal, newborn and infant health in rural Ghana. The specific objectives are guided by the conceptual framework in figure 1.1 and are arranged in table 1.1 by the five contributing papers.

Table 1.1: Objectives of this PhD Considered Under Each Research Paper of the PhD

Paper		Objectives
1.	Prevalence and determinants of antenatal depression among pregnant women in a predominantly	1.1 To describe the prevalence of antenatal depression (DSM-IV maj/min)
	rural population in Ghana.	1.2 To assess socio-demographic/socio-economic, obstetric history, and pregnancy-related risk factors
	(Research paper 1)	of prevalent antenatal depression.
2.	Determinants of postnatal depression	2.1 To describe the prevalence of postnatal depression (DSM-IV maj/min)
	(Research paper 2)	2.2 The estimate the proportion of postnatal depression cases that are antenatal cases and the proportion that are new.
		2.3 To estimate the proportion of antenatal cases that persist after birth
		2.4 To assess socio-demographic/socio-economic, obstetric history, pregnancy/birth/baby-related risk
		factors of prevalent postnatal depression.
		2.5 To compare the risk factor profile of women with onset postnatal depression and persistence antenatal depression.
		2.6 To assess socio-demographic/socio-economic, obstetric history, pregnancy/birth/baby-related risk
		factors of persistence antenatal depression.
3.	The consequences of antenatal depression on birth, neonatal, and maternal outcomes, including pregnancy behaviours and child survival practices in rural Ghana.	3.1 To assess the association between antenatal depression and birth and neonatal outcomes (neonatal deaths, still births, preterm birth, low birth weight, and newborn illness).
	(Research paper 3)	3.2 To assess the association between antenatal depression and maternal outcomes
		(peripartum and postpartum complications, prolonged labour, and non-vaginal delivery).
		3.3 To assess the association between antenatal depression and pregnancy behaviours and child
		survival practices (antenatal care attendance, bed net use during pregnancy, delivering at health
		facility, delayed initiation of breast feeding, non-exclusive breastfeeding since birth, and bed net use
		since birth).
4.	The consequences of postnatal depression on infant mortality and morbidity among recently	4.1 To assess the association between postnatal depression and; infant mortality up to six and twelve
	delivered mothers in rural Ghana.	months of age, and infant morbidity.
	(Research paper 4)	4.2 To assess the association between postnatal depression alone or antenatal depression alone, or both
		antenatal and postnatal depression and; infant mortality up to six months after birth, and infant
		morbidity.
5.	To assess whether the NEWHINTS home visit intervention trial reduced prevalence of postnatal	5.1 To compare the prevalence of postnatal depression between NEWHINTS intervention and control
	depression.	zones.
	(Research paper 5)	

The conceptual framework was also used to guide the literature review in Chapter 2. The middle column shows the burden of perinatal depression which encompasses antenatal depression and postnatal depression. As explained earlier in section 1.2.1, these are not phenomenologically different and symptom presentation is the same. Worthy of note however is that antenatal depression is a strong contributor to the burden of postnatal depression.

The left hand column shows the determinants of perinatal depression that will be considered in this PhD. There are 3 groups: socio-demographic/socio-economic, pregnancy-related, and birth/baby-related factors. The first two groups are potential determinants of antenatal depression (paper 1) and all three groups together with antenatal depression are potential determinants of postnatal depression (paper 2). As described in the literature review in the next chapter, there are other potential determinants that have not been included, in particular social support, partner violence, and previous psychopathology; these were beyond the scope of the DON study.

The right hand column shows the consequences of antenatal depression (paper 3), some of which (birth and neonatal/maternal outcomes) also double as determinants of postnatal depression, and consequences of postnatal depression (paper 4) which include infant deaths and infant illness.

The box at the bottom of the framework summarises approaches to tackling perinatal depression (see chapter 2, section 2.6). These include the use of both pharmacological and psychological/psychosocial interventions (treatment/prevention) that can be delivered at the clinic/hospital or community using either professionals or community health workers. Paper 5 in this thesis evaluates the impact of the Newhints home visits intervention on postnatal depression. The home visits were carried out by community volunteers who were trained to visit pregnant women twice during their pregnancy and three times in the first week after birth in order to promote essential newborn care practices, and to assess newborns for danger signs and to refer if any present. As illustrated in figure 1.4, the promotion of newborn care practices

adopted a counselling, problem solving psycho-education informed approach. It was therefore postulated that these two approaches (assessment for danger signs and health promotion) could potentially reduce the likelihood that a woman became depressed postnatally because of enhanced self-esteem, improved mastery of skills and carrying out tasks, and improved health and survival of the baby. Reduced postnatal depression in conjunction with treatments that target the mother-infant relationship may contribute towards improvement in survival of baby.

Figure 1.1: Conceptual Framework of PhD







1.6 Role of Author

The author of this PhD was involved in both the ObaapaVitA and Newhints trials in different capacities; member of the trial management team (TMT) on the ObaapaVitA and Newhints trials, and head of supervision on the Newhints trial. In both roles the author participated in the day-to-day running of the trials, and was particularly involved in designing and implementing the supervisory system for the Newhints trial. The author also trained and supervised community based volunteers (CBSVs) to make five home-visits to pregnant and recently delivered mothers; two during pregnancy and three after birth.

The PhD was conceptualised by the author with input from the supervisor of this PhD. The author designed the data collection forms for collecting depression data, designed training manuals, and trained and supervised about 400 data collectors in screening women for antenatal and postnatal depression using the PHQ-9.

All analysis of the PhD data were conducted by the author, including preparation of draft manuscripts covering the five papers contained in this PhD. The primary supervisor and cosupervisor provided main comments and input towards the development of the papers, but all other authors listed also provided comments.

1.7 References to Chapter 1

- 1. Kirkwood, B.R., et al., *Effect of vitamin A supplementation in women of reproductive age on maternal survival in Ghana (ObaapaVitA): a cluster-randomised, placebo-controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2010. **375**(9726): p. 1640-1649.
- 2. Kirkwood, B.R., et al., *NEWHINTS cluster randomised trial to evaluate the impact on neonatal mortality in rural Ghana of routine home visits to provide a package of essential newborn care interventions in the third trimester of pregnancy and the first week of life: trial protocol.* Trials, 2010. **11**: p. 58.
- 3. Prince, M., *Measurement validity in cross-cultural comparative research*. Epidemiol Psichiatr Soc, 2008. **17**(3): p. 211-20.
- 4. Jegede, R., *Depressive symptomatology in patients attending a hospital-based general out-patient clinic*. Afr J Med Med Sci, 1978. **7**(4): p. 207-10.
- Kalunta, A., *Depressive-Illness Its Cultural-Aspects*. Psychopathologie Africaine, 1981. 17(1-3): p. 113-125.
- 6. APA, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for mental disorders-TR*, APA, Editor. 2000: Washington (DC).
- 7. WHO, International statistical classification of disease and related health problems (ICD-10). 1993, WHO: Geneva.
- 8. Klainin, P. and D.G. Arthur, *Postpartum depression in Asian cultures: A literature review*. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2009. **46**(10): p. 1355-1373.
- 9. Cox, J.L., D. Murray, and G. Chapman, *A controlled study of the onset, duration and prevalence of postnatal depression*. Br J Psychiatry, 1993. **163**: p. 27-31.
- 10. Cooper, P.J. and L. Murray, *Postnatal depression*. BMJ, 1998. **316**(7148): p. 1884-6.
- Phillips, J., et al., Subtypes of postnatal depression? A comparison of women with recurrent and de novo postnatal depression. Journal of Affective Disorders, 2010.
 120(1-3): p. 67-75.
- Bennett, H.A., et al., *Prevalence of depression during pregnancy: systematic review*.
 Obstet Gynecol, 2004. **103**(4): p. 698-709.
- Cox, J. and J. Holden, *The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale Authors' reply*. British Journal of Psychiatry, 2003. **182**: p. 368-368.
- O'Hara, M.W., et al., Controlled prospective study of postpartum mood disorders: comparison of childbearing and nonchildbearing women. J Abnorm Psychol, 1990.
 99(1): p. 3-15.
- Brockington, I.F., Cox-Roper, A., *The nosology of puerperal mental illness.*, in *Motherhood and Mental Illness 2: Causes and Consequences*, R.K. I.F.Brockington Editor. 1988, Wright: London.

- 16. Trede, K., et al., *Treatise on insanity in pregnant, postpartum, and lactating women* (1858) by Louis-Victor Marce: a commentary. Harv Rev Psychiatry, 2009. 17(2): p. 157-65.
- Marc´e, L.V., Etude sur les causes de la folie puerp´erale [Study of the causes of puerperal insanity].
 Ann M´ed-Psychol (Paris), 1857. 3(562).
- Cox, J., Psychiatric morbidity and childbirth: a study of 273 semirural Ugandan women. A prospective, controlled community study. 1980 University of Oxford: Oxford.
- Aderibigbe, Y.A., O. Gureje, and O. Omigbodun, *Postnatal emotional disorders in Nigerian women. A study of antecedents and associations.* Br J Psychiatry, 1993. 163: p. 645-50.
- Hanlon, C., Perinatal common mental disorders in Ethiopia: socio-cultural factors in onset, remission and maintenance, in Health Services & Population Research Department, Institute of Psychiatry. 2010, University of London, PhD Thesis.: London. p. 392.
- 21. Rubertsson, C., et al., *Depressive symptoms in early pregnancy, two months and one year postpartum-prevalence and psychosocial risk factors in a national Swedish sample.* Arch Womens Ment Health, 2005. **8**(2): p. 97-104.
- 22. Evans, J., et al., *Cohort study of depressed mood during pregnancy and after childbirth*. BMJ, 2001. **323**(7307): p. 257-60.
- 23. Groer, M.W. and K. Morgan, *Immune, health and endocrine characteristics of depressed postpartum mothers*. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 2007. **32**(2): p. 133-9.
- 24. O'Hara., M.W., *postpartum depression: causes and consequences*. 1995, Springer-Verlag, New York.
- 25. Kleinman, A., *Anthropology and psychiatry. The role of culture in cross-cultural research on illness.* Br J Psychiatry, 1987. **151**: p. 447-54.
- 26. Littlewood, R., *From categories to contexts: a decade of the 'new cross-cultural psychiatry*'. Br J Psychiatry, 1990. **156**: p. 308-27.
- 27. Pike, K.L., *Language in relation to a unified theory of the structure of human behaviour.* 1954, The Hague: Mouton.
- Mallinson, S., Listening to respondents: a qualitative assessment of the Short-Form 36 Health Status Questionnaire. Soc Sci Med, 2002. 54(1): p. 11-21.
- 29. Oates, M.R., et al., *Postnatal depression across countries and cultures: a qualitative study.* Br J Psychiatry Suppl, 2004. **46**: p. s10-6.
- 30. Asberg, M., et al., *A comprehensive psychopathological rating scale*. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl, 1978(271): p. 5-27.

- 31. Patel, V., et al., *Depression in developing countries: lessons from Zimbabwe*. BMJ, 2001. **322**(7284): p. 482-4.
- 32. Stewart, R.C., *Maternal depression and infant growth a review of recent evidence*. Maternal and Child Nutrition, 2007. **3**(2): p. 94-107.
- 33. Rahman, A., et al., *The neglected 'm' in MCH programmes--why mental health of mothers is important for child nutrition.* Trop Med Int Health, 2008. **13**(4): p. 579-83.
- Prince, M., et al., *Global mental health 1 No health without mental health*. Lancet, 2007. **370**(9590): p. 859-877.
- 35. UNdata. *Composition of macro geographical (continental) regions, geographical subregions, and selected economic and other groupings* 2011 September 2011 [cited 2012 09.04.2012]; Available from: http://unstats.un.org/unsd/methods/m49/m49regin.htm.
- UNFPA, State of the World Population: People and Possibilities in a World of 7 Billion, B. Crossette, Editor. 2011, United Nations Population Fund: New York.
- 37. FUND, U.N.P., UNFPA strategic plan and related matters: UNFPA global and regional programme, 2008-2011. 2007, UN: New York.
- Rajaratnam, J.K., et al., Neonatal, postneonatal, childhood, and under-5 mortality for 187 countries, 1970-2010: a systematic analysis of progress towards Millennium Development Goal 4. Lancet, 2010. 375(9730): p. 1988-2008.
- WHO, *Trends in Maternal Mortality: 1990 to 2010*. 2012, World Health Organisation: Geneva.
- 40. Lozano, R., et al., Progress towards Millennium Development Goals 4 and 5 on maternal and child mortality: an updated systematic analysis. Lancet, 2011.
 378(9797): p. 1139-65.
- 41. Walker, S.P., et al., *Child development: risk factors for adverse outcomes in developing countries.* Lancet, 2007. **369**(9556): p. 145-57.
- 42. Rahman, A. and M. Prince, *Mental health in the tropics*. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 2009. **103**(2): p. 95-110.
- 43. Weissman, M.M. and M. Olfson, *Depression in women: implications for health care research*. Science, 1995. **269**(5225): p. 799-801.
- 44. NICE, Why mothers die 1997-1999. Confidential Enquiries into Maternal Deaths in the United Kingdom. 2001, National Institute for Clinical Excellence: London.
- 45. Oates, M., *Perinatal psychiatric disorders: a leading cause of maternal morbidity and mortality.* Br Med Bull, 2003. **67**: p. 219-29.
- 46. WHO, *The World Health Report 2005: Make every mother and Child count.* 2005, WHO: Geneva.
- 47. Austin, M.P., S. Kildea, and E. Sullivan, *Maternal mortality and psychiatric morbidity in the perinatal period: challenges and opportunities for prevention in the Australian setting.* Med J Aust, 2007. **186**(7): p. 364-7.

- 48. Marcus, S.M., *Depression during pregnancy: rates, risks and consequences--Motherisk Update 2008.* Can J Clin Pharmacol, 2009. **16**(1): p. e15-22.
- Chen, Y.H., S.Y. Tsai, and H.C. Lin, *Increased mortality risk among offspring of mothers with postnatal depression: a nationwide population-based study in Taiwan*. Psychol Med, 2011. 41(11): p. 2287-96.
- 50. Deyessa, N., et al., *Joint effect of maternal depression and intimate partner violence on increased risk of child death in rural Ethiopia.* Arch Dis Child, 2010. **95**(10):
2. Chapter 2: Literature Review

The review is structured based on the conceptual framework of this thesis to cover:

- Measuring perinatal depression
- Burden of perinatal depression
- Determinants of perinatal depression
- Consequences of perinatal depression for the health of the mother and baby
- Approaches to tackling perinatal depression

In addition, a brief review of the epidemiology of perinatal and non-perinatal depression Ghana is provided.

2.1 Search Strategy

The Pubmed database was searched with the following MeSH search terms to ensure as many articles as possible would be identified. For perinatal depression the following search terms were used:

Depression[Title/Abstract] AND Antenatal [Title/Abstract] OR postnatal[Title/Abstract] OR perinatal[Title/Abstract] OR antepartum[Title/Abstract] OR postpartum[Title/Abstract])

For determinants of perinatal depression, the MeSH terms for depression together with the following were used:

Causes[Title/Abstract] OR determinants[Title/Abstract] OR risk factors[Title/Abstract] OR correlates[Title/Abstract]

For consequences of perinatal depression, the MeSH terms for depression together with the following were used:

Consequences [Title/Abstract] OR effects [Title/Abstract]

For measuring tools for perinatal depression, the MeSH terms for depression together with the following were used:

Measuring [Title/Abstract] OR screening[Title/Abstract] OR diagnosis[Title/Abstract]

For approaches to tackling perinatal depression, the MeSH terms for depression together with the following were used:

Home visiting intervention [Title/abstract] OR home-based intervention [Title/abstract] OR home visit intervention [Title/abstract] OR paraprofessional intervention [Title/abstract] OR psycho educational intervention [Title/abstract] OR psychosocial intervention [Title/abstract] OR women's groups intervention [Title/abstract] OR community-based intervention [Title/abstract] OR treatment [Title/abstract] OR prevention [Title/abstract]

No time frame restrictions were included. Additional studies were located through careful inspection of the reference sections of relevant papers and reviews.

2.2 Measuring Perinatal Depression

Diagnostic tools or criteria are often regarded as 'gold standard' for measuring depression and other psychiatric disorders. The frequently used diagnostic tools for perinatal depression are: the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI)¹, Schedules for Clinical Assessments in Neuropsychiatry (SCAN)²⁻⁴, Structured Clinical Interview for Depression –SCID⁵ and Goldberg's Standardized Psychiatric Interview (SPI)⁶. However their feasibility and practicability in large-scale epidemiological studies has been questioned^{7, 8}.

As a result, a number of non-diagnostic screening tools have been developed and in use. Indeed the use of screening tools have been found to increase the detection of depression in clinical practice⁹, albeit the detection could just be limited to particular subgroups of depressed women¹⁰. Compared to diagnostic measures, self-reports have an advantage of objectivity. Choice of outcome is likely to have a strong influence on recorded prevalence¹¹ with many previous studies reporting high prevalence of common mental disorders, often ascertained with a symptom screening tool, although evidence from the reviews on this point is inconclusive¹¹⁻¹³.

By and large most of the tools designed for screening or diagnosis of perinatal depression have been developed in the West. This phenomenon has imposed a great deal of challenges to researchers in non-western regions as the tools have to be adapted and validated before they can be used. For instance, the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)¹⁴ which arguably is the most frequently used perinatal depression screening tool has been widely validated¹⁵⁻¹⁸ and has shown good psychometric properties in most studies. This notwithstanding due to methodological differences in study designs, language and varying diagnostic criteria applied, there is reasonable uncertainty regarding comparability between estimates of the different EPDS versions^{15, 18}. In the Africa region it has recorded a few validation studies in Uganda¹⁴, Morocco¹⁹, Nigeria²⁰, South Africa²¹, Zimbabwe²², Ethiopia^{23, 24}, and Ghana²⁵, among others. Other tools such as the Self-Reporting Questionnaire SRQ-20²⁶, K10²⁷, Becks's Depression Inventory BDI²⁸ and the Patient Health Questionnaire PHQ-9²⁹ among others have also been used in research. All these tools have their limitations and strengths. For example though the EPDS has been extensively validated, it performed poorly in Ethiopia³⁰. Indeed, its construct and criterion validity has been questioned when compared to other screening scales such as the PHQ-9 and SRQ-20^{25, 30}. Further to this, while there was a deliberate attempt not to include somatic symptoms in the EPDS¹⁴ so as to avoid somatic bias resulting from normal after delivery physical complaints which mimic some symptoms of PND, this omission could be a disadvantage in developing world settings where somatic symptoms are considered to be a common presentation for common mental disorder (CMD)^{31, 32}. Similarly, the BDI has proven to have poor validity when applied on postnatal women³³.

Though less widely used as a screening tool for depression in the perinatal period, the PHQ-9 has been found to be more robust in detecting depression symptomology in the postnatal period in Ghana than the EPDS²⁵, but not in other settings^{34, 35}. Nevertheless, the PHQ-9 has the potential to be a dual-purpose instrument, in that with nine items it establishes something approximating to clinical depressive diagnosis as well as symptom scale indicating severity^{29, 36}. This is because the diagnoses of the PHQ-9 are based on the criteria for major depression according to DSM-IV(TR)³⁷. An advantage of a screening instrument based on these operational definitions of mental disorders is that it offers the possibility of improving standardization and comparisons across studies ³⁶. Further to this, because of its criteria-based structure, it may even

be an interesting diagnostic tool in the research of population-based samples where face-to-face diagnostic interviews are not available³⁶. The algorithm that provides for an initial diagnosis requires that for major depressive disorder, at least five out of the nine questions are indicated more than half the days, one of which must either indicate depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure). And for minor depression, at least four out of nine, one of which must either indicate depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure). When used as a continuous measure, scores of between 5 and 9 suggest mild depression, and above 9 suggests moderate to severe depression. In its initial review, a score of 10 or higher had a sensitivity and specificity of 88%²⁹, and is recommended as the cut-off score for a diagnosis. In a recent systematic review of the diagnostic accuracy of the PHQ-9 among the general adult population involving 40 studies from HIC, it recorded a modest sensitivity of 77%, but was reasonably highly specific (94%)³⁸. Among studies in Asia, the PHQ-9 recorded a sensitivity of 86% and specificity of 77% among older (>60 years) patients in primary care in China³⁹, sensitivity of 84% and specificity of 77% at a cut-off score of 9 and above in a primary health clinic in Thailand⁴⁰, and a sensitivity of 92% and specificity of 90.7% at a cut-off score of 4 and above, using a modified version in a large urban population-based cohort in India⁴¹. It appears to date, the PHQ-9 has not been validated within the specific perinatal period in Asia. In SSA, only three studies have reported on the utility of the PHQ-9 among the general adult population in measuring depression, and all found good psychometric properties^{25, 42, 43}. Only one of these studies evaluated the use of the PHQ-9 among predominantly illiterate recently delivered women, and found a sensitivity of 94% and specificity of 75%²⁵. Table 2.1 provides a summary of validation studies of the PHQ-9 in LMIC.

In sum, though cross-cultural standardization challenges present in the use of screening tools, they have been effective in identifying women with symptoms of depression in different cultures¹⁵. In any case technically, a screening tool is only valid in the setting it was validated, and may only be considered valid and useful to be used in other places if conditions such as the prevalence of the condition are similar and comparable⁴⁴. In addition, though choice of outcome measure is likely to have a strong influence on recorded prevalence (self-report screening tools

other than diagnostic tools are known to report high prevalence), the current evidence on this is inconclusive.

Author (year)	Country	Sample	Sample size	Timing	Gold standard	AUROC	Cut-off score	Sensitivity	Specificity	¹ Youden's index
Adewuya et al. (2006)	Nigeria	University students	512	NA	DSM-IV (MINI)	0.99	5	0.89	0.99	0.88
Weobong et al. (2009)	Ghana	Community-based postnatal women between 4 and 11 weeks.	160	Between 4 and 11 weeks	CPRS 'case'	0.90	5	0.94	0.75	0.69
*Monahan et al. 2009	Kenya	Adults living with HIV/AIDS	347	N/A	Construct validity ascertained with General Health Perception Rating schedule	0.97	3	0.85	0.95	0.80
Chen et al. (2010)	China	Older patients at primary care	364 (77 interviewed with SCID)	NA	DSM-IV (SCID)	0.92	3	0.84	0.90	0.74
Lotrakul et al (2008)	Thailand	Outpatient clinic attendees	279	NA	DSM-IV (MINI)	0.89	9	0.84	0.77	0.61
Poongothai et al. (2009)	India	Population-based	200	NA	PHQ-9	0.98	4	0.92	0.90	0.82

Table 2.1: Criterion Validation Studies of the PHQ-9 in Low and Middle Income Countries

*modified version of the PHQ-9 (PHQ-12): incorporation bias likely ¹ measure of overall test performance (sensitivity+specificity-1)

2.3 Epidemiology of Perinatal Depression

2.3.1 Incidence, Prevalence, and Persistence of Antenatal Depression (AND)

Perhaps one of the main contributors to the 10/90 gap in global health research is in the area of maternal mental health, with most of the research concentrated in Western developed countries. Aside these regional imbalances, there are also imbalances in research activity within the area of perinatal mental health. Thus, compared with postnatal depression, antenatal depression has been less widely researched⁴⁵ partly because of the misconception that women are hormonally protected from psychological disturbances during pregnancy^{46, 47}. This trend is global and the African region is no exception.

This notwithstanding, in the only systematic review of perinatal mental disorder in Africa, the prevalence of AND in 12 studies (N=2341) together report a mean weighted prevalence of 11.3% (9.5%-13.1%)⁴⁵, which is comparable to the estimates of 10.2% (95% CI 7.0%-14.2%) reported in reviews of Antenatal Depression in HIC¹⁷, but not in non-SSA LAMIC South Asia (25%-48%)^{48,49} and South America settings (37%)⁵⁰ which report relatively high estimates. The variations in prevalence estimates have been attributed to: choice of screening measure, use of different cut-off points, timing of assessments, choice of study population and socio-cultural practices. Choice of outcome is likely to have a strong influence on recorded prevalence with many studies in low and middle income countries reporting the prevalence of common mental disorders, often ascertained with a symptom screening tool¹¹. Furthermore, cross-cultural adaptation of tools developed in Western populations and used in SSA and non-SSA LAMIC in defining depression without detailed attention to cross-cultural adaptation may constitute a categorical fallacy^{51, 52} and could account for some of the differences in prevalence estimates reported. Variations in timing of assessment may however not explain the differences in prevalence. Thus, in their meta-analysis involving 21 studies (N=19,284) in HIC, the prevalence for depression estimated at varying stages; 7.4% (95% CI 2.2, 12.6) at first trimester, 12.8% (95% CI, 10.7, 14.8) at second trimester and 12.0% (95% CI 7.4, 16.7) at third trimester during pregnancy 53 , did not seem to vary. Indeed, given the substantial overlap of the 95% confidence

intervals of these estimates, it has been argued that the prevalence of depression during pregnancy cannot be said to differ significantly by trimester ¹⁷.

In terms of incidence of AND, few authors in the world have investigated it, and none in SSA. The ascertainment of onset AND is challenging to establish because of the chronic, remitting and relapsing nature of depression. Correctly measuring onset during pregnancy would require that pregnant women are either assessed at or before conception. The ability to do this may be logistically and ethically challenging. Nevertheless, in a systematic review of studies in HIC, the incidence from two studies of 11.3%(7.8%-16.3%) at first trimester was reported⁵⁴. In the same meta-analysis Gavin and colleagues reported that 14.5% of pregnant women have a new episode of major or minor depression and 7.5% have a new episode of major depression⁵⁴. These compare closely to the prevalence of AND reported from SSA and HIC.

In terms of antenatal depression persisting into the postnatal period, the evidence is quite varied. Authors have found lower estimates of persistent antenatal depression in SSA: 21.4% in Ethiopia⁵⁵; 10% in Nigeria⁵⁶; 22% in Uganda⁵⁷; and 46.3% in Zimbabwe⁵⁸, and developed countries: 12%-35% in USA⁵⁹⁻⁶¹; 1.7% in UK⁶²; and 24% in Sweden⁶³, compared with South Asia with strikingly high persistence estimates: 30%-56% in Pakistan^{48, 64}; 66% in India⁶⁵.

2.3.2 Incidence and Prevalence of Postnatal Depression (PND)

Admittedly, there has been more research on postnatal depression than antenatal depression. The evidence on the prevalence of PND varies greatly because of the use of different assessment tools (diagnostic and self-reports) and different times of symptom assessment. Generally, prevalence estimates of PND from a systematic review in SSA [18.3% (17.5%-19.1%)]⁴⁵ and large cohort and multi-country studies in non-SSA LAMIC (South Asia/South America) (16.8%-63.3%)^{13, 48, 49, 66-70}, are higher than reported in reviews in HIC [13%(12.3%-13.4%)⁷¹; 12.9%(10.6%-15.8%)^{17, 54}]. Again issues pertaining to trans-cultural variations in expressing PND and construct validity of measurements used in non-Western settings could explain these regional variations in prevalence. For example the strikingly high estimates reported in non-SSA, mostly Asian countries may be attributed to the unique role of some

cultural practices such as prescribed periods of confinement where the mother is expected to adhere to certain rituals and practices and receive help from mother-in-laws and significant others^{72, 73}. As argued by Klainin and colleagues, such practices may present as a double-edged sword, where in one instance they are protective of the onset of postnatal depression and in another strand, they could actually be catalysts for interpersonal conflict and tension thus increasing the risk of depression⁷². Indeed, some studies suggest that postpartum rituals in Japan⁷⁴, Vietnam⁷⁵, Malaysia⁷⁶, Hong Kong⁷⁷, and Singapore⁷⁸ may not provide significant psychological benefits for the new mothers, albeit others found some significant psychological benefits⁷⁹.

Furthermore, though the 13% prevalence reported by O'Hara and colleagues is notable and continues to attract widespread citations, most of the literature reviewed was published before 1994, where definitions of major depression were broader and lacked precision¹⁷. In terms of incidence of postnatal depression, very few reports exist in general⁵⁴ and in SSA in particular, only five authors from three studies provided prospective accounts of incidence. Three of the authors reported onset estimates based on the same primary study, but with different study outcomes. The estimates in SSA(2.4%-9.0%)^{55, 80-82} and non-SSA South Asia (4%-11%)^{65, 83, 84} are comparable but lower than HIC (14.5%)⁵⁴. The proportion of prevalent postnatal depression accounted for by new onset cases in SSA was as follows: 45% in Ethiopia⁵⁵, 19% in Zimbabwe⁸², and 77% in Uganda⁵⁷. In HIC, it is observed that majority of the cases of prevalent postnatal depression are new onset⁵⁴, and this is similar to the patterns observed in SSA.

In general measuring incidence of depression is quite challenging, given the insidious nature of its onset. Depression runs a relapsing and remitting course and therefore an 'incident' case may just represent an individual who has had several previous episodes that went undetected. As a consequence one would argue that incidence of depression is just as good as prevalence.

In sum, based on studies that investigated both antenatal and postnatal depression in SSA, the Asian region, and South America (**appendix 2**), a picture emerges suggesting comparable prevalence, albeit reports from high income countries indicate prevalence is higher in

pregnancy^{62, 85}. In general, estimates of perinatal depression are higher in SSA and other non-SSA LMIC than in HIC. The relatively high levels noted in these regions may be partly explained by women's exposure to multiple depression-related risk^{86, 87} such as conflicts, disasters, migration, violence, and HIV/AIDS⁸⁸. Notwithstanding the likely reasons for the high levels of antenatal depression in SSA, compared to the estimates in South Asia, most of the prevalence is self-limiting and very few women remain depressed by the time they give birth.

2.3.3 Epidemiology of the Course of Perinatal Depression

Arguably, there continues to be a relative lack of convergence in the information about the duration and course of perinatal depression. Even within the two main diagnostic and disease classification resources, there is disagreement on the timing of the onset of postnatal depression. It is also not clear how long an episode lasts and how recurrence/relapse episodes may be correctly identified and measured. An appreciation of these concepts and how they apply to non-hard outcomes such as depression is important for the development of effective interventions.

This section provides the evidence on various schools of thought on the duration and onset of perinatal depression

2.3.3.1 Onset

Onset defines the time perinatal depression starts; it can be either new or a previous experience recurring. Defining and ascertaining onset can be quite challenging because it can be influenced by women's expectation of what is 'normal' adjustment¹⁰. It gets more complicated due to the variability in presentation and symptoms, especially in general practice if women are unaware their symptoms are due to depression or if somatic symptoms predominate^{89, 90} or is due to normal physical and biological changes associated with pregnancy and child bearing. Correctly establishing onset has direct implications on accuracy of diagnosis. Due to the methodological challenges inherent with correctly ascertaining onset during pregnancy, the debate on onset is mostly limited to postnatal depression.

Timing of the onset of postnatal depression has frequently been debated in the literature, and prescriptions outlined in the DSM-IV and ICD-10 classification manuals have been questioned⁹¹. Whilst the DSM-IV defines postpartum onset when an episode begins from the 4th week³⁷, the ICD-10 has extended this window to 6 weeks⁹². The result of this has been a plethora of inconsistent reports⁹³ which has made it challenging to conduct any form of meta-analysis of the onset of postnatal depression⁹⁴. The importance of clarifying the onset of perinatal depression is helpful in planning appropriate cost-effective interventions within the limits of tight mental health budgets. For example, even though there is clear converging evidence pointing to the fact that depressive symptoms during pregnancy persisted into the postnatal period^{62, 95, 96}, it is not clear when and at what stage women become depressed only after delivery. This is because in the study by Stowe and colleagues, though participants fulfilled the criteria for major depression during the first year following birth, a third of them did not experience onset within the first 6 weeks postnatal; suggesting onset of postnatal depression may be later than 6 weeks^{62, 91}. Other studies report more 'new' cases in the first three months postpartum compared to six and twelve months^{97, 98}.

The arguments for correctly establishing onset are particularly relevant when using self-report depression screening measures, where the use of cut-offs determines severity of psychopathology. For example, Matthey has questioned the basis for using high scores on the EPDS as indicative of probable depression when the scale is only able to predict only half of those high scorers to have confirmed depression⁹⁹, thereby calling into question the onset estimates of the unconfirmed depression. As a result of these limitations in self-report measures and the difficulties in ascertaining onset correctly, Ballestrem and colleagues suggest that doing the EPDS on two occasions, three weeks apart differentiates women with depressive mood from women with PND¹⁰⁰. For example, they found that only 3.7% of women scored high 3 weeks later from 17% at 6-8 weeks. A probable explanation for this observation is that majority of women with high scores at 6-8 weeks could be experiencing transient-causing depressive mood and not PND, and reporting such estimates as onset at 6-8 weeks may be inaccurate.

In ascertaining the timing of onset, it may also be necessary to consider other factors that are specific to the woman. Thus, in their study of onset of postnatal depression, Stowe and colleagues observed that there were more single mothers in the pregnancy onset group compared with the postnatal onset group¹⁰¹. Apart from this, onset has also been implicated in explaining issues of recurrence and whether there are subtypes of postnatal depression. For example, women with new onset depression (de novo PND) are more likely to experience future episodes of PND; those with previous experience of PND are likely to experience general adult depression and not PND¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴.

In summary, onset of antenatal or postnatal depression maybe quite difficult to define accurately as a result of differences in measurement methodology, the character of depression and, the mother's expectations of normality. Nonetheless, even though there is variability in the definitions of onset, there is compelling agreement within researchers that depressive symptoms during pregnancy were associated with continued complaints of depression in the postnatal period, with an onset of later than first 6 weeks postpartum, albeit the symptoms could be transient.

2.3.3.2 Duration

Similar to the onset dynamics of depression, duration of antenatal or postnatal depression has been found to vary widely in studies because of differences in follow-up assessment time points specified, characteristics of postnatal sample studied, severity of illness and previous exposure to perinatal depression. Duration of postnatal depression has been found to vary in different studies from several weeks to months, and severe episodes may persist for years¹⁴. Typically, the depression has to be present continuously for a period of no less than 2 weeks before it fulfils the criteria for major or minor depression³⁷. From the 2 weeks window, depression can last for at least 12 months for PND and as long as possible within the period of pregnancy for AND. Thus, while duration can last up to over six months¹⁰⁵ and one year¹⁰⁶, others can only last up to six months, but certainly not more than one year⁹⁷ for PND. In the midst of these varying time scales, some authors conjecture that duration generally lasts between two and three months^{95, 98, 102, 105}, with a mean duration of 3.3 weeks⁹⁵.

It has been found however, that most episodes of PND remit within two to six months, although in severe cases a significant proportion of women will remain depressed throughout the postnatal year if left untreated^{107, 108}. A recent review of studies from developed countries concluded that in about 30% women with postnatal depression, symptoms persist for up to a year after giving birth¹⁰⁹.

Contrary to onset dynamics of perinatal depression which is more relevant to PND, the discourse on duration of an episode may only be helpful in determining persistence of antenatal depression and not onset of postnatal depression (not depressed at pregnancy, depressed after birth), particularly in the last trimester. Going by the proposed scales of the duration of depression, women found depressed in the last trimester are most likely going to remain depressed up to the point of birth. When these women are diagnosed as depressed postpartum based on the criteria for onset of PND, then we may argue that such women were chronically depressed from the last trimester of pregnancy. The same line of thought may not be applied for the case of onset PND because we are unable to determine the likelihood of remaining not depressed within the last three months of pregnancy. It does appear therefore that barring the insidious nature of depression, the accuracy with which persistence depression (duration) is measured is enhanced if the timing between assessments during pregnancy and after delivery is short, and the last trimester may be best suited for this. Indeed in a recent study in Pakistan, independent predictors of persistent depression selected by multiple logistic regression included high score on the SRQ in the third trimester of pregnancy⁴⁸.

In sum, duration of perinatal depression is variable and very dependent on severity of episodes. While episodes can last throughout the period of pregnancy, postnatal depression would usually last between three to six months, but can last up to a year. Estimating duration is particularly challenging due to the remitting and relapsing chronic nature of depression. Duration could however be estimated with some degree of precision when measuring persistence antenatal depression into the postnatal period, particularly from the last trimester.

2.3.3.3 Recurrence

After one postnatal episode the risk of recurrence, defined as an episode of illness meeting criteria for major depression as defined in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th ed., is 25%¹¹⁰. Recurrence rates however are amenable to variation and can usually be misleading and relapse in particular can be quite problematic to define. Some authors may simply be observing and reporting a continuation of an earlier depressive episode¹⁰. This notwithstanding, compelling evidence from longitudinal studies supports the claim that women who experience postnatal depression for the first time are at an increased risk for further episodes in the future (usually over five years), especially after subsequent deliveries¹¹¹⁻¹¹³. Risk of recurrence has also been attributed to drug discontinuation, because as many as 85.5% of pregnant women who discontinued their mood stabilizers had their depression recur, compared to 37% of those who continued¹¹⁴.

In terms of relapse rates, studies have presented quite varying reports. For example women have between 30% to 50% risk of relapse after exposure to major depression^{102, 115, 116}. These relapse rates have been explained by vulnerability factors related to demands of motherhood. Thus, women who perceive child-bearing as demanding and stressful are more likely to report higher rates of PND after delivery than those with positive maternal attitude even if the depression is recurrent¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴.

In sum, recurrence estimates are similarly difficult to estimate because it may just be a continuation of a previous episode. What is obvious is that risk of relapse is increased following previous exposure, and this is usually brought about by vulnerability factors related to motherhood.

2.4 Determinants of Perinatal Depression

Though the aetiology of perinatal depression remains unknown, research in this area has tended to provide evidence on factors that are associated with an increased risk. The contributions of these factors to perinatal depression have largely been conceptualised under a bio-psychosocial model. Thus, an inter-play of vulnerability, precipitating and maintenance factors of perinatal depression has been reported in the literature¹¹⁷. Indeed the notion of these factors may help explain why some women experience perinatal depression while others in similar conditions do not^{118} . In a recent systematic review of determinants of perinatal depression, it is suggested that risk factors have been little studied in low and middle income countries, with few prospective or population-based studies¹¹. The review's authors concluded that there is evidence of links between perinatal common mental disorders (CMD), social and economic disadvantage and gender-based factors, particularly gender-based violence. However, a significant limitation of the review, with respect to determinants, was the failure to distinguish between factors associated with antenatal and postnatal common mental disorder, and for postnatal CMD, between factors associated with persistence of antenatal disorder and those associated with 'new' postnatal onset. It is important to distinguish factors associated with the persistence of antenatal depression from those associated with perinatal onset⁶⁵ given that these may contribute almost equally to prevalent postnatal depression.

In this section, determinants of AND and PND are discussed. The discussion also highlights risk factors that influence the course of perinatal depression.

2.4.1 Determinants of Antenatal Depression

A recent systematic review of studies of the prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in low and middle income countries, identified a paucity of research, with only 8% of such countries covered¹¹. Furthermore very few studies had been conducted in community or population settings, for example only three of the 13 studies of the prevalence of antenatal common mental disorder, and only one of the six from SSA. Authors have tended to group AND risk factors into: psychosocial, socio-demographic and biologic/pregnancy factors.

Psychosocial factors

Essentially, psychosocial factors such as lack of social support or a supportive partner have consistently predicted the risk of AND in a precipitating capacity across different regions of the world^{47, 48, 64, 119-122} and have also been found to contribute to maintenance/persistence of AND^{48, 63, 123, 124}. The evidence pertaining to other psychosocial factors across different regions of the world is however mixed. Thus while low self-esteem has been implicated in studies in HIC¹¹⁷, no such associations were found in SSA and non-SSA LAMIC. And though domestic violence or marital conflict experienced by the woman is associated with increased risk of prevalent AND in HIC^{47, 121, 122, 125} the evidence is less compelling in SSA (only two studies reported an association)^{30, 126} and non-SSA LAMIC¹²⁷, probably because of difficulties in eliciting responses on such sensitive topics in settings were little support/encouragement is assured women who make such disclosures.

Socio-demographic factors

Consistent socio-demographic determinants reported across the different regional blocks are: low socio-economic status (SES) and marital status (being single/separated)^{47, 119}, though overwhelming evidence from SSA does not support poor socio-economic status as a determinant of antenatal depression¹². Being in a polygynous marriage however is an important factor in SSA. This is a culture specific issue given that polygyny is widely practiced in some African countries and has been reported as a potential source of marital disharmony and friction¹¹⁹, which are important vulnerability and maintaining factors for an increased risk in antenatal depression.

Biologic/pregnancy factors

Compared to HIC and non-SSA LAMIC, few pregnancy related factors seem to predict risk of AND in SSA. Thus, apart from increased parity, all other pregnancy related/obstetric history risk factors are not associated with increased risk of AND in a recent systematic review in SSA¹². On the contrary consistent risk factors such as: unplanned pregnancy, previous still birth,

previous history of depression, physical health problems, family history of psychiatric disorder and antenatal anxiety have been implicated in HIC^{47, 128} and non-SSA LAMIC settings^{48, 129}.

2.4.2 Determinants of Postnatal Depression

In general the construction of risk factor profiles for PND have also been grouped into: psychosocial, socio-demographic and biologic/pregnancy and birth, though the latter has been little investigated in SSA and non_SSA LAMIC. Having said this, recent studies from Asia seem to suggest and focus on traditional/cultural practices as a special group of risk/protective factors, though the evidence is limited and inconclusive.

Psychosocial variables

Factors with psychosocial underpinnings seem to be more consistent predictors of PND across SSA, non-SSA LAMIC and HIC. Social support has been implicated as an influencing factor on PND. Thus, women who lacked social support^{12, 71, 72} and those who had a poor relationship with their partner^{12, 71, 124, 130, 131} were more vulnerable to postnatal depression. A poor/hostile relationship with the mother-in-law/family^{12, 72} and marital conflict^{12, 72} are precipitating risk factors for PND in SSA and non-SSA LAMIC. These findings are indicative of the effect of the stressful environment of childbirth and the mother's ability to cope with her other roles at home. Low self-esteem and poor self-image have also emerged as strong vulnerability factors for PND in HIC and non-SSA LAMIC^{130, 132}, but these have been less studied in SSA. What has been studied and found to be uniquely relevant in SSA and non-SSA LAMIC is the issue of autonomy.

Women in these settings have less autonomy and fewer opportunities in education and employment, and very often have less control over personal decisions such as the use of contraception to plan pregnancies¹²³. This is against the backdrop that feelings of self-control are reliably and consistently associated with positive psychological outcomes¹³³ and a positive birth experience^{134, 135}. Female gender disadvantage and lack of autonomy may therefore be other vulnerability factors for perinatal depression, given their association with general common mental disorder¹³⁶.

Socio-demographic variables

In general apart from the largely consistent finding of the association between poor SES or economic difficulties/poverty and risk of PND^{11, 47, 72, 130}, literature on other socio-demographic determinants is inconclusive. Nonetheless, being a single mother or being in a polygynous relationship are strongly associated with risk of PND in SSA and non-SSA LAMIC¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹. The evidence regarding the age of the mother and risk of PND is however mixed; whilst young maternal age is associated in some SSA countries^{140, 141} and Asia¹⁴², other SSA^{81, 143, 144}, and Asian settings report no association^{83, 145-148}. Given the weight and balance of the evidence, it does appear young maternal age may not be a consistent risk factor for postnatal depression.

Gender-based socio-demographic variables such as the sex of the newborn is a consistent precipitating factor for PND in non-SSA LAMIC^{65, 73, 76, 78, 79, 123, 149}, and some SSA countries^{137, 141}, but not in HIC. For example the existence of a poor marital relationship may act as a vulnerability factor, which in the light of a provoking element such as the birth of a girl (precipitating factor), triggers a depressive episode. On the other hand, the birth of a boy may act as a protective factor even for mothers who live in an unhappy marital situation. This is a cultural argument in that a male child has the potential to contribute to the family economy, provide old-age support for the parents, earn a daughter-in-law upon marriage and continue the family blood line^{73, 142}. Thus women get blamed when they give birth to a girl and experience ridicule and hostility from their husbands and mother-in-laws^{77, 150, 151}.

Biologic/pregnancy and birth

Consistent putative risk factors for postnatal depression that have been implicated in SSA, non-SSA LAMIC and HIC are; antenatal depression, low birth weight, pre-term delivery, still birth, foetal/perinatal death or infant death^{71, 84, 124, 130, 131, 137, 149, 152-155}. Indeed AND is an important mediator between other risk factors and PND¹¹⁷. The evidence for the relationship between other biologic factors and PND is however mixed. Thus, whilst previous psychopathology experienced by the mother is a consistently strong risk factor for PND in HIC and non-SSA LAMIC regions^{65, 71, 83, 84, 130, 131, 152}, the evidence is less convincing in SSA, possibly because of less reliable or non-existent psychiatric history data. On the contrary, whilst pregnancy complications and caesarian section are common risk factors to both SSA and non-SSA^{72, 137-139}, the evidence is less compelling in HIC^{156, 157}, possibly because of better maternal and child care facilities. Unplanned pregnancy is however generally observed as a common risk factor for postnatal depression in different world regions. While early postpartum mood disorder has been found to predict PND in SSA and HIC^{106, 158-164} the same may not be indicated in non-SSA LAMIC. Though quite challenging to tease out due to the co-morbid nature of affective perinatal mental illness, three meta-analyses in HIC have backed the claim that anxiety symptoms during pregnancy predict postnatal depression^{71, 130, 131}.

As has been reported earlier, research in biologic risk factors of perinatal depression is still at the developmental stages in SSA and non-SSA LAMIC settings. What is interesting and appears distinct in SSA and non-SSA regions is that new but limited evidence suggests that cultural practices at birth operate in the form of a double-edged sword and could potentially protect the woman or increase her risk of PND. Thus, practices such as prescribed confinement periods between 30 to 40 days, restricted activities and diets and practical/emotional support from family members especially the mother-in-law, though regarded as protective factors ¹⁶⁵, could serve as major sources of interpersonal conflicts and emotional frustrations to the woman⁷², especially when those practices are not followed through⁵⁵. These seemingly counterproductive practices could possibly explain the high prevalence of perinatal depression reported in non-SSA LAMIC Asian regions.

Aside the widely reported putative determinants of PND discussed, recent research in the area of risk factors for PND have tended to focus on special groups of postnatal women and variables that occur more commonly and have not been previously considered in meta-analysis. Thus, findings from a recent systematic review involving 26 studies and 2,392 mothers of preterm infants in HIC, suggest that such special group of mothers are at a higher risk of depression, with continued risk throughout the first postnatal year for mothers with very-lowbirth-weight infants¹⁶⁶. Aside this finding, exposure to multiple births proffered 43% greater odds of having moderate to severe depression at nine months, compared with mothers with single births¹⁶⁷. In addition, early maternal separation lasting 3.5 days or more increased the risk of PND¹⁶⁸. Also, recent technological advances such as the use of ultrasound scanning have been found to increase or decrease levels of anxiety¹³³, which in itself is a predictor of perinatal depression. Sick leave during pregnancy and number of visits to the antenatal clinic have also been found to be strongly associated with the risk of postnatal depression¹⁶⁹. Furthermore, the evidence linking endocrine flactuations, nutritional deficiencies, neuro-transmitter alterations and increased risk of postnatal mood disorder has been widely reported in HIC¹⁷⁰. There is also some evidence suggesting a familial component to PND¹⁷¹, which results in a more than three-fold increase in risk of PND in siblings from relatives with recurrent major depressive disorder. This finding however has to be tested further in a more systematic prospective approach using larger numbers.

2.4.3 Determinants of the Course of Perinatal Depression

Few authors have employed prospective designs to investigate risk factors for the persistence of antenatal depression and onset of postnatal depression. Essentially, psychosocial factors such as social support or a supportive partner have consistently predicted the risk of maintenance/persistence of AND^{48, 63, 124}. Similarly socio-demographic factors such as poor SES has consistently predicted persistence antenatal depression in HIC and non-SSA LMIC^{48, 172}, but may not in SSA¹⁷³. Furthermore, high antenatal depression score is perhaps the most consistent determinant of persistence antenatal depression^{48, 156}. And though less widely researched, maternal and infant poor health is known to be associated with persistence antenatal depression in HIC settings¹⁷⁴.

In SSA in particular only one prospective study provides an account of determinants of persistence antenatal depression. This study conducted in Ethiopia on a modest sample focussed on only socio-cultural risk factors and found that failure to adhere to celebratory cultural practices after birth predicted persistence antenatal depression⁵⁵. The only other study that came

close to investigating this had design challenges (combination of cross-sectional, prospective, retrospective) and was unable to explore factors that predicted onset or persistence depression⁸¹.

The limited number of prospective studies for persistence antenatal depression is similar for the determinants of onset postnatal depression. A recent systematic review on perinatal common mental disorder involving 51 LMIC whilst providing evidence of links between perinatal common mental disorders (CMD), social and economic disadvantage and gender-based factors, particularly gender-based violence¹¹, failed to distinguish between factors associated with prevalent postnatal common mental disorder, and those associated with new perinatal onset. In SSA the evidence is virtually non-existent with only one study that has reported on factors associated with onset postnatal CMD using a prospective design; non-completion of protective cultural practices was a risk factor for onset postnatal depression in Ethiopia⁵⁵. Evidence mostly from non-SSA LMIC Asian region suggest culture-bound risk factors such as male gender bind is consistently reported as a risk factor for onset postnatal depression when the immediate previous child is female^{65, 73, 83, 123, 142}, though this may not be important in SSA^{55, 58, 81}. In terms of socio-demographic factors a meta-analysis report suggest that low socioeconomic status is associated with new onset general adult depressive episodes, though the effect size and the strength of the relationship was weaker than persistent depression and only three studies from SSA were included¹⁷⁵.

In conclusion, though there are variations in the prevalence of postnatal depression, most of the risk factors are similar in different regions of the world, except in south Asia and SSA where socio-cultural factors and the high burden of perinatal mortality and infant morbidity appear to play a significant role in these settings. This notwithstanding, influence of infant morbidity on risk of postnatal common mental disorders in lower-middle income and low-middle income countries has been little studied¹⁷⁶. The literature is not also clear on the specific roles of risk/protective factors towards the incidence of PND, prevalence of PND or persistence AND, largely because of the lack of prospective studies. Given the low persistence estimates of antenatal depression and high proportion of onset postnatal depression among prevalent postnatal depression in SSA, it would be helpful to elicit factors that enhance resilience during

57

pregnancy and those that promote vulnerability after birth. Cultural practices during pregnancy and childbirth could form the next generation of the risk factor profile in SSA and Asia, but further research is needed to firmly establish this.

2.5 Consequences of Perinatal Depression for the Health of the Mother and Baby

By and large most studies that investigated consequences of perinatal depression employed the use of cohort designs, though some studies engaged small to moderate sample sizes, thus resulting in challenges in detecting small differences.

2.5.1 Consequences of Antenatal Depression

Newborn, Infant and maternal physical health

Albeit few studies have investigated antenatal maternal mental health, there is a gradual attention being drawn to the public health significance of antenatal depression because of its consequences on maternal and infant health. Thus, research evidence from recent cohort studies from India, Pakistan, Ethiopia, and Brazil suggest that antenatal depression is associated with risk of low birth weight^{177, 178}, underweight and stunting, and frequent diarrhea^{127, 178-180}, prolonged labour and delayed initiation of breastfeeding³⁰. The evidence regarding LBW in SSA is similar to findings in south Asia and other findings from low and middle income settings¹⁸¹, although non-significant effect on LBW was reported in Ethiopia (RR=2.3, 95% CI 0.9-6.2)³⁰. Similar evidence has been reported in HIC where AND is associated with restricted fetal growth¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴(especially in women of low SES¹⁸⁵) , LBW¹⁸⁶, premature birth¹⁸⁷ , small for gestational age babies¹⁸⁸ and developmental delays¹⁸⁹, though these findings were not replicated in other studies^{190, 191}. Some downstream intergenerational effects have also been reported in HIC. Thus, children born of women who were depressed during pregnancy were almost four times more likely to become depressed at 16 years¹⁹².

Aside the well known finding that antenatal depression is the most consistent predictor of postnatal depression, it is also associated with: poor maternal self-care and nutrition, lack of sleep, inadequate antenatal care and increased exposure to alcohol and drugs have been

identified¹⁹³. There appears however that there is little evidence linking antenatal depression and severe peripartum and postpartum complications in LMIC, though there is evidence supporting the association between antenatal depression and maternal illness, planned caesarean delivery and epidural analgesia during labour in HIC¹⁹⁴.

2.5.2 Consequences of Postnatal Depression

Infant, Child, and Maternal Physical Health

The public health consequences of PND are being increasingly recognized from a large volume of research literature around the world. Indeed Psychiatric morbidity in the perinatal period is recognized as an indirect cause of maternal deaths-including late maternal deaths,(citing suicide as the commonest route^{195, 196–92, 195, 197}), increase in health service use¹²³ and hospitalization¹⁹⁸ in HIC . In a Taiwanese national registry linkage study, maternal depression in the year after birth was independently associated with a 1.5-fold increased mortality risk for the index child up to 5 years old¹⁹⁹ .In an Ethiopian historical cohort study²⁰⁰ the 561 children of women who had been screened for depression in the previous year, and who were born within one year of their mother's assessment were followed up for mortality up to the age of three years; there was a borderline association between maternal depression and child mortality , and possible interactions with mothers' experiences of physical and emotional abuse. No studies to date appear to have assessed the impact of depression in the immediate postnatal period upon infant mortality in the first year of life.

Furthermore, some evidence from SSA and non-SSA LAMIC suggests that PND or common mental disorder is associated with increased numbers of infant diarrhoeal episodes ¹⁷⁸, infant under-nutrition ²⁰¹⁻²⁰⁶ and impaired infant growth^{201, 207-209}. Some of these consequences perhaps provide plausible reasons why postnatal depression may be associated with infant deaths.

Contrary to these consistent body of literature however, authors in a recent cohort study involving five countries across Europe (N=929) found no evidence of an association between PND and infant impaired growth²¹⁰. Similar findings of no association were noted between maternal common mental disorder and stunting and underweight status in infants aged 6 and 18

months in Ethiopia and Peru, but this study was limited by its cross-sectional design²⁰⁷. And in a recent study in Brazil, persistence postnatal depression at 12, 24, and 48 months did not predict elevated risk of impaired child growth²¹¹. Some authors in SSA also failed to replicate these findings^{204, 212, 213}.

Some authors in the field have recognized the ecological variations in the link between postnatal depression or common mental disorder and infant poor growth outcomes¹³. Whereas the body of evidence is less compelling in SSA, the evidence from South Asia is quite robust. Possible reasons for these ecological disparities have been attributed to: different psychosocial experiences and practices, interactions between socioeconomic and cultural factors, genetic factors, and different breastfeeding practices¹³.

Infant cognitive, emotional, and behavioural development

There is also compelling evidence mostly from HIC²¹⁴⁻²¹⁸, and a few from LMIC^{206, 219} that PND is associated with increased prevalence of behavioural and emotional problems in children. Similarly, findings from many studies in HIC suggest that PND is associated with long-term cognitive functioning deficits in the child, particularly when depression is chronic and socio-economic difficulties are rife²²⁰. Relatively few reports from LMIC exist, but there is emerging evidence that PND is associated with poor mental scores in children^{201, 221, 222}. Given the limited studies from LMIC, it is premature to conclude on the effect of PND on infant development, but given that socio-economic hardship appears to moderate this association in HIC, it is particularly relevant in LMIC that this is explored further. The plausible mechanisms explaining the effect of PND on cognitive development are varied, and the strong evidence that poor growth is associated with impaired cognitive development²²³ is one of them. Poor growth is therefore likely to be an important mediator in the relationship between PND and impaired cognitive development, particularly in regions with high burden of infant physical growth impairment.

Child survival interventions

Evidence from both HIC and LMICs (Brazil, Nigeria, Pakistan) shows that postnatal depression is also associated with early cessation of breast-feeding²²⁴⁻²²⁷, suboptimal breastfeeding and a reduction in adherence to child-health promotion and prevention measures^{179, 228-230}. The evidence linking maternal depression and breast-feeding challenges may not be entirely conclusive in LMIC given that two studies from Brazil²²⁷ and Turkey²³¹ found that both depressed and non-depressed mothers presented with similar rates of breast-feeding in the first four months after birth.

In sum, the evidence for the impact of maternal depression during pregnancy is less researched than the impact of PND. There is quite robust evidence in south Asia linking depression during pregnancy and risk of low birth weight, but the pattern is less convincing in SSA though the magnitude of increased risk on low birth weight in the only study in SSA is comparable to global estimates and south Asia. The links between maternal PND and poor child growth appear to be universal, but its impact on non-physical child development and maternal health in SSA is an area needing research. Further to this, despite the body of evidence linking maternal perinatal depression and poor birth outcomes, child under-nutrition, stunting, illness episodes, and poor uptake of key child survival interventions, which may suggest a plausible association with infant mortality in the immediate postnatal period, this evidence is quite patchy. This is the period of maximum vulnerability for child deaths, as well as a critical time for mother-child bonding, and when the demands of providing good quality nurturance and care are most challenging for the mother.

2.6 Approaches to Tackling Perinatal Depression

Existing interventions for the treatment and/or prevention of perinatal depression have employed various pharmacologic and psychological (e.g. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy-CBT, Interpersonal Psychotherapy-IPT, non-directive counselling) or psychosocial approaches (support groups, health visitor home-visiting, antenatal/postnatal classes). Such psycho-social interventions have long been proposed by researchers as appropriate for low and middle-income countries (LMIC)²³² and recently by the world health organisation through the Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP)²³³.

The first two columns in table 2.2 show the evidence on the impact of various approaches to tackling antenatal and postnatal depression. The last column illustrates the evidence to tackling general depression.

2.6.1 Antenatal Depression

Treatment

Psychological/psychosocial

In general, the evidence from a Cochrane systematic review is inconclusive on the role of psychosocial/psychological interventions for the treatment of antenatal depression as the evidence stems from only one small clinical trial from the United States of America which met inclusion criteria²³⁴. Going by this trial however, there is evidence suggesting a significant decrease in the risk of antenatal depression when interpersonal psychotherapy is used, compared to care as usual²³⁵.

Pharmacologic Approaches

Selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) are among the commonly used antidepressants. TCAs have been around for much longer than SSRIs or other antidepressants and may have carried the notion that they are the safest choice in treating antenatal depression ²³⁶. Following the introduction of SSRIs in the 1980s, emerging evidence suggest that compared to TCAs, they have better efficacy, tolerability, and safety²³⁷. Other authors also argue that when used in the general population, SSRIs are much safer especially in overdose and have referred to the continual use of TCAs as 'scandalous' ²³⁸. However, in spite of the widespread use of SSRIs during pregnancy, there are still conflicting views on the safety of these drugs during pregnancy²³⁷, and whether any particular SSRI is safer than the other when it comes to fetal risk²³⁹. Reported effects of antidepressants identified in the literature are: congenital anomalies, miscarriages, preterm delivery, neonatal effects, persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN), and neurodevelopmental effects.

A recent literature review of the risk-benefit analysis of SSRIs use in human pregnancy identified that most observational studies (19 out of 34) did not show an increase in the overall risk of major congenital malformations with SSRIs in general, though several of them (9 out of 34) have suggested that the use of SSRI paroxetine may be associated with a small increased risk for cardiovascular malformations²³⁷. The evidence from three recently published metaanalyses on the association between paroxetine use in pregnancy and risk of cardiovascular malformations have however not been consistent; first trimester paroxetine exposure was associated with a significant increase in cardiac anomalies in Bar-Oz et al meta-analysis²⁴⁰, an increased risk of combined cardiac defects and aggregated congenital defects in Wurst et al meta-analysis²⁴¹, but there was no increased risk of congenital malformations associated with paroxetine use in O'Brien et al's meta-analysis²⁴². In terms of the impact of SSRIs on miscarriages, two meta-analysis identified an increased risk. Hemel et al reported a 45% increased risk, and there were no differences on the effect posed by different antipressants [RR 1.45 (95% CI 1.19 to 1.77) n=3567]²⁴³. Similarly Rahimi and colleagues reported an odds ratio of 1.7 (95% CI 1.3 to 2.2) [n=950]; this meta-analysis included two studies with paroxetine and venlafaxine as the antidepressants²⁴⁴. The association between SSRIs and preterm births has also been reported in one meta-analysis of nine cohort studies that showed an increased odds in preterm births OR 2.2 (95% CI 1.6 to 2.6) and three times increased odds of Neonatal Intensive Care Unit/Special Care Nursery admissions; OR 3.30 (95% CI 1.45 to 7.54)²⁴⁵.

A picture emerges from the forgoing that the use of any antidepressants during pregnancy may not be absolutely safe and any decision to employ pharmacologic interventions should be supported by the benefits/risks ratio, and these should be guided by a patient-centred approach. It is common knowledge that most women prefer non-pharmacologic interventions²⁴⁰, but there might be the need to intervene with anti-depressants in some cases. Indeed given the consequences of uncontrolled depression during pregnancy discussed in section 2.5.1, plus the potential risk of relapse of major depression during pregnancy following antidepressant discontinuation^{241, 242}, and the proven efficacy and relative safety of SSRIs over tricyclic depressants in the treatment of depression^{243, 244}, the current view point based on two reviews is that benefits of prenatal antidepressants far outweigh the risk of leaving antenatal depression untreated^{236, 238}.

Prevention

There are currently no reports on the role of preventive approaches to tackling antenatal depression. Most of the evidence points to approaches to preventing postnatal depression which are usually started during pregnancy.

2.6.2 Postnatal Depression

Treatment

Psychological/psychosocial

Based on a Cochrane meta-analysis involving ten trials from HIC (N=956) there is evidence suggesting that psychosocial and psychological interventions are not only an effective treatment option for women suffering from postnatal depression, at least in the short term²⁴⁵, but are also the most preferred option. The long-term effectiveness however remains unclear. There is also evidence of their effectiveness in low and middle income countries such as rural Pakistan where a large-scale RCT using cognitive behavioural therapy principles delivered by community health workers, compared with enhanced usual care, halved rates of postnatal depression²⁴⁶. Indeed, there was also a reduction in maternal reports of rates of diarrhoea, and most women completed courses of immunisation for their children. Reductions in the burden of postnatal depression was however not commensurate with improvements in infant growth within the limited period of evaluation.

Pharmacologic Approaches

Based on synthesised evidence from a Cochrane review, it is inappropriate to recommend antidepressant treatment for postnatal depression because only one small trial from USA met inclusion criteria²⁴⁷. Indeed, in this trial fluoxetine was not found to be superior to CBT in treating postnatal depression²⁴⁸. A further concern noted in this review is that as far as the safety of antidepressants is concerned, there is little data on the safety of breastfeeding for the infant.

Prevention

Psychological/psychosocial

As mentioned, most preventive interventions for postnatal depression commence during pregnancy. Evidence from a Cochrane review involving 15 trials (14 HIC; 1 LMIC), suggest that overall psychosocial/psychological interventions do not stop the development of postnatal depression²⁴⁹. However, studies that provided intensive postpartum professional support, targeted 'at-risk' women, were individual-based as opposed to group, or had only a postnatal component, were more effective in preventing postnatal depression. Within LMIC, the evidence has also been mixed, and only four community-based studies have been reported. Thus, whilst a maternal and child health women's groups intervention in India (Jharkhand and Orissa) reduced moderate postnatal depression by 57% in the third year following implementation²⁵⁰, and a preventive support guidance in parenting intervention in South Africa reduced maternal depressed mod2²⁵¹, and a more general intervention targeting child rearing and parenting self-esteem among mothers of undernourished children in Jamaica lead to improvements in maternal depressive symptoms²⁵², a supportive home-visits intervention targeted at 'at-risk' women in India (Goa) did not provide any additional benefits in preventing postnatal depression²⁵³.

The literature on the use of psychological interventions such as mother support or women's groups and home-based interventions to prevent/treat maternal depression is undoubtedly scanty. Whilst the evidence relating the use of health professionals in the treatment/prevention of CMD through home-visits is convincing²⁵⁴⁻²⁵⁸, the effectiveness of lay health workers is

65

equivocal. Lay home-visitors reduced depression levels from studies in Asia²⁴⁶, Africa^{251, 259} and Western countries²⁶⁰, but other authors report no such benefits^{261, 262}.

The mechanism by which home visits may be expected to improve mental health is that home visits are known to improve the quality of the home environment, parenting skills and uptake of childhood immunizations²⁶³, which are catalysts for assured mental well-being. Despite these inconclusive findings, it is generally known that interventions that rely on non-specialist health workers and low-cost technologies and strategies can deliver equally effective mental health interventions²⁶⁴ particularly in LMIC.

Furthermore, the case has to be made that though the use of professionals is likely to guarantee the effectiveness of community-based psychosocial/pharmacologic interventions, their involvement is costly and likely to be limited²⁶², especially in developing countries²⁶⁵. It is therefore imperative that other less expensive resources such as the use of lay people or volunteers are explored. Indeed, these paraprofessionals or local community resource could be relatively attractive. In addition, it is possible that some families may be more likely to engage with preventive support from an informal source²⁶⁶.

Pharmacologic Approaches

A Cochrane review suggests that there is no clear evidence for the use of antidepressants as a prophylactic in the prevention of postnatal depression as only two trials from HIC (USA) met inclusion requirements²⁶⁷. The two trials showed mixed evidence of effect; nortriptyline was not superior to placebo²⁶⁸, but sertraline was effective in reducing recurrent postpartum depression and increases the time to relapse²⁶⁹. Both trials were limited by small sample sizes.

In conclusion, irrespective of the delivery channel, there are effective, locally feasible, and affordable approaches for tackling depression in low-income and middle-income countries^{270 271}. Admittedly, though there is increasing evidence that such treatments for mental health are feasible and effective, the evidence supporting the effectiveness of integrating these into routine care settings in LMIC is lacking²⁷². Reassuringly, there is some evidence supporting the effectiveness of integrating mental health into such routine primary care health-care programmes²⁷³⁻²⁷⁷, and community care²⁷⁸, but more evidence is required. The completion of current projects such as the Sustainable Programme Incorporating Nutrition and Games (SPRING) trial in South Asia, the Philani Plus Mentor Mother community health visiting programme in South Africa, the South Asian Hub for Advocacy, Research and Education on mental health (SHARE), and the Programme For Improving Mental Health Care (PRIME) research consortium, may provide important evidence on how to proceed with such cross-fertilisation schemes at the community level.

Table 2.2. Summary of Evidence on Approaches to Tacking I crimital Depressio	Table 2.2: Summar	y of Evidence on	Approaches to	Tackling	Perinatal	Depression
--	-------------------	------------------	---------------	----------	-----------	------------

	Antenatal depression interventions	Postnatal depression interventions	General adult depression	
		 2. Pharmacotherapy Based on a Cochrane review, there is no clear evidence for the use of antidepressants as a prophylactic in the prevention of postnatal depression based on mixed evidence from only two trials in HIC (USA)²⁶⁶. The two trials cited in this review showed mixed evidence of effect: the first trial used a tricylic antidepressant (nortriptyline), and showed no superiority over placebo; the second trial involved a selective reuptake inhibitor (sertraline) and showed to be effective both in reducing the incidence recurrent postpartum depression and increasing the time to relapse. Both trials were limited by small sample sizes. 		
CURATIVE	 Psychological/psychosocial Based on a Cochrane review, the evidence is inconclusive to allow any recommendations on the use of interpersonal psychotherapy for the treatment of antenatal depression because only 1 trial from HIC (USA) examined this²⁴⁴. The only study mentioned in this review however did report a significant decrease in risk of depression (IPT) (RR 0.46; 95% CI 0.26, 0.83), compared to care as usual²³⁵. The trial was also limited by small sample size. Pharmacotherapy In a recent review 57 studies showed no cardiac malformations, compared to 22 that indicated malformations²³⁶ A meta-analysis identified increased risk with combined cardiac defects in first trimester exposure to antidepressants (paroxetine)[cardiac defects odds ratio 1.46 (95% CI, 1.17-1.82); aggregated congenital anomalies OR 1.24 (95% CI, 1.08-1.43)]²³⁷ A systematic review identified increased risk of preterm birth, neonatal adaptation difficulties, and persistent pulmonary hypertension of the new born following exposure to anti-depressants²³⁹. Two reviews conclude that the benefits of prenatal antidepressants far outweigh the risk of leaving antenatal depression untreated^{236, 238}This review concludes that the benefits of prenatal anti-depressants far outweigh the risk of leaving antenatal depression untreated^{236, 238}This review concludes that the benefits of prenatal anti-depressants far outweigh the risk of leaving antenatal depression untreated²³⁸ 	 Psychological/psychosocial Based on a Cochrane review involving 10 trials (n=956), there is evidence primarily from HIC to suggest the effectiveness of psychosocial/psychological interventions for the treatment of postnatal depression in the short term²⁴⁴. Interpersonal psychotherapy is efficacious/effective in the treatment of postnatal depression in HIC²⁸⁹ Cognitive behavioural therapy and non-directive counseling is effective in treating postnatal depression in HIC²⁹⁰. Cognitive behavioural therapy is effective in treating postnatal depression in LMIC²⁴⁵. Health visitor-led non-directive counseling is effective in treating postnatal depression in HIC^{291, 292}. Peer support is effective in treating postnatal depression in HIC²⁹³. Based on a Cochrane review, it is not possible to make any recommendations for antidepressant treatment for postnatal depression because only one and small trial from HIC met inclusion criteria (Hoffbrand 2001). In the only study mentioned in this review, the effect of antidepressant fluoxetine was not superior to CBT in treating postnatal depression. There is also little data on the safety of breastfeeding for the infant (Hoffbrand 2001-Review) 	 Psychological/psychosocial The efficacy of psychological treatments have a moderate (g=0.67) posttreatment effect²⁹⁴. Interpersonal psychotherapy has superior efficacy over CBT²⁹⁵ Lay health counselors are effective in reducing levels of CMD at 6 months following intervention among patients attending public health facilities in India²⁶⁹. Psychoeducational intervention plus antidepressant for severe cases in Chile resulted in 70% recovery compared to placebo²³². Psycho-educational group intervention among women in Mexico showed an improvement in both arms, but these were not different between the arms at 4 months²⁹⁶. Evidence from a meta-analysis involving 75 RCTs show antidepressants use results in a 50% response compared to 30% response with placebo²⁹⁷. 	

Antenatal depression interventions	Postnatal depression interventions	General adult depression
3. Interventions other than psychosocial/psychological or pharmacologic		
- Based on a Cochrane review, the evidence is		
inconclusive to allow any recommendations on the use		
of non-pharmacologic somatic interventions for the		
treatment of antenatal depression because only 1 trial		
from HIC (USA) examined this ²⁸⁵ .		
 The only study mentioned in this review did not report a 		
significant decrease in risk of depression (maternal		
massage) (RR 0.8; 95% CI 0.25, 2.53), compared to		
depression-specific acupuncture ²⁸⁶ . The trial was also		
limited by a small sample size and relative		
homogeneity.		
- Other interventions such as use of bright light therapy		
have shown no significant benefits ^{287, 288} .		

2.7 Perinatal Depression in Ghana

Published literature on the epidemiology of perinatal depression in Ghana is almost nonexistent. To date only three published epidemiological studies on PND in Ghana are reported. The first was a cross-cultural adaptation of screening tools for PND, among 160 recently delivered mothers. The screening tools validated in this study were: EPDS, PHQ-9 and SRQ-20. The PHQ-9 was found to be more robust in detecting PND and thus seem a preferred tool for screening perinatal depression in the study area. The prevalence of any common mental disorder based on the local clinician's gold-standard criterion diagnosis was 9.6%, and prevalence of PND based on symptom scores on a self-report was 30.6%²⁵. The second was a prospective cohort study that sought to ascertain for the first time the synergistic association between maternal postnatal depression among HIV positive mothers and risk of infant diarrhoeal episodes²⁹⁸. The prevalence of PND based on symptom scores on the EPDS was 10%. The authors found a two-fold risk of infant diarrhoel episodes with mothers who were both HIV positive and depressed. Mothers whose HIV status was unknown but depressed also had their infants at a three-fold increase risk of diarrhoe. Though this was a cohort design the analysis did not adjust for infant HIV status, and PND was inappropriately measured as early as 10 days after birth. In the third study (under review), Gold and colleagues measured the prevalence and determinants of postnatal depression among a select group of mothers of sick infants (N=153)²⁹⁹. Based on PHQ-9 symptom scores, the authors report strikingly high prevalence of depression in mothers; 70% for any score above five, suggestive of any depression, 33% mild depression, 27% moderate depression, 10% moderate-severe depression. Risk factors associated with depression after birth were: intimate partner violence, expectations of social support, and poor self-rated health of the mother. Though the authors failed to acknowledge the implications of the relatively small sample size on the prevalence estimates reported, it is important these are interpreted with caution given the likely lack of precision, accuracy, and variability inherent in small samples for the purposes of epidemiological research. In another study(unpublished) in rural Ghana, which employed qualitative and quantitative methodology to ascertain the concept

of morbid unhappiness in the period after birth, the women interviewed recognized the concept and acknowledged its presence and negative impact³⁰⁰.

2.8 Non-perinatal Depression in Ghana

There is a serious dearth of mental health research in Ghana, and published peer-reviewed literature on depression is scanty. Most of the limited evidence is from clinic-based case review studies. Nonetheless, the cross-country study (5 countries) on global ageing and adult health (SAGE) reports a prevalence of DSM-IV major depression of 4.5%, of which 92% are not treated³⁰¹.

As far as specific primary studies in Ghana are concerned, in a hospital records (over a 7 year period) review study of psychiatric morbidity among adolescents, depression was prevalent in 17.5%³⁰². The aetiology of the disorders found in this study was mainly attributed to the biological events and personality growth that occurs around the period of adolescence. And among the elderly attending an out-patient psychiatric hospital, retrospective accounts of psychiatric morbidity put depressive symptoms as the most frequently diagnosed disorder³⁰³. In a qualitative exploration of women's mental health among a cross-section of the stakeholder groups, respondents identified the concept of morbid unhappiness and indicated women are more prone to 'hidden' mental disorders such as depression or milder forms of psychosis, and this was mainly blamed on issues of inherent vulnerability, witchcraft and gender disadvantage³⁰⁴. Similarly, in a study of the social and clinical characteristics of depression among women in Ghana, stress was mainly manifested through somatisation disorder³⁰⁵.

In a study of the association between bullying in secondary schools (teenagers) and psychological health, students who were bullied had an almost two-fold odds of having a sign of depression (1.97 95% CI, 1.75-2.21), or suicidal ideation (1.72 95% CI, 1.45-2.05)³⁰⁶.
2.9 Conclusions/Gaps

- Dearth of research in perinatal mental health in developing countries, with only 8% of low and middle income countries covered (only one study in Ghana).
- Few studies in LMIC conducted in community or population settings, for example only three of the 13 studies of the prevalence of antenatal common mental disorder, and only one of the six from SSA.
- Little to non-existent research in biologic risk factors for perinatal depression in SSA.
- Almost nonexistent literature on specific risk factors for the course and outcome of perinatal depression.
- Knowledge gap in risk factors pertaining to special categories of pregnant and delivered women such as teenagers or adolescents.
- Few and often under-powered research on consequences of perinatal depression on neonatal, infant and maternal health.
- Few lay home-visits interventions on improving mental health outcomes in mothers during pregnancy and after birth in the world; almost non-existent in SSA.

2.10 References to Chapter 2

- 1. WHO, *The composite international diagnostic interview*. 1997.
- WHO, Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry. 1992, WHO: Geneva, CH.
- 3. WHO, Schedules for clinical assessment in neuropsychiatry. 1994, WHO: Geneva, CH.
- WHO, Schedules for clinical assessment in neuropsychiatry. 1999, WHO- Assessment, Classification and Epidemiology: Geneva, CH.
- 5. Spitzer, R.L., et al., *The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R (SCID) I: History, Rationale, and Description.* Arch Gen Psychiatry, 1992. **49**(8): p. 624-629.
- Goldberg, D., *The detection of psychiatric illness by questionnaire*. Maudsley Monograph 21. 1972: Oxford University Press.
- Spies, G., et al., Validity of the Kessler 10 (K-10) in detecting DSM-IV defined mood and anxiety disorders among pregnant women. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 2009. 12(2): p. 69-74.
- 8. Baggaley, R.F., et al., *Detecting depression after pregnancy: the validity of the K10 and K6 in Burkina Faso.* Trop Med Int Health, 2007. **12**(10): p. 1225-9.
- Evins, G.G., J.P. Theofrastous, and S.L. Galvin, *Postpartum depression: A comparison* of screening and routine clinical evaluation. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2000. 182(5): p. 1080-1082.
- 10. Pope, S., Postnatal depression: a systematic review of published scientific literature up to 1999, in Postnatal depression: a systematic review of published scientific literature up to 1999 NHMRC, Editor. 2000, NHMRC: Australia
- Fisher, J.C.d.M., M.;Patel, V.;Rahman, A.;Tran, T.;Holton,S.;Holmes, W., *Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in low- and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review*. Bull World Health Organ, 2012. 90: p. 11.
- 12. Sawyer, A., S. Ayers, and H. Smith, *Pre- and postnatal psychological wellbeing in Africa: a systematic review.* J Affect Disord, 2010. **123**(1-3): p. 17-29.
- 13. Parsons, C.E., et al., *Postnatal depression and its effects on child development: a review of evidence from low- and middle-income countries.* British Medical Bulletin, 2011.
- Cox, J.L., J.M. Holden, and R. Sagovsky, *Detection of Postnatal Depression -Development of the 10-Item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale*. British Journal of Psychiatry, 1987. 150: p. 782-786.
- 15. Eberhard-Gran, M., et al., *Review of validation studies of the Edinburgh postnatal depression scale.* Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 2001. **104**(4): p. 243-249.
- Boyd, R.C., H.N. Le, and R. Somberg, *Review of screening instruments for postpartum depression*. Arch Womens Ment Health, 2005. 8(3): p. 141-53.

- 17. Gaynes, B.N., et al., *Perinatal depression: prevalence, screening accuracy, and screening outcomes.* Evid Rep Technol Assess (Summ), 2005(119): p. 1-8.
- Gibson, J., et al., A systematic review of studies validating the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale in antepartum and postpartum women. Acta Psychiatr Scand, 2009. 119(5): p. 350-64.
- Agoub, M., D. Moussaoui, and O. Battas, *Prevalence of postpartum depression in a Moroccan sample*. Arch Womens Ment Health, 2005. 8(1): p. 37-43.
- Uwakwe, R. and J.E. Okonkwo, Affective (depressive) morbidity in puerperal Nigerian women: validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand, 2003. 107(4): p. 251-9.
- 21. Lawrie, T.A., et al., *Validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale on a cohort of South African women*. S Afr Med J, 1998. **88**(10): p. 1340-4.
- 22. Chibanda, D., et al., *Validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale among women in a high HIV prevalence area in urban Zimbabwe*. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 2009.
- 23. Hanlon, C., et al., *Detecting perinatal common mental disorders in Ethiopia: Validation of the self-reporting questionnaire and Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2008. **108**(3): p. 251-262.
- Tesfaye, M., et al., Detecting postnatal common mental disorders in Addis Ababa,
 Ethiopia: validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale and Kessler Scales. J
 Affect Disord, 2010. 122(1-2): p. 102-8.
- 25. Weobong, B., et al., *The comparative validity of screening scales for postnatal common mental disorder in Kintampo, Ghana.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2009. **113**(1-2): p. 109-117.
- 26. Beusenberg, M., Orley, J, *User's Guide to the Self-Reporting Questionnaire*, WHO, Editor. 1994, WHO: Geneva.
- Kessler, R.C., et al., Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress. Psychological Medicine, 2002. 32(6): p. 959-976.
- 28. Beck, A.T., *An Inventory for Measuring Depression*. Archives of general psychiatry, 1961. **4**(6): p. 561-571.
- Kroenke, K., R.L. Spitzer, and J.B.W. Williams, *The PHQ-9 Validity of a brief depression severity measure*. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 2001. 16(9): p. 606-613.
- Hanlon, C., et al., Impact of antenatal common mental disorders upon perinatal outcomes in Ethiopia: the P-MaMiE population-based cohort study. Tropical Medicine & International Health, 2009. 14(2): p. 156-166.

- Ebigbo, P.O., Development of a culture specific (Nigeria) screening scale of somatic complaints indicating psychiatric disturbance. Cult Med Psychiatry, 1982. 6(1): p. 29-43.
- Harding, T.W., et al., *Mental disorders in primary health care: a study of their frequency and diagnosis in four developing countries*. Psychological Medicine, 1980.
 10(02): p. 231-241.
- Harris, B., et al., *The Use of Rating-Scales to Identify Post-Natal Depression*. British Journal of Psychiatry, 1989. **154**: p. 813-817.
- 34. Hanusa, B.H., et al., *Screening for depression in the postpartum period: a comparison of three instruments.* J Womens Health (Larchmt), 2008. **17**(4): p. 585-96.
- 35. Flynn, H.A., et al., *Comparative performance of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale and the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 in pregnant and postpartum women seeking psychiatric services.* Psychiatry Research, 2011. **187**(1–2): p. 130-134.
- 36. Martin, A., et al., *Validity of the Brief Patient Health Questionnaire Mood Scale (PHQ-9) in the general population.* General Hospital Psychiatry, 2006. 28(1): p. 71-77.
- APA, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for mental disorders-TR, APA, Editor. 2000: Washington (DC).
- Wittkampf, K.A., et al., *Diagnostic accuracy of the mood module of the Patient Health Questionnaire: a systematic review*. General Hospital Psychiatry, 2007. 29(5): p. 388-395.
- Chen, S., et al., *Reliability and validity of the PHQ-9 for screening late-life depression in Chinese primary care.* Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 2010. 25(11): p. 1127-1133.
- 40. Lotrakul, M., S. Sumrithe, and R. Saipanish, *Reliability and validity of the Thai version of the PHQ-9.* BMC Psychiatry, 2008. **8**(1): p. 46.
- Poongothai, S., et al., *Reliability and validity of a modified PHQ-9 item inventory* (*PHQ-12*) as a screening instrument for assessing depression in Asian Indians (*CURES-65*). J Assoc Physicians India, 2009. **57**: p. 147-52.
- 42. Adewuya, A.O., B.A. Ola, and O.O. Afolabi, *Validity of the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) as a screening tool for depression amongst Nigerian university students.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2006. **96**(1–2): p. 89-93.
- Monahan, P., et al., Validity/Reliability of PHQ-9 and PHQ-2 Depression Scales Among Adults Living with HIV/AIDS in Western Kenya. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 2009. 24(2): p. 189-197.
- Altman, D.G. and J.M. Bland, *Diagnostic tests 2: Predictive values*. BMJ, 1994. **309**(6947): p. 102.
- 45. Sawyer, A., S. Ayers, and H. Smith, *Pre- and postnatal psychological wellbeing in Africa: A systematic review.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2010.

- Spinelli, M.G., Interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed antepartum women: a pilot study. Am J Psychiatry, 1997. 154(7): p. 1028-30.
- Ryan, D., L. Milis, and N. Misri, *Depression during pregnancy*. Can Fam Physician, 2005. 51: p. 1087-93.
- 48. Rahman, A. and F. Creed, *Outcome of prenatal depression and risk factors associated with persistence in the first postnatal year: Prospective study from Rawalpindi, Pakistan.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2007. 100(1-3): p. 115-121.
- 49. Shah, S.M., et al., *Prevalence of antenatal depression: comparison between Pakistani* and Canadian women. J Pak Med Assoc, 2011. **61**(3): p. 242-6.
- 50. Lara, M., et al., *Prenatal Depression in Latinas in the U.S. and Mexico*. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 2009. **13**(4): p. 567-576.
- 51. Kleinman, A., *Anthropology and psychiatry. The role of culture in cross-cultural research on illness.* Br J Psychiatry, 1987. **151**: p. 447-54.
- Jadhav, S., *The cultural construction of Western depression*. Anthropological approaches to psychological medicine, ed. J.C. V.Skultans. 2000, London: Jessica Kingsley.
- 53. Bennett, H.A., et al., *Prevalence of depression during pregnancy: systematic review*. Obstet Gynecol, 2004. **103**(4): p. 698-709.
- Gavin, N.I., et al., *Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence*. Obstet Gynecol, 2005. **106**(5 Pt 1): p. 1071-83.
- 55. Hanlon, C., et al., Sociocultural practices in Ethiopia: association with onset and persistence of postnatal common mental disorders. Br J Psychiatry, 2010. 197(6): p. 468-75.
- 56. Adewuya, A.O. and O.T. Afolabi, *The course of anxiety and depressive symptoms in Nigerian postpartum women.* Arch Womens Ment Health, 2005. **8**(4): p. 257-9.
- 57. Cox, J.L., et al., *Prospective study of the psychiatric disorders of childbirth by self report questionnaire.* J Affect Disord, 1983. **5**(1): p. 1-7.
- 58. Collin, S.M., et al., Factors associated with postpartum physical and mental morbidity among women with known HIV status in Lusaka, Zambia. AIDS Care, 2006. **18**(7): p. 812-20.
- 59. O'Hara, M.W., D.J. Neunaber, and E.M. Zekoski, *Prospective study of postpartum depression: prevalence, course, and predictive factors.* J Abnorm Psychol, 1984. 93(2): p. 158-71.
- 60. Campbell, S.B.C., J.F, *The timing and chronicity of postpartum depression: Implications for infant development*, in *Postpartum Depression and Child Development*, P.J. Cooper, Editor. 1997, Guildford: New York. p. 165-197.

- Beeghly, M., et al., Stability and change in level of maternal depressive symptomatology during the first postpartum year. J Affect Disord, 2002. 71(1-3): p. 169-80.
- 62. Evans, J., et al., *Cohort study of depressed mood during pregnancy and after childbirth*. BMJ, 2001. **323**(7307): p. 257-60.
- 63. Rubertsson, C., et al., *Depressive symptoms in early pregnancy, two months and one year postpartum-prevalence and psychosocial risk factors in a national Swedish sample.* Arch Womens Ment Health, 2005. **8**(2): p. 97-104.
- Husain, N., et al., Prevalence and psychosocial correlates of perinatal depression: a cohort study from urban Pakistan. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 2011. 14(5): p. 395-403.
- 65. Chandran, M., et al., *Post-partum depression in a cohort of women from a rural area of Tamil Nadu, India. Incidence and risk factors.* Br J Psychiatry, 2002. **181**: p. 499-504.
- 66. Limlomwongse, N. and T. Liabsuetrakul, *Cohort study of depressive moods in Thai women during late pregnancy and 6–8 weeks of postpartum using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)*. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 2006. 9(3): p. 131-138.
- Kalyani, G.H.S., Saeed, K., Rehman, I.U., Mubbashar, *Incidence of depressive illness in Pakistani women during postnatal period*. Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan, 2001. 11(4): p. 246-248.
- 68. Affonso, D.D., et al., *An international study exploring levels of postpartum depressive symptomatology*. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 2000. **49**(3): p. 207-16.
- Quelopana, A.M., J.D. Champion, and T. Reyes-Rubilar, *Factors Associated With Postpartum Depression in Chilean Women*. Health Care for Women International, 2011. **32**(10): p. 939-949.
- Wolf, A.W., I. De Andraca, and B. Lozoff, *Maternal depression in three Latin American samples*. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol, 2002. 37(4): p. 169-76.
- O'Hara, M.W. and A.M. Swain, *Rates and risk of postpartum depression—a meta*analysis. International Review of Psychiatry, 1996. 8(1): p. 37-54.
- 72. Klainin, P. and D.G. Arthur, *Postpartum depression in Asian cultures: A literature review*. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2009. **46**(10): p. 1355-1373.
- 73. Rodrigues, M., et al., *Listening to mothers: qualitative studies on motherhood and depression from Goa, India.* Social Science & Medicine, 2003. **57**(10): p. 1797-1806.
- 74. Yoshida, K., et al., *Postnatal depression in Japanese mothers and the reconsideration* of 'Satogaeri bunben'. Pediatr Int, 2001. **43**(2): p. 189-93.
- 75. Fisher, J.R., et al., *Prevalence, nature, severity and correlates of postpartum depressive symptoms in Vietnam.* BJOG, 2004. **111**(12): p. 1353-60.

- Grace, J., et al., *The Relationship between Post-Natal Depression, Somatization and Behaviour in Malaysian Women*. Transcultural Psychiatry, 2001. 38(1): p. 27-34.
- 77. Leung, S.K., D. Arthur, and I.M. Martinson, *Perceived stress and support of the Chinese postpartum ritual "doing the month"*. Health Care Women Int, 2005. 26(3): p. 212-24.
- 78. Chee, C.Y., et al., *Confinement and other psychosocial factors in perinatal depression: a transcultural study in Singapore*. J Affect Disord, 2005. **89**(1-3): p. 157-66.
- 79. Chien, L.Y., et al., *Adherence to "Doing-the-month" practices is associated with fewer physical and depressive symptoms among postpartum women in Taiwan.* Res Nurs Health, 2006. **29**(5): p. 374-83.
- 80. Cox, J., *Psychiatric morbidity and childbirth: a study of 273 semirural Ugandan women. A prospective, controlled community study.* 1980 University of Oxford: Oxford.
- Aderibigbe, Y.A., O. Gureje, and O. Omigbodun, *Postnatal emotional disorders in Nigerian women. A study of antecedents and associations.* Br J Psychiatry, 1993. 163: p. 645-50.
- Nhiwatiwa, S., V. Patel, and W. Acuda, *Predicting postnatal mental disorder with a screening questionnaire: a prospective cohort study from Zimbabwe*. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 1998. 52(4): p. 262-266.
- Rahman, A., Z. Iqbal, and R. Harrington, *Life events, social support and depression in childbirth: perspectives from a rural community in the developing world.* Psychol Med, 2003. 33(7): p. 1161-7.
- 84. Gausia, K., et al., Magnitude and contributory factors of postnatal depression: a community-based cohort study from a rural subdistrict of Bangladesh. Psychol Med, 2009. 39(6): p. 999-1007.
- 85. Heron, J., et al., *The course of anxiety and depression through pregnancy and the postpartum in a community sample.* J Affect Disord, 2004. **80**(1): p. 65-73.
- Patel, V., et al., *Depression in developing countries: lessons from Zimbabwe*. BMJ, 2001. **322**(7284): p. 482-4.
- Broadhead, J.C. and M.A. Abas, *Life events, difficulties and depression among women in an urban setting in Zimbabwe*. Psychol Med, 1998. 28(1): p. 29-38.
- Banda, A. and T. Narayan, *Mental health and human rights*. Lancet, 2007. **370**(9594):p. 1197-8.
- McGill, H., et al., *Postnatal depression: a Christchurch study*. N Z Med J, 1995.
 108(999): p. 162-5.
- Sharp., D., *The prevention of postnatal depression*. The Prevention of Mental Illness in Primary Care, ed. P.F.a.A.T. Eds. T Kendrick. 1996.

- Stowe, Z.N., A.L. Hostetter, and D.J. Newport, *The onset of postpartum depression: Implications for clinical screening in obstetrical and primary care.* American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2005. **192**(2): p. 522-526.
- 92. WHO, International statistical classification of disease and related health problems (ICD-10). 1993, WHO: Geneva.
- Miller, L.J., *Postpartum depression*. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association, 2002. 287(6): p. 762-765.
- 94. Purdy D, F.E., *Should postpartum mood disordersbe given a more prominent or distinct place in the DSM-IV?* Depression and Anxiety, 1993. **1**: p. 59-70.
- 95. O'Hara, M.W., Social support, life events, and depression during pregnancy and the puerperium. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 1986. **43**(6): p. 569-73.
- 96. Buesching, D.P., M.L. Glasser, and D.A. Frate, *Progression of depression in the prenatal and postpartum periods*. Women Health, 1986. **11**(2): p. 61-78.
- 97. Kumar, R. and K.M. Robson, *A Prospective-Study of Emotional Disorders in Childbearing Women*. British Journal of Psychiatry, 1984. **144**(Jan): p. 35-47.
- Cooper, P.J., et al., Non-Psychotic Psychiatric-Disorder after Childbirth a Prospective-Study of Prevalence, Incidence, Course and Nature. British Journal of Psychiatry, 1988. 152: p. 799-806.
- 99. Matthey, S., *Are we overpathologising motherhood?* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2010. 120(1-3): p. 263-266.
- Ballestrem, C.L., M. Strauß, and H. Kächele, *Contribution to the epidemiology of postnatal depression in Germany implications for the utilization of treatment*.
 Archives of Women's Mental Health, 2005. 8(1): p. 29-35.
- Stowe, Z.N., A.L. Hostetter, and D.J. Newport, *The onset of postpartum depression: Implications for clinical screening in obstetrical and primary care.* Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2005. **192**(2): p. 522-6.
- 102. Cooper, P.J. and L. Murray, *Course and Recurrence of Postnatal Depression Evidence for the Specificity of the Diagnostic Concept.* British Journal of Psychiatry, 1995. 166: p. 191-195.
- 103. Warner, R., et al., *Attitudes toward motherhood in postnatal depression: Development of the maternal attitudes questionnaire*. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 1997.
 43(4): p. 351-358.
- 104. Church, N.F., M.L. Brechman-Toussaint, and D.W. Hine, *Do dysfunctional cognitions mediate the relationship between risk factors and postnatal depression symptomatology?* J Affect Disord, 2005. 87(1): p. 65-72.
- 105. Watson, J.P., et al., *Psychiatric-Disorder in Pregnancy and the 1st Postnatal Year*.
 British Journal of Psychiatry, 1984. 144(May): p. 453-462.

- 106. Pitt, B., "Atypical" depression following childbirth. Br J Psychiatry, 1968. 114(516): p. 1325-35.
- Cooper, P.J., et al., Non-psychotic psychiatric disorder after childbirth. A prospective study of prevalence, incidence, course and nature. Br J Psychiatry, 1988. 152: p. 799-806.
- 108. O'Hara, The nature of postpartum depressive disorders, in Postpartum Depression and Child Development, in Postpartum Depression and Child Development, L.M.a.P.
 Cooper, Editor. 1997, Guildford Press: New York. p. 3-32.
- Goodman, J.H., *Postpartum depression beyond the early postpartum period*. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs, 2004. 33(4): p. 410-20.
- Wisner, K.L., B.L. Parry, and C.M. Piontek, *Clinical practice. Postpartum depression*. N Engl J Med, 2002. 347(3): p. 194-9.
- Zajicek, E. and S. Wolkind, *Emotional Difficulties in Married-Women during and after 1st Pregnancy.* British Journal of Medical Psychology, 1978. **51**(Dec): p. 379-385.
- Wrate, R.M., Handbook of Psychiatric-Consultation with Children and Youth -Bernstein, Nr, Sussex, J. British Journal of Psychiatry, 1985. 146(May): p. 568-569.
- Phillips, J., et al., Subtypes of postnatal depression? A comparison of women with recurrent and de novo postnatal depression. Journal of Affective Disorders, 2010.
 120(1-3): p. 67-75.
- 114. Viguera, A.C., et al., *Risk of recurrence in women with bipolar disorder during pregnancy: prospective study of mood stabilizer discontinuation*. Am J Psychiatry, 2007. 164(12): p. 1817-24; quiz 1923.
- Davidson, J. and E. Robertson, A Follow-up-Study of Post Partum Illness, 1946-1978.
 Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 1985. 71(5): p. 451-457.
- Wisner, K.L. and S.B. Wheeler, *Prevention of Recurrent Postpartum Major* Depression. Hospital and Community Psychiatry, 1994. 45(12): p. 1191-1196.
- 117. Leigh, B. and J. Milgrom, *Risk factors for antenatal depression, postnatal depression and parenting stress.* BMC Psychiatry, 2008. **8**: p. 24.
- 118. Richards, J.P., *Postnatal depression: a review of recent literature*. Br J Gen Pract, 1990.
 40(340): p. 472-6.
- 119. Adewuya, A.O., et al., *Prevalence and correlates of depression in late pregnancy among Nigerian women.* Depression and Anxiety, 2007. **24**(1): p. 15-21.
- 120. Deborah Da, C., et al., *Psychosocial correlates of prepartum and postpartum depressed mood.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2000. **59**(1): p. 31-40.
- McCue Horwitz, S., et al., *Prevalence, Correlates, and Persistence of Maternal Depression.* Journal of Women's Health, 2007. 16(5): p. 678-691.
- 122. Lancaster, C.A., et al., *Risk factors for depressive symptoms during pregnancy: a systematic review.* Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2010. **202**(1): p. 5-14.

- 123. Patel, V., M. Rodrigues, and N. DeSouza, *Gender, Poverty, and Postnatal Depression:* A Study of Mothers in Goa, India. Am J Psychiatry, 2002. 159(1): p. 43-47.
- 124. Milgrom, J., et al., *Antenatal risk factors for postnatal depression: a large prospective study*. J Affect Disord, 2008. **108**(1-2): p. 147-57.
- 125. Flach, C., et al., Antenatal domestic violence, maternal mental health and subsequent child behaviour: a cohort study. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 2011. 118(11): p. 1383-1391.
- Hartley, M., et al., Depressed mood in pregnancy: Prevalence and correlates in two Cape Town peri-urban settlements. Reproductive Health, 2011. 8(1): p. 9.
- 127. Ferri, C., et al., *The impact of maternal experience of violence and common mental disorders on neonatal outcomes: a survey of adolescent mothers in Sao Paulo, Brazil.*BMC Public Health, 2007. 7(1): p. 209.
- 128. Perlen, S., et al., *Maternal depression and physical health problems in early pregnancy: Findings of an Australian nulliparous pregnancy cohort study.* Midwifery, 2012(0).
- 129. Lee, A.M.P., et al., *Prevalence, Course, and Risk Factors for Antenatal Anxiety and Depression*. 2007.
- Beck, C.T., *Predictors of postpartum depression An update*. Nursing Research, 2001.
 50(5): p. 275-285.
- 131. Robertson, E., et al., *Antenatal risk factors for postpartum depression: a synthesis of recent literature.* Gen Hosp Psychiatry, 2004. **26**(4): p. 289-95.
- 132. Reid, V.M.-O., Mikki, *Postpartum Depression in Adolescent Mothers: An Integrative Review of the Literature.* Journal of Pediatric Health Care, 2007. **21**(5): p. 289-298.
- Green, J., Calming or Harming: A Critical Review of Psychological Effects of Fetal Diagnosis of Pregnant Women. 1990, Galton Inst., London (United Kingdom): London.
- 134. Lavender, T., S.A. Walkinshaw, and I. Walton, *A prospective study of women's views of factors contributing to a positive birth experience*. Midwifery, 1999. **15**(1): p. 40-46.
- 135. Slade, P., et al., *Expectations, Experiences and Satisfaction with Labor*. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 1993. **32**: p. 469-483.
- 136. Patel, V., et al., Gender disadvantage and reproductive health risk factors for common mental disorders in women: a community survey in India. Archives of general psychiatry, 2006. 63(4): p. 404 - 413.
- 137. Adewuya, A.O., et al., *Sociodemographic and obstetric risk factors for postpartum depressive symptoms in Nigerian women.* J Psychiatr Pract, 2005b. **11**(5): p. 353-8.
- 138. Owoeye, A.O., O.F. Aina, and O. Morakinyo, *Risk factors of postpartum depression* and *EPDS scores in a group of Nigerian women*. Trop Doct, 2006. **36**(2): p. 100-3.
- 139. Fatoye, F.O., B.Y. Oladimeji, and A.B. Adeyemi, *Difficult delivery and some selected factors as predictors of early postpartum psychological symptoms among Nigerian women*. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 2006. **60**(3): p. 299-301.

- Abiodun, O.A., *Postnatal depression in primary care populations in Nigeria*. General Hospital Psychiatry, 2006. 28(2): p. 133-136.
- 141. Nakku, J.E., G. Nakasi, and F. Mirembe, *Postpartum major depression at six weeks in primary health care: prevalence and associated factors*. Afr Health Sci, 2006. 6(4): p. 207-14.
- 142. Xie, R.H., et al., *Fetal gender and postpartum depression in a cohort of Chinese women.* Soc Sci Med, 2007. **65**(4): p. 680-4.
- 143. Ebeigbe, P.N. and K.O. Akhigbe, *Incidence and associated risk factors of postpartum depression in a tertiary hospital in Nigeria*. Niger Postgrad Med J, 2008. **15**(1): p. 15-8.
- 144. Ukpong, D.I. and A.T. Owolabi, *Postpartum emotional distress: a controlled study of Nigerian women after caesarean childbirth.* J Obstet Gynaecol, 2006. **26**(2): p. 127-9.
- 145. Faisal-Cury, A., et al., Common mental disorders during pregnancy: prevalence and associated factors among low-income women in São Paulo, Brazil. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 2009. 12(5): p. 335-343.
- 146. Husain, N., et al., *Prevalence and social correlates of postnatal depression in a low income country*. Arch Womens Ment Health, 2006. 9(4): p. 197-202.
- 147. Nagpal, J., et al., An exploratory study to evaluate the utility of an adapted Mother Generated Index (MGI) in assessment of postpartum quality of life in India. Health Qual Life Outcomes, 2008. 6: p. 107.
- 148. Wan, E.Y., et al., *Postpartum depression and traditional postpartum care in China: role of zuoyuezi*. Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 2009. **104**(3): p. 209-13.
- 149. Dindar, I. and S. Erdogan, Screening of Turkish Women for Postpartum Depression Within the First Postpartum Year: The Risk Profile of a Community Sample. Public Health Nursing, 2007. 24(2): p. 176-183.
- 150. Lee, D.T., et al., *Identifying women at risk of postnatal depression: prospective longitudinal study.* Hong Kong Med J, 2000. **6**(4): p. 349-54.
- 151. Leung, S.S., I.M. Martinson, and D. Arthur, *Postpartum depression and related psychosocial variables in Hong Kong Chinese women: findings from a prospective study.* Res Nurs Health, 2005b. **28**(1): p. 27-38.
- 152. Beck, C.T., *A meta-analysis of predictors of postpartum depression*. Nursing Research, 1996. **45**(5): p. 297-303.
- 153. Alami, K.M., N. Kadri, and S. Berrada, Prevalence and psychosocial correlates of depressed mood during pregnancy and after childbirth in a Moroccan sample. Arch Womens Ment Health, 2006. 9(6): p. 343-6.
- Ramchandani, P.G., et al., Predictors of postnatal depression in an urban South African cohort. J Affect Disord, 2009. 113(3): p. 279-84.
- 155. Filippi, V., et al., *Health of women after severe obstetric complications in Burkina Faso: a longitudinal study.* Lancet, 2007. **370**(9595): p. 1329-37.

- 156. Josefsson, A., et al., *Obstetric, somatic, and demographic risk factors for postpartum depressive symptoms*. Obstet Gynecol, 2002. **99**(2): p. 223-8.
- 157. Johnstone, S.J., et al., *Obstetric risk factors for postnatal depression in urban and rural community samples*. Aust N Z J Psychiatry, 2001. **35**(1): p. 69-74.
- Adewuya, A.O., Early Postpartum Mood as a Risk Factor for Postnatal Depression in Nigerian Women. Am J Psychiatry, 2006. 163(8): p. 1435-1437.
- 159. Melges, F.T., *Postpartum psychiatric syndromes*. Psychosomatic Medicine, 1968.**30**(1): p. 95-108.
- Playfair, H.R. and J.I. Gowers, *Depression following childbirth--a search for predictive signs*. J R Coll Gen Pract, 1981. **31**(225): p. 201-8.
- 161. Cox, J.L., Y. Connor, and R.E. Kendell, *Prospective study of the psychiatric disorders of childbirth*. Br J Psychiatry, 1982. **140**: p. 111-7.
- 162. Hapgood, C.C., G.S. Elkind, and J.J. Wright, *Maternity Blues Phenomena and Relationship to Later Post Partum Depression*. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 1988. 22(3): p. 299-306.
- Whiffen, V.E., Vulnerability of postpartum depression: a prospective multivariate study. J Abnorm Psychol, 1988. 97(4): p. 467-74.
- 164. Hannah, P., et al., *Links between early post-partum mood and post-natal depression*. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 1992. 160(6): p. 777-780.
- 165. Halbreich, U. and S. Karkun, *Cross-cultural and social diversity of prevalence of postpartum depression and depressive symptoms*. Journal of Affective Disorders, 2006.
 91(2-3): p. 97-111.
- 166. Vigod, S.N., et al., *Prevalence and risk factors for postpartum depression among women with preterm and low-birth-weight infants: a systematic review.* BJOG, 2010.
- 167. Choi, Y., D. Bishai, and C.S. Minkovitz, *Multiple births are a risk factor for postpartum maternal depressive symptoms*. Pediatrics, 2009. **123**(4): p. 1147-54.
- 168. McLaren, L., et al., *Postnatal depression and the original mother-child relationship: A prospective cohort study.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2007. **100**(1-3): p. 211-219.
- Josefsson., A., *Postpartum Depression: Epidemiological and Biological aspects*. 2003, Sweden: Department of Neuroscience and Locomotion, Linkoping University,.
- Groer, M.W. and K. Morgan, *Immune, health and endocrine characteristics of depressed postpartum mothers*. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 2007. 32(2): p. 133-9.
- 171. Murphy-Eberenz, K., et al., *Is perinatal depression familial*? J Affect Disord, 2006. **90**(1): p. 49-55.
- 172. Bernazzani, O., et al., *Psychosocial predictors of depressive symptomatology level in postpartum women.* J Affect Disord, 1997. **46**(1): p. 39-49.
- 173. Hanlon, C., Perinatal common mental disorders in Ethiopia: socio-cultural factors in onset, remission and maintenance, in Health Services & Population Research

Department, Institute of Psychiatry. 2010, University of London, PhD Thesis.: London. p. 392.

- 174. McLennan, J.D., M. Kotelchuck, and H. Cho, Prevalence, persistence, and correlates of depressive symptoms in a national sample of mothers of toddlers. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 2001. 40(11): p. 1316-23.
- 175. Lorant, V., et al., Socioeconomic inequalities in depression: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol, 2003. 157(2): p. 98-112.
- 176. Fisher, J., et al., Nature, prevalence and determinants of common mental health problems and their management in primary health care. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 2011. 57: p. 9-12.
- 177. Patel, V. and M. Prince, *Maternal psychological morbidity and the risk of low birth weight in poor countries*. British Journal of Psychiatry (in press), 2006. 188: p. 284 285.
- 178. Rahman, A., et al., *Association between antenatal depression and low birthweight in a developing country.* Acta Psychiatr Scand, 2007. **115**(6): p. 481-6.
- 179. Rahman, A., et al., *Impact of maternal depression on infant nutritional status and illness: a cohort study.* Archives of general psychiatry, 2004a. **61**(9): p. 946 952.
- Ross, J., et al., *Perinatal mental distress and infant morbidity in Ethiopia: a cohort study.* Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2011. 96(1): p. F59-64.
- 181. Grote, N.K., et al., A meta-analysis of depression during pregnancy and the risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, and intrauterine growth restriction. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 2010. 67(10): p. 1012-24.
- 182. Diego, M.A., et al., *Prenatal depression restricts fetal growth*. Early Hum Dev, 2009.
 85(1): p. 65-70.
- 183. Field, T., M. Diego, and M. Hernandez-Reif, *Prenatal depression effects on the fetus and newborn: a review.* Infant Behavior and Development, 2006. **29**(3): p. 445-455.
- 184. Field, T., et al., *Chronic prenatal depression and neonatal outcome*. Int J Neurosci, 2008. 118(1): p. 95-103.
- 185. Hoffman, S. and M. Hatch, Depressive symptomatology during pregnancy: evidence for an association with decreased fetal growth in pregnancies of lower social class women. Health Psychology, 2000. 19(6): p. 535 543.
- 186. Chung, T., et al., Antepartum depressive symptomatology is associated with adverse obstetric and neonatal outcomes. Psychosomatic Medicine 63(5):830-4, 2001. 63(5): p. 830 834.
- 187. Dayan, J., et al., Prenatal depression, prenatal anxiety, and spontaneous preterm birth: a prospective cohort study among women with early and regular care. Psychosomatic Medicine, 2006. 68(6): p. 938-46.

- 188. Preti, A., et al., *Obstetric complications in patients with depression -- a populationbased case-control study.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2000. **61**(1-2): p. 101-106.
- 189. Deave, T., et al., *The impact of maternal depression in pregnancy on early child development*. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 2008.
 115(8): p. 1043-1051.
- 190. Andersson, L., et al., *Neonatal outcome following maternal antenatal depression and anxiety: a population-based study.* Am J Epidemiol, 2004. **159**(9): p. 872-81.
- 191. Paarlberg, K.M., et al., Psychosocial factors and pregnancy outcome: a review with emphasis on methodological issues. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 1995. 39(5): p. 563-95.
- 192. Pawlby, S., et al., Antenatal depression predicts depression in adolescent offspring: prospective longitudinal community-based study. J Affect Disord, 2009. 113(3): p. 236-43.
- Weissman, M.M. and M. Olfson, *Depression in women: implications for health care research*. Science, 1995. 269(5225): p. 799-801.
- 194. Andersson, L., et al., *Implications of Antenatal Depression and Anxiety for Obstetric Outcome*. Obstetrics & Gynecology, 2004. 104(3): p. 467-476
 10.1097/01.AOG.0000135277.04565.e9.
- 195. Austin, M.P., S. Kildea, and E. Sullivan, *Maternal mortality and psychiatric morbidity in the perinatal period: challenges and opportunities for prevention in the Australian setting*. Med J Aust, 2007. **186**(7): p. 364-7.
- 196. Oates, M., *Perinatal psychiatric disorders: a leading cause of maternal morbidity and mortality.* Br Med Bull, 2003. **67**: p. 219-29.
- 197. NICE, Why mothers die 1997-1999. Confidential Enquiries into Maternal Deaths in the United Kingdom. 2001, National Institute for Clinical Excellence: London.
- Marcus, S.M., Depression during pregnancy: rates, risks and consequences--Motherisk Update 2008. Can J Clin Pharmacol, 2009. 16(1): p. e15-22.
- 199. Chen, Y.H., S.Y. Tsai, and H.C. Lin, *Increased mortality risk among offspring of mothers with postnatal depression: a nationwide population-based study in Taiwan*. Psychol Med, 2011. 41(11): p. 2287-96.
- 200. Deyessa, N., et al., *Joint effect of maternal depression and intimate partner violence on increased risk of child death in rural Ethiopia.* Arch Dis Child, 2010. **95**(10): p. 771-5.
- 201. Patel, V., N. DeSouza, and M. Rodrigues, *Postnatal depression and infant growth and development in low income countries: a cohort study from Goa, India.* Archives of Disease in Childhood, 2003. 88(1): p. 34-37.
- 202. Anoop, S., et al., Maternal depression and low maternal intelligence as risk factors for malnutrition in children: a community based case-control study from South India. Arch Dis Child, 2004. 89(4): p. 325-9.

- Rahman, A., et al., *Mothers' mental health and infant growth: a case-control study from Rawalpindi, Pakistan.* Child Care Health Dev, 2004b. 30(1): p. 21-7.
- 204. Stewart, R.C., et al., *Maternal common mental disorder and infant growth a cross-sectional study from Malawi*. Maternal & Child Nutrition, 2008. **4**(3): p. 209-219.
- 205. Black, M.M., et al., *Depressive symptoms among rural Bangladeshi mothers: implications for infant development.* J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 2007. **48**(8): p. 764-72.
- 206. Avan, B., et al., *Maternal postnatal depression and children's growth and behaviour during the early years of life: exploring the interaction between physical and mental health.* Arch Dis Child, 2010. **95**(9): p. 690-5.
- Harpham, T., et al., *Maternal mental health and child nutritional status in four developing countries*. J Epidemiol Community Health, 2005. 59(12): p. 1060-4.
- 208. Baker-Henningham, H., et al., *Mothers of undernourished Jamaican children have* poorer psychosocial functioning and this is associated with stimulation provided in the home. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2003. **57**(6): p. 786-92.
- 209. Surkan, P.J., et al., Maternal depression and early childhood growth in developing countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 2011. 89(8): p. 607-615d.
- 210. Grote, V., et al., *Maternal postnatal depression and child growth: a European Cohort study.* BMC Pediatrics, 2010. 10(1): p. 14.
- Santos, I.S., et al., Long-Lasting Maternal Depression and Child Growth at 4 Years of Age: A Cohort Study. J Pediatr, 2010. 157(3): p. 401-406.
- 212. Medhin, G., et al., *The effect of maternal common mental disorders on infant undernutrition in Butajira, Ethiopia: the P-MaMiE study.* BMC Psychiatry, 2010. 10: p. 32.
- 213. Tomlinson, M., et al., *Post-partum depression and infant growth in a South African peri-urban settlement*. Child Care Health Dev, 2006. **32**(1): p. 81-6.
- 214. Stein, A., et al., *The relationship between post-natal depression and mother-child interaction*. Br J Psychiatry, 1991. **158**: p. 46-52.
- 215. Stein, A., et al., *The influence of maternal depression, caregiving, and socioeconomic status in the post-natal year on children's language development.* Child Care Health Dev, 2008. **34**(5): p. 603-12.
- Murray, L., et al., *Cognitive vulnerability to depression in 5-year-old children of depressed mothers*. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 2001. 42(7): p. 891-9.
- Beck, C.T., Maternal depression and child behaviour problems: a meta-analysis. J Adv Nurs, 1999. 29(3): p. 623-9.
- Goodman, S.H., et al., Social and emotional competence in children of depressed mothers. Child Dev, 1993. 64(2): p. 516-31.

- Cooper, P., et al., *Post-partum depression and the mother-infant relationship in a South African peri-urban settlement*. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 1999. **175**(6): p. 554-558.
- 220. Murray L, H.S., Cooper PJ, Effects of postnatal depression on mother-infant interactions, and child development, in Handbook of Infant Development, B.G. Wachs T, Editor. 2009, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford: Oxford, UK.
- 221. Galler, J.R., et al., *Maternal depressive symptoms affect infant cognitive development in Barbados.* J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 2000. **41**(6): p. 747-57.
- Hadley, C., et al., Parental symptoms of common mental disorders and children's social, motor, and language development in sub-Saharan Africa. Ann Hum Biol, 2008.
 35(3): p. 259-75.
- 223. Grantham-McGregor, S., et al., *Developmental potential in the first 5 years for children in developing countries.* Lancet, 2007. **369**(9555): p. 60-70.
- 224. Cooper, P.J., L. Murray, and A. Stein, *Psychosocial factors associated with the early termination of breast-feeding*. J Psychosom Res, 1993. **37**(2): p. 171-6.
- 225. Taj, R. and K.S. Sikander, *Effects of maternal depression on breast-feeding*. J Pak Med Assoc, 2003. **53**(1): p. 8-11.
- Adewuya, A.O., et al., *Impact of postnatal depression on infants' growth in Nigeria*. J Affect Disord, 2008. 108(1-2): p. 191-3.
- 227. Falceto, O.G., E.R. Giugliani, and C.L. Fernandes, *Influence of parental mental health on early termination of breast-feeding: a case-control study.* J Am Board Fam Pract, 2004. **17**(3): p. 173-83.
- 228. Turner, C., F. Boyle, and P. O'Rourke, *Mothers' health post-partum and their patterns* of seeking vaccination for their infants. Int J Nurs Pract, 2003. **9**(2): p. 120-6.
- 229. Minkovitz, C.S., et al., *Maternal depressive symptoms and children's receipt of health care in the first 3 years of life*. Pediatrics, 2005. **115**(2): p. 306-14.
- 230. Paulson, J.F., S. Dauber, and J.A. Leiferman, *Individual and combined effects of postpartum depression in mothers and fathers on parenting behavior*. Pediatrics, 2006.
 118(2): p. 659-68.
- 231. Kara, B., et al., *Is there a role for the family and close community to help reduce the risk of postpartum depression in new mothers? A cross-sectional study of Turkish women.* Matern Child Health J, 2008. **12**(2): p. 155-61.
- 232. Araya, R., et al., *Treating depression in primary care in low-income women in* Santiago, Chile: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 2003. **361**(9362): p. 995-1000.
- 233. WHO, *mhGAP* : *Mental Health Gap Action Programme* : *scaling up care for mental*, *neurological and substance use disorders*, T. Satyanand, Editor. 2008, World Health Organisation: Geneva.

- 234. Dennis, C.L., L.E. Ross, and S. Grigoriadis, *Psychosocial and psychological interventions for treating antenatal depression*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2007(3): p. CD006309.
- 235. Spinelli, M.G. and J. Endicott, *Controlled clinical trial of interpersonal psychotherapy versus parenting education program for depressed pregnant women*. Am J Psychiatry, 2003. 160(3): p. 555-62.
- 236. Pariante, C.M., G. Seneviratne, and L. Howard, *Should we stop using tricyclic antidepressants in pregnancy?* Psychol Med, 2011. **41**(1): p. 15-7.
- 237. Diav-Citrin, O. and A. Ornoy, *Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in human pregnancy: to treat or not to treat?* Obstet Gynecol Int, 2012. **2012**: p. 698947.
- 238. Nutt, D.J., *Death by tricyclic: the real antidepressant scandal?* J Psychopharmacol, 2005. 19(2): p. 123-4.
- Koren, G. and H. Nordeng, *Antidepressant use during pregnancy: the benefit-risk ratio*.
 American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2012. 207(3): p. 157-163.
- 240. Bar-Oz, B., et al., *Paroxetine and congenital malformations: meta-Analysis and consideration of potential confounding factors*. Clin Ther, 2007. **29**(5): p. 918-26.
- 241. Wurst, K.E., et al., First trimester paroxetine use and the prevalence of congenital, specifically cardiac, defects: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol, 2010. 88(3): p. 159-70.
- 242. O'Brien, L., et al., *Does paroxetine cause cardiac malformations?* J Obstet Gynaecol Can, 2008. **30**(8): p. 696-701.
- 243. Hemels, M.E., et al., *Antidepressant use during pregnancy and the rates of spontaneous abortions: a meta-analysis.* Ann Pharmacother, 2005. **39**(5): p. 803-9.
- Rahimi, R., S. Nikfar, and M. Abdollahi, *Pregnancy outcomes following exposure to serotonin reuptake inhibitors: a meta-analysis of clinical trials.* Reprod Toxicol, 2006.
 22(4): p. 571-5.
- 245. Lattimore, K.A., et al., Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) use during pregnancy and effects on the fetus and newborn: a meta-analysis. J Perinatol, 2005.
 25(9): p. 595-604.
- 246. Dennis, C.L. and E. Hodnett, *Psychosocial and psychological interventions for treating postpartum depression*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2007(4): p. CD006116.
- 247. Rahman, A., et al., *Cognitive behaviour therapy-based intervention by community health workers for mothers with depression and their infants in rural Pakistan: a cluster-randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2008. **372**(9642): p. 902-909.
- 248. Hoffbrand, S., L. Howard, and H. Crawley, *Antidepressant drug treatment for postnatal depression*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2001(2): p. CD002018.
- 249. Appleby, L., et al., *A controlled study of fluoxetine and cognitive-behavioural counselling in the treatment of postnatal depression.* BMJ, 1997. **314**(7085): p. 932-6.

- Dennis, C.L. and D. Creedy, *Psychosocial and psychological interventions for preventing postpartum depression*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2004(4): p. CD001134.
- 251. Tripathy, P., et al., *Effect of a participatory intervention with women's groups on birth outcomes and maternal depression in Jharkhand and Orissa, India: a cluster-randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2010. **375**(9721): p. 1182-1192.
- 252. Cooper, P.J., et al., Improving quality of mother-infant relationship and infant attachment in socioeconomically deprived community in South Africa: randomised controlled trial. BMJ, 2009. **338**(apr14_2): p. b974-.
- 253. Baker-Henningham, H., et al., *The effect of early stimulation on maternal depression: a cluster randomised controlled trial.* Arch Dis Child, 2005. **90**(12): p. 1230-4.
- 254. Hughes Marcus, P.M., Prevention of Postpartum Depression and Adverse Child Outcomes in a High Risk Sample of Pregnant Women in Goa, India: Randomised Controlled Trial. 2009, Kings College London, Institute of Psychiatry.
- 255. Oakley, A., L. Rajan, and A. Grant, *Social support and pregnancy outcome*. Br J Obstet Gynaecol, 1990. **97**(2): p. 155-62.
- 256. Oakley, A.H., D. Rajan, L. Rigby, A, *social support in pregnancy: does it have longterm effects?* Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 1996. **14**: p. 7-22.
- 257. Marcenko, M.O. and M. Spence, *Home visitation services for at-risk pregnant and postpartum women: a randomized trial.* Am J Orthopsychiatry, 1994. **64**(3): p. 468-78.
- 258. MacLeod, J. and G. Nelson, *Programs for the promotion of family wellness and the prevention of child maltreatment: a meta-analytic review*. Child Abuse Negl, 2000.
 24(9): p. 1127-49.
- 259. Olds, D.L., *The nurse-family partnership: An evidence-based preventive intervention*. Infant Mental Health Journal, 2006. 27(1): p. 5-25.
- 260. Chibanda, D., et al., Problem-solving therapy for depression and common mental disorders in Zimbabwe: piloting a task-shifting primary mental health care intervention in a population with a high prevalence of people living with HIV. BMC Public Health, 2011. 11(1): p. 828.
- Olds, D.L., et al., *Home visiting by paraprofessionals and by nurses: a randomized, controlled trial.* Pediatrics, 2002. 110(3): p. 486-96.
- Wiggins, M., et al., Postnatal support for mothers living in disadvantaged inner city areas: a randomised controlled trial. J Epidemiol Community Health, 2005. 59(4): p. 288-95.
- 263. Barnes, J., R. Senior, and K. MacPherson, *The utility of volunteer home-visiting support to prevent maternal depression in the first year of life*. Child: Care, Health and Development, 2009. **35**(6): p. 807-816.

- Kendrick, D., et al., *The effect of home visiting programmes on uptake of childhood immunization: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* J Public Health, 2000. 22(1): p. 90-98.
- McKenzie, K., V. Patel, and R. Araya, *Learning from low income countries: mental health*. BMJ, 2004. **329**(7475): p. 1138-40.
- 266. Patel, V. and B. Kirkwood, *Perinatal depression treated by community health workers*. Lancet, 2008. **372**(9642): p. 868-9.
- Barnes, J., *Interventions addressing infant mental health problems*. Children and Society, 2003. 17: p. 386-395.
- Howard, L.M., E. Boath, and C. Henshaw, *Antidepressant prevention of postnatal depression*. PLoS Med, 2006. 3(10): p. e389.
- Wisner, K.L., et al., *Pharmacologic treatment of depression during pregnancy*. JAMA, 1999. 282(13): p. 1264-9.
- 270. Wisner, K.L., et al., Prevention of postpartum depression: a pilot randomized clinical trial. Am J Psychiatry, 2004. 161(7): p. 1290-2.
- 271. Patel, V., et al., *Effectiveness of an intervention led by lay health counsellors for depressive and anxiety disorders in primary care in Goa, India (MANAS): a cluster randomised controlled trial.* Lancet, 2010. **376**(9758): p. 2086-95.
- Patel, V., et al., *Treatment and prevention of mental disorders in low-income and middle-income countries*. Lancet, 2007. **370**(9591): p. 991-1005.
- 273. Group, L.G.M.H., Scale up services for mental disorders: a call for action. The Lancet, 2007. 370(9594): p. 1241-1252.
- 274. Petersen, I., *Comprehensive integrated primary mental health care for South Africa. Pipedream or possibility?* Soc Sci Med, 2000. 51(3): p. 321-34.
- 275. Mooren, T.T., et al., *The efficacy of a mental health program in Bosnia-Herzegovina: impact on coping and general health.* J Clin Psychol, 2003. **59**(1): p. 57-69.
- 276. Henderson, D.C., et al., Building primary care practitioners' attitudes and confidence in mental health skills in a post-conflict society: a Cambodian example. J Nerv Ment Dis, 2005. 193(8): p. 551-9.
- Qureshi, N.A., et al., *Effectiveness of a training programme for primary care physicians directed at the enhancement of their psychiatric knowledge in Saudi Arabia*. Educ Health (Abingdon), 2006. 19(1): p. 52-60.
- 278. Cohen, A., *The effectiveness of mental health services in primary care: the view from the developing world.* World Health Organization, , 2001.
- Srinivasan, S. and G.W. Collman, *Evolving partnerships in community*. Environ Health Perspect, 2005. **113**(12): p. 1814-6.

- 280. Austin, M.P., et al., Brief antenatal cognitive behaviour therapy group intervention for the prevention of postnatal depression and anxiety: a randomised controlled trial. J Affect Disord, 2008. 105(1-3): p. 35-44.
- 281. Teasdale, J.D., et al., Prevention of relapse/recurrence in major depression by mindfulness-based cognitive therapy. J Consult Clin Psychol, 2000. 68(4): p. 615-23.
- 282. Ma, S.H. and J.D. Teasdale, *Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression:* replication and exploration of differential relapse prevention effects. J Consult Clin Psychol, 2004. **72**(1): p. 31-40.
- 283. Bonhauser, M., et al., Improving physical fitness and emotional well-being in adolescents of low socioeconomic status in Chile: results of a school-based controlled trial. Health Promot Int, 2005. 20(2): p. 113-22.
- 284. Yu, D.L.S.M., *Preventing depressive symptoms in Chinese children* Prevention and Treatment, 2002. **5**(9).
- 285. Osinowo, H.O., B.O. Olley, and A.O. Adejumo, Evaluation of the effect of cognitive therapy on perioperative anxiety and depression among Nigerian surgical patients. West Afr J Med, 2003. 22(4): p. 338-42.
- 286. Balaji, M., et al., The acceptability, feasibility, and effectiveness of a population-based intervention to promote youth health: an exploratory study in Goa, India. J Adolesc Health, 2011. 48(5): p. 453-60.
- 287. Dennis, C.L. and K. Allen, *Interventions (other than pharmacological, psychosocial or psychological) for treating antenatal depression*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2008(4):
 p. CD006795.
- Manber, R., et al., Acupuncture: a promising treatment for depression during pregnancy. J Affect Disord, 2004. 83(1): p. 89-95.
- 289. Epperson, C.N., et al., *Randomized clinical trial of bright light therapy for antepartum depression: preliminary findings.* J Clin Psychiatry, 2004. **65**(3): p. 421-5.
- 290. Corral, M., A. Kuan, and D. Kostaras, *Bright light therapy's effect on postpartum depression*. Am J Psychiatry, 2000. **157**(2): p. 303-4.
- 291. Udechuku, A., et al., *Antidepressants in pregnancy: a systematic review*. Aust N Z J Psychiatry, 2010. **44**(11): p. 978-96.
- 292. O'Hara, M.W., et al., *Efficacy of interpersonal psychotherapy for postpartum depression*. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 2000. **57**(11): p. 1039-45.
- 293. Cooper, P.J., et al., Controlled trial of the short- and long-term effect of psychological treatment of post-partum depression. I. Impact on maternal mood. Br J Psychiatry, 2003. 182: p. 412-9.
- 294. Holden, J.M., R. Sagovsky, and J.L. Cox, *Counselling in a general practice setting:* controlled study of health visitor intervention in treatment of postnatal depression.
 BMJ, 1989. 298(6668): p. 223-6.

- 295. Wickberg, B. and C.P. Hwang, *Counselling of postnatal depression: a controlled study on a population based Swedish sample.* J Affect Disord, 1996. **39**(3): p. 209-16.
- 296. Dennis, C.L., *The effect of peer support on postpartum depression: a pilot randomized controlled trial.* Can J Psychiatry, 2003. **48**(2): p. 115-24.
- 297. Cuijpers, P., et al., *Psychotherapy for depression in adults: a meta-analysis of comparative outcome studies.* J Consult Clin Psychol, 2008. **76**(6): p. 909-22.
- 298. Sockol, L.E., C.N. Epperson, and J.P. Barber, *A meta-analysis of treatments for perinatal depression*. Clin Psychol Rev, 2011. **31**(5): p. 839-49.
- 299. Lara, M.A., et al., *Outcome results of two levels of intervention in low-income women with depressive symptoms*. Am J Orthopsychiatry, 2003. **73**(1): p. 35-43.
- 300. Walsh, B.T., et al., Placebo response in studies of major depression: variable, substantial, and growing. JAMA, 2002. 287(14): p. 1840-7.
- 301. Okronipa, H., et al., Postnatal Depression Symptoms are Associated with Increased Diarrhea Among Infants of HIV-Positive Ghanaian Mothers. AIDS and Behavior: p. 1-10.
- 302. Gold, K.J.S., K; Wobil, P; Schwenk, T.L, Depression among mothers of sick infants in Kumasi, Ghana, in International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics- Under review.
 2012.
- 303. Scorza, P., *Postpartum depression in Kintampo North District*. 2007, School of Public Health-University of Ghana.
- 304. Gorrindo, T., Cross-country comparisons of self-reported vs. DSM-IV diagnosed depressive disorders: results from the Study of Global Ageing and Adult Health (SAGE), in WPA. 2011: Buenos Aires-Argentina.
- 305. Turkson, S.N., Psychiatric disorder among adolescents attending a psychiatric outpatient clinic in Accra, Ghana: a seven year review study (1987-1994). West Afr J Med, 1996. 15(1): p. 31-35.
- 306. Turkson, S.N. and V. Asamoah, *Common psychiatric disorders among the elderly attending a general psychiatric out patient clinic in Accra, Ghana: a five year retrospective study (1989-1993).* West Afr J Med, 1997. **16**(3): p. 146-149.
- 307. Ofori-Atta, A., et al., Common understandings of women's mental illness in Ghana: Results from a qualitative study. International Review of Psychiatry, 2010. 22(6): p. 589-598.
- 308. Turkson, S.N.a.A.N.D., A study of the social and clinical characteristics of depressive illness among Ghanaian women--(1988-1992). West Afr J Med, 1996. **15**(2): p. 85-90.
- 309. Owusu, A., et al., *The Association Between Bullying and Psychological Health Among Senior High School Students in Ghana, West Africa.* Journal of School Health, 2011.
 81(5): p. 231-238.

Section B

3. Chapter 3: Country Profile: Geography, Economy, Health and Study Setting

3.1 Geography, Governance and Economy

3.1.1 Geography and Governance

Ghana (formally the Gold coast) is one of the 16 countries in West Africa and covers a total surface area of 239,460 square kilometres. It is an Anglophone country and shares boundaries with Burkina Faso in the North, Cote d'Ivoire in the West and Togo in the East. In terms of international and regional integration, Ghana is a member of the United Nations (UN), the Common Wealth of nations, the African Union (AU) and the Economic Committee of West African states (ECOWAS). As a consequence Ghana has signed on to numerous international treaties and subjects itself to the cannons of international law and justice, and universal human rights.

Ghana is located in the tropical belt of the world and thus has a tropical climate with temperatures and rainfall pattern changes due to elevation and distance from the coastal belt. The average annual temperature is about 26°C (79°F), but could reach highs above 35°C (95°F) in the north and transitional belt. There are two distinct seasons, though these vary between the north and south of the country; rainy season that spans the months April to November; dry season that runs between December and March. Annual rainfall ranges from about 1,015millimetres (40 inches) in the north to about 2,030 millimetres (80 inches) in the southwest. The *harmattan*, a dry desert wind, is common during the dry season in Ghana and lowers the humidity thus creating very warm days and cool nights in the north.

Ghana embraces a multi-party democratic system of governance and has successfully undergone three consecutive presidential and parliamentary elections since 1992. The seat of government is located in the Greater Accra region (the capital) but there are nine (9) additional regions under which are 170 districts which serve as a conduit in executing central government's policies at the grass root or local government level.

3.1.2 Economy

Ghana has for the past years embarked on various structural adjustment programmes (SAP), and economic recovery initiatives such as the Ghana Poverty Reduction Strategy I & II, Highly Indebted Poor Country (HIPC) initiative and Ghana Vision 2020. In 2007, the Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty Programme (LEAP) was introduced, and in 2008 individuals identified as poor started receiving monthly allowances. All these were geared towards ameliorating economic challenges and ensuring that Ghana attains official middle income status by 2020. It does appear these efforts have paid dividends as Ghana is currently classified by the World Bank as a lower middle income country¹.

The domestic economy revolves around subsistence agriculture, which accounts for 34% of gross domestic product (GDP), and employs 50% of the work force, mainly small landholders². The average per capita income stands at US\$572, with 18.2% of the population living in extreme poverty¹, a decline from the 26.8% in 1999³. It does appear therefore that Ghana is on course to halve the millennium development goal of poverty reduction by 2015.

3.2 Demographic and Reproductive Health

3.2.1 Demographic and Socio-Economic Indicators

The population of Ghana has been steadily increasing over the years and this may have resulted in disparities in some key socio-economic, socio-demographic as well as fertility indicators. Estimates from the recent Ghana Health and Demographic Survey⁴, are that 31% of women have never been to school, about an equal proportion have some primary or have completed primary school, and 36% have some secondary or have completed secondary school; a meagre 3% of women have attained higher than secondary school education. Urban women are more likely to be educated (52%) than rural (27%) women. In terms of sex, males (median 5.4 years) are more likely to be educated than females (median 3.7 years) at all levels of education. Overall however there has been some improvement in the proportion of the population with no education since the last GDHS survey in 2003. For example, the proportion of females with no

¹ The Ghana Living Standards Survey derives two nutrition-based lines of poverty. Extreme poverty is based on a poverty line of 927 Ghana cedis (\$572 in 2006 poverty line), per adult per year (GPRS, 2006).

education dropped from 37 % in 2003 to 31 % in 2008 and the median number of years of schooling for females nearly doubled from 2.1 to 3.7 years. And the proportion of males with no education dropped from 26% to 22%, with the median years of schooling increasing from 3.9 to 5.4 years within the same period.

Access to drinking water, electricity and clean sanitation are important indicators of improved socio-economic status. In Ghana the major source of drinking water for rural households is tube wells or boreholes (48%) with only 0.2% having access to a public tap or standpipe as their main source of drinking water. Quick access to water appears not to differ between rural and urban areas as, nine in ten urban households and nearly eight in ten rural households spend less than 30 minutes to obtain water from their nearest source of drinking water. Traditionally adult females age 15 and above are more likely to collect drinking water for the household than men and children, and this pattern is more prevalent in rural (56%) than urban areas (31%). Surprisingly, there is little difference between urban and rural households in access to improved sources of drinking water (79% vs 76%).

The proportion of the population with access to improved toilet facilities in Ghana is only 11%. The differences between urban-rural residences are wide. Thus, 16% of urban households compared to only 7% of rural households use their own improved toilet facilities. In general, nearly 18% of households have no toilet facilities and this is more prevalent in rural areas (30 %) than in urban areas (6%).

Access to electricity is unevenly distributed between rural and urban settlements. 85% of households in urban areas have electricity, compared with 38% of the households in rural areas. Overall, six in ten households in Ghana had electricity by 2008 and this is an improvement over the past five years (since last GDHS in 2003), especially among rural households (48% in all households and 24 % in rural households in 2003).

Another proxy indicator of socio-economic position is the quality of the material used in constructing the floor of the dwelling. It may also double as a health indicator as it is a likely route for disease transmission. Most households in Ghana (85%) do have good quality finished

floors, with only 14% characterized by rudimentary or natural flooring (earth, sand, or mixed mud with dung). Strikingly rural households are much more likely to have cement floors (65%) than urban households (56%). The second most common flooring material in rural areas is earth and sand (22%).

The number of rooms used for sleeping is a measure of household level population density and could indicate the risk of contracting respiratory, air-borne and skin diseases, particularly in children. The average household size in Ghana is 3.7, and only 15% of households in Ghana have three or more rooms for sleeping, with most (60%) with only one room. Interestingly, households in rural areas have a greater proportion (17%) of three rooms or more for sleeping than those in urban areas (12%).

3.2.2 Reproductive Health

3.2.2.1 Fertility Indicators

The general fertility rate in Ghana (GFR) is 136 births for every 1000 women. The total fertility rate (TFR) of 4.0 births per woman is however one of the lowest in SSA, though quite varied within country and between rural and urban populations. Compared to rural areas (4.9 births) the rate in urban settlements (3.1births) is lower. This is to be expected though it does appear the intensification of reproductive health education is making an impact as the present rate in rural areas reflects a reduction from 5.6 births in 2002. Interventions put in place to control the fertility rate in Ghana appear to be effective as the set target of 4.0 was achieved two years before the projected date of 2010.

In Ghana, whilst childbearing outside marriage is not uncommon, voluntary childlessness is uncommon and currently married women with no live births are likely to be those who have challenges conceiving. Unplanned pregnancies are still common in Ghana and this has been the pattern for more than twenty years. Overall, 14% of births in Ghana are unwanted, while 23% are mistimed (wanted later).

3.2.2.2 Birth Spacing

The median birth interval in Ghana is 40 months and increases with increasing age, and this has remained static over the past five years since 2008. Between rural and urban populations, the interval is longer among urban women (44 months) than among rural women (38 months).

3.2.2.3 Antenatal Care

Antenatal care attendance in Ghana is relatively high and has seen a marked improvement over the past two decades, with over 95% of women having received antenatal care from a health professional (doctor, nurse, midwife, or community health officer). Coverage of Tetanus toxoid (TT) vaccination to pregnant women is however not very encouraging, with only a little over half (56%) of women in Ghana vaccinated.

3.2.2.4 Postnatal Care

In contrast to high antenatal care coverage only 67 percent of women who have a live birth receive postnatal care within two days of delivery, and only 7 percent receive postnatal care 3-41 days after delivery. About 23 percent never receive postnatal care. Childhood vaccination is however high with 79% fully immunized between 1 and 2 years (the youngest cohort of children who have reached the age by which they should be fully immunized), and at least 96% getting BCG and first dose of DPT and polio vaccines.

3.2.2.5 Breastfeeding Practices

Breastfeeding is practised widely in Ghana, with a phenomenal 98% of children having been breastfed for some period of time. Of this proportion, over half of infants were put to the breast within one hour of birth, and 82% started breastfeeding within the first day. This notwithstanding, coverage (63%) of exclusive breastfeeding within the first 6 months is not encouraging.

3.2.2.6 Childhood Mortality

Childhood mortality in Ghana has declined over the past 20 years. Under-five mortality rate decreased from 111 per 1,000 live births for the 4 year period preceding the 2003 GDHS to 80

per 1,000 during the same period prior to the 2008 GDHS, with over 60% of these deaths occurring in the first year of life. Infant mortality is 50 deaths per 1,000 live births and neonatal mortality is 30 deaths per 1,000 live births in the most recent five-year period, while postneonatal mortality is 21 deaths per 1,000 live births. Neonatal deaths account for 60 percent of the deaths in infancy.

3.3 Mental Health in Ghana

It is estimated that of the about 21.6 million people living in Ghana (based on last census in 2000), 650,000 are suffering from a severe mental disorder and a further 2,166, 000 $(10\%)^5$ are suffering from a moderate to mild mental disorder, with only 2% able to get treatment⁶.

Ghana, just as many other SSA countries has considerable structural, institutional and human capacity challenges regarding mental health services. A recent situational review of mental health services in Ghana revealed a number of challenges facing the provision of mental health services. These challenges are discussed below in the key areas of policy, services, human-resources, funding, and opportunities.

3.3.1.1 Policy and Legislation

The blue print regarding mental health delivery in Ghana was recently (2012) passed by parliament and is awaiting presidential assent into law. Prior to this mental health policy in Ghana was driven by the Asylum ordinance of 1888 and the mental health decree of 1972, which were reformulated in 1994 and revised in 2000. These prior 'legislations' were inadequate in scope and thus failed to provide the needed support for the advancement of universal mental health in Ghana, and did not provide for current best practices in mental health⁷. These policies emphasized the decentralization of mental health services and the development of community mental health care but very little progress was made in terms of implementation. Other limitations of these prior 'legislations' are that they did not provide for inter-sectoral collaboration, and there is poor evidence base due to little mental health epidemiological research. Indeed at present there is no regulatory body for institutions providing

care for the mentally ill, and hence neither systematic monitoring of human rights and quality of care within psychiatric institutions nor unorthodox (traditional and faith healers) outlets does exist⁷.

It is hoped that the new law among other things, will protect and promote the rights of the mentally ill, set up mechanisms for early identification of mental distress at primary care, discourage institutionalized care and provide the training and development of human capacity.

3.3.1.2 Mental Health Services

Before the coming into being of the reformulated Asylum ordinance of 1888 and the mental health decree of 1972, access to psychiatric services was mainly provided by only three (3) state-owned psychiatric hospitals. These are located mainly in the south of the country and thus resulted in a skewed non-universal access to mental health care. Apart from the overstretched infrastructure as a result of over subscription for mental health services, people from the northern part of the country had to travel long hours (aprox. 11 hours by road) to access care at the national facilities.

The reformulation provided for moves towards de-centralization of mental health care with the opening of psychiatric units in the regional hospitals and the establishment of community psychiatric nursing services within 68 districts. Services have been integrated into the health programs of all the Regional and District Health Management Teams where community psychiatric nurses (CPN) are at post. Other private sector initiatives through NGOs and other agencies to enhance the community detection of mental illness and provide treatment also exist.

This notwithstanding, there is little progress towards the decentralization of mental health care in Ghana ⁷. Thus, though the regional hospitals were empowered to provide specialist referral services, the pressure on the three state-owned hospitals still remains because they continue to provide specialized inpatient care and users are still ignorant about the availability of the services at the regional hospitals. Furthermore, community-based mental health services are provided in only about half of the districts in the country and there are insufficient numbers of CPNs and other mental health professionals within primary care⁷. In Ghana treatment for mental health is predominantly drug-based and curative, with little to no psychosocial interventions⁷. In addition, services are primarily focused on treatment for severe mental disorders such as psychosis and schizophrenia, with little attention on depression and other common mental disorders.

The current mental health bill that is awaiting presidential assent is definitely an improvement over the reformulated decrees of 1888 and 1972, and will provide the necessary legislative and financial backing to ensure mental health services are equitably distributed.

3.3.1.3 Human Resources

Despite an increase in the number of training places available for psychiatric nurses and other health professionals such as medical assistants, there remains a lack of human resources within mental health services, including inpatient hospitals and community services ⁷. For instance there are only seven (7) fully-trained specialist psychiatrists currently practising in country. The reasons for this trend have been attributed to stigma, low priority of mental health, and fears of violence ⁷. There are also very few specialists in psychosocial interventions and little opportunity for continuous professional development for mental health professionals.

3.3.1.4 Funding

Currently funding for mental health services in Ghana receives relatively little attention and thus receives a very small allocation from the overall health sector budget⁷. Unfortunately the decentralization clause in the reformulated prior 'legislations' failed to ensure that the necessary monetary resource allocation for community mental health care reaches the district health management directorates. As a consequence, and coupled with competing communicable diseases, focused interventions budgets for mental health specific activities are conspicuously missing in their activity plans.

Further to this, though the government in the year 2003 by legislative instrument ACT 650 and LI 1809 provided every resident with the opportunity to take an insurance cover for health-related issues, treatment for mentally ill people with physical ill health conditions is not covered by the insurance.

3.3.1.5 Opportunities

The state of mental health services in Ghana is not as gloomy as to be irrecoverable. In fact there are a number of encouraging opportunities for the improvement of mental health care. For instance there is widespread acknowledgement at the macro (national) level of the need for decentralization of mental health service provision and the development of community-based services, indicating that there would be support from policy makers for further implementation. Closely backing this widespread acknowledgement is the new mental health bill, and which should signal a new standard for mental health care in Ghana and provide a mandate for improved services. In addition, there has been considerable collaboration and support for mental health in recent years from international agencies such as the Royal Netherlands Embassy and the World Health Organization. There has also been a growth in the number of both international and local NGOs such as BasicNeeds and Mental Health Society of Ghana working in Ghana in the field of mental health.

3.4 Study Setting: Data Collection Site

The PhD research took place within seven contiguous districts of the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana during the conduct of two consecutive large community-based cluster randomised controlled trials: ObaapaVitA and Newhints trials. The ObaapaVitA trial sought to reduce the burden of maternal deaths through weekly supplementation of all women of reproductive age with low doses of Vitamin A, through a sophisticated surveillance system. The Newhints trial aimed to prevent newborn deaths through home-visits during pregnancy and first week after birth by community based health workers, also utilising the surveillance system that was set up for the ObaapaVitA trial. Both trials were based at the Kintampo Health Research Centre, one of three Ghana Health Services health research institutions. Figure 3.1 shows a map of Ghana depicting the seven districts of the DON PhD research study.

The Brong Ahafo Region, formerly a part of the Ashanti Region, was created in April 1959. It covers an area of 39,557 square kilometres and shares boundaries with the Northern Region to

the north, the Ashanti and Western Regions to the south, the Volta Region to the east, the Eastern Region to the southeast and La Cote d'Ivoire to the west.

It has 19 administrative districts, with Sunyani as the regional capital. The region lies in the transitional zone of Ghana; the southern part lies in the forest zone and is a major cocoa and timber producing area and the northern part of the region lies in the savannah zone and is a major grain and tuber-producing region. At the last census in 2010, the region recorded a population of 2,282,128, indicating an intercensal growth rate of 2.2%.

The climate is tropical in nature, with high temperatures averaging 23.9°C (75°F) and a double maxima rainfall pattern. Rainfall ranges, from an average of 1000 millimeters/year in the northern parts to 1400/year millimeters in the southern parts. As a consequence the area has two main vegetation types; the moist semi-deciduous forest, mostly in the southern and south-eastern parts, and the guinea savannah woodland, which is predominant in the north.

The seven districts within which the DON study was conducted are: Kintampo North, Kintampo South, Techiman, Nkoranza North, Nkoranza South, Wenchi and Tain districts. These are contiguous and predominantly rural and together cover an area of 12,000 square kilometres, and a population of 750,000. The area has one urban district town and three peri-urban ones; the other district capitals are rural. Based on reports by the Ghana Poverty Reduction Strategy-II, despite overall reductions in extreme poverty (<\$1.25/day) from 26.8% in 1998/99 to 18.2% in 2005/06, the level of extreme poverty in the Brong Ahafo region is one of the highest in the country (14.9%). Educational attainment is low with about 34% of the adult population of men and women being illiterate.

There are 340 communities with over 77,000 compounds built either of mud with thatched roof or cement. The settlements are predominantly rural with over 80% of residents living in rural communities in dispersed villages. There are predominantly more Christians (75%) than Muslims (18%), and though the area is diverse in ethnicity, the indigenous ethnic groups (Akans/Bonos/Mos/Bandas) are predominant (54%). Twi (the local language) is spoken and understood by over 90% of the population.

In total, there are about 68 health facilities made up of nine hospitals (3 privately owned) and a good number of level 'B' health facilities and maternity homes.

Based on data from the ObaapaVitA and Newhints trials, the Perinatal Mortality Rate (PMR) is 55/1000 live births, and neonatal mortality rate is 31/1000 live births. Sixty six infant deaths (IMR) occur in 1000 child-years, and the pregnancy-related Mortality Ratio is 377/100,000 pregnancies⁸.



Figure 3.1: Map of Study Area

3.5 References to Chapter 3

- Bank, W. *The World Bank: Country and Lending Groups*. 2012 [cited 2012 15.08.2012]; Available from: http://data.worldbank.org/about/countryclassifications/country-and-lending-groups.
- (GSS), G.S.S., 2000 Population and Housing Census, summary report of final results, 2002, Ghana Statistical Service: Accra, Ghana.
- GPRS, An agenda for growth and prosperity: analysis and policy statement. 2003
 Ghana Government: Accra.
- 4. GHDS, *Ghana Health and Demographic Survey*. 2008, Ghana Statistical Service/Ghana Health Service: Accra.
- MEHSOG. Welcome to the mental health society of Ghana. 2012 [cited 2012 13.06.2012]; Available from: http://mehsog.org//.
- 6. WHO, Mental Health Improvements for Nations Development. 2007, WHO: Geneva.
- V.Doku , A.O.-A., B. Akpalu, U. Read, A. Osei, K. Ae-Ngibise, D. Awenva, C. Lund,
 A. J. Flisher, I. Petersen, A. Bhana, P. Bird, N. Drew, E. Faydi, M. Funk, A. Green and
 M. Omar, *The Mental Health and Poverty Project: Phase 1. Country Report: A* situation analysis of mental health policy development and implementation in Ghana.
 2008: Ghana.
- 8. Kirkwood, B.R., et al., *Effect of vitamin A supplementation in women of reproductive age on maternal survival in Ghana (ObaapaVitA): a cluster-randomised, placebo-controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2010. **375**(9726): p. 1640-1649.

4. Chapter 4: Methods

4.1 Overview of Design

The DON study that was designed for this PhD was nested within a 4-weekly surveillance system supporting two community trials: The ObaapaVitA and Newhints trials. These trials ran consecutively from 2000 to 2010, and collected information on: pregnancies, births, and infant and maternal deaths, through a 4-weekly population-based surveillance system. The DON depression assessments were carried out from January 2008 to early August 2009 (**see figure 4.1**). The ObaapaVitA trial sought to reduce maternal mortality through weekly vitamin-A supplementation of women of reproductive age, and the Newhints trial aimed to assess the impact of home-visits by community volunteers on neonatal mortality.

Figure 4.2 illustrates the 4-weekly visits and the time points DON depression and surveillance data were collected. Thus, when a pregnancy is reported, a DON pregnancy assessment is conducted at the next 4-weekly visit. Similarly, when a birth is reported, a DON postnatal assessment is conducted at the next visit to the woman. The figure also shows the timing of the surveillance forms that provided data for this thesis; these are described in **section 4.3**.

4.2 DON Data Collection Procedure

4.2.1 Measure of Depression

The measure of probable antenatal or postnatal depression is based on a depression screening module of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)¹developed as part of the Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders (PRIME-MD)² instrument. The PRIME-MD is the first screening instrument designed for use in primary care that actually diagnoses specific disorders using diagnostic criteria from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Revised Third Edition (DSM-III-R) and Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV). The PHQ-9 may therefore be regarded as a semi-clinical diagnostic screening tool. The benefits of using the PHQ-9 have been described in the literature review in **section 2.2**. The core reasons for selecting the PHQ-9 are that it is psychometrically robust and allows for an approximation to DSM-IV diagnosis of major/minor depression, and is easy to administer. We had previously tested the criterion validity of the PHQ-9 questions in the same setting, comparing a score of 5+ against the gold standard of a local clinician's structured clinical diagnosis of common mental disorder³. The complete report on the adaptation and validation of the PHQ-9 is provided in **appendix 1**.

The PHQ-9 has nine questions that enquire about the nine symptom-based criteria for a diagnosis of DSM-IV depression, including duration and severity. A copy of the form is provided in **appendix 3**. Each of the nine questions has uniform response options and only symptoms that have been present for at least half the time in the previous two weeks are rated positively. The PHQ-9 allows for DSM-IV clinimetric criteria to be applied to the scores obtained. The PHQ-9 also includes a global question on disability which is rated 0 to 3, with 3 being the highest rating of disability. This global disability question is only enquired when any of the PHQ-9 depression screening items are indicated, and covers four domains of disability: self-care, getting along, life activities, and participation. In contrast with other symptom based scale scores, these criteria therefore identify individuals with persistent and pervasive symptoms, characteristic of a clinically significant depressive episode.

Though the cultural adaptation of the PHQ-9 questions was against the gold standard of a local clinician's structured clinical diagnosis of common mental disorder³, in this study I sought to identify clinically significant depressive episodes, and therefore used the PHQ-9 item ratings to give an approximation to DSM-IV major or minor depression diagnostic categories. Thus, for the purposes of this PhD, depression outcome/exposure (major or minor) was defined as an indication of two or more symptoms on the PHQ-9, one of which must either be depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure).
4.2.2 PHQ-9 Training, Supervision and Quality Control

Approximately 400 field workers and their supervisors were trained on the administration of the PHQ-9 in December 2007. The training covered a background to the study, informed consent process and ethical conduct, the administration of the PHQ-9, and problem-solving techniques using Information, Education and Communication (IEC) material. Strategies employed in the training included; interactive lectures, mock interviews, group discussions and practice exercises. The procedures for consenting in DON were also discussed. Training was conducted by the author of this PhD, with support from senior field staff and lasted four weeks. There were four separate training sessions (one per week) for field staff at each of the four main trial districts (Kintampo, Nkoranza, Techiman, Wenchi), and each training session lasted approximately three (3) hours. After the main training in December 2007, refresher training was provided in early January 2008, just before the commencement of data collection in late January 2008.

Fieldworkers and supervisors on the RCTs have enormous experience in conducting field surveys using the questionnaire method and their wealth of experience helped in ensuring the training process was smooth. However, because DON introduced a fairly specialised area and a deviation from the routine surveillance they have been involved in, important attention was given to the level of detail in explaining how screening for mental disorders is done. As a result ample time was allotted to the session on questionnaire administration and trainees went through mock interviews to ensure that they achieved this new skill. In keeping with the modus operandi of screening questionnaires, standardization in the way the screening questions were asked by field workers was obtained by applying the following rules:

1. Ensure questions are read out just as appear on the questionnaire

2. Avoid interpreting questions to participants

3. Ensure all response options available to the participant are read out

4. Avoid probing participants for explanation of responses.

As a consequence the DON directly observed supervision form (DON_DOS) was designed to capture compliance to the criteria listed above. The data collected sought to serve two main purposes: provide immediate feedback to the fieldworker on his/her interviewing skills and to report on levels of standardisation among field workers, and thus quality of data collected by lay interviewers. Field supervisors administered the form to116 fieldworkers who were selected randomly from each of the sites of the trial.

Another quality control measure that was instituted involved regular meetings with the data manager to primarily check the quality of the data. This was done by running appropriate commands to check score distribution by comparing screening results from FWs. Essentially the focus was to check if field workers were allocating ratings arbitrarily, and if that suggested possible interviewer challenges that needed to be addressed. Thus, if a fieldworker recorded consistently high scores or low scores compared to another field worker within the same cluster, these patterns were flagged and follow up visits made to the field to verify the patterns. It is important to note here that in as much as this exercise was meant to provide initial clues of possible challenges with data quality, circumspection was upheld to ensure that it did not result in manipulation of field workers or the data collected to obtain consistency in data patterns. The exercise was also an opportunity to identify and refer women who were likely to be depressed but not referred by fieldworkers to the author of this PhD as per protocol, for treatment support routinely provided by community psychiatric nurses of the Ministry of Health of Ghana.

4.2.3 DON Postnatal Data

Resident fieldworkers were responsible for a fieldwork area (FWA) of four contiguous clusters of compounds, visiting women in one cluster per week over a 4-weekly cycle. Each week, fieldworkers receive an updated record of women to be visited that week, and their pregnancy status, arranged by compound.

The two DON questionnaires incorporating the PHQ-9 were introduced in the routine surveillance system from late January 2008 with the DON_PREG and late April 2008 with the

DON_PP (see Figure 4.2). The initial plan was to recruit only pregnancies and follow them through till after birth with a DON_PP assessment, but this was later revised after two months, in other to optimize DON_PP data, to also recruit current births resulting from pregnancies captured before the start of DON_PREG recruitment, and on very rare instances, women recruited into the trials with a birth.

Pregnant women identified through the surveillance system were recruited into the DON study after obtaining informed consent in the presence of a witness. The DON Pregnancy form (DON_PREG) included extra questions on factors related to the current pregnancy (pregnancy preparedness, sex preference and pre-knowledge of unborn baby's sex through scanning or 'other means') and was administered between three and nine months gestation. The DON postnatal form was administered at the birth visit after a birth is reported.

4.3 Surveillance Data Used in DON

Table 4.1 provides a summary of the source and genre of data involved in answering each

 objective of this PhD. Figure 4.2 shows the time points at which these forms were

 administered relative to the DON depression assessments.

PROFILE form: This was administered the first time a pregnancy is identified. It includes information on: socio-demographic/socio-economic indicators, including obstetric history and pregnancy factors. For example data on socioeconomic status (SES) is collected around: a) mother's educational level, b) head of household educational level, maternal/paternal occupational status, c) land and house ownership, d) ownership of a range of household, transport and agricultural assets e) Housing quality (overcrowding, materials used in construction of house, electricity and water supplies and sanitation facilities. An index of the wealth status of the household was derived from principal components analysis of 42 questions on household assets, sanitation and household quality indicators⁴. Women were then ranked according to their wealth index, and assigned to wealth quintiles with quintile 1 containing the least wealthy and quintile 5 the wealthiest. The data collected from these forms was used for the analysis of determinants of antenatal and postnatal depression, and as potential confounders in the analyses of consequences.

MONTH_PREG form: This form was administered monthly once a pregnancy is reported and ends when a birth occurs. It elicits information on: the status and outcome of the pregnancy, mortality, and general morbidity.

BIRTH form: This is administered when a birth is reported. This form collects information on: obstetric/pregnancy factors (prolonged labour, obstructed labour, post-partum/peripartum complications, and Caesarean Section (CS)/instrumental delivery); birth outcome (pre-term, post-term, stillbirth, child death; baby factors (multiple births, birth weight, severe newborn illness, and key child survival practices (breastfeeding, immunizations, use of bed net, drying and wrapping, delayed bathing and skin-to-skin care).

INFANT form: This is administered at every visit from the one after the birth is recorded until the baby attains one year of age. The form collects information on mortality, morbidity, and infant survival interventions. Data collected from these forms was used for the purposes of measuring both the consequences of perinatal depression and determinants of postnatal depression.

Data type	Objective/outcomes	Source/form	Data collected				
Impact of home visits on Postnatal Depression	• To assess the impact of home-visits on postnatal depression	DON_PP formBIRTH form	Depression scoresCBSV visits				
Burden of Perinatal Depression	 To measure the prevalence of DSM-IV antenatal and postnatal depression To measure the onset of postnatal depression and persistence antenatal depression 	 DON_PP form DON_PREG form 	• Depression scores				
Determinants of Antenatal Depression	 To assess the role of sociodemographic/socioeconomic factors To assess the role of pregnancy-related and obstetric history 	DON_PREG formPROFILE form	 Depression scores Socio-demographic information Socio-economic information Pregnancy/obstetric history 				
Risk factors for Postnatal Depression, (including onset postnatal depression and persistence antenatal depression)	 To assess the role of sociodemographic/socioeconomic factors To assess the role of pregnancy/birth-related factors To assess the role of infant factors To assess the role of environmental factors such as season of birth 	 DON_PP form DON_PREG form PROFILE form BIRTH form POSTPARTUM form MONTH PREG form 	 Depression scores Socio-demographic information Socio-economic information Pregnancy/birth related information Infant factors 				
Consequences of Antenatal Depression	 To assess the effect on poor perinatal outcomes (neonatal, preterm, still birth) To assess the effect on low birth weight To assess the effect on peripartum/postpartum complications To assess the effect on baby ill health within a month after delivery To assess the effect on timely initiation of breast feeding To assess the effect on bed net use during pregnancy 	 DON_PREG form PROFILE form BIRTH form POSTPARTUM form 	 Depression scores Socio-demographic information Socio-economic information Birth outcome Neonatal mortality Birth weight Peripartum/postpartum complications Child survival interventions/practices 				
Consequences of Postnatal Depression	 To assess the effect on infant mortality and morbidity To assess the effect on exclusive breast feeding To assess the effect on bed net use after birth 	 DON_PP form DON_PREG form PROFILE form INFANT form 	 Depression scores Socio-demographic information Socio-economic information Mortality/morbidity Child survival interventions/practices 				

Table 4.1: Source and Genre of Data for Analysis of Each Objective

			MONTH & YEAR																							
Activity	2007	2008											2009													
	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	
Ghana Vitamin A supplementation Maternal Mortality trial (ObaapavitA)																										
Implementation																										
Ghana Newborn Home Intervention Study (Newhints Trial)																										
• Phase 1 training																										
• Phase 2 training																										
• Refresher training																										
Implementation																										
Evaluation cohort																										
The DON study																										
 Training 																										
Refresher training																										
Evaluation period																										

Table 4.2: Timing of DON Study within ObaapaVitA and Newhints Trials

Figure 4.1: Recruitment Schedule for Data Collection



4.4 The Newhints Trial

Newhints is a cluster randomised- controlled intervention trial (cRCT) that aimed to develop a feasible and sustainable home-visits intervention and evaluate the impact of the home visits by community based surveillance volunteers (CBSVs) in pregnancy and first week of life on neonatal mortality. The clusters are Newhints zones which correspond to supervisory units of about 8-12 CBSVs. There were 98 Newhints zones in total; 49 zones randomised for implementation of the Newhints intervention, with the other 49 zones acting as controls. The intervention lasted for one and a half years starting in 2008, but outcome information was collected till end of 2009. Within this period, DON depression data was also collected, but only till the end of July 2009. An overview of the intervention package and role of the surveillance system is discussed below.

4.4.1 Newhints Intervention

Newhints is an integrated intervention package (**Figure 4.3**), based on extensive formative research ⁶ and developed and implemented in close collaboration with the District Health Management Teams (DHMTs) of the 7 trial districts. The core component was training the CBSVs in the 49 intervention zones to identify pregnant women in their community and to conduct five focussed home visits, two during pregnancy and three after birth on days 1, 3 and 7. The content of each visit and an overview of all the intervention components are given in the published trial protocol⁷. The visits involved family members as well as the pregnant woman and used storytelling and a counselling and problem solving approach concerning key gaps in care practices identified during the formative research. They were trained in providing supportive counselling on essential newborn care practices, and problem-solved around any barriers the mother/family perceived in carrying out a behaviour using a story-telling approach. In a typical visit, the CBSV showed a set of counselling cards with pictures, specific to the theme of each visit and would first ask the mother/family their interpretation of the card. Following this, the CBSV then explained the message behind the card using a story-telling

approach after which the CBSV checked with the mother/family if they are able to carry out the assignment conveyed by the card. At this point, the CBSV either provided appropriate praise and encouragement when the mother/family agrees to carry out the behaviour, or helped the mother/family to identify practical solutions to any perceived barriers that could hinder the adoption of the behaviour targeted. This process is repeated at each visit and in addition, at subsequent visits, the CBSV checked if the behaviours are carried out and to continue the process of problem-solving. At the first visit after birth, the CBSV weighs the baby, and advises mothers of low birth weight (LBW) babies (<2500g) about a package of special care comprising skin to skin contact, frequent breastfeeding, wiping rather than bathing the baby, and special attention to hygiene; applying the principles of positive and negative reinforcement, and problem solving techniques. The CBSVs also refer any very LBW babies (<1500g) to hospital. In addition, the CBSVs assess all babies at each of the three postnatal visits and refer to hospital any baby who has one or more of the following danger signs: not able to feed since birth or stopped feeding well; convulsed or fitted since birth; fast breathing: two counts of 60 breaths or more in one minute; chest in-drawing; high temperature: 37.5°C or more; very low temperature: 35.4°C or less; only moves when stimulated; yellow soles; pus from umbilical stump or red umbilical stump; pus from eyes; and boils with pus.

Other important components of the intervention delivery involved garnering community support through extensive health facility sensitization activities, strengthening essential newborn care at the hospitals within the trial area, providing monetary incentives to CBSVs, and structured supportive supervision to CBSVs and their supervisors.



*Ghana cedis (1 GHC approximately equal to 1 US\$ during trial); **Adapted from the "Newhints" impact paper (Kirkwood 2012)

4.4.2 Newhints Control Zone

Pregnant women and newborns living in the control zones continued to benefit from the routine maternal and child health (MCH) care that was available, which includes: antenatal clinics (ANC), Infant Welfare Clinics (IWC), access to free delivery with skilled attendants, access to traditional birth attendant (TBA) delivery and care, and routine interactions with CBSVs concerning outreach MCH and immunisation clinics. In addition control zones benefitted from the hospital essential newborn care strengthening and health facility sensitisation that covered all facilities in the trial area.

4.4.3 Impact Evaluation

Data for evaluation of Newhints on neonatal mortality were based on births. Impact of Newhints on postnatal depression was based on the sub-set of recently delivered mothers with a postnatal depression assessment.

4.5 Analysis Plan

Detailed analysis methods are presented for each research paper in section C of this thesis. All analyses were conducted in STATA 11 using: a) logistic regression models to examine determinants and consequences of perinatal depression; b) Poisson regression models to examine mortality consequences of postnatal depression and; c) random effects logistic regression models to assess impact of Newhints intervention on postnatal depression. Effect sizes are reported as crude and adjusted relative risks (aRR) with 95% confidence intervals and p-values estimated using the marginal standardization technique with the 95% confidence intervals for the ratios estimated via the delta method⁸.

It is worthy of mention that though the impact of the Newhints intervention on reducing postnatal depression is presented last in the sequence of the research papers in this PhD, this analysis was conducted first. The reason for conducting this analysis first was to ascertain whether there was any significant impact of the Newhints intervention on the burden of postnatal depression, in which case all other analysis would have taken this into consideration and either restrict to only the control zones or adjust for the effect of the intervention. As demonstrated in this research paper, there was no impact of the intervention on postnatal depression; analysis on all other objectives of the PhD proceeded without maintaining any special restrictions.

4.6 Ethical Conduct of Study

The DON protocol received scientific and ethical approval from Institutional review boards/committees (IRB/IECs) of KHRC and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM).

Eligible women on the RCTs were approached for their consent to be part of DON, in the presence of a witness (for illiterate women), after explaining the purpose and expectations in including extra questions on mental health well-being to the routine surveillance data collection. For women who were pregnant at the time of recruitment, they were offered the opportunity to undergo two (2) sets of interviews; one at pregnancy and the other when they have given birth. For those women who had given birth at the time of recruitment and were not previously consented, they were asked to undergo only one interview. In both cases, eligible women were also asked for their consent for their data that is collected on routine surveillance questionnaires to be used for DON specific analysis. The consent forms used are attached in **appendix 3**. Fieldworkers were trained to alert the author of this PhD if they became concerned that any woman was severely distressed or in danger of harm. Women identified as needing attention were visited by WB, re-assessed and if appropriate encouraged to go to community psychiatric nurses serving the four main towns of the study area for further depression evaluation and treatment.

4.7 References to Chapter 4

- Kroenke, K., R.L. Spitzer, and J.B.W. Williams, *The PHQ-9 Validity of a brief depression severity measure*. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 2001. 16(9): p. 606-613.
- 2. Spitzer, R.L., et al., *Utility of a new procedure for diagnosing mental disorders in primary care. The PRIME-MD 1000 study.* JAMA, 1994. **272**(22): p. 1749-56.
- Weobong, B., et al., *The comparative validity of screening scales for postnatal common mental disorder in Kintampo, Ghana*. Journal of Affective Disorders, 2009. 113(1-2): p. 109-117.
- 4. Vyas, S. and L. Kumaranayake, *Constructing socio-economic status indices: how to use principal components analysis.* Health Policy Plan, 2006. **21**(6): p. 459-68.
- 5. O'Donnell, O., et al, *Analyzing health equity using household survey data: a guide to techniques and their implementation.* 2008, The World Bank: Washington D.C.
- 6. Hill, Z., et al., *How did formative research inform the development of a home-based neonatal care intervention in rural Ghana?* J Perinatol, 2008. **28 Suppl 2**: p. S38-45.
- 7. Kirkwood, B.R., et al., *NEWHINTS cluster randomised trial to evaluate the impact on neonatal mortality in rural Ghana of routine home visits to provide a package of essential newborn care interventions in the third trimester of pregnancy and the first week of life: trial protocol.* Trials, 2010. **11**: p. 58.
- 8. Localio, A.R., D.J. Margolis, and J.A. Berlin, *Relative risks and confidence intervals were easily computed indirectly from multivariable logistic regression.* J Clin Epidemiol, 2007. **60**(9): p. 874-82.

Section C

5.1 Flow Chart and Denominators

Figure 5.1 shows the flow chart for the study. The left hand side of the diagram shows the total number of women who completed the PHQ-9 during pregnancy (n=21,135) (cohort 1) based on all eligible pregnancies reported between 3rd December 2007 and 26th June 2009 (N=26,980); pregnancies that were lost before six months, ectopic, or false alarm were excluded. False alarm is said to occur when a woman reports as pregnant but at the next visit she reports she is no longer pregnant. This usually occurs due to late menstruation. Of these 13,929 (65.9%) (cohort 2) also completed a postpartum PHQ-9. The right hand side starts with all pregnancies that were ineligible because these were detected before 3rd December 2007. There were two more groups of women who had a postnatal depression assessment. The second group shown in the middle of the diagram were 2261 (60.3%) of the 3749 women eligible but not screened during pregnancy. The third group were women eligible for postpartum screening which started on 24th March 2008, but not for pregnancy screening as these pregnancies were detected before 3rd December 2007. The following pregnancy visit was therefore scheduled before the DON study started. These women shown on the right hand side of the diagram were 2166 (45.6%) out of 4746. Combining these three groups of women gives a total of 18, 356 with a postnatal depression assessment (cohort 3). Of these 8470 were in the Newhints evaluation cohort (cohort 4).



Figure 5.1: Recruitment Profile for DON

5.2 Socio-Demographic Characteristics of Study Population and Prevalence of Antenatal and Postnatal Depression

Detailed background characteristics for the study population are provided in the research papers in chapters 6 and 7. In general the population was predominantly rural (70%) and the modal age group was 20-29 (53%). Almost all the women were married (91%), majority had some education (64%), and most belonged to the Christian faith (68%). Majority (57%) belonged to non-indigenous ethnic groups. More than half (53%) had planned their pregnancy and for 23% of them, this was their first pregnancy.

5.2.1.1 Prevalence of Antenatal Depression

Table 5.1 is based on cohort 2, the 13,929 women who had both depression assessments. This shows that 1339 [9.6% (95% CI, 9.1%, 10.1%)] of women were depressed antenatally. Of these, 0.6% (n=83) (95% CI, 0.5%, 0.7%) met criteria for major depression and 9.0% (n=1256) (95% CI, 8.5, 9.5) met criteria for minor depression.

5.2.1.2 Prevalence of Postnatal Depression

The prevalence of postnatal depression was 3.5% (n=486) (95% CI, 3.2%, 3.8%). Of these, 0.1% (n=18) (95% CI, 0.07%, 0.2%) met criteria for major depression and 3.4% (n=468) (95% CI, 3.1%, 3.6%) met criteria for minor depression.

5.2.1.3 Association between Antenatal and Postnatal Depression

The table also shows the association between antenatal and postnatal depression. Among those not depressed at antenatal assessment 2.5% (n=319) (95% CI: 2.3%, 2.8%) were depressed at postnatal assessment (onset postnatal depression). Among those depressed at antenatal assessment, 12.5% (n=167) (95% CI, 10.7%, 14.2%) were also depressed at postnatal assessment (persistence antenatal depression).

Overall 167 (65.6%) of the 486 women depressed postnatally were onset cases, and only 34.4% had been depressed during pregnancy.

	Depressed at postnatal assessment (%)	epressed at postnatal assessment (%)Not depressed at postnatal assessment (%)				
Depressed at antenatal assessment	167 (12.5%)	1172 (87.5%)	1339 (9.6%)			
Not depressed at antenatal assessment	319 (2.5%)	12271 (97.5%)	12590 (90.4%)			
Total	486 (3.5%)	13443 (96.5%)	13,929 (100.0%)			

Table 5.1: Prevalence of Antenatal and Postnatal Depression Among Women Assessed for Both

5.3 PHQ-9: Item Frequencies and Scores

Figure 5.1 shows the distribution of total scores for antenatal and postnatal assessments. As can be seen these were higher in pregnancy (50^{th} centile 2, 75^{th} centile 4, 90^{th} centile 6, range 0 to 27) than after birth (50^{th} centile 0, 75^{th} centile 2, 90^{th} centile 4, range 0 to 19).

The prevalence of each PHQ-9 symptom item among those assessed as having major/minor depression for both antenatal and postnatal depression is presented in **figure 5.2**. A symptom is scored positive if it was present for at least half the time in the previous two weeks. This is equivalent to a score of 2 or 3 for the item. There was an almost perfect agreement in the pattern of symptoms that contribute towards antenatal or postnatal depression; the exception was feelings of tiredness which was slightly higher antenatally than postnatally.

Figure 5.2: Comparison of PHQ-9 Total Scores Between Women Screened for Both Antenatal and Postnatal Depression



Figure 5.3: Comparison of PHQ-9 Item Frequency and DSM-IV Caseness between Women Screened for both Antenatal and Postnatal Depression



6. Chapter 6- Research Paper 1: Prevalence and Determinants of Antenatal Depression Among Pregnant Women in a Predominantly Rural Population in Ghana: The DON Population-based Study.

Cover sheet for each 'research paper' included in a research thesis

- 1. For a 'research paper' already published
 - 1.1. Where was the work published? N/A
 - 1.2. When was the work published? N/A

1.2.1. If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion N/A

- 1.3. Was the work subject to academic peer review?
- 1.4. Have you retained the copyright for the work? __N/A___ If yes, attach evidence of retention If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, attach evidence of permission from copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include work
- 2. For a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published
 - 2.1. Where is the work intended to be published? Journal of Affective Disorders
 - 2.2. List the paper's authors in the intended authorship order

*Benedict Weobong, Martin Prince, Augustinus HA ten Asbroek, Seyi Soremekun, Samuel

Danso, Seth Owusu-Agyei, Betty R. Kirkwood

2.3. Stage of publication – Not yet submitted

3. For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)

The candidate had a major role in all aspects of the DON study including

conceptualisation, design, and conduct. He carried out all analyses and was responsible for

writing this paper.

Candidate's signature

Supervisor or senior author's signature to confirm role as stated in (3)

Betty Kiluad

6.1 Abstract

Background: While depression during pregnancy is one of the strongest risk factors for postnatal depression, it has been comparatively little studied, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa. We set out to determine the prevalence and determinants of antenatal depression in a predominantly rural setting in Ghana.

Methods: We conducted a population-based cohort study involving 4-weeklyvisits to 23,011 pregnant women and assessed their depression status during pregnancy using the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) to derive a DSM-IV diagnosis of major/minor depression. Information on demographic factors, indicators of social and economic disadvantage, and previous obstetric history were also collected. Effect sizes are reported as relative risks [RR] with 95% confidence intervals and p-values.

Results: The PHQ-9 was administered to 21,135 (91.4%) of eligible pregnant women. The prevalence of antenatal depression was 9.9% (n=2086, 95% CI, 9.5%-10.3%). Determinants of antenatal depression were: maternal age 30 years or older (RR 1.16, p=0.002), never married (1.34, p<0.001), lower wealth status (1.30, p<0.001), non-Catholic religion, non-indigenous ethnicity (1.15, p=0.008), unplanned pregnancy (1.55, p<0.001), and previous stillbirth (1.30, p<0.001).

Limitations: We did not assess women for physical health during pregnancy, and lacked information on some potentially relevant psychosocial factors such as intimate partner violence.

Conclusion: Prevalence of antenatal depression, applying clinical criteria, is similar to that seen in high income countries. Factors related to chronic social and economic disadvantage are among the most important determinants. Population-level interventions that address these problems among women of reproductive age may be the most effective strategy for reducing the prevalence and impact of depression in pregnancy.

6.2 Introduction

Depression during pregnancy (antenatal depression) has been much less widely studied than depression in the postpartum period (postnatal depression). From studies that have focussed on antenatal depression as a specific category of common mental disorders, recent systematic reviews indicate that prevalence is similar to that of postnatal depression (11% vs 13%) in high income countries (HIC)(Gavin et al., 2005), though the picture in sub-Saharan Africa (11.3% vs 18.3%)(Sawyer et al., 2010) may be different. Antenatal psychological morbidity is one of the strongest predictors of postnatal depression, and a substantial proportion of women with a clinically significant common mental disorder in the postnatal period, also have poor mental health antenatally. The salience of poor maternal mental health in pregnancy is further supported by associations with low birth weight (Grote et al., 2010, Patel and Prince, 2006, Rahman et al., 2007a), stunting(Rahman et al., 2007b),frequent diarrhoea(Rahman et al., 2007b, Ross et al., 2011), prolonged duration of labour and delayed initiation of breastfeeding (Hanlon et al., 2009), and preterm births (Grote et al., 2010).

A recent systematic review of studies of the prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in low and middle income countries identified a paucity of research, with only 8% of such countries covered (Fisher, 2012). Very few studies had been conducted in community or population settings; only three of the 13 studies of the prevalence of antenatal common mental disorder, and only one of the six from sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) were population based. In addition, a significant limitation of the review was the failure to distinguish between factors associated with antenatal and postnatal common mental disorder. The review's authors concluded that there was evidence of links between perinatal (antenatal/postnatal) common mental disorders, and social and economic disadvantage and gender-based factors, particularly gender-based violence. While associations between such factors and prevalent antenatal CMD have been reported from many world regions (Fisher et al., 2004, Fisher et al., 2007, Ryan et al., 2005, Lusskin et al., 2007, Ferri et al., 2007), the evidence from SSA is both limited and equivocal (Sawyer et al., 2010, Hanlon, 2010).

In this paper we present estimates of the burden of antenatal depression and factors associated with this burden in a large population-based cohort of pregnant women in the Brong Ahafo region of Ghana. These women were study participants of two clusterrandomised controlled trials.

6.3 Materials and Methods

Design

DON is a cohort study of perinatal **D**epression nested within the **O**baapaVitA(Kirkwood et al., 2010a) and **N**ewhints (Kirkwood et al., 2010b) trials in Ghana. These trials ran consecutively from the year 2000 to 2010, and collected information on pregnancies, births, and infant and maternal deaths, through a 4-weekly population-based surveillance system. The ObaapaVitA trial sought to reduce maternal mortality through weekly vitamin-A supplementation of women of reproductive age, and the Newhints trial aimed to assess the impact of home-visits by community volunteers on neonatal mortality.

DON took place within seven contiguous districts of the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana. The study area covers a population of about 700,000(GHS, 2011) with more than 120,000 women of reproductive age, and more than 15,000 pregnancies each year. Mental health services are very limited, provided by community psychiatric nurses in the four largest towns (populations of 40,000) of the study area. Many people with mental health needs seek help with traditional and spiritual healers (Ae-Ngibise et al., 2010).

Participants

All pregnant women identified at a 4-weekly surveillance visit between 3rd December 2007 and 26th June 2009 were eligible to take part in the DON study and to have an antenatal depression assessment at the next 4-weekly visit providing they gave informed consent and were still pregnant.

Outcome Measure

Our outcome measure was the presence of either major or minor depression, assessed using the depression module of the Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders (PRIME-MD)(Spitzer et al., 1994) Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). The PHQ-9 is a structured questionnaire that enquires after the nine symptom-based criteria for a diagnosis of DSM-IV depression, including their duration and severity (Kroenke et al., 2001). This approach allows an approximation to the DSM-IV criteria for major or minor depression, for which only symptoms that have been present for at least half the time in the last two weeks are rated positively. Either depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure) must be rated, with a total of five or more symptoms for major depression and two to four symptoms for minor depression. In contrast with other symptom based scale scores, these criteria therefore identify individuals with persistent and pervasive symptoms, characteristic of a clinically significant depressive episode.

Determinants

Information collected on potential determinants of antenatal depression included: mother's age at recruitment, education, employment status, marital status, religion and ethnicity; pregnancy or obstetric related factors, namely whether the current pregnancy was planned or not, parity, previous still births, and previous pregnancy loss; and any other previous deaths of children.

An index of the wealth status of the household was derived from principal components analysis of 42 questions on household assets, sanitation and household quality indicators (Vyas and Kumaranayake, 2006). Women were then ranked according to their wealth index, and assigned to wealth quintiles with quintile 1 containing the least wealthy and quintile 5 the wealthiest (O'Donnell, 2008).

Statistical Methods

Analyses were conducted using STATA 11 (STATA, 2009) using logistic regression models to examine associations between potential determinants and antenatal depression. As characteristics of pregnant women were comparable for intervention and control arms in both the ObaapaVitA(Kirkwood et al., 2010a) and Newhints(Kirkwood et al., 2010b) trials, and as neither intervention was postulated to impact on antenatal depression, intervention status was not included. Our approach was first to assess the association of each socio-demographic/socio-economic factor. All factors associated with p<0.1 in the univariate models were included in a multivariable regression model at the first stage. Factors that remained statistically significant predictors of depression outcome were noted. At the second stage, each pregnancy/ obstetric related factor was adjusted for all socio-demographic/socio-economic factors that remained significant at the first stage. At the third stage, those with p<0.1 in stages one and two were included in further multivariable analysis, and only factors that remained significant were noted. A final multivariable model was then fitted with only those that remained significant. Effect sizes are reported as crude and adjusted relative risks (aRR) estimated using the marginal standardization technique with 95% confidence intervals estimated via the delta method (Localio et al., 2007).

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for the study was granted by the ethics committees of the Kintampo Health Research Centre where the study was hosted, and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Fieldworkers were trained to alert the principal investigator (WB) if they became concerned that any woman was severely distressed or in danger of harm. Women identified as needing attention were visited by WB, re-assessed and if appropriate encouraged to go to community psychiatric nurses serving the four main towns of the study area for further depression evaluation and treatment.

6.4 Results

Figure 6.1 shows the recruitment profile. Between 3rd December 2007 and 25th June 2009, 26,980 pregnant women were identified, of whom 23,011 were eligible for depression assessment. Of these 21,135 (92%) completed the depression screen; 43 (0.2%) declined to participate, 1463 (6.4%) were temporarily absent at the surveillance visit, and 370 (1.6%) did not have a depression form completed although they were visited. Just two women were reported as being of concern to the fieldworker; both were recommended to seek attention from the community psychiatric nurses but neither complied. Data on potential determinants of antenatal depression was available for almost all women completing the depression screen (99%). Background characteristics of women included or excluded in analysis were generally comparable except that more than half of the women (57%) with missing information on antenatal depression status were older (30+) (see online table 6.1).

Table 6.1 shows the population was predominantly rural (70%), most women were in their second trimester when the pregnancy was identified and the antenatal assessment completed (53%), and the modal age group was 25-29 (53%). One in three women had no formal education, and almost all were married or co-habiting (91%).

The overall prevalence of major or minor depression at the pregnancy assessment was 9.9% (n=2086) (95% CI, 9.5%-10.3%); the prevalence of major depression was 0.6% (95% CI, 0.5%-0.7%) and 9.3% (95% CI, 8.9%-9.7%) met the criterion for minor depression.

Table 6.1 also shows that all factors except occupation status had crude associations with antenatal depression, with the following independently associated: older maternal age, not married or cohabiting, lower wealth, non-catholic religion, and to a lesser extent non-indigenous ethnicity. These were retained for the further multivariable analysis with pregnancy/ obstetric-related factors shown in **table 6.2**. The following factors were significantly associated: grand multiparity; unplanned pregnancy; experience of a previous pregnancy loss; and birth spacing greater than three years. These factors, except birth spacing (for which data were incomplete) were included in a further multivariable model involving all significant pregnancy/ obstetric-related and socio-demographic/socio-economic determinants. With the exception of parity, all factors remained associated with increased risk of antenatal depression. These were fitted into a final parsimonious multivariable model (**table 6.3**) and independent associations were noted with maternal age 30 years or older, never married, lower wealth quintile, non-Catholic religion, non-indigenous ethnicity, unplanned pregnancy, and previous pregnancy loss.

6.5 Discussion

We set out to ascertain prevalence and determinants of probable DSM-IV depression during pregnancy in a large population-based study. Our data suggest that in a predominantly rural population of pregnant women in Ghana, the prevalence is similar to that seen in high income countries and previous SSA studies, and that factors related to social and economic disadvantage, together with previous obstetric history, are the main determinants of prevalent antenatal depression.

Our study has several strengths. Our sample (n=21135) is significantly larger than previous studies in LMIC, increasing power and precision. The study is populationbased, with a very high antenatal depression screening completion rate (92%). We used clinical criteria to define antenatal depression with a locally validated measure.

Our study also has some limitations. While some exposures were unlikely to be caused by antenatal depression (e.g. previous pregnancy loss, still birth and dead children), for others (e.g. wealth, single parenthood, unplanned pregnancy) the direction of causality cannot be clarified because of the often chronic remitting and relapsing nature of depression. Our inferences are therefore generally limited to the observation of the clustering of these factors with prevalent antenatal depression in our setting. In addition, recall of such events may be affected by the mother's current depression status, and could lead to bias. We also note that women had regular 4-weekly visits from resident fieldworkers enquiring about the pregnancy, the birth, and the health of the infant; these visits that may have resulted in important friendship bonds and rapport, in themselves may have had a positive benefit on the mental well-being of women and so there is a possibility this may have reduced the risk of depression. In addition our measure of antenatal depression was not originally validated in the antenatal period and given that one study suggests depression in pregnancy and postnatal period show significantly different symptom profiles(Kammerer et al., 2009), we may not exclude the effect of misclassification bias in our prevalence estimate. We had limited information regarding the health and nutritional status of the mother during pregnancy, for example lacking information on malaria episodes, body mass index, gestational diabetes and anaemia (Hanlon et al., 2009, Rochat et al., 2011), and also lacked information on potentially important psychosocial risk factors for antenatal depression including limited social support and intimate partner violence (Hartley et al., 2011, Adewuya et al., 2007, Hanlon et al., 2010, Deyessa et al., 2009).

The estimates of depression during pregnancy vary across different regions in SSA. However, with a weighted prevalence of 11.3% (9.5%-13.1%) presented in a systematic review in SSA (Sawyer et al., 2010), our clinically significant estimate of 9.9% is within this range and similar to that reported in reviews in HIC (Gavin et al., 2005), but somewhat lower than some estimates from non-SSA, particularly south Asian LMIC settings (Rahman and Creed, 2007). Choice of outcome is likely to have a strong influence on observed prevalence (Fisher, 2012) with many previous studies reporting the prevalence of common mental disorders, often ascertained with a symptom screening tool, rather than a diagnostic tool. We had previously validated the cultural appropriateness of the PHQ-9 questions in the same setting, comparing a score of 5+ against the gold standard of a local clinician's semi-structured clinical diagnosis of common mental disorder (Weobong et al., 2009). In this study we sought to identify clinically significant depressive episodes, and therefore used the PHQ-9 item ratings to give an approximation to DSM-IV major or minor depression diagnostic categories (Kroenke et al., 2001, Martin et al., 2006). As expected this gave a lower prevalence than using the PHQ-9 CMD 5+ score (9.9% compared to 19.2%). The relatively low estimate may also indicate positive mental health in our population; all women of reproductive age in the study districts were subject to regular 4-weekly contacts by

community-based field research workers (data collectors) for the ObaapaVitA and NEWHINTS trials, and this may conceivably have impacted positively on their mental health.

The cross-sectional determinants of antenatal depression provide an insight into the social contexts in which depression in pregnancy is likely to be found, but do not permit causal attributions. Prospective studies to ascertain antenatal risk factors are difficult to design and conduct. A picture emerges of long-standing psychosocial adversity; it is likely therefore that many of these women will have been at increased risk of adverse mental health before their pregnancy. Some pregnancy related factors may compound chronic social and economic disadvantage; thus being single and pregnant is associated with economic hardships and stigmatisation (Patel et al., 2002), particularly in traditional African settings (Hanlon et al., 2010, Adewuya et al., 2007). Worries regarding the outcome of the pregnancy may also be important (Essen et al., 2000, Andajani-Sutjahjo et al., 2007, Chapman, 2004), consistent with our finding that a previous experience of losing a pregnancy is correlated with antenatal depression. These pregnancy-related vulnerability factors have been reported in previous studies in SSA (Sawyer et al., 2010) and HIC (Lancaster et al., 2010, Bolton et al., 2003). Findings on the effect of maternal age have been inconsistent, particularly in SSA(Sawyer et al., 2010). An association with younger maternal age was reported in Nigeria (Abiodun et al., 1993) and in a peri-urban South African setting (Hartley et al., 2011). Our finding of an association with older maternal age is consistent with evidence from Zimbabwe (Nhiwatiwa et al., 1998) and Ethiopia (Hanlon et al., 2009), and suggests possible effects of difficulties in conceiving, coupled with the anxiety of obstetric and pregnancy complications associated with advanced maternal age(Cleary-Goldman et al., 2005, Treacy et al., 2006). Women with a wider birth spacing (perhaps also linked to problems conceiving) were also at an increased risk of antenatal depression in our study.

There may also be a cultural tendency to stigmatise women who conceive later in life, particularly multiparous women.

Our findings suggesting strong and independent associations with unplanned pregnancy highlights the important role of decision making on mental well-being in a predominantly patriarchal population, where women usually have limited involvement in decisions regarding reproductive health (Patel et al., 2002). This observation is partly influenced by socio-cultural factors, and in this study the characteristically dominant male influence commonly seen in the non-indigenous tribes of northern descent in Ghana, may also have partly accounted for the high prevalence of antenatal depression among women from these ethnic groups. The non-indigenous in our population though in the majority, constitute a collection of small ethnic groups who migrated in search of improved living conditions. Economic and social adversities are therefore common, and the additional demands of pregnancy may contribute to an increased risk of depression.

In summary, ours is the largest ever population-based study in SSA of the prevalence and determinants of antenatal depression. The case for clinical intervention is not yet clearly established, given that other studies from SSA have shown a pronounced tendency for spontaneous remission with relatively few cases persisting into the postnatal period (Aderibigbe et al., 1993, Cox et al., 1993, Collin et al., 2006, Hanlon, 2010). Nevertheless, this raises important questions as to how to intervene on the at-risk group given that other studies from SSA have demonstrated its association with prolonged duration of labour and delayed initiation of breastfeeding (Hanlon et al., 2009), including strong consequences on maternal and infant morbidity demonstrated in our other report (Weobong, 2012). Arguably, while all pregnant women may benefit from treatment, not all pregnant women presenting with depressive symptoms may require treatment particularly within resource constrained settings. The costs of unsolicited treatment have been shown to be high and recommendations for universal

screening have been challenged even in well resourced settings (Paulden et al., 2009). Defining the course and predictors of the outcome of antenatal depression are important objectives planned for further analysis. Given its broad social determinants, integrated population level interventions targeted at improving the mental well-being of women of reproductive age in general may be the most effective approach for reducing the prevalence and impact of antenatal depression. For example, programmes that promote women's empowerment and emancipation such as community self-help groups may offer additional mental health benefits (Tripathy et al., 2010, Cohen et al., 2012).

Authors' Contribution

WB conducted all analysis and wrote the paper with input from MP and BRK, and later reviewed by all authors. WB, MP, and BRK designed the study. WB, GTA, SS, and OA conducted the study. SS and SD managed the data.

Conflict of Interest

All authors declare they have no conflict of interest in the development of this report.

Acknowledgements:

We thank the women who consented to be part of this study for their time and effort. The surveillance team who collected and supervised the collection of the data are duly commended for their hard work. We also thank the mental health unit at Kintampo Health Research Centre for providing training support. Funding for this study was provided by the UK Department for International Development, Save the Children's Saving Newborn Lives programme from The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and WHO.WB also received support for his fees, travel, and subsistence from the Psychiatric Research Trust, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and the UK Department for International Development

- ABIODUN, O. A., ADETORO, O. O. & OGUNBODE, O. O. 1993. Psychiatric morbidity in a pregnant population in Nigeria. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*, 15, 125-8.
- ADERIBIGBE, Y. A., GUREJE, O. & OMIGBODUN, O. 1993. Postnatal emotional disorders in Nigerian women. A study of antecedents and associations. *Br J Psychiatry*, 163, 645-50.
- ADEWUYA, A. O., OLA, B. A., ALOBA, O. O., DADA, A. O. & FASOTO, O. O. 2007.Prevalence and correlates of depression in late pregnancy among Nigerian women.*Depression and Anxiety*, 24, 15-21.
- AE-NGIBISE, K., COOPER, S., ADIIBOKAH, E., AKPALU, B., LUND, C., DOKU, V. & CONSORTIUM, T. M. R. P. 2010. 'Whether you like it or not people with mental problems are going to go to them': A qualitative exploration into the widespread use of traditional and faith healers in the provision of mental health care in Ghana. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 22, 558-567.
- ANDAJANI-SUTJAHJO, S., MANDERSON, L. & ASTBURY, J. 2007. Complex Emotions, Complex Problems: Understanding The Experiences Of Perinatal Depression Among New Mothers In Urban Indonesia. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 31, 101-122.
- CHAPMAN, R. R. 2004. A nova vida: the commoditization of reproduction in Central Mozambique. *Med Anthropol*, 23, 229-61.
- CLEARY-GOLDMAN, J., MALONE, F. D., VIDAVER, J., BALL, R. H., NYBERG, D. A.,
 COMSTOCK, C. H., SAADE, G. R., EDDLEMAN, K. A., KLUGMAN, S., DUGOFF,
 L., TIMOR-TRITSCH, I. E., CRAIGO, S. D., CARR, S. R., WOLFE, H. M.,
 BIANCHI, D. W. & D'ALTON, M. 2005. Impact of maternal age on obstetric outcome. *Obstet Gynecol*, 105, 983-90.
- COHEN, A., RAJA, S., UNDERHILL, C., YARO, P., DOKURUGU, A., DE SILVA, M. & PATEL, V. 2012. Sitting with others: Mental health self-help groups in northern Ghana. *Int J Ment Health Syst,* 6, 1.
- COLLIN, S. M., CHISENGA, M. M., KASONKA, L., HAWORTH, A., YOUNG, C., FILTEAU, S. & MURRAY, S. F. 2006. Factors associated with postpartum physical and mental morbidity among women with known HIV status in Lusaka, Zambia. *AIDS Care*, 18, 812-20.
- COX, J. L., MURRAY, D. & CHAPMAN, G. 1993. A controlled study of the onset, duration and prevalence of postnatal depression. *Br J Psychiatry*, 163, 27-31.
- DEYESSA, N., BERHANE, Y., ALEM, A., ELLSBERG, M., EMMELIN, M., HOGBERG, U.
 & KULLGREN, G. 2009. Intimate partner violence and depression among women in rural Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health*, 5, 8.

- ESSEN, B., JOHNSDOTTER, S., HOVELIUS, B., GUDMUNDSSON, S., SJOBERG, N. O., FRIEDMAN, J. & OSTERGREN, P. O. 2000. Qualitative study of pregnancy and childbirth experiences in Somalian women resident in Sweden. *BJOG*, 107, 1507-12.
- FERRI, C., MITSUHIRO, S., BARROS, M., CHALEM, E., GUINSBURG, R., PATEL, V., PRINCE, M. & LARANJEIRA, R. 2007. The impact of maternal experience of violence and common mental disorders on neonatal outcomes: a survey of adolescent mothers in Sao Paulo, Brazil. *BMC Public Health*, 7, 209.
- FISHER, J. C. D. M., M.;PATEL, V.;RAHMAN, A.;TRAN, T.;HOLTON,S.;HOLMES, W. 2012. Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in low- and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Bull World Health Organ*, 90, 11.
- FISHER, J. R., MORROW, M. M., NGOC, N. T. & ANH, L. T. 2004. Prevalence, nature, severity and correlates of postpartum depressive symptoms in Vietnam. *BJOG*, 111, 1353-60.
- FISHER, J. R., TRAN, H. & TRAN, T. 2007. Relative socioeconomic advantage and mood during advanced pregnancy in women in Vietnam. *Int J Ment Health Syst*, 1, 3.
- GAVIN, N. I., GAYNES, B. N., LOHR, K. N., MELTZER-BRODY, S., GARTLEHNER, G. & SWINSON, T. 2005. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. *Obstet Gynecol*, 106, 1071-83.
- GHS. 2011. Ghana Health Service. Ghana Health Service-Brong Ahafo Region: Population by districts [Online]. Ghana Health Service. Available: http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/region.php?dd=6®ion=Brong Ahafo&nbs p;Region [Accessed 26.05.2012 2012].
- GROTE, N. K., BRIDGE, J. A., GAVIN, A. R., MELVILLE, J. L., IYENGAR, S. & KATON, W. J. 2010. A meta-analysis of depression during pregnancy and the risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, and intrauterine growth restriction. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 67, 1012-24.
- HANLON, C. 2010. Perinatal common mental disorders in Ethiopia: socio-cultural factors in onset, remission and maintenance. PhD, University of London, PhD Thesis.
- HANLON, C., MEDHIN, G., ALEM, A., TESFAYE, F., LAKEW, Z., WORKU, B., DEWEY,
 M., ARAYA, M., ABDULAHI, A., HUGHES, M., TOMLINSON, M., PATEL, V. &
 PRINCE, M. 2009. Impact of antenatal common mental disorders upon perinatal
 outcomes in Ethiopia: the P-MaMiE population-based cohort study. *Tropical Medicine*& International Health, 14, 156-166.
- HANLON, C., WHITLEY, R., WONDIMAGEGN, D., ALEM, A. & PRINCE, M. 2010.
 Between life and death: exploring the sociocultural context of antenatal mental distress in rural Ethiopia. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 13, 385-393.

- HARTLEY, M., TOMLINSON, M., GRECO, E., COMULADA, W. S., STEWART, J., LE ROUX, I., MBEWU, N. & ROTHERAM-BORUS, M. J. 2011. Depressed mood in pregnancy: Prevalence and correlates in two Cape Town peri-urban settlements. *Reproductive Health*, 8, 9.
- KAMMERER, M., MARKS, M. N., PINARD, C., TAYLOR, A., VON CASTELBERG, B., KUNZLI, H. & GLOVER, V. 2009. Symptoms associated with the DSM IV diagnosis of depression in pregnancy and post partum. *Arch Womens Ment Health*, 12, 135-41.
- KIRKWOOD, B. R., HURT, L., AMENGA-ETEGO, S., TAWIAH, C., ZANDOH, C.,
 DANSO, S., HURT, C., EDMOND, K., HILL, Z., TEN ASBROEK, G., FENTY, J.,
 OWUSU-AGYEI, S., CAMPBELL, O. & ARTHUR, P. 2010a. Effect of vitamin A supplementation in women of reproductive age on maternal survival in Ghana (ObaapaVitA): a cluster-randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 375, 1640-1649.
- KIRKWOOD, B. R., MANU, A., TAWIAH-AGYEMANG, C., TEN ASBROEK, G., GYAN, T., WEOBONG, B., LEWANDOWSKI, R. E., SOREMEKUN, S., DANSO, S., PITT, C., HANSON, K., OWUSU-AGYEI, S. & HILL, Z. 2010b. NEWHINTS cluster randomised trial to evaluate the impact on neonatal mortality in rural Ghana of routine home visits to provide a package of essential newborn care interventions in the third trimester of pregnancy and the first week of life: trial protocol. *Trials*, 11, 58.
- KROENKE, K., SPITZER, R. L. & WILLIAMS, J. B. W. 2001. The PHQ-9 Validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 16, 606-613.
- LANCASTER, C. A., GOLD, K. J., FLYNN, H. A., YOO, H., MARCUS, S. M. & DAVIS, M.
 M. 2010. Risk factors for depressive symptoms during pregnancy: a systematic review.
 Am J Obstet Gynecol, 202, 5-14.
- LOCALIO, A. R., MARGOLIS, D. J. & BERLIN, J. A. 2007. Relative risks and confidence intervals were easily computed indirectly from multivariable logistic regression. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 60, 874-82.
- LUSSKIN, S. I., PUNDIAK, T. M. & HABIB, S. M. 2007. Perinatal depression: hiding in plain sight. *Can J Psychiatry*, 52, 479-88.
- MARTIN, A., RIEF, W., KLAIBERG, A. & BRAEHLER, E. 2006. Validity of the Brief Patient Health Questionnaire Mood Scale (PHQ-9) in the general population. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 28, 71-77.
- NHIWATIWA, S., PATEL, V. & ACUDA, W. 1998. Predicting postnatal mental disorder with a screening questionnaire: a prospective cohort study from Zimbabwe. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 52, 262-266.
- O'DONNELL, O., ET AL 2008. Analyzing health equity using household survey data: a guide to techniques and their implementation. Washington D.C: The World Bank.

- PATEL, V. & PRINCE, M. 2006. Maternal psychological morbidity and low birth weight in India. *Br J Psychiatry*, 188, 284-5.
- PATEL, V., RODRIGUES, M. & DESOUZA, N. 2002. Gender, Poverty, and Postnatal Depression: A Study of Mothers in Goa, India. *Am J Psychiatry*, 159, 43-47.
- PAULDEN, M., PALMER, S., HEWITT, C. & GILBODY, S. 2009. Screening for postnatal depression in primary care: cost effectiveness analysis. *BMJ*, 339, b5203.
- RAHMAN, A., BUNN, J., LOVEL, H. & CREED, F. 2007a. Association between antenatal depression and low birthweight in a developing country. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 115, 481-6.
- RAHMAN, A., BUNN, J., LOVEL, H. & CREED, F. 2007b. Maternal depression increases infant risk of diarrhoeal illness: --a cohort study. *Arch Dis Child*, 92, 24-8.
- RAHMAN, A. & CREED, F. 2007. Outcome of prenatal depression and risk factors associated with persistence in the first postnatal year: Prospective study from Rawalpindi, Pakistan. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 100, 115-121.
- ROCHAT, T. J., TOMLINSON, M., BÄRNIGHAUSEN, T., NEWELL, M.-L. & STEIN, A. 2011. The prevalence and clinical presentation of antenatal depression in rural South Africa. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 135, 362-373.
- ROSS, J., HANLON, C., MEDHIN, G., ALEM, A., TESFAYE, F., WORKU, B., DEWEY, M., PATEL, V. & PRINCE, M. 2011. Perinatal mental distress and infant morbidity in Ethiopia: a cohort study. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 96, F59-64.
- RYAN, D., MILIS, L. & MISRI, N. 2005. Depression during pregnancy. *Can Fam Physician*, 51, 1087-93.
- SAWYER, A., AYERS, S. & SMITH, H. 2010. Pre- and postnatal psychological wellbeing in Africa: a systematic review. *J Affect Disord*, 123, 17-29.
- SPITZER, R. L., WILLIAMS, J. B., KROENKE, K., LINZER, M., DEGRUY, F. V., 3RD, HAHN, S. R., BRODY, D. & JOHNSON, J. G. 1994. Utility of a new procedure for diagnosing mental disorders in primary care. The PRIME-MD 1000 study. *JAMA*, 272, 1749-56.
- STATA 2009. Statistics/data analysis. 11 ed. Texas.
- TREACY, A., ROBSON, M. & O'HERLIHY, C. 2006. Dystocia increases with advancing maternal age. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 195, 760-3.
- TRIPATHY, P., NAIR, N., BARNETT, S., MAHAPATRA, R., BORGHI, J., RATH, S.,
 RATH, S., GOPE, R., MAHTO, D., SINHA, R., LAKSHMINARAYANA, R., PATEL,
 V., PAGEL, C., PROST, A. & COSTELLO, A. 2010. Effect of a participatory
 intervention with women's groups on birth outcomes and maternal depression in
 Jharkhand and Orissa, India: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 375, 1182-1192.
- VYAS, S. & KUMARANAYAKE, L. 2006. Constructing socio-economic status indices: how to use principal components analysis. *Health Policy Plan*, 21, 459-68.
- WEOBONG, B., AKPALU, B., DOKU, V., OWUSU-AGYEI, S., HURT, L., KIRKWOOD, B.
 & PRINCE, M. 2009. The comparative validity of screening scales for postnatal common mental disorder in Kintampo, Ghana. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 113, 109-117.
- WEOBONG, B., PRINCE, M., TEN ASBROEK, G., SOREMEKUN, S., DANSO, S., MANU, A., HILL, Z., OWUSU-AGYEI, S., KIRKWOOD, BR 2012. Association of Antenatal Depression with Adverse Consequences for the Mother and Newborn in Rural Ghana: findings from the DON population-based cohort study. Submitted.

Figure 6.1: Recruitment Profile of Participants in the Study



	In analysis:	Ех	cluded
	n=20920	Pregnancy PHQ-9 not completed: n=1876	Missing data: n=215
Mother's age 15-19 20-29 30+ No data	11.2% 52.9% 35.5%	11.6% 53.2% 33.2% 2.0%	4.7% 35.6% 56.7% 43.3%
Marital status Married Living together Widow/ divorced Single, unmarried No data	57.6% 33.1% 2.4% 6.5%	54.1% 33.9% 3.1% 6.9% 2.0%	30.2% 20.5% 0.5% 5.1% 43.7%
Highest educational level reached Sec/post-secondary Pre-secondary Primary None No data	6.8% 37.5% 20.4% 34.8%	6.2% 33.9% 20.4% 37.5% 2.0%	4.7% 20.0% 13.9% 13.5% 47.9%
Wealth quintile 1 st (least wealthy) 2 nd 3 rd 4 th 5 th (wealthiest) No data	20.1% 19.6% 19.6% 19.9% 19.9%	20.4% 21.2% 19.4% 17.6% 17.7% 3.8%	- 0.5% - - 0.5% 99.1%
Religion Catholic Protestant Muslim Traditional/other No data	21.4% 46.2% 23.9% 7.6%	21.8% 45.5% 20.7% 8.3% 3.7%	4.7% 4.7% 7.4% 1.4% 81.9%
Ethnicity Indigenous Non-Indigenous No data	43.1% 56.5%	40.0% 57.9% 2.0%	27.4% 29.3% 43.3%

Online Table 6.1: Socio-demographic Characteristics of Women Included and Excluded from Analysis of Determinants of Antenatal Depression.

	N (*%) of women	n (%)with major/minor antenatal depression	Univariate RR (95% CI)	p-value	Adjusted RR ₁ (95% CI)	p-value
Overall	20, 920 (100%)	2060 (9.9%)				
Predictor						
Mother's age 15-19 20-29 30+	2360 (11.3) 11097 (53.0) 7463 (35.7)	239 (10.1) 1011 (9.1) 812 (10.9)	1.11 (0.97-1.27) 1 1.19 (1.09-1.30)	0.001	1.01 (0.87-1.16) 1 1.21 (1.11-1.33)	0.002
Marital status Married Living together Widow/ divorced Single, unmarried	12103 (57.9) 6948 (33.2) 508 (2.4) 1361 (6.5)	$ \begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1 0.96 (0.88-1.05) 1.09 (0.84-1.41) 1.31 (1.13-1.52)	0.002	1 1.07 (0.97-1.19) 1.20 (0.92-1.56) 1.46 (1.24-1.72)	0.001
Highest educational level reached Sec/post-secondary Pre-secondary Primary None	1425 (6.8) 7872 (37.6) 4291 (20.5) 7332 (35.1)	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 130 & (9.1) \\ 704 & (8.9) \\ 434 & (10.1) \\ 792 & (10.8) \end{array}$	1 0.98 (0.82-1.17) 1.11 (0.92-1.34) 1.18 (0.99-1.41)	0.001	1 0.91 (0.76-1.09) 0.95 (0.79-1.16) 0.94 (0.77-1.14)	0.754
Wealth quintile 1^{st} (least wealthy) 2^{nd} 3^{rd} 4^{th} 5^{th} (wealthiest)	4240 (20.3) 4142 (19.8) 4134 (19.7) 4201 (20.1) 4203 (20.1)	$\begin{array}{ccc} 478 & (11.3) \\ 457 & (11.0) \\ 411 & (9.9) \\ 367 & (8.7) \\ 347 & (8.3) \end{array}$	1.37 (1.20-1.56) 1.34 (1.17-1.53) 1.20 (1.05-1.38) 1.06 (0.92-1.22) 1	<0.001	1.30 (1.09-1.55) 1.26 (1.07-1.49) 1.17 (1.00-1.37) 1.04 (0.90-1.21) 1	0.015
Occupation status of woman Works outside home Not working outside home	15128 (72.3) 5792 (27.7)	1460 (9.7) 600 (10.4)	1 1.07 (0.98,1.17)	0.121	•	-
Type of residence Urban Rural	6520 (31.2) 14400 (68.8)	581 (8.9) 1479 (10.3)	1 1.15 (1.05-1.26)	0.002	1 1.01 (0.90-1.14)	0.861
Religion Catholic Protestant Muslim Traditional/other	4510(21.6)9763(46.7)5053(24.2)1594(7.6)	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 397 & (8.8) \\ 924 & (9.5) \\ 549 & (10.9) \\ 190 & (11.9) \end{array}$	1 1.08 (0.96-1.20) 1.23 (1.09-1.40) 1.35 (1.15-1.59)	<0.001	1 1.15 (1.02-1.30) 1.24 (1.09-1.42) 1.30 (1.10-1.54)	0.002
Ethnicity Indigenous Non-Indigenous	9046 (43.2) 11874 (56.8)	810 (8.9) 1250 (10.5)	1 1.18 (1.08-1.28)	<0.001	1 1.10 (0.98-1.23)	0.097

Table 6.1: Sample Characteristics and Association of Socio-economic/socio-demographic Determinants with Risk of Antenatal Depression Among Women in Ghana

** percentages may not total up to 100 because of rounding; **RR**₁: adjusted for each socio-economic/demographic factor with p<0.1 in univariate models.

 Table 6.2: Sample Characteristics and Association of Pregnancy/ obstetric-related Factors with

 Risk of Antenatal Depression Among Women in Ghana.

			(6.()			
	N (*%) of	women	n (%) with major/minor antenatal depression		Adjusted RR ₂ (95% CI)	p-value
Overall	21, 135 (100%)	2086 (9	9.9%)		
Predictor						
Pregnancy Plan						
Yes Planned	11384	(54.4)	901	(7.9)	1	< 0.001
Did not Plan	9536	(45.6)	1159	(12.2)	1.55 (1.42-1.69)	
Multiple pregnancy						
Singleton	20466	(97.8)	2006	(9.8)	1	0.129
Multiple	454	(2.2)	54	(11.9)	1.22 (0.97-1.57)	
Parity						
Multiparous	15948	(76.2)	1612	(10.1)	1	0.056
Primiparous	4972	(23.8)	448	(9.0)	0.88 (0.77-1.00)	
**Birth Spacing						
Normal (2-3yrs)	7630	(36.5)	736	(9.7)	1	0.072
Too close (<2 yrs)	1470	(7.0)	145	(9.9)	1.04 (0.88-1.24)	
Too wide (>3yrs)	5742	(27.5)	610	(10.6)	1.13 (1.02-1.25)	
No data	6078	(29.1)	569	(9.4)	-	
Previous Still Birth						
No previous still birth	19375	(92.6)	1911	(9.9)	1	0.477
One/more	1545	(7.4)	149	(9.6)	0.94 (0.80-1.11)	
Previous pregnancy loss						
No	17137	(81.2)	1612	(9.4)	1	< 0.001
Yes	3783	(18.1)	448	(11.8)	1.29 (1.17-1.42)	
Previous dead children						
No	16492	(78.8)	1570	(9.5)	1	0.170
Yes	4428	(21.2)	490	(11.1)	1.07 (0.97-1.19)	

RR₂: Each biologic/pregnancy related factor adjusted for all socio-economic/demographic/ cultural factors with p<0.1 identified in table 1 (**RR**₁); *percentages may not total up to 100 because of rounding; **Data incomplete for the population studied, so not included in final model.

Risk factor	Relative Risk (95% CI)	p-value
	Socio-demographic factors	
Woman's age		
25-29	1	
15-19	0.93 (0.81-1.08)	0.358
30+	1.16 (1.06-1.27)	0.002
Marital status		
Married	1	
Living together	1.01 (0.91-1.12)	0.855
Widow/ divorced	1.12 (0.86-1.45)	0.405
Single, unmarried	1.34 (1.14-1.58)	< 0.001
Wealth quintile		
1 st (least wealthy)	1.30 (1.13-1.50)	< 0.001
2 nd	1.24 (1.08-1.42)	0.002
3 rd	1.13 (0.98-1.30)	0.086
4 th	1.02 (0.88-1.17)	0.806
5 th (wealthiest)	1	
Religion		
Catholic	1	
Protestant	1.13 (1.00-1.27)	0.042
Muslim	1.23 (1.08-1.40)	0.001
Traditional/other	1.28 (1.09-1.51)	0.003
Ethnicity		
Indigenous	1	0.008
Non-Indigenous	1.15 (1.04-1.28)	
	Pregnancy-related factors	
Pregnancy Plan		
Yes Planned	1	
Did not Plan	1.55 (1.43-1.69)	< 0.001
Previous pregnancy loss		
No	1	
Yes	1.30 (1.18-1.43)	< 0.001

Table 6.3: Final Multivariable Model of Independent Determinants of Antenatal Depression

7. Chapter 7- Research Paper 2: Determinants of Postnatal Depression in Rural Ghana: Findings from the DON Population-based Cohort Study.

Cover sheet for each 'research paper' included in a research thesis

- 4. For a 'research paper' already published
 - 4.1. Where was the work published?

_____N/A_____

- 4.2. When was the work published? N/A
- 4.3. Was the work subject to academic peer review?
- 4.4. Have you retained the copyright for the work? __N/A____ If yes, attach evidence of retention If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, attach evidence of permission from copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include work
- 5. For a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published
 - 5.1. Where is the work intended to be published? **International Journal of Epidemiology**
 - 5.2. List the paper's authors in the intended authorship order

*Benedict Weobong, Martin Prince, Augustinus HA ten Asbroek, Seyi Soremekun, Samuel

Danso, Seth Owusu-Agyei, Betty R. Kirkwood

5.3. Stage of publication – Not yet submitted

6. For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)

The candidate had a major role in all aspects of the DON study including

conceptualisation, design, and conduct. He carried out all analyses and was responsible for

writing this paper.

Candidate's signature

Supervisor or senior author's signature to confirm role as stated in (3)

Betty Kiluad

7.1 Abstract

Background: Risk factors for postnatal depression (PND), one of the most common pervasive complications of child-bearing, are poorly understood in Africa. A recent systematic review of 31 studies found that the strongest predictors are social and economic disadvantage and gender-based factors; only six of these studies were community based, and almost all were in South Asia.

Methods: The DON study was nested within a surveillance system involving 4-weekly visits to all women of reproductive age to identify pregnancies and collect data on births and deaths. We screened women for depression during pregnancy and after birth using the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) to identify those with DSM-IV major or minor depression. Information was also collected on a range of determinants relating to the mother, birth and baby, which were examined using logistic regression; effect sizes reported as relative risks with 95% confidence intervals.

Results: A total of 13,929 women were screened both during pregnancy and after birth between March 2008 and August 2009, of whom 13,360 (95.9%) had complete data on potential determinants. Two hundred and fifty five (3.8%, 95% CI: 3.5%, 4.1%) had PND. Antenatal depression was the strongest determinant accounting for 34.4% of PND cases. Other determinants were season of delivery, peripartum/postpartum complications, newborn ill-health, still birth or neonatal death.

Conclusion: In this setting although most AND resolves, more than a third of women with PND also had AND. Adverse birth and baby-related outcomes are the main other determinants. We recommend that programmes detect and treat depression during pregnancy and provide support to women with adverse birth outcomes.

Key words: postnatal, depression, onset, peripartum complications, postpartum complications infant ill health, sub-Saharan Africa.

7.2 Introduction

Postnatal depression is widely known as one of the most common pervasive complications of child-bearing¹. Contrary to previously held views that postnatal depression is a Western developed country concept,² its burden is higher in developing countries 19.8% (19.5%-20.0%) than in developed economies 12.9%(10.6%-15.8%).³ Several studies reported adverse consequences on child survival⁴, attachment⁵ growth and development,⁶⁻⁸ and the health-related quality of life of the mother.⁹

A recent systematic review of risk factors for antenatal and postnatal common mental disorders (CMD) in low and middle-income countries found that the strongest predictors are social and economic disadvantage and gender-based factors, particularly gender-based violence.¹⁰ Only six of the 31 studies in this review with information on risk factors were community-based, and almost all were in South Asia. The exception was a study in Ethiopia which reported on risk factors for antenatal common mental disorders, and also on the impact of antenatal CMD on poor perinatal outcomes.¹¹ This together with two other cohort studies from Ethiopia,¹² and urban South Africa¹³ were the only community-based studies identified from SSA.

In this paper, we report findings on determinants of postnatal depression in a large populationbased cohort study in rural Ghana, and examine whether women with onset postnatal depression differ from those who were also depressed during pregnancy. Finally, we examine determinants associated with antenatal depression persisting into the postnatal period.

7.3 Materials and Methods

Design

DON is a cohort study of perinatal **D**epression nested within the **O**baapaVitA¹⁴ and **N**ewhints¹⁵ trials in Ghana. The trials ran consecutively from the year 2000 to 2010; the ObaapaVitA trial (2000 – 2008) evaluated the effect of weekly supplementation of small doses of vitamin-A to women of reproductive age on maternal mortality, and the Newhints trial (2008 – 2010) evaluated the impact of home-visits by community health workers on neonatal mortality. Women whose pregnancies were identified through the 4-weekly surveillance between 3rd December 2007 and 26th June 2009, were offered the option of participating in the DON study, and antenatal depression assessments were conducted at the next 4-weekly visit following identification of the pregnancy (usually between 3-9 months). Postnatal depression assessments were offered to all women whose deliveries were ascertained (usually within 0-3 weeks) between 24th March 2008 and 11th July 2009 and were conducted at the next 4-weekly visit after the birth is identified.

Study Area

The DON study was conducted in seven contiguous districts of the Brong Ahafo region and covers a population of about 700,000¹⁶ with more than 120,000 women of reproductive age, and more than 15,000 pregnancies are recorded within the study area each year. The area has four government assisted hospitals located within four large towns (populations of over 40,000) of the seven districts. There are several other private health providers and health centres located at strategic locations within the rural areas. Mental health services are only provided at the four large towns by community psychiatric nurses, though occasional outreach clinic services are provided for those who cannot access the towns because of distance. As a result many people with mental disorders seek help with the traditional healers or spiritual churches.¹⁷

Data Collection

Data was collected every four weeks from the surveillance system of the two trials as previously described. When a pregnancy is first detected, profile information is collected comprising socio-demographic and socio-economic indicators, including reproductive, obstetric history, birth and

pregnancy factors. A pregnancy depression assessment is conducted at the next 4-weekly visit following the identification of the pregnancy. Subsequent surveillance visits are conducted every 4-weeks and information is obtained on the status of the woman (dead/alive), whether she is still pregnant, and any morbidity requiring treatment outside the home or hospitalization. When a birth is reported, information is collected regarding the pregnancy, delivery, the baby (or babies), and newborn care practices. At the next scheduled 4-weekly visit, the recently delivered woman is assessed for depression.

The assessments of antenatal and postnatal depression were made by administering the 9 item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), which is based on the depression module of the Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders (PRIME-MD)^{18, 19} The PHQ-9 is a structured questionnaire that enquires after the nine symptom based criteria for a diagnosis of DSM-IV²⁰ depression, including their duration and severity.

Outcome Measure

The main outcome is prevalence of postnatal depression restricted to women assessed between 4-12 weeks after birth, with cases classified according to depression status at the antenatal assessment as either onset postnatal depression or persistent antenatal depression. A secondary outcome is the proportion of antenatal cases of depression that persist postnatally. Depression (major or minor) is defined as having occurred when at least two symptoms on the PHQ-9 are reported as present for at least half the time in the last two weeks; these must include depression and/or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure). A total of five or more symptoms is considered to indicate major depression and two to four symptoms minor depression. In contrast with other symptom based scale scores, these criteria therefore identify individuals with persistent and pervasive symptoms, characteristic of a clinically significant depressive episode. A related indicator is PHQ-9 score which has a maximum of 27 if all symptoms were reported as present for all of the time in the past 2 weeks.

Potential Determinants

Socio-demographic/socio-economic information:

Maternal characteristics (age, marital status, education level, employment status, ethnicity, religion, area of residence),

An index of the wealth status of the household was derived from principal components analysis of 42 questions on household assets, sanitation and household quality indicators²¹. Women were then ranked according to their wealth index, and assigned to wealth quintiles with quintile 1 containing the least wealthy and quintile 5 the wealthiest²².

Obstetric history and Pregnancy related factors:

Previous still birth, previous pregnancy loss, birth spacing, parity, current pregnancy (planned or unplanned).

Birth-related

Season of birth (dry or rainy); place of delivery (health facility/home); prolonged duration of labour (>24hr); mode of delivery (natural / caesarean section/instrumentation); timing of delivery (term, preterm, post term); multiple births; any severe peripartum complications (tear in vagina, loss of consciousness, heavy bleeding, surgery, blood transfusion, umbilical cord prolapse, meconium); any severe postpartum complications (heavy bleeding/large blood clots, hot body, smelly vaginal discharge, leaking urine/faeces, mastitis, and other problems)

Baby-related

Birth weight (<2.5kg); perceived size of baby (average or larger, smaller than average); delayed initiation of breastfeeding (> 12hr) ; baby's sex (used in conjunction with partner's sex preference to classify gender-bind, defined as expressing a preference for a boy, but being delivered of a girl; woman's understanding of partner's preference for the sex of the baby; severe newborn illness reported by the mother at the birth visit ; still birth/ live birth but baby dies before postnatal depression assessment/ baby alive at postnatal depression assessment.

Statistical Methods

Analyses were conducted using STATA 11,²³ and restricted to those who were assessed for depression both antenatally and postnatally. Characteristics of those in the analysis were tabulated and compared with those excluded from the analysis sub-divided by reason for exclusion.

Determinants of postnatal depression were assessed using logistic regression in multiple stages. We first assessed the influence of all socio-demographic and socio-economic exposures in univariate models. All factors with p<0.1 in the univariate models were then included in a multivariable regression model at this first stage. Factors that remained statistically significant (p<0.1) predictors of depression outcome were noted and used in the second stage. At the second stage, each obstetric history, pregnancy-related, birth-related, or baby factor was investigated adjusting for all socio-demographic and socio-economic factors that remained significant at the first stage, in a multivariable model. At the third stage all socio-demographic and socio-economic, obstetric history, pregnancy-related, birth-related, or baby factors that remained statistically significant (p<0.1) at stages one and two, including antenatal depression, were included in a further multivariable model, and only factors that remained significant were noted. These were then entered into a final multivariable model. Intervention status in the ObaapaVitA and Newhints trials was not examined in the models as vitamin A supplementation during pregnancy was not expected to influence postnatal depression, and as the analysis of the Newhints trial cohort showed that the Newhints home-visits intervention had no impact on postnatal depression²⁴. Finally, a secondary analysis used logistic regression to assess whether the onset cases of postnatal depression differed from cases persisting from the antenatal period with respect to any of the determinants examined.

Determinants for persistence antenatal depression were also examined in stages as described, including adjustment for antenatal PHQ-9 depression score in the final model. Effect sizes are reported as crude and adjusted relative risks (aRR) estimated using the marginal standardization technique with 95% confidence intervals for the ratios estimated via the delta method.²⁵

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for the DON study was granted by the ethics committees of the Kintampo Health Research Centre and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Study participants were approached for informed consent for participation in the study. Fieldworkers were trained to alert the principal investigator (WB) if they became concerned that any woman was severely distressed or in danger of harm. Women identified as needing attention were visited by WB, re-assessed and if appropriate encouraged to go to community psychiatric nurses serving the four main towns of the study area for further depression evaluation and treatment

7.4 Results

Figure 7.1 shows that 21 283 deliveries were identified between 24th March 2008 and 11th July 2009. Of these, 18 356 (86%) completed depression screen after birth; 26 (0.1%) declined to participate, 1454 (7%) were not present at the screening visit, the screening form was not completed on visit for 208 (0.9%), and 1244 (6%) were visited for screening but outside the operationally defined period of four to 12 weeks after birth. Just two pregnant women and one recently delivered woman were reported as being of concern to the fieldworker; all were recommended to seek attention from the community psychiatric nurses but none complied. Of the 18 356 screened postnatally, 13 929 (76%) had also been screened during pregnancy, the majority of whom 13360 (95.9%) had complete information on all potential determinants.

Tables 7.1-7.2 show that the population was predominantly rural (71%), 36% had no formal education, and women aged 25-29 were in the majority (52%). Most (91%) of the women were either married or co-habiting and majority (57%) belonged to non-indigenous ethnic groups. More than half (53%) had planned their pregnancy and for 23% of them, this was their first pregnancy. Background characteristics of excluded groups were similar to those included in this analysis, except higher proportions of the modal age group (62.5%), secondary/post-secondary education (11.5%), and wealthiest wealth quintile (27.0%), who were excluded because postpartum depression assessment was completed outside the time frame of 4-12 weeks (online table 7.1)

Prevalence of Perinatal Depression

The overall prevalence of depression (major or minor) at the postnatal assessment was 3.8% (95% CI: 3.5%, 4.1%), comprising 0.1% (95% CI: 0.08%-0.1%) who met the criteria for major depression and 3.7% (95% CI, 3.4%-3.9%) who met criteria for minor depression. The overall prevalence at the antenatal assessment point was much higher (9.6%); 12.5% of these cases persisted into the postnatal period accounting for 34.4% of postnatal cases.

Determinants for Postnatal Depression

All socio-demographic and socio-economic factors apart from maternal age, area of residence, and occupation status, had crude associations with postnatal depression (table 7.1). After mutual adjustment only the following two remained independently associated: not married and non-indigenous ethnic group. The factors related to obstetric history, pregnancy, birth, and the baby that were associated with risk of postnatal depression after adjusting for the two factors identified in stage one are shown in table 7.2; the largest relative risk was for antenatal depression, followed by newborn illness, adverse birth outcome (still births, deaths before depression assessment), preterm delivery, self-reported postpartum and peripartum complications, delivery in the dry season, unplanned pregnancy, experience of a previous still birth, and delayed initiation of breastfeeding, in that order. These factors were included in further multivariable analysis with marital status and ethnic group. All the factors apart from preterm delivery, unplanned pregnancy, and delayed initiation of breastfeeding remained associated with postnatal depression. All factors that remained significant were entered into a final multivariable model and independent associations are shown in table 7.3; being depressed at the pregnancy assessment had the largest relative risk, followed by newborn illness since birth, adverse birth outcome (still births, deaths before depression assessment), non-indigenous ethnic group, self-reported postpartum complications, never married, giving birth in the dry season, previous still birth, and self-reported peripartum complications.

158

Comparing Women with Onset and Persistent Cases of Postnatal Depression

Online **Tables 7.2-7.3** show that apart from the obvious differences of whether or not they were depressed antenatally, onset and persistent cases of postnatal depression had similar levels of exposure to almost all determinants explored. The exceptions were a lower prevalence of peripartum complications among persistent cases compared to onset cases, and some suggestion of differences with wealth status, area of residence, and sex preference of the baby, although the overall p-values showed marginal effects at most (p=0.126, 0.054, and 0.082 respectively).

Determinants for Antenatal Depression Persisting Postnatally

Table 7.4 shows the final model for the determinants independently associated with antenatal

 depression persisting into the postnatal period. These were: adverse birth outcome (still births,

 deaths before depression assessment), severe newborn illness, Catholic religious faith, and

 pregnancy depression scores of nine and above.

7.5 Discussion

Our results suggest that antenatal depression (AND) is the strongest determinant of postnatal depression (PND) accounting for 34% of postnatal cases. Adverse events and outcomes linked to birth and the survival of the baby also emerged as strong predictors, as did previous stillbirths and season of birth. Indicators of social and economic adversity, that were strongly associated with the prevalence of AND in our other report²⁶ are less convincingly implicated as risk factors for PND; only being unmarried and from a non-indigenous ethnic group were included in our final model.

The study is prospective, and population-based, with high baseline response rates (94%), and modest loss to follow-up (7.6% for persistence and 6.9% for onset). The analysis of determinants of PND was based on 13,360 women, and that of the determinants of persistent depression on 1,280 women with AND. Both samples are an order of magnitude larger than any previously studied in a sub-Saharan African setting, giving adequate power to identify modest

risk associations. We defined depression with a locally validated measure applying clinical criteria and examined a wide range of determinants.

However, we acknowledge several limitations: we lacked information on social support^{1, 27, 28} and intimate partner violence^{27, 29}, both of which have been shown to be linked to postnatal depression; we cannot exclude respondent bias, such as an effect of maternal depression upon the mothers' recall of morbidity; timing of depression assessments was variable. We also note that women had regular 4-weekly visits from resident fieldworkers enquiring about the pregnancy, the birth, and the health of the infant; these visits may be regarded as a form of social support and so there is a possibility this may have reduced the risk of depression. In retrospect, we could have ascertained from qualitative interviews whether women felt comfortable being asked those questions from persons they have known and built friendship bonds with for some reasonable length of time.

Prevalence of Postnatal Depression

The prevalence of postnatal depression has previously been noted to be higher in SSA 18.3% (95% CI 17.5%-19.1%)²⁷ than HIC 12.9% (95% CI 10.6%-15.8%),³ but lower than the high estimates reported in non-SSA south Asia (19%-28%),³⁰⁻³² and South America (35%-50%).³³ We had previously tested the criterion validity of the PHQ-9 questions in the same setting, comparing a score of 5+ against the gold standard of a local clinician's structured clinical diagnosis of common mental disorder³⁴. In this study we sought to identify clinically significant depressive episodes, and therefore used the PHQ-9 item ratings to give an approximation to DSM-IV major or minor depression diagnostic categories. ^{20, 35} As expected this gave a lower prevalence than using the PHQ-9 CMD 5+ score (3.5% compared to 6.7%). Either way, the prevalence observed in our setting is lower than previous estimates for SSA, but compares with the general trend of high recovery and low onset estimates reported in other SSA settings.³⁶⁻³⁹. This low prevalence may be partly due to the effect of regular 4-weekly visits by surveillance fieldworkers.

Determinants for Postnatal Depression

In general our results suggesting strong and independent associations of birth-related maternal physical ill health and death or poor health of the newborn with postnatal depression are consistent with cross-sectional associations reported by some authors in Uganda,⁴⁰, India,⁴¹ New Haven USA,⁴² and Australia,⁴³ but not in other high income countries.^{44, 45} This suggests that health care providers should provide support mechanisms to this group of women and not ignore the worries emanating from complications suffered by the mother once a healthy delivery is secured.⁴²

In some ethnic groups in Ghana, a still-birth is regarded as a 'spirit' child and the belief as in other cultures around the world is that such an event is the natural selection of a baby not meant to be part of the world of the living^{46, 47}. As a consequence no open mourning (burial/funeral) takes place and the woman is not meant to view such an occurrence as a misfortune⁴⁸. However, having a stillbirth was found to be strongly associated with increased risk of postnatal depression, in contrast to this cultural construct.

Though our findings point to the important role of obstetric and postnatal factors, together with antenatal depression as predictors of prevalent postnatal depression, the few background sociodemographic determinants identified are consistent with findings from other studies. Thus having a baby outside marriage has been reported as a risk factor in previous works in Nigeria.^{49, 50} .Poor socio-economic status was not, however associated with postnatal depression in our study, contrasting with the strong associations with persistent antenatal depression observed in studies in South Asia⁵¹ and HIC.⁵² This may be explained by the self-limiting nature of antenatal depression in our setting.

It is worthy of note that the current still-birth effect is associated with prevalent postnatal depression and persistence antenatal depression. We conjecture this is because of previous experience of still birth and worries of a reoccurrence in this current pregnancy may have started during pregnancy. Male gender bind has been consistently reported to be an independent risk factor for postnatal depression in Asia^{30, 31, 41, 53, 54}. This finding was not replicated in our

study, nor by others in SSA.^{12, 36, 38} Although there is limited evidence from SSA, it is becoming clearer that sex preference issues are more important in the Asian region, where the male to female population ratio supports the existence of culturally ingrained preference for males over females.⁵⁵

A link between seasonality and affective disorders has been widely reported in Western developed countries,⁵⁶⁻⁶⁰ and attributed to the effects of climate and lack of sunshine on circadian rhythms. These mechanisms would not be relevant to tropical and equatorial regions. Notwithstanding, we found that giving birth in the dry season (harmattan) is associated with an increased risk of postnatal depression. The strong dust-bearing winds that prevail during harmattan, coupled with the onset of warm temperatures (>30°C) may result in increased child care challenges and susceptibility of the child to illness episodes such as malaria, upper respiratory tract infections, and pneumonia.

Are Determinants for Onset and Persistence Depression Different?

A further aim of this investigation was to tease out whether determinants for onset postnatal depression are different from predictors of persistence antenatal depression into the postnatal period. The answer to this is no as the same determinants are common to both. Only two factors showed marginal differences which are most likely due to chance given the multiple number of tests conducted. A companion analysis investigating determinants for antenatal depression within the same setting identified strong socio-demographic and socio-economic predictors.²⁶ However, the analysis presented here shows that once a woman is depressed antenatally, the factors most likely to keep her depressed are adverse outcomes for the baby, either illness or death. The only socio-demographic factor that appeared to play a role was religion, but we do not have data in this report to explain the findings observed.

Implications

In sum our study is the first largest cohort in SSA to investigate determinants for prevalent postnatal depression and to further understand what factors keep women depressed after birth once depressed at pregnancy, and whether such factors are different from those that make a

woman depressed only after giving birth. Common determinants are shared between overall postnatal depression, onset, and persistence depression. An intervention targeted at any one of these is therefore likely to benefit the others. In this study and other SSA settings where antenatal depression resolves spontaneously, 12.5% of women who remained depressed accounted for just over a third of all postnatal depression cases. The implications are that interventions are more likely to be effective and beneficial if targeted at the postnatal period. Nevertheless, given that our results suggest that antenatal depression is the strongest predictor of postnatal depression, and is associated with poor maternal and infant health in the immediate after birth in this setting⁶¹, it may be necessary to treat during pregnancy, and by so doing prevent a third of women who would become depressed after birth, or prevent antenatal depression through population-level interventions that address chronic social and economic disadvantage.

Authors' Contribution

WB conducted all analysis and wrote the paper with input from MP and BRK, and later reviewed by all authors. WB, MP, and BRK designed the study. WB, GTA, SS, and OA conducted the study. SS and SD managed the data.

7.5.1 Conflict of Interest

All authors declare they have no conflict of interest in the development of this report.

7.5.2 Acknowledgements

We thank the women who consented to be part of this study, and for their time. The surveillance team who collected and supervised the collection of the data are duly commended for their hard work. We also want to thank the mental health unit of the Kintampo Health Research Centre for their role in training field staff.

This work was supported by the UK Department for International Development, Save the children's Saving Newborn Lives programme from The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and WHO.WB also received support for his fees, travel, and subsistence from the Psychiatric

Research Trust of the Institute of Psychiatry, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine,

and the UK Department for International Development

7.6 References to Chapter 7

- O'Hara MW, Swain AM. Rates and risk of postpartum depression—a meta-analysis. International Review of Psychiatry. 1996;8(1):37-54.
- 2. Stern G, Kruckman L. Multi-disciplinary perspectives on post-partum depression: an anthropological critique. Soc Sci Med. 1983;17(15):1027-41. Epub 1983/01/01.
- Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. Obstet Gynecol. 2005;106(5 Pt 1):1071-83. Epub 2005/11/02.
- Chen YH, Tsai SY, Lin HC. Increased mortality risk among offspring of mothers with postnatal depression: a nationwide population-based study in Taiwan. Psychol Med. 2011;41(11):2287-96. Epub 2011/04/29.
- Perry DF, Ettinger AK, Mendelson T, Le HN. Prenatal depression predicts postpartum maternal attachment in low-income Latina mothers with infants. Infant Behavior & Development. 2011;34(2):339-50.
- O'Hara. The nature of postpartum depressive disorders, in *Postpartum Depression and Child Development*. In: Cooper LMaP, editor. *Postpartum Depression and Child Development*. New York: Guildford Press; 1997. p. 3-32.
- Rahman A, Lovel H, Bunn J, Iqbal Z, Harrington R. Mothers' mental health and infant growth: a case-control study from Rawalpindi, Pakistan. Child Care Health Dev. 2004b;30(1):21-7. Epub 2003/12/18.
- Murray L, Cooper P. Effects of postnatal depression on infant development. Arch Dis Child. 1997a;77(2):99-101. Epub 1997/08/01.
- Nicholson WK, Setse R, Hill-Briggs F, Cooper LA, Strobino D, Powe NR. Depressive symptoms and health-related quality of life in early pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2006;107(4):798-806. Epub 2006/04/04.
- Fisher JCdM, M.;Patel, V.;Rahman, A.;Tran, T.;Holton,S.;Holmes, W. Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in low- and lowermiddle-income countries: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ. 2012;90:11. Epub 24 November 2011.
- Hanlon C, Medhin G, Alem A, Tesfaye F, Lakew Z, Worku B, et al. Impact of antenatal common mental disorders upon perinatal outcomes in Ethiopia: the P-MaMiE population-based cohort study. Tropical Medicine & International Health. 2009;14(2):156-66.
- Hanlon C, Medhin G, Alem A, Araya M, Abdulahi A, Tomlinson M, et al. Sociocultural practices in Ethiopia: association with onset and persistence of postnatal common mental disorders. The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science. 2010;197(6):468-75. Epub 2010/12/02.

- Ramchandani PG, Richter LM, Stein A, Norris SA. Predictors of postnatal depression in an urban South African cohort. Journal of affective disorders. 2009;113(3):279-84. Epub 2008/06/24.
- Kirkwood BR, Hurt L, Amenga-Etego S, Tawiah C, Zandoh C, Danso S, et al. Effect of vitamin A supplementation in women of reproductive age on maternal survival in Ghana (ObaapaVitA): a cluster-randomised, placebo-controlled trial. The Lancet. 2010;375(9726):1640-9.
- 15. Kirkwood BR, Manu A, Tawiah-Agyemang C, ten Asbroek G, Gyan T, Weobong B, et al. NEWHINTS cluster randomised trial to evaluate the impact on neonatal mortality in rural Ghana of routine home visits to provide a package of essential newborn care interventions in the third trimester of pregnancy and the first week of life: trial protocol. Trials. 2010;11:58. Epub 2010/05/19.
- 16. GHS. Ghana Health Service. Ghana Health Service-Brong Ahafo Region: Population by districts. Ghana Health Service; 2011 [cited 2012 26.05.2012]; Available from: http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/region.php?dd=6®ion=Brong Ahafo&nbs p;Region.
- 17. Ae-Ngibise K, Cooper S, Adiibokah E, Akpalu B, Lund C, Doku V, et al. 'Whether you like it or not people with mental problems are going to go to them': A qualitative exploration into the widespread use of traditional and faith healers in the provision of mental health care in Ghana. International Review of Psychiatry. 2010;22(6):558-67.
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Primary PHQ. Validation and utility of a selfreport version of PRIME-MD - The PHQ primary care study. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association. 1999;282(18):1737-44.
- Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Kroenke K, Linzer M, deGruy FV, 3rd, Hahn SR, et al. Utility of a new procedure for diagnosing mental disorders in primary care. The PRIME-MD 1000 study. JAMA. 1994;272(22):1749-56. Epub 1994/12/14.
- 20. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9 Validity of a brief depression severity measure. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2001;16(9):606-13.
- Vyas S, Kumaranayake L. Constructing socio-economic status indices: how to use principal components analysis. Health policy and planning. 2006;21(6):459-68. Epub 2006/10/13.
- 22. O'Donnell O, et al. Analyzing health equity using household survey data: a guide to techniques and their implementation. Washington D.C: The World Bank, 2008.
- 23. STATA. Statistics/data analysis. 11 ed. Texas2009.
- 24. Weobong B, Manu, A., ten Asbroek, G., Soremekun, S., Gyan, T., Danso, S., Amenga-Etego, S., Prince, M., Agyemang, C., Owusu-Agyei, S., Hill, Z., Kirkwood, BR. Impact of the 'Newhints' Home visits Intervention trial on Postnatal Depression in Rural Ghana. submitted2012.

- Localio AR, Margolis DJ, Berlin JA. Relative risks and confidence intervals were easily computed indirectly from multivariable logistic regression. J Clin Epidemiol. 2007;60(9):874-82. Epub 2007/08/11.
- 26. Weobong B, ten Asbroek, G., Owusu-Agyei, S., Kirkwood, BR., Prince, M. Prevalence and determinants of antenatal depression among pregnant women in a predominantly rural population in Ghana: The DON population-based study. Submitted2012.
- Sawyer A, Ayers S, Smith H. Pre- and postnatal psychological wellbeing in Africa: a systematic review. Journal of affective disorders. 2010;123(1-3):17-29. Epub 2009/07/29.
- Beck CT. Predictors of postpartum depression An update. Nursing Research. 2001;50(5):275-85.
- 29. Ludermir AB, Lewis G, Valongueiro SA, de Araujo TV, Araya R. Violence against women by their intimate partner during pregnancy and postnatal depression: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2010;376(9744):903-10. Epub 2010/09/09.
- 30. Chandran M, Tharyan P, Muliyil J, Abraham S. Post-partum depression in a cohort of women from a rural area of Tamil Nadu, India. Incidence and risk factors. The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science. 2002;181:499-504. Epub 2002/11/29.
- Rahman A, Iqbal Z, Harrington R. Life events, social support and depression in childbirth: perspectives from a rural community in the developing world. Psychol Med. 2003;33(7):1161-7. Epub 2003/10/29.
- Gausia K, Fisher C, Ali M, Oosthuizen J. Magnitude and contributory factors of postnatal depression: a community-based cohort study from a rural subdistrict of Bangladesh. Psychol Med. 2009;39(6):999-1007. Epub 2008/09/25.
- Wolf AW, De Andraca I, Lozoff B. Maternal depression in three Latin American samples. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2002;37(4):169-76. Epub 2002/05/25.
- 34. Weobong B, Akpalu B, Doku V, Owusu-Agyei S, Hurt L, Kirkwood B, et al. The comparative validity of screening scales for postnatal common mental disorder in Kintampo, Ghana. Journal of affective disorders. 2009;113(1-2):109-17.
- 35. Martin A, Rief W, Klaiberg A, Braehler E. Validity of the Brief Patient Health Questionnaire Mood Scale (PHQ-9) in the general population. General Hospital Psychiatry. 2006;28(1):71-7.
- 36. Aderibigbe YA, Gureje O, Omigbodun O. Postnatal emotional disorders in Nigerian women. A study of antecedents and associations. The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science. 1993;163:645-50. Epub 1993/11/01.
- 37. Cox JL, Connor YM, Henderson I, McGuire RJ, Kendell RE. Prospective study of the psychiatric disorders of childbirth by self report questionnaire. Journal of affective disorders. 1983;5(1):1-7. Epub 1983/02/01.

- 38. Collin SM, Chisenga MM, Kasonka L, Haworth A, Young C, Filteau S, et al. Factors associated with postpartum physical and mental morbidity among women with known HIV status in Lusaka, Zambia. AIDS Care. 2006;18(7):812-20. Epub 2006/09/15.
- Hanlon C. Perinatal common mental disorders in Ethiopia: socio-cultural factors in onset, remission and maintenance. London: University of London, PhD Thesis.; 2010.
- 40. Nakku JE, Nakasi G, Mirembe F. Postpartum major depression at six weeks in primary health care: prevalence and associated factors. Afr Health Sci. 2006;6(4):207-14. Epub 2007/07/03.
- 41. Patel V, Rodrigues M, DeSouza N. Gender, Poverty, and Postnatal Depression: A Study of Mothers in Goa, India. Am J Psychiatry. 2002;159(1):43-7.
- Burger J, Horwitz SM, Forsyth BW, Leventhal JM, Leaf PJ. Psychological sequelae of medical complications during pregnancy. Pediatrics. 1993;91(3):566-71. Epub 1993/03/01.
- 43. Brown S, Lumley J. Maternal health after childbirth: results of an Australian population based survey. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1998;105(2):156-61. Epub 1998/03/21.
- 44. Johnstone SJ, Boyce PM, Hickey AR, Morris-Yatees AD, Harris MG. Obstetric risk factors for postnatal depression in urban and rural community samples. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2001;35(1):69-74. Epub 2001/03/29.
- 45. Warner R, Appleby L, Whitton A, Faragher B. Demographic and obstetric risk factors for postnatal psychiatric morbidity. The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science. 1996;168(5):607-11. Epub 1996/05/01.
- 46. Frøen JF, Cacciatore J, McClure EM, Kuti O, Jokhio AH, Islam M, et al. Stillbirths: why they matter. The Lancet. 2011;377(9774):1353-66.
- 47. Allotey P, Reidpath D. Establishing the causes of childhood mortality in Ghana: the 'spirit child'. Social Science & amp; Medicine. 2001;52(7):1007-12.
- Vanotoo LAA-P, J. Community perceptions, beliefs and practices on still birth in Sekondi/Takoradi. Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health. 2010;46.
- Adewuya AOMCB, Fatoye FOF, Ola BAMCB, Ijaodola ORR, Ibigbami S-MOR.
 Sociodemographic and Obstetric Risk Factors for Postpartum Depressive Symptoms in Nigerian Women. Journal of Psychiatric Practice. 2005;11(5):353-8.
- 50. Fatoye FO, Oladimeji BY, Adeyemi AB. Difficult delivery and some selected factors as predictors of early postpartum psychological symptoms among Nigerian women. Journal of Psychosomatic Research. 2006;60(3):299-301. Epub 2006/03/07.
- 51. Rahman A, Creed F. Outcome of prenatal depression and risk factors associated with persistence in the first postnatal year: Prospective study from Rawalpindi, Pakistan. Journal of affective disorders. 2007;100(1-3):115-21.

- Bernazzani O, Saucier JF, David H, Borgeat F. Psychosocial predictors of depressive symptomatology level in postpartum women. Journal of affective disorders. 1997;46(1):39-49. Epub 1997/12/05.
- Rodrigues M, Patel V, Jaswal S, de Souza N. Listening to mothers: qualitative studies on motherhood and depression from Goa, India. Social Science & Medicine. 2003;57(10):1797-806.
- 54. Xie RH, He G, Liu A, Bradwejn J, Walker M, Wen SW. Fetal gender and postpartum depression in a cohort of Chinese women. Soc Sci Med. 2007;65(4):680-4. Epub 2007/05/18.
- 55. Sen A. Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford Paperbacks; 2001.
- Jewell J, Dunn A, Bondy J, Leiferman J. Prevalence of Self-Reported Postpartum Depression Specific to Season and Latitude of Birth: Evaluating the PRAMS Data. Maternal and Child Health Journal. 2010;14(2):261-7.
- 57. Beck CT. Revision of the postpartum depression predictors inventory. Jognn-Journal of Obstetric Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing. 2002;31(4):394-402.
- 58. Blazer DG, Kessler RC, Swartz MS. Epidemiology of recurrent major and minor depression with a seasonal pattern. The National Comorbidity Survey. The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science. 1998;172:164-7. Epub 1998/03/31.
- Magnusson A, Partonen T. The diagnosis, symptomatology, and epidemiology of seasonal affective disorder. CNS Spectr. 2005;10(8):625-34; quiz 1-14. Epub 2005/07/26.
- Monteleone P, Maj M. The circadian basis of mood disorders: recent developments and treatment implications. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2008;18(10):701-11. Epub 2008/07/30.
- Weobong B, Prince, M., ten Asbroek, G., Soremekun, S., Danso, S., Manu, A., Hill,
 Z., Owusu-Agyei, S., Kirkwood, BR. Association of Antenatal Depression with
 Adverse Consequences for the Mother and Newborn in Rural Ghana: findings from the
 DON population-based cohort study. Submitted2012.



Figure 7.1: Recruitment Profile of Participants in the Study

Characteristic	In analysis:	Excluded					
	n=13360	Postpartum PHQ-9 not completed: n=1683	Postpartum PHQ-9 completed outside time frame: n=1244	Pregnancy PHQ-9 not completed: n=4427	Missing data: n=569		
Mother's age 15-19 20-29 30+	11.3% 52.1% 36.3%	12.5% 58.4% 28.5%	11.7% 62.5% 25.3%	10.5% 54.8% 34.3%	9.8% 51.7% 30.6%		
No data	-	0.6%	0.5%	0.4%	7.9%		
Marital status Married Living together Widow/ divorced Single, unmarried No data	57.8% 33.0% 2.4% 6.5%	54.7% 34.4% 2.6% 7.7% 0.6%	53.1% 36.9% 2.4% 7.2% 0.5%	58.6% 32.8% 2.7% 5.8% 0.4%	49.0% 34.3% 2.3% 6.3% 8.1%		
Highest educational level reac	hed						
Sec/post-secondary Pre-secondary Primary None No data	6.1% 37.4% 20.3% 35.8%	8.7% 35.1% 20.4% 35.1% 0.6%	11.5% 39.8% 19.7% 28.5% 0.5%	6.1% 37.6% 20.3% 35.6% 0.4%	4.8% 30.1% 20.0% 36.2% 8.9%		
Wealth quintile 1^{st} (least wealthy) 2^{nd} 3^{rd} 4^{th} 5^{th} (wealthiest) No data	20.7% 20.8% 20.0% 19.4% 18.4%	17.4% 16.9% 18.6% 21.1% 23.5% 2.6%	14.3% 12.8% 16.6% 18.3% 27.0% 11.0%	20.3% 20.7% 20.5% 18.8% 17.9% 1.9%	19.3% 16.9% 15.6% 14.4% 16.5% 17.2%		
Religion Catholic Protestant Muslim Traditional/other No data	21.4% 46.2% 24.1% 7.7%	21.1% 42.9% 25.8% 8.0% 2.2%	19.9% 44.5% 19.5% 5.2% 10.9%	20.7% 46.7% 23.4% 7.5% 1.7%	20.2% 37.3% 21.1% 7.9% 13.5%		
Ethnicity Indigenous Non-Indigenous No data	43.1% 56.5%	39.0% 60.4% 0.6%	47.0% 52.5% 0.5%	41.9% 57.7% 0.4%	38.3% 53.8% 7.9%		

Online Table 7.1: Socio-demographic Characteristics of Women Included and Excluded from Analysis of Determinants of Postnatal Depression.

	N (*%) of v	vomen	n (%)with major/minor postnatal depression		Univariate RR (95% CI) p-value		Adjusted RR ₁ (95% CI)	p-value
Overall	13360	(100%)	455	(3.4%)				
Predictor								
Mother's age								
15-19	1511	(11.3)	52	(3.4)	1.00 (0.74,1.34)	0.992	-	-
20-29	6962	(52.1)	239	(3.4)	1			
30+	4887	(36.6)	164	(3.4)	0.99 (0.81,1.20)			
Marital status					_	0.004	_	
Married	7768	(58.1)	253	(3.3)	1	0.084	1	0.018
Living together	4406	(32.9)	148	(3.4)	1.04 (0.85,1.27)		1.19 (0.96,1.48)	
Widow/ divorced	315	(2.4)	11	(3.5)	1.06 (0.59,1.92)		1.18 (0.65,2.15)	
Single, unmarried	8/1	(6.5)	43	(4.9)	1.52 (1.11,2.08)		1.67 (1.21,2.31)	
Highest educational level reached	027	$(\epsilon, 2)$	22	(2.7)	1		1	
Bra sacondary	627 5044	(0.2)	141	(2.7)	1 1 05 (0 68 1 64)	0.003	1 0.05 (0.61.1.40)	
Primory	2708	(37.8)	141	(2.6)	1.05(0.08, 1.04) 1.40(0.80, 2.21)	0.003	(0.95(0.01, 1.49))	0.448
None	5781	(20.3)	194	(3.0) (4.1)	1.40(0.89,2.21) 1.53(0.99.2.36)		1.15(0.71,1.81) 1.16(0.72,1.86)	
Wealth quintile	5701	(35.0)	174	(4.1)	1.55 (0.55,2.50)		1.10 (0.72,1.00)	
1 st (least wealthy)	2776	(20.8)	118	(43)	1 91 (1 39 2 61)	0.001	1 46 (1 03 2 03)	0.259
2 nd	2798	(20.9)	108	(3.9)	1 71 (1 24 2 35)	0.001	1 41 (1 01 1 97)	0.238
3 rd	2699	(20.2)	87	(3.2)	1.44(1.04.2.01)		1.29 (0.92.1.82)	
4 th	2798	(20.9)	86	(3.3)	1.45 (1.04,2.02)		1.36 (0.97.1.91)	
5 th (wealthiest)	2469	(18.5)	56	(2.3)	1		1	
Occupation status of woman							-	-
Works outside home	9629	(72.1)	313	(3.3)	1	0.140		
Not working outside home	3731	(27.1)	142	(3.8)	1.16 (0.95, 1.41)			
Type of residence								-
Urban	4089	(29.4)	128	(3.1)	1	0.176	-	
Rural	9840	(70.6)	358	(3.6)	1.15 (0.94,1.41)			
Religion								
Catholic	2870	(21.5)	106	(3.7)	1	0.044	1	0.609
Protestant	6226	(46.6)	187	(3.0)	0.82 (0.65,1.03)		0.98 (0.76,1.25)	
Muslim	3236	(24.2)	116	(3.6)	0.98 (0.76,1.27)		0.94 (0.72,1.23)	
I raditional/other	1028	(7.7)	46	(4.5)	1.24 (0.88,1.73)		1.19 (0.84,1.67)	
Emmicity	5701	(12, 1)	165	(27)	1	<0.001	1	0.000
Indigenous Non Indigenous	5/91	(43.4)	105	(2.7)	1	<0.001	1 1 20 (1 00 1 78)	0.008
Non-indigenous	/569	(50.7)	519	(4.1)	1.50 (1.24,1.81)		1.39 (1.09,1.78)	

 Table 7.1: Sample Characteristics and Association of Socio-economic/socio-demographic Factors with Risk of Prevalent Postnatal Depression Among

 Women in Ghana.

*percentages may not total up to 100 because of rounding.

RR_{1:} adjusted for each socio-economic/demographic factor with p<0.1 in univariate models

	N (*%) of v	women	n (%) with major/n	ninor postnatal depression	Adjusted RR ₂ (95% CI)	p-value
Overall	13360	(100)	455	(3.4)		
Predictor						
Antenatal Depression						
No	12080	(90.4)	301	(2.5)	1	< 0.001
Yes	1280	(9.6)	154	(12.0)	4.75 (3.95,5.75)	(0.001
Previous Still Birth						
None	12404	(92.8)	411	(3.3)	1	0.023
One/more	956	(7.2)	44	(4.6)	1.42 (1.05,1.93)	
Parity						
Multiparous	10332	(77.3)	366	(3.4)	1	0.844
Primiparous	3038	(22.7)	118	(3.7)	1.02 (0.81,1.29)	
^Birth Spacing						
Normal (2-3yrs)	5030	(37.7)	161	(3.2)	1	0.709
Too close (<2 yrs)	977	(7.3)	27	(2.8)	0.88 (0.59,1.31)	
Too wide (>3yrs)	3713	(27.8)	104	(2.8)	0.92 (0.72,1.17)	
No data	3640	(27.3)	163	(4.5)	-	
Pregnancy Plan						
Yes Planned	7078	(52.9)	235	(3.2)	1	0.015
Did not Plan	6282	(47.0)	251	(3.8)	1.26 (1.05,1.51)	
Sex Preference of partner						
No preference	5978	(44.8)	214	(3.4)	1	0.542
Girl	1355	(10.1)	41	(2.9)	0.94 (0.67,1.32)	
Boy	4439	(33.2)	157	(3.4)	1.02 (0.83,1.27)	
Not sure	1588	(11.9)	74	(4.5)	1.20 (0.97,1.57)	
Gender-bind(wanting a boy, getting a girl)						
No	11196	(83.8)	407	(3.5)	1	
Yes	2164	(16.2)	78	(3.5)	1.09 (0.86,1.39)	0.462
Season of Birth						
May-Oct (Rainy)	7395	(55.4)	223	(3.0)	1	0.006
Nov-April (Dry)	5965	(44.7)	232	(3.9)	1.29 (1.08,1.54)	
Place of delivery						
Health facility	8735	(65.4)	284	(3.3)	1	0.531
Home	4625	(34.6)	171	(3.7)	1.06 (0.88,1.28)	
Mode of Delivery	12520	(02.7)		(2.1)		
Normal	12520	(93.7)	419	(3.4)		0.091
Instrument/ CS	840	(6.3)	36	(4.3)	1.33 (0.96,1.86)	
Timing of Delivery	11025	(02.5)		(2.2)	1	
On time	11026	(82.5)	372	(5.5)	1	0.000
Early	266	(1.9)	21	(0.0)	1.79 (1.08,2.95)	0.023
Late	2068	(15.5)	86	(4.0)	1.23 (0.97,1.55)	0.086

 Table 7.2: Sample Characteristics and Association of Obstetric History/Pregnancy/Birth/Baby-related Factors with Risk of Postnatal Depression Among

 Women in Ghana

RR2: each biologic/pregnancy related factor adjusted for all socio-economic/demographic factors with p<0.1 identified in table 1 (RR1)

*percentages may not total up to 100 because of rounding

^Data available only on a sub-sample of the population studied (on deliveries in 2008).

Table 7-2 cont

	N (*%) of wom	n (%) with major/n	minor postnatal depression	Adjusted RR ₂ (95% CI)	p-value
Overall	13360 (10	00) 455	(3.4)		
Predictor					
^Duration of labour Less than 24 hrs More than 24hrs No data	5588 (41 684 (5.1 7088 (53	.8) 206 1) 35 .1) 214	(3.7) (5.1) (3.0)	1 1.43 (1.01,2.03)	0.045
Birth Outcome Baby alive at depression assessment Still Birth Deaths before depression assessment	12779 (95 254 (1.9 327 (2.5	4089)185)21	(3.2) (7.1) (8.9)	1 2.26 (1.43,3.55) 2.47 (1.67,3.67)	<0.001
Baby's Sex Male Female	6843 (51 6517 (48	.2) 229 3.8) 226	(3.4) (3.5)	1 1.05 (0.87,1.25)	0.623
Multiple Births Singleton More than one	13075 (97 285 (2.1	.9) 446 1) 9	(3.4) (3.2)	1 0.94 (0.49,1.79)	0.839
Delayed initiation of breastfeeding Within 12 hours After 12 hours	10787 (80 2573 (19	0.7) 365 0.3) 121	(3.3) (4.3)	1 1.20 (0.97,1.49)	0.090
^^Birth Weight (kg) 2.5+ <2.5 No data	6648 (49 589 (4.4 6123 (45	2.8) 196 4) 19 5.8) 240	(2.9) (3.2) (3.9)	1 1.05 (0.66,1.67)	0.823
Perceived size of baby Average or larger Smaller than average	12599 (94 761 (5.2	4.3) 426 7) 29	(3.4) (3.8)	1 1.09 (0.75,1.57)	0.653
Peripartum complications No Yes	6153 (46 7207 (53	5.1)1723.9)383	(2.8) (3.9)	1 1.43 (1.19,1.72)	<0.001
Postpartum complications No Yes	8492 (63 4868 (36	3.6)2455.4)241	(2.7) (4.6)	1 1.65 (1.38,1.98)	<0.001
Newborn severe illness No Yes	13130 (98 230 (1.3	3.2) 427 8) 28	(3.3) (12.2)	1 3.88 (2.70,5.56)	<0.001

RR2: each biologic/pregnancy related factor adjusted for all socio-economic/demographic factors with p<0.1 identified in table 1 (RR1)

*percentages may not total up to 100 because of rounding.

^^Data available only on a sub-sample of the population studied (hospital deliveries)

Table 7.3: Final Multivariable Logistic Regression Model of Factors IndependentlyAssociated with Postnatal Depression Among Women in Rural Ghana.

Risk factor	Adjusted relative risk (95% CI)	P value	Overall p-value
Socio	demographic factors		
Marital status			
Married	1		
Living together	1.15 (0.94, 1.41)	0.180	
Widow/ divorced	1.13 (0.63, 2.02)	0.690	0.075
Single	1.50 (1.10, 2.05)	0.011	
Ethnicity			
Indigenous	1		
Non-Indigenous	1.50 (1.23,1.83)	< 0.001	< 0.001
Obstetric histo	ry/Birth/baby/Biologic factors		
Antenatal Depression			
No	1	0.001	0.001
Yes	4.42 (3.66, 5.32)	< 0.001	<0.001
Previous Still Birth	1	0.029	0.029
None	1	0.028	0.028
Season of Pirth	1.40 (1.04, 1.88)		
May-Oct (Rainy)	1		
Nov-April (Drv)	1 31 (1 09 1 56)	0.003	0.003
Birth Outcome	1.51 (1.0), 1.50)	0.005	0.005
Baby alive at depression assessment	1		
Still Birth	1.93 (1.23, 3.02)	0.004	< 0.001
Deaths before depression assessment	2.52 (1.77, 3.58)	< 0.001	
Postpartum complications			
No	1		
Yes	1.35 (1.12,1.62)	0.001	0.001
Peripartum complications			
No	1		
Yes	1.20 (1.00, 1.45)	0.050	0.050
Newborn severe illness			
No	1		
Yes	3.06 (2.13, 4.39)	< 0.001	< 0.001

Table 7.4: Final Multivariable Logistic Regression Model of Risk Factors for PersistenceAntenatal Depression Among Women with Antenatal Depression in Rural Ghana.

Determinant	n (%) with major/minor	Relative Risk	P value	Overall n-							
	persistence antenatal	(95% CI)	i value	value							
	depression	(,									
Obstetric history/Birth/baby/Biologic factors											
Newborn severe illness											
No	144 (11.6)	1									
Yes	10 (27.8)	2.22 (1.30-3.81)	0.004	0.004							
Birth Outcome											
Baby alive at depression assessment	137 (11.3)	1									
Still Birth	9 (25.0)	2.01 (1.12-3.61)	0.020	0.009							
Deaths before depression assessment	8 (24.2)	2.18 (1.20-3.96)	0.010								
Previous Still Birth											
None	139 (11.6)	1									
One or more	15 (17.7)	1.44 (0.89-2.33)	0.134	0.134							
Antenatal depression severity											
PHQ-9 score 5	8 (6.2)	1									
PHQ-9 score 6	22 (10.6)	1.71 (0.79-3.70)	0.171								
PHQ-9 score 7-8	33 (8.9)	1.31 (0.62-2.76)	0.479	0.001							
PHQ-9 score 9-10	47 (18.0)	2.73 (1.34-5.59)	0.006								
PHQ-9 score 11+	44 (16.9)	2.56 (1.25-5.26)	0.011								
	Socio-demographic fa	ctors									
Religion											
Catholic	251 (17.1)	1									
Protestant	59 (10.5)	0.60 (0.42-0.85)	0.005	0.015							
Muslim	36 (10.1)	0.55 (0.37-0.53)	0.004								
Traditional/other	16 (14.3)	0.77 (0.46-1.29)	0.317								

Online Table 7.2: Comparing Persistent cases with Onset Postnatal Depression with Respect to Background Socio-demographic/socio-economic Factors among Women in Rural Ghana.

	n (*%)w onset pos depressio	ith major/minor stnatal on	n (*%)w major/m persisten depressio	ith inor ice antenatal on	Persistent vs Onset Univariate RR (95% CI)	p- value	Overall p-value
Overall	301	(66.2)	154	(33.9)			
Predictor							
Mother's age							
15-19	31	(10.3)	21	(13.6)	1.29 (0.88,1.88)	0.193	0.406
20-29	164	(54.5)	75	(48.7)	1		
30+	106	(35.2)	58	(37.7)	1.13 (0.85,1.49)	0.401	
Marital status							
Married	164	(54.5)	89	(57.8)	1		
Living together	106	(35.2)	42	(27.3)	0.81 (0.59,1.10)	0.169	0.258
Widow/ divorced	6	(1.9)	5	(3.3)	1.29 (0.66,2.52)	0.452	
Single, unmarried	25	(8.3)	18	(11.7)	1.19 (0.81,1.76)	0.382	
Highest educational level reached							
Sec/post-secondary	13	(4.3)	9	(5.8)	1		
Pre-secondary	97	(32.2)	44	(28.6)	0.76 (0.44,1.33)	0.342	0.647
Primary	61	(20.3)	37	(24.0)	0.92 (0.53,1.62)	0.780	
None	130	(43.2)	64	(41.6)	0.81 (0.47,1.38)	0.436	
Wealth quintile							
1 st (least wealthy)	75	(24.9)	43	(27.9)	1.78 (0.97,3.25)	0.062	0.126
2 nd	65	(21.6)	43	(27.9)	1.58 (0.85,2.92)	0.145	
3 rd	60	(19.9)	27	(17.5)	2.03 (1.14,3.61)	0.017	
4 th	56	(18.6)	30	(19.5)	1.86 (1.04,3.32)	0.037	
5 th (wealthiest)	45	(14.9)	11	(7.1)	1		
Occupation status of woman							
Works outside home	205	(68.1)	108	(70.1)	1		
Not working outside home	96	(31.9)	46	(29.9)	0.94 (0.71,1.25)	0.661	0.661
Type of residence				(***			
Urban	89	(29.6)	32	(20.8)	1		
Rural	212	(70.4)	122	(79.2)	1.38 (0.99,1.92)	0.054	0.054
Religion							
Catholic	63	(20.9)	43	(27.9)	1		
Protestant	128	(42.5)	59	(38.3)	0.78 (0.57,1.06)	0.115	0.394
Muslim	80	(26.6)	36	(23.4)	0.77 (0.54,1.09)	0.140	
Traditional/other	30	(9.9)	16	(10.4)	0.86 (0.54,1.36)	0.510	
Ethnicity	10.4	(24.6)	50	(22.5)			
Indigenous	104	(34.6)	50	(32.5)	1	0.650	0.650
Non-Indigenous	197	(65.5)	104	(67.5)	1.06 (0.81,1.40)	0.658	0.658

*percentages may not total up to 100 because of rounding

^data available only on a sub-sample of the population studied (only deliveries in 2008)

Online Table 7.3: Comparing Persistent Cases with Onset Postnatal Depression with Respect to Obstetric History/Pregnancy/Birth/Baby-Related Factors Among Women in Rural Ghana.

	n (*%) v major/m postnata	vith inor onset l depression	n (*%) v major/m antenata	vith inor persistent l depression	Univariate RR (95% CI)	p-value	Overall p- value
Overall	301	(66.2)	154	(33.9)			
Predictor							
Previous Still Birth							
None	272	(90.4)	139	(90.3)	1	0.971	0.971
One/more	29	(9.6)	15	(9.7)	1.01 (0.65, 1.55)		
Parity	224	(74.4)	117	(75.0)	1	0.719	0.719
Primiparous	224 77	(74.4)	37	(75.9) (24.0)	1 0.95 (0.70, 1.28)		
^Birth Spacing		(25.6)	51	(24.0)	0.95 (0.70, 1.20)		
Normal (2-3yrs)	106	(35.2)	55	(35.7)	1		
Too close (<2 yrs)	20	(6.6)	7	(4.6)	0.76 (0.39, 1.49)	0.422	0.588
Too wide (>3yrs)	66	(21.9)	38	(24.7)	1.07 (0.77, 1.49)	0.691	
No data Programcy Plan	109	(36.2)	54	(35.1)	-		
Yes	150	(49.8)	67	(43.5)	1	0.203	0.203
No	151	(50.2)	87	(56.5)	1.18 (0.91, 1.54)	0.205	0.205
Sex Preference of partner							
No preference	141	(46.8)	58	(37.7)	1	0.00	0.092
Girl	29	(9.6)	10	(0.5)	0.88(0.49,1.57) 1.21(0.07,1.77)	0.663	0.082
Not sure	92 39	(12.9)	29	(18.3)	1.46 (1.03.2.08)	0.073	
Gender-bind(wanting a boy,	•,	()		(2000)			
getting a girl)							
No	255	(84.7)	122	(70.2)	1		
Yes Season of Birth	46	(15.3)	32	(20.8)	1.27 (0.94,1.72)	0.125	0.125
May-Oct (Rainy)	140	(46.5)	83	(53.9)	1		
Nov-April (Dry)	161	(53.5)	71	(46.1)	0.82 (0.64,1.06)	0.137	0.137
Place of delivery				× ,			
Health facility	188	(62.5)	96	(62.3)	1		
Home	113	(37.5)	58	(37.7)	1.00 (0.77, 1.31)	0.980	0.980
On time	238	(79.1)	120	(77.9)	1		
Early	10	(3.3)	5	(3.6)	0.99 (0.48,2.06)	0.988	0.949
Late	53	(17.6)	29	(18.3)	1.06 (0.76,1.46)	0.748	
Mode of Delivery							
Normal	278	(92.4)	141	(91.6)	1	0.761	0.761
^Duration of labour	25	(7.0)	15	(8.4)	1.07 (0.08,1.09)	0.761	0.761
Less than 24 hrs	130	(43.2)	76	(49.4)	1		
More than 24hrs	26	(8.6)	9	(5.8)	0.70 (0.39,1.26)	0.231	0.231
No data	145	(48.2)	69	(44.8)	-		
Birth Outcome	271	(00,0)	127	(88.0)	1		
Still Birth	2/1	(90.0)	157	(5.8)	1 1 49 (0.92.2.41)	0.105	0.281
Deaths before depression assessment	21	(6.9)	8	(5.2)	0.82 (0.45,1.50)	0.524	0.201
^^Birth Weight Outcome (kg)							
2.5+	137	(45.5)	61	(36.5)	1		
<2.5 No data	14	(4.7)	6 100	(3.6)	0.87 (0.40,1.91)	0.736	0.736
Perceived size of haby	150	(49.0)	100	(39.9)	-		
Average or larger	282	(93.7)	144	(93.5)	1		
Smaller than average	19	(6.3)	10	(6.5)	1.12 (0.71,1.77)	0.627	0.627
Baby's Sex		(51.5)	- 4	(10.1)			
Female	155	(51.5)	74 80	(48.1) (51.9)	1 10 (0 85 1 42)	0.487	0.487
Delayed initiation of breastfeeding	140	(40.5)	80	(31.9)	1.10 (0.05,1.42)	0.487	0.407
Within 12 hours	232	(77.1)	117	(75.9)	1		
After 12 hours	69	(22.9)	37	(24.0)	1.04 (0.77,1.40)	0.791	0.791
Peripartum complications	102	(24.2)	(0)	(44.9)	1		
NO Yes	103	(34.2)	69 85	(44.8) (55.2)	0.75 (0.58 0.97)	0.026	0.026
Postpartum complications	190	(05.0)	0.0	(33.2)	0.75 (0.56,0.97)	0.020	0.020
No	147	(48.8)	84	(54.6)	1		
Yes	154	(51.2)	77	(45.5)	0.86 (0.66,1.11)	0.251	0.251
Newborn severe illness	202	(04.0)	144	(02.5)	1		
Yes	283	(94.0)	144	(93.5)	1 06 (0.63 1.77)	0.827	0.827
100	10	(3.9)	10	(0.5)	1.00 (0.03,1.77)		

*percentages may not total up to 100 because of rounding

^data available only on a sub-sample of the population studied (only deliveries in 2008)

8. Chapter 8- Research Paper 3: Association of Antenatal Depression with Adverse Consequences for the Mother and Newborn in Rural Ghana: Findings from the DON Population-based Cohort Study.

Cover sheet for each 'research paper' included in a research thesis

- 7. For a 'research paper' already published
 - 7.1. Where was the work published?
 - _____N/A_____ 7.2. When was the work published?
 - N/A

7.2.1. If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion N/A

- 7.3. Was the work subject to academic peer review? N/A
- 7.4. Have you retained the copyright for the work? __N/A___If yes, attach evidence of retentionIf no, or if the work is being included in its published format, attach evidence of permission from copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include work
- 8. For a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published
 - 8.1. Where is the work intended to be published? *PLoSMed*
 - 8.2. List the paper's authors in the intended authorship order

*Benedict Weobong, Martin Prince, Augustinus HA ten Asbroek, Seyi Soremekun,

Samuel Danso , Alexander Manu, Zelee Hill, Seth Owusu-Agyei, Betty R. Kirkwood

8.3.Stage of publication – Not yet submitted

9. For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)

The candidate had a major role in all aspects of the DON study including

conceptualisation, design, and conduct. He carried out all analyses and was responsible for

writing this paper.

Candidate's signature _____

Supervisor or senior author's signature to confirm role as stated in (3)

Betty Khuch

8.1 Abstract

Background

Whilst there is compelling evidence of an almost 2-fold increased risk of still births, and suggestive evidence of increased mortality among offspring of mothers with psychotic disorders, only three studies have addressed the role of depression during pregnancy on survival of the baby. We examined these associations in a large cohort of pregnant women in Ghana.

Methods

We conducted a population-based cohort study involving 23,011 pregnant women using the locally validated depression module of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). Our exposure was DSM-IV major/minor antenatal depression (AND) derived from PHQ-9 scores. The outcomes were of three types: adverse baby outcomes, adverse maternal outcomes, and uptake of key newborn care practices. Analysis excluded multiple births. The association between AND and each of the outcomes was examined using logistic regression adjusting for a priori confounders. Effect sizes are reported as relative risks with 95% confidence intervals and p-values.

Results

20679 (89.6%) pregnant women completed the PHQ-9. The prevalence of AND was 9.9% (n=2032) (95% confidence interval 9.4%-10.2%). This was associated with: prolonged labour (RR 1.25, 95% CI 1.02-1.53); peripartum complications (RR 1.11, 95% CI 1.07-1.15);postpartum complications (RR 1.27, 96% CI 1.21-1.34); CS/instrumental delivery (RR 1.19, 95% CI 1.02-1.40); newborn illness (RR 1.52, 95% CI 1.16-1.99); and bed net non-use during pregnancy (RR 0.93, 95% CI 0.89-0.98), but not neonatal deaths, still births, low birth weight, immediate breast feeding initiation, or exclusive breastfeeding. It was marginally associated with preterm births (RR 1.32, 95% CI 0.98-1.76).
Conclusion

This paper has contributed important evidence on the role of poor maternal mental health as a potential contributor to maternal and infant morbidity. Non-pharmacological treatment anchored on primary care delivery structures is recommended as an immediate step. We further recommend that trials are designed to assess if treating antenatal depression results in improved maternal and newborn outcomes.

8.2 Introduction

Global efforts to reduce the burden of neonatal deaths appear to be yielding positive results with a 1.7 per annum decline rate since 1990⁽¹⁾. Nevertheless, sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) has the highest neonatal mortality rate and still accounts for a third of the global deaths as a result of the slow progress in decline⁽¹⁾. Over 60% of preterm births occur in SSA and South Asia⁽²⁾, accounting for 27% of all neonatal deaths⁽³⁾. Closely related are still births which are similar in numbers to neonatal deaths with 76% occurring in SSA and South Asia⁽⁴⁾, but invisible on global policy agendas such as the Millennium Development Goals⁽⁵⁾.

Whilst there is compelling evidence of an almost 2-fold increased risk of still births (metaanalysis RR 1.89; 95% CI 1.36-2.62), and suggestive evidence of increased mortality among offspring of mothers with psychotic disorders⁽⁶⁾, only three studies in Ethiopia⁽⁷⁾, Brazil⁽⁸⁾ and the Netherlands⁽⁹⁾ have addressed the role of common mental disorders during pregnancy on survival of the baby. All three studies recorded non-statistically significant increased risk of stillbirths or, in the case of the Netherlands, child losses (including stillbirths). The relative risks were; 1.7 (95% CI 0.6-5.5) in Ethiopia, 1.3(95% CI 0.8-1.9) in the Netherlands, and 1.3(95% CI 0.4-5.1) in Brazil; all had wide confidence intervals which included 1. Only the study in Ethiopia assessed neonatal mortality and there was no evidence of any increased risk associated with antenatal depression (RR 0.8; 95% CI 0.2-3.0).

There is, however, strong evidence linking antenatal depression and other adverse birth outcomes such as preterm births (RR 1.13, 95% CI 1.06-1.21) and low birth weight (RR 1.18, 95% CI 1.07-1.30) as reported in a recent meta-analysis involving 26 studies from high income settings and three from low income settings⁽¹⁰⁾. There was marked heterogeneity of these effect estimates with higher effect sizes for low birth weight (LBW) (RR=2.06, 95% CI 1.43-2.93) in the studies from low income countries. This review did not include studies from SSA. The more recent study in Ethiopia mentioned above found a similar, although non-significant effect, on LBW (RR=2.3, 95% CI 0.9-6.2), and increased risks for delayed initiation of breastfeeding (more than 8 hours) (RR=2.8, 95% CI 1.3-6.1) and prolonged labour (more than 24 hours) (RR=1.6, 95% CI 1.0-2.6)⁽⁷⁾. There is also evidence from mostly high income settings

suggesting that antenatal depression is associated with; poor maternal self-care and nutrition, lack of sleep, and inadequate antenatal care⁽¹¹⁾.

This paper presents findings from DON, a large cohort study conducted in Ghana to address the relative lack of evidence from SSA concerning the burden, determinants, and adverse consequences of perinatal depression. It includes findings on the association of antenatal depression with both adverse baby and maternal outcomes including birth complications, prolonged labour, and assisted delivery. Finally we present associations with uptake of key newborn care practices.

8.3 Materials and Methods

DON is a cohort study of antenatal and postnatal **D**epression nested within the **O**baapaVitA⁽¹²⁾ and **N**ewhints⁽¹³⁾ trials in Ghana, conducted within seven contiguous predominantly rural districts in the Brong Ahafo Region. The trials ran consecutively from 2000 to 2009 and collected information on pregnancies, births, and infant and maternal deaths, based on a 4weekly population-based surveillance system. The ObaapaVitA trial sought to reduce maternal mortality through weekly vitamin-A supplementation of women of reproductive age, and the Newhints trial aimed to assess the impact of home-visits by community health volunteers on neonatal mortality. The area has a population of about 700,000⁽¹⁴⁾ with more than 120,000 women of reproductive age, and more than 15,000 births a year. There are four large towns (minimum population size of 40,000), with district hospitals. The perinatal mortality rate is 55/1000 live/still births, the neonatal mortality rate is 32/1000 live births, and the stillbirth rate is 31/1000 births⁽¹²⁾. Access to 'conventional' mental health services is limited and help for mental ill health is widely provided by traditional healers and spiritual/healing churches⁽¹⁵⁾.

DON was carried out from late January 2008 to early August 2009 and comprised depression assessments in the 4-weekly surveillance visits following identification of pregnancy and in the visits following reporting of a delivery. The analysis in this paper focuses on the consequences of antenatal depression for the mother and baby.

Data Collection

All women of reproductive age were visited at home every 4-weeks by a locally-resident field worker. When a pregnancy was first reported, information was collected on: socio-demographic and socio-economic indicators, including obstetric history. A DON pregnancy depression assessment was then conducted at the following 4-weekly visit using the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). At the first visit after the delivery was reported, information was collected on the pregnancy, delivery, any complications, the baby (or babies), and new born care practices.

Exposure

The presence of antenatal depression (major or minor), assessed using the depression module of the Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders (PRIME-MD)^(16, 17) Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)⁽¹⁸⁾. The PHQ-9 is a short structured questionnaire that enquires about the nine symptom based criteria for a diagnosis of DSM-IV⁽¹⁸⁾ depression, including duration and severity. This approach allows an approximation to the DSM-IV criteria for major or minor depression, for which only symptoms that have been present for at least half the time in the last two weeks are rated positively. Either depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure) must be rated, with a total of five or more symptoms for major depression and two to four symptoms for minor depression. In contrast with other symptom based scale scores, these criteria therefore identify individuals with persistent and pervasive symptoms, characteristic of a clinically significant depressive episode.

Outcomes

There are three types of outcome and these were all reported by the mother. The first is adverse baby outcomes, which covered: neonatal deaths and still births, preterm deliveries, and any illness that the mother had thought was serious or severe, and LBW (<2.5kg). Birth weight was extracted by fieldworkers from the birth cards given to mothers who delivered in facilities; it was not therefore available for babies delivered at home.

The second type of outcome is adverse maternal outcomes pertaining to the birth. Women were asked about serious problems they may have experienced during labour/soon after birth or since

birth. These were: assisted deliveries (caesarean section and/or instrumental delivery), prolonged labour (23+hrs), peripartum complications (tear in vagina, loss of consciousness, heavy bleeding from vagina, surgery to repair or remove the womb, blood transfusion), and postpartum complications (heavy bleeding/large blood clots from vagina, hot body, smelly vaginal discharge, leaking urine/faeces, mastitis, and any other problem not mentioned by the field worker). Field workers are trained to enquire after these experiences with relevant examples. For example, mastitis is explained as a breast infection that is swollen, painful, or has a discharge, also known as 'pompo' in the local language. The list of questions was based on standard maternal morbidity questions which were adapted and piloted in 2000 when the surveillance system was established.

The third type is uptake of key newborn care practices: attending at least 4 antenatal care sessions, initiating breast feeding within an hour of birth, exclusively breast feeding within the first month based on the mother's account of breast feeding in the last 24 hours.

Statistical Analyses

Analyses were based on women who had a DON depression screening during pregnancy, and their babies, and were restricted to singletons. The association between antenatal depression and each of the outcomes was carried out using logistic regression models adjusting for a priori confounders (as listed in the relevant results tables). As characteristics of pregnant women were comparable for intervention and control arms in both the ObaapaVitA¹² and Newhints¹³ trials, and as neither intervention was postulated to impact on antenatal depression, intervention status was not included. Effect sizes are reported as relative risks, with 95% confidence intervals and p-values using the marginal standardization technique to estimate these from odds ratios via the delta method¹⁹. All analysis were conducted using STATA 11²⁰.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for the study was granted by the ethics committees of the Kintampo Health Research Centre and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Informed consent was obtained from all participants. Fieldworkers were trained to alert the principal investigator (WB) if they became concerned that any woman was severely distressed or in danger of harm. Women identified as needing attention were visited by WB, re-assessed and if appropriate encouraged to go to community psychiatric nurses serving the four main towns of the study area for further depression evaluation and treatment

8.4 Results

Figure 8.1 shows the recruitment profile. Between 3nd December 2007 and 25th June 2009, 26,980 pregnant women were identified, of whom 23,011 were eligible for depression assessment. Of these 20,679 (90%) pregnant women with a singleton birth (live/still) completed the depression screen. This is the denominator used for analyses looking at adverse maternal outcomes and pregnancy behaviours, and still births. Forty-three (0.2%) declined to participate, 1463 (6.4%) were temporarily absent at the surveillance visit, and 370 (1.6%) did not have a depression form completed although they were visited. Just two women were reported to WB as being of concern by the fieldworker; both were recommended to seek attention from the community psychiatric nurses but neither complied. Background characteristics of those not met and screened were comparable to those in the analysis (see companion paper⁽²¹⁾). Three other denominators are also shown: the number of live births with known neonatal survival status (19,670) used for determination of neonatal mortality, the number surviving past the first 24hours (19,890) used for estimation of initiation of breast feeding, and the number of babies still alive at birth visit (19,613) used for exclusive breast feeding, bed net use, and severe newborn illness outcomes.

The prevalence of DSM-IV major or minor depression during pregnancy was 9.9% (n=2032) (95% confidence interval 9.4%-10.2%); the prevalence of major depression was 0.6% (95% CI, 0.5%-0.7%) and 9.3% (95% CI, 8.9%-9.7%) met the criterion for minor depression. Detailed profile of study participants is given in a companion paper⁽²¹⁾. In brief the population was predominantly rural (70%) and the modal age group was 20-29 (53%). Almost all the women were married (91%), most had some education (64%), and most belonged to the Christian faith (68%).

Risk of Adverse Perinatal and Neonatal Outcomes

Table 8.1 shows that only severe newborn illness (Adjusted RR 1.52, 95% CI 1.16-1.99) was significantly increased among mothers with antenatal depression. The evidence for the association between antenatal depression and risk of preterm delivery (Adjusted RR 1.32, 95% CI 0.98-1.76) was weak. There was no evidence of associations with neonatal mortality, still birth, or LBW.

Risk of Adverse Maternal Outcomes

Table 8.2 shows the risk of adverse maternal outcomes associated with antenatal depression. Risk of severe peripartum complications (Adjusted RR 1.11, 95% CI 1.07-1.15 p<0.001); postpartum complications (Adjusted RR 1.27, 95% CI 1.21-1.34 p<0.001); caesarean section and/or instrumental delivery (Adjusted RR 1.19, 95% CI 1.02-1.40 p=0.032); and prolonged duration of labour (Adjusted RR 1.25, 95% CI 1.02-1.53 p=0.028), were all significantly elevated among mothers with antenatal depression. Further analysis showed that four of the eight peripartum complications were more likely to be reported by depressed women antenatally (**online table 8.1)**; these were heavy bleeding (Adjusted RR 1.27, 95% CI 1.18-1.38 p<0.001), tear in the vagina (Adjusted RR 1.19, 95% CI 1.08-1.30 p<0.001), placenta replacement (Adjusted RR 1.17, 95% CI 1.06-1.29 p=0.002), and convulsions (Adjusted RR 1.74, 95% CI 1.04-2.93 p=0.036). Further analysis also showed that postpartum complications reported were significantly elevated among antenatally depressed women ,with the biggest effects on hot body (Adjusted RR 1.52, 95% CI 1.34-1.72 p<0.001), other serious complications (Adjusted RR 1.49, 95% CI 1.29-1.73 p<0.001), and leaking urine/faeces (Adjusted RR 1.39, 95% CI 1.14-1.70 p=0.001) (**online table 8.2**).

Risk of Pregnancy Behaviours and Newborn Care Practices

Table 8.3 shows that women with antenatal depression were significantly less likely to have reported using a bed net during pregnancy (Adjusted RR 0.93, 95% CI 0.89-0.98 p=0.005). There was however no evidence that they were less likely to put their neonate under a bed net (Adjusted RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.98-1.04 p=0.479). There was also no evidence of association

between antenatal depression and antenatal care attendance, delivering at a health facility, immediate initiation of breastfeeding, or exclusive breastfeeding within the neonatal period.

8.5 Discussion

This is the largest cohort study that has yet been conducted in low income settings of the effects of antenatal depression on adverse outcomes for the mother and baby. After adjustment for confounders, antenatal depression was not found to be associated with neonatal deaths, still births, low birth weight, delayed initiation of breastfeeding, or non-exclusive breastfeeding in the neonatal period, delivering at a health facility, or optimal antenatal care attendance. However, antenatal depression was associated with a 25% increase in 24+ hours prolonged labour, 11% severe peripartum and 27% postpartum complications, 50% severe newborn illness, and 7% less bed net non-use during pregnancy. It was also marginally associated with a 32% increase risk of preterm deliveries (p=0.065).

Strengths and weaknesses of the study

Our report is strengthened by several factors. We employed an unprecedentedly large cohort of 20,679 pregnant women, applied clinimetric criterion for depression using a validated tool, ascertained outcomes blind to exposures because the data collectors were not aware of the study hypothesis, and recorded a high antenatal depression screening response rate of 92%.

Possible weaknesses are our self-reported morbidity outcomes may have been influenced by the mother's depression status; however 87% of women depressed antenatally were not depressed at their postpartum assessment. Furthermore, although we accounted for several confounders in our analyses, we did not have data on maternal Body Mass Index and intimate partner violence during pregnancy both of which are known to be associated with both adverse perinatal outcomes^(22, 23) and antenatal depression^(7, 8, 24, 25). In addition our measure of antenatal depression was not originally validated in the antenatal period and given that one study suggests depression in pregnancy and postnatal period show significantly different symptom profiles⁽²⁶⁾, the prevalence of the exposure may have been underestimated.

Comparison with other studies

The evidence on the association between antenatal depression and poor perinatal outcomes including the survival of the baby is scanty. For example the only study in SSA to have examined the association between antenatal depression and neonatal mortality in Ethiopia showed no evidence of any increased risk⁷, and this is consistent with our finding. We also found no evidence for an increased risk of still births among antenatally depressed women, and our point estimate of 1.06 was lower than those reported in Ethiopia $(1.7)^7$, Brazil $(1.3)^8$, and the Netherlands $(1.3)^9$ all of which also had wide confidence intervals including one. Our non-significant increased risk of preterm births (1.32) is higher than the meta-analysis estimate of 1.13 from low income settings¹⁰.

Our negative finding on LBW, is in contrast to the increased risks found in other cohort studies in developing countries in Ethiopia⁷, India²⁶, Pakistan²⁷, and Brazil⁸. One difference between these studies and ours is that our estimate is restricted to women delivering in facilities; however this is unlikely to explain the difference because a high proportion (67%) delivered in the facilities and this was the same for depressed and non-depressed women.

Our study did not also replicate the positive association between antenatal common mental disorder and delayed initiation of breastfeeding in Ethiopia (2.8, 95% CI 1.3-6.1)⁷. Our findings may be due to the fact that breastfeeding uptake within the immediate postnatal period is generally high in our setting (86% were exclusively breast feeding within a month of delivery).

Though perinatal depression has been shown to affect the health-related quality of life of the mother²⁸, there are few accounts of its association with specific serious medical complications during labour or soon after delivery. Our finding of an association with both severe peripartum and postpartum complications suggests that poor maternal mental health may have a role as a potential contributor to maternal deaths in regions of high burden.

Implications

Although antenatal depression in our setting and SSA in general may be self-limiting ⁽³⁰⁻³²⁾, it may have serious consequences for both the mother and baby, and should be treated. Bearing in mind however the potential risks of pharmacological treatment in pregnancy^(33, 34), we would recommend psychosocial/psychological treatment options as the first step for women with antenatal depression as prescribed in the mental health gap action programme guidelines (mhGAP-IG)⁽³⁵⁾. Specific findings reported in this paper also suggest that identification of depression in pregnancy should inform closer antenatal and delivery care whereby mothers are encouraged to deliver at health facilities equipped to deal with obstetric complications. Further, given recent evidence suggesting that therapies that target the mother-infant relationship are efficacious in tackling detrimental consequences for children of depressed mothers ⁽³⁶⁾, studies/trials are urgently required to examine whether treating antenatal depression in conjunction with improving the quality of obstetric care would lead to improved birth outcomes.

Acknowledgements:

We thank the women who consented to be part of this study, and for their time. We also acknowledge the mental health unit of the Kintampo Health Research Centre for providing training support. The surveillance team who collected and supervised the collection of the data are duly commended for their hard work. Funding for this study was provided by the UK Department for International Development, Save the Children's Saving Newborn Lives programme from The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and World Health Organisation.WB also received support for his fees, travel, and subsistence from the Psychiatric Research Trust, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and the UK Department for International Development

What is already known about this topic?

Antenatal depression is associated with:

- Low birth weight/ stunted growth particularly in south Asia
- Preterm births
- Prolonged labour
- Postnatal depression
- Poor maternal self-care and nutrition

What this study adds

Antenatal depression is associated with:

- Severe newborn illness
- Bed net non-use during pregnancy
- Severe peripartum and postpartum complications
- Instrumental/caesarean section

Figure 8.1: Recruitment Profile



Table 8.1: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Risk of Adverse Perinatal/neonatal Outcomes.

Outcome	Number of babies	n (% with outcome)	Crude Relative risk (95%CI)	Adjusted Relative risk (95%CI)	p-value
†Neonatal mortality					
Not Depressed group	17424	421 (2.4%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1883	47 (2.5%)	1.03 (0.77-1.39)	1.02 (0.76-1.37)	0.918
#Still births					
Not Depressed group	18358	453 (2.5%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1995	54 (2.7%)	1.10 (0.83-1.45)	1.06 (0.80-1.40)	0.673
##Preterm births					
Not Depressed group	15290	369 (2.4%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1590	50 (3.1%)	1.30 (0.97-1.74)	1.32 (0.98-1.76)	0.065
* Low birth weight					
Not Depressed group	9917	702 (7.1%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1031	65 (6.3%)	0.89 (0.70-1.14)	0.87 (0.69-1.11)	0.262
##Severe Newborn illness					
Not Depressed group	17479	369 (2.1%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1890	60 (3.2%)	1.50 (1.15-1.96)	1.52 (1.16-1.99)	0.002

† Expressed ‰ live births, restricted to babies with survival status at end of neonatal period known (424 neonates were lost to 28 day follow up). Adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, perceived birth weight, baby's sex, initiation of breastfeeding, and delivery place.

Expressed ‰ live+still births. Adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, previous still birth, baby's sex, and malaria *data available only for hospital deliveries. Adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, preterm birth, and malaria.

Adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, baby's sex, and malaria.

Outcome	Number of women with a singleton birth and depression record (n)	n (% with outcome)	Crude Relative risk (95%CI)	Adjusted Relative risk (95%CI)	p-value
‡Peripartum complications					
Not Depressed group	18095	9901 (54.7%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1962	1184 (60.4%)	1.10 (1.06-1.15)	1.11 (1.07-1.15)	< 0.001
‡Postpartum complications					
Not Depressed group	18198	6516 (35.8%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1970	917 (46.6%)	1.30 (1.24-1.37)	1.27 (1.21-1.34)	< 0.001
†*Prolonged labour (24+ ho	ours)				
Not Depressed group	5994	650 (10.8%)	1	1	
Depressed group	696	94 (13.5%)	1.25 (1.02-1.52)	1.25 (1.02-1.53)	0.028
*CS and/or Instrumental d	elivery				
Not Depressed group	18462	1254 (6.8%)	1	1	
Depressed group	2006	152 (7.6%)	1.12 (0.95-1.31)	1.19 (1.02-1.40)	0.032

Table 8.2: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Poor Birth Outcomes Including Morbidity among Mothers with Singleton Births.

‡Adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, previous mode of delivery, delivery place, and preterm birth.

*Adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, and parity,

†data available only on a sub-sample of the cohort studied.

Outcome	Number with depression record (n)	n (% with outcome)	Crude Relative risk (95%CI)	*Adjusted Relative risk (95%CI)	p-value
Heavy bleeding					
Not Depressed group	18203	3866 (21.2%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1972	554 (28.1%)	1.32 (1.23-1.43)	1.27 (1.18-1.38)	< 0.001
Tear in vagina					
Not Depressed group	18200	3043 (16.7%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1975	378 (19.1%)	1.14 (1.04-1.26)	1.19 (1.08-1.30)	< 0.001
Placenta replacement					
Not Depressed group	17978	2823 (15.7%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1943	354 (18.2%)	1.16 (1.05-1.28)	1.17 (1.06-1.29)	0.002
Convulsions					
Not Depressed group	18206	86 (0.5%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1973	17 (0.9%)	1.82 (1.09-3.06)	1.74 (1.04-2.93)	0.036
Loss of consciousness					
Not Depressed group	18012	271 (1.5%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1945	41 (2.1%)	1.31 (0.94-1.82)	1.36 (0.99-1.89)	0.062
IV drip					
Not Depressed group	18224	4633 (25.4%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1975	499 (25.3%)	0.99 (0.92-1.08)	1.03 (0.96-1.11)	0.362
Surgery					
Not Depressed group	18152	711 (3.9%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1968	76 (3.8%)	0.99 (0.78-1.24)	0.99 (0.79-1.24)	0.910
Blood transfusion					
Not Depressed group	18219	377 (2.1%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1975	41 (2.1%)	1.00 (1.73-1.38)	0.99 (0.72-1.35)	0.926

Online Table 8.1: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Risk of Specific Peripartum Complications

*adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, previous mode of delivery, delivery place, perceived size of baby, and preterm birth.

Outcome	Number with depression record (n)	n (% with outcome)	Crude Relative risk (95%CI)	*Adjusted Relative risk (95%CI)	p-value
Hot body					
Not Depressed group	18219	1522 (8.4%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1975	261 (13.2%)	1.58 (1.40-1.79)	1.52 (1.34-1.72)	< 0.001
Other problems					
Not Depressed group	18224	1114 (6.1%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1975	189 (9.6%)	1.57 (1.35-1.81)	1.49 (1.29-1.73)	< 0.001
Leaking urine/faeces					
Not Depressed group	18214	707 (3.9%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1971	104 (5.3%)	1.36 (1.11-1.66)	1.39 (1.14-1.70)	0.001
Mastitis					
Not Depressed group	18223	1106 (6.1%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1975	170 (8.6%)	1.42 (1.22-1.66)	1.38 (1.18-1.61)	< 0.001
Large clots/heavy bleeding					
Not Depressed group	18203	3444 (18.9%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1973	505 (25.6%)	1.35 (1.25-1.47)	1.32 (1.21-1.43)	< 0.001
Vaginal discharge					
Not Depressed group	18196	1090 (5.9%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1971	156 (7.9%)	1.32 (1.12-1.55)	1.27 (1.08-1.50)	0.003

Online Table 8.2: Effect of Antenatal Depression on Risk of Specific Postpartum Complications

*adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, previous mode of delivery, place of delivery, and preterm birth.

Outcome	Number with depression record (n)	n (% with outcome)	Crude Relative risk	Adjusted Relative risk	p-value
	-		(95%CI)	(95%CI)	-
##Antenatal care attendan	ce (>4 times)				
Not Depressed group	18115	12973 (71.6%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1965	1374 (69.9%)	0.98 (0.95-1.01)	1.01 (0.98-1.03)	0.625
##Bed net use during preg	nancy				
Not Depressed group	18452	9174 (49.7%)	1	1	
Depressed group	2003	929 (46.4%)	0.93 (0.89-0.98)	0.93 (0.89-0.98)	0.005
## Delivering at health fac	ility				
Not Depressed group	18462	12465 (67.5%)	1	1	
Depressed group	2006	1293 (64.5%)	0.95 (0.92-0.99)	1.00 (0.97-1.03)	0.905
##*Bed net use for baby					
Not Depressed group	12918	9797 (75.8%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1425	1079 (75.7%)	1.00 (0.97-1.03)	1.01 (0.98-1.04)	0.479
#**Initiation of breast feed	ing (<1hour)				
Not Depressed group	13098	6109 (46.4%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1443	654 (45.3%)	0.97 (0.92-1.03)	1.00 (0.95-1.06)	0.897
##*Exclusive Breast Feeding	ng				
Not Depressed group	12918	11255 (87.1%)	1	1	
Depressed group	1425	1233 (86.5%)	0.99 (0.97-1.02)	0.99 (0.97-1.02)	0.609

Table 8.3: Effect of Antenatal Depression on the Uptake of Selected Key Newborn Care Practices.

adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, parity, place of delivery, and mode of delivery.

Adjusted for: woman's age, education, wealth quintile, marital status, area of residence, ethnicity, religion, and parity.

* Number of singleton live babies within 4 weeks of delivery

**All singleton live births up to 24h after birth, and visited within 4 weeks of delivery.

8.6 References to Chapter 8

- You DJ, G.; Wardlaw. T. Levels & Trends in Child Mortality. 3 UN Plaza, New York, New York, 10017 USA: UNICEF, 2011.
- WHO. Born Too Soon: The Global Action Report on Preterm Birth. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, 2012.
- Lawn JE, Wilczynska-Ketende K, Cousens SN. Estimating the causes of 4 million neonatal deaths in the year 2000. Int J Epidemiol. 2006;35(3):706-18. Epub 2006/03/25.
- Cousens S, Blencowe H, Stanton C, Chou D, Ahmed S, Steinhardt L, et al. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of stillbirth rates in 2009 with trends since 1995: a systematic analysis. Lancet. 2011;377(9774):1319-30. Epub 2011/04/19.
- Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Pattinson R, Cousens S, Kumar R, Ibiebele I, et al. Stillbirths: Where? When? Why? How to make the data count? Lancet. 2011;377(9775):1448-63. Epub 2011/04/19.
- Webb R, Abel K, Pickles A, Appleby L. Mortality in offspring of parents with psychotic disorders: a critical review and meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry. 2005;162(6):1045-56. Epub 2005/06/03.
- Hanlon C, Medhin G, Alem A, Tesfaye F, Lakew Z, Worku B, et al. Impact of antenatal common mental disorders upon perinatal outcomes in Ethiopia: the P-MaMiE population-based cohort study. Tropical Medicine & International Health. 2009;14(2):156-66.
- Ferri C, Mitsuhiro S, Barros M, Chalem E, Guinsburg R, Patel V, et al. The impact of maternal experience of violence and common mental disorders on neonatal outcomes: a survey of adolescent mothers in Sao Paulo, Brazil. BMC Public Health. 2007;7(1):209.
- Goedhart G, Snijders AC, Hesselink AE, van Poppel MN, Bonsel GJ, Vrijkotte TGM. Maternal Depressive Symptoms in Relation to Perinatal Mortality and Morbidity: Results From a Large Multiethnic Cohort Study. Psychosom Med. 2010;72(8):769-76.
- Grote NK, Bridge JA, Gavin AR, Melville JL, Iyengar S, Katon WJ. A meta-analysis of depression during pregnancy and the risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, and intrauterine growth restriction. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2010;67(10):1012-24. Epub 2010/10/06.
- Weissman MM, Olfson M. Depression in women: implications for health care research. Science. 1995;269(5225):799-801. Epub 1995/08/11.
- Kirkwood BR, Hurt L, Amenga-Etego S, Tawiah C, Zandoh C, Danso S, et al. Effect of vitamin A supplementation in women of reproductive age on maternal survival in Ghana (ObaapaVitA): a cluster-randomised, placebo-controlled trial. The Lancet. 2010;375(9726):1640-9.

- 13. Kirkwood BR, Manu A, Tawiah-Agyemang C, ten Asbroek G, Gyan T, Weobong B, et al. NEWHINTS cluster randomised trial to evaluate the impact on neonatal mortality in rural Ghana of routine home visits to provide a package of essential newborn care interventions in the third trimester of pregnancy and the first week of life: trial protocol. Trials. 2010;11:58. Epub 2010/05/19.
- 14. GHS. Ghana Health Service. Ghana Health Service-Brong Ahafo Region: Population by districts. Ghana Health Service; 2011 [cited 2012 26.05.2012]; Available from: http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/region.php?dd=6®ion=Brong Ahafo&nbs p;Region.
- 15. Ae-Ngibise K, Cooper S, Adiibokah E, Akpalu B, Lund C, Doku V, et al. 'Whether you like it or not people with mental problems are going to go to them': A qualitative exploration into the widespread use of traditional and faith healers in the provision of mental health care in Ghana. International Review of Psychiatry. 2010;22(6):558-67.
- Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Kroenke K, Linzer M, deGruy FV, 3rd, Hahn SR, et al. Utility of a new procedure for diagnosing mental disorders in primary care. The PRIME-MD 1000 study. JAMA. 1994;272(22):1749-56. Epub 1994/12/14.
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Primary PHQ. Validation and utility of a selfreport version of PRIME-MD - The PHQ primary care study. Jama-J Am Med Assoc. 1999;282(18):1737-44.
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9 Validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. 2001;16(9):606-13.
- Localio AR, Margolis DJ, Berlin JA. Relative risks and confidence intervals were easily computed indirectly from multivariable logistic regression. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2007;60(9):874-82. Epub 2007/08/11.
- 20. STATA. Statistics/data analysis. 11 ed. Texas2009.
- 21. Weobong B, ten Asbroek, G., Owusu-Agyei, S., Kirkwood, BR., Prince, M. Prevalence and determinants of antenatal depression among pregnant women in a predominantly rural population in Ghana: The DON population-based study. Submitted2012.
- Boy A, Salihu HM. Intimate partner violence and birth outcomes: a systematic review. International journal of fertility and women's medicine. 2004;49(4):159-64. Epub 2004/10/16.
- 23. Sebire N, Jolly M, Harris J, Wadsworth J, Joffe M, Beard R, et al. Maternal obesity and pregnancy outcome: a study of 287,213 pregnancies in London. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2001;25:1175 - 82.
- 24. Bodnar LM, Wisner KL, Moses-Kolko E, Sit DK, Hanusa BH. Prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, and the likelihood of major depressive disorder

during pregnancy. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2009;70(9):1290-6. Epub 2009/07/18.

- 25. Hartley M, Tomlinson M, Greco E, Comulada WS, Stewart J, le Roux I, et al. Depressed mood in pregnancy: Prevalence and correlates in two Cape Town peri-urban settlements. Reproductive Health. 2011;8(1):9.
- 26. Kammerer M, Marks MN, Pinard C, Taylor A, von Castelberg B, Kunzli H, et al. Symptoms associated with the DSM IV diagnosis of depression in pregnancy and post partum. Archives of women's mental health. 2009;12(3):135-41. Epub 2009/04/02.
- 27. Patel V, Rahman A, Jacob KS, Hughes M. Effect of maternal mental health on infant growth in low income countries: new evidence from South Asia. BMJ.
 2004;328(7443):820-3. Epub 2004/04/09.
- Rahman A, Bunn J, Lovel H, Creed F. Association between antenatal depression and low birthweight in a developing country. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2007;115(6):481-6. Epub 2007/05/15.
- Nicholson WK, Setse R, Hill-Briggs F, Cooper LA, Strobino D, Powe NR. Depressive symptoms and health-related quality of life in early pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2006;107(4):798-806. Epub 2006/04/04.
- Cox JL, Connor YM, Henderson I, McGuire RJ, Kendell RE. Prospective study of the psychiatric disorders of childbirth by self report questionnaire. J Affect Disord. 1983;5(1):1-7. Epub 1983/02/01.
- Aderibigbe YA, Gureje O, Omigbodun O. Postnatal emotional disorders in Nigerian women. A study of antecedents and associations. Br J Psychiatry. 1993;163:645-50. Epub 1993/11/01.
- 32. Weobong B, Prince, M., ten Asbroek, G., Soremekun, S., Manu, A., Hill, Z., Kirkwood, BR. Determinants of postnatal depression in rural Ghana: findings from the DON population-based cohort study. Submitted2012.
- 33. Wurst KE, Poole C, Ephross SA, Olshan AF. First trimester paroxetine use and the prevalence of congenital, specifically cardiac, defects: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. Birth defects research Part A, Clinical and molecular teratology. 2010;88(3):159-70. Epub 2009/09/10.
- Udechuku A, Nguyen T, Hill R, Szego K. Antidepressants in pregnancy: a systematic review. The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry. 2010;44(11):978-96. Epub 2010/11/03.
- 35. Larsen DA, Friberg IK, Eisele TP. Comparison of Lives Saved Tool model child mortality estimates against measured data from vector control studies in sub-Saharan Africa. BMC Public Health. 2011;11 Suppl 3:S34. Epub 2011/04/29.

 Nylen KJ, Moran TE, Franklin CL, O'Hara MW. Maternal depression: A review of relevant treatment approaches for mothers and infants. Infant Mental Health Journal. 2006;27(4):327-43. 9. Chapter 9- Research Paper 4: Association of Postnatal Depression with Increase Infant Mortality and Morbidity: findings from the DON Population-based Cohort Study in Rural Ghana.

Cover sheet for each 'research paper' included in a research thesis

10.	For a	'research paper'	already published	
-----	-------	------------------	-------------------	--

10.1. Where was the work published? N/A _____ 10.2. When was the work published? N/A 10.2.1. If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion _N/A_____ 10.3. Was the work subject to academic peer review? N/A Have you retained the copyright for the work? __N/A___ 10.4. If yes, attach evidence of retention If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, attach evidence of permission from copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include work 11. For a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published Where is the work intended to be published? 11.1. Lancet 11.2. List the paper's authors in the intended authorship order

Benedict Weobong, Martin Prince, Augustinus HA ten Asbroek, Seyi Soremekun, Lu

Gram, Samuel Danso, Seeba Amenga-Etego, Seth Owusu-Agyei, Betty R. Kirkwood

Stage of publication - Not yet submitted

12. For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)

The candidate had a major role in all aspects of the DON study including

conceptualisation, design, and conduct. He carried out all analyses and was responsible for

writing this paper.

Candidate's signature _____

Supervisor or senior author's signature to confirm role as stated in (3)

Ketty Kilua

9.1 Abstract

Background: No studies to date appear to have assessed the impact of depression in the immediate postnatal period upon subsequent infant mortality. This is the period of maximum vulnerability for child deaths, and a critical time for mother-child bonding.

Methods DON is a population-based prospective cohort study nested within a surveillance system involving 4-weekly visits to all women of reproductive age in 7 districts in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana. Women were assessed during pregnancy and between 4-12 weeks after birth using the depression module of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) to identify those with DSM-IV major or minor depression. Analyses were restricted to singletons alive at the time of the postnatal depression (PND) assessment. The main outcome was infant deaths up to six months of age. Secondary outcomes were deaths up to 12 months of age and infant morbidity. We used Poisson regression models for mortality analyses and mixed effects regression models for morbidity outcomes to account for repeated 4-weekly observations. Effect sizes are reported as either rate or risk ratios with 95% confidence intervals.

Findings The analysis is based on 16,560 singletons who were followed for a total of 67,457.4 infant months from the time of their mothers' PND assessment and 130 infant deaths. The prevalence of PND was 3.5% (n=591, 95% CI, 3.2%-3.7. PND was associated with an almost 3-fold increased risk of mortality up to six months (adjusted rate ratio [RR], 2.83 (1.56-5.16); p=0.001). The RR up to 12 months was 1.79 (1.04-3.09; p=0.035). Postnatal depression was also associated with increased risk of infant morbidity.

Interpretation This is the first large cohort study to examine the link between maternal postnatal depression and subsequent infant mortality in low income countries. Implementation of the World Health Organisation's Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) to scale up packages of care integrated with maternal health is encouraged as an important adjunct to child survival efforts.

Funding UK Department for International Development, Save the Children's Saving Newborn Lives programme from The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, World Health Organisation, and Psychiatric Research Trust of the Institute of Psychiatry.

9.2 Introduction

Maternal depression, a common and debilitating mental disorder, is known to be associated with adverse effects on infant and child health and development.¹⁻³ While there is clear evidence of increased risk of still birth, and suggestive evidence of increased mortality among offspring of mothers with serious mental illnesses (psychotic disorders),⁴ the evidence pertaining specifically to the impact of maternal depression on infant survival is limited and inconclusive.

In a Taiwanese national registry linkage study, maternal depression in the year after birth was independently associated with a subsequent 1.5-fold [95% confidence interval (CI) 1.2-1.9] increased mortality risk for children up to 5 years old. ⁵ In an Ethiopian cohort study,⁶ the 561 children of women who had been screened for depression in the previous year, and who were born within one year of their mother's assessment were followed up for mortality up to the age of three years; there was a borderline association between antenatal maternal depression and child mortality (RR 2.3, 95% CI 1.0-4.9), and a greater mortality risk when combined with mothers' experiences of physical (RR 4.0, 95% CI 1.6-10.1) or emotional (RR 3.7, 95% CI 1.3-10.4) abuse. No studies to date appear to have assessed the impact of depression in the immediate postnatal period upon subsequent infant mortality. This is the period of maximum vulnerability for child deaths⁷, and a critical time for mother-child bonding⁸ when the demands of providing good quality nurturance and care are most challenging for the mother.

In this paper we present findings on the association between postnatal depression and subsequent infant mortality and morbidity from the DON study carried out to assess the burden, determinants and consequences of antenatal and postnatal depression in rural Ghana.

9.3 Materials and Methods

Study Design

DON is a cohort study of perinatal **D**epression nested within the **O**baapaVitA⁹ and **N**ewhints¹⁰ cluster randomised controlled trials (RCT) conducted in seven contiguous districts in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana. The ObaapaVitA trial evaluated the effect of weekly vitamin A supplementation of women of reproductive age on maternal mortality, and the Newhints trial assessed the impact of home-visits by lay community health volunteers on neonatal mortality. These trials were supported by 4-weekly home surveillance of women of reproductive age to identify pregnancies, births and infant and maternal deaths. DON was carried out from late January 2008 to early August 2009 and comprised depression assessments in the 4-weekly surveillance visits following identification of pregnancy and in the visits following reporting of a delivery.

Setting

The study area covers a population of about 700,000¹¹ with more than 120,000 women of reproductive age,¹⁰ and more than 15, 000 births a year. The infant mortality rate is 63/1000 child-years and the neonatal mortality rate is 31/1000 live births.⁹ The area is predominantly rural, but has four medium-sized towns (populations of at least 40,000). Access to orthodox mental health services is limited and help for mental ill health is generally provided by traditional healers and spiritual/healing churches.¹²

Participants

Participants were mothers who had a live birth reported between 24th March 2008 and 11th July 2009, who were screened for postnatal depression between four to 12 weeks postpartum, and whose infants survived to this point.

Data Collection

Data was collected through the surveillance system supporting the ObaapaVitA and Newhints trials in which all women of reproductive age were visited every 4 weeks by resident fieldworkers and data collected on pregnancies, births, and deaths.. Background socio-demographic, socio-economic, pregnancy and obstetric history data was collected when a pregnancy was identified, and a pregnancy depression assessment was conducted at the next 4-weekly visit. Information about the pregnancy, delivery, the baby (or babies), and the newborn care practices was collected at the first visit after the birth. A postnatal assessment was carried out at the following 4-weekly visit. Subsequent 4-weekly visits collected data on the infant until their first birthday.

Exposure

Our exposure was probable Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders, 4th edition (DSM-IV)¹³ major or minor depression, ascertained using the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)¹⁴ a structured questionnaire that enquires about the occurrence, duration, and intensity of nine symptoms. Symptoms reported as present for at least half the time in the previous two weeks are rated positively. Either depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure) must be rated, with a total of five or more symptoms for major depression and two to four symptoms for minor depression. In contrast with symptom based scale scores, these criteria therefore identify individuals with persistent and pervasive symptoms, characteristic of a clinically significant depressive episode.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was all-cause early infant mortality expressed per 1000 infant-months of follow up from the time of postnatal assessment to six months of age. The secondary outcomes were a) all-cause infant mortality from the time of postnatal assessment to 12 months of age, and b) reported infant morbidity from the time of the postnatal DON assessment to 12 months of age. Morbidity indicators were: any ill health on the day of visit; any serious illness in the

past month requiring care-seeking outside the home; and occurrence in the past 24 hours of diarrhoea, vomiting, cough, fever and frequent crying.

Potential confounders

A priori potential confounders were: maternal characteristics (age, marital status, education status, occupation, ethnicity, religion and rural or urban residence); pregnancy and obstetric variables (parity, pre-term delivery and mode of delivery); and infant characteristics (sex, and perceived size of baby as a proxy for birth weight). Household wealth status was derived from principal components analysis of 42 questions on household assets, sanitation and household quality indicators¹⁵. Women were then ranked according to their wealth index, and assigned to wealth quintiles with quintile 1 containing the least wealthy and quintile 5 the wealthiest¹⁶. Intervention status was not included as prevalence of postnatal depression was comparable in intervention and control arms of the Newhints trial that was postulated to have an impact on postnatal depression.

Statistical Methods

Multiple births were excluded from all analyses. Poisson regression was used to examine the association between postnatal depression and infant mortality, adjusting for a priori potential confounders listed above. In order to account for the possible influence of reverse causality from deaths that occurred close to ascertainment of postnatal depression status, we conducted sensitivity analyses excluding those deaths that occurred firstly within one week and secondly within 30 days after postnatal depression assessment.

Additional analyses compared infant mortality between: women not depressed at either antenatal or postnatal assessments, women depressed only at antenatal assessment, women depressed only at postnatal assessment, and those depressed at both. Kaplan-Meier survivor function was used to plot cumulative infant survival graphs for the four groups from birth until six months of age, excluding any deaths that occurred before the postnatal depression depression assessment.

For the association between postnatal depression and infant morbidity, we used mixed effects repeated measures logistic regression models with random intercept at the infant level, including the same potential confounders mentioned above, plus month of visit. The delta-method was applied to predict risk ratios (RR) with 95% confidence intervals for individuals with zero random effect using the marginal standardization technique¹⁷. All analyses were conducted using STATA 11.¹⁸

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for the DON study was granted by the ethics committees of the Kintampo Health Research Centre and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Informed consent (by signature or thumbprint) was obtained for each woman. Fieldworkers were trained to alert the principal investigator (WB) if they became concerned that any woman was severely distressed or in danger of harm. Women identified as needing attention were visited by WB, reassessed and if appropriate encouraged to go to community psychiatric nurses serving the four main towns of the study area for further depression evaluation and treatment.

Role of Funding Source

The sponsors of the study had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

9.4 Results

Figure 9·1 summarises the recruitment profile. 21,283 deliveries were identified through 4weekly surveillance visits between 24th March 2008 and 11th July 2009. Of these, 18,356 mothers (86%) completed the PHQ-9 depression screen after birth (live/still birth) between four and 12 weeks; 1450 (7%) were absent at the screening visit, 208 (1%) women were visited but PHQ-9 was not completed, 1244 (5·8%) were screened but not within four and 12 weeks, and 25 (0·1%) declined to participate. After excluding still births, multiple births, infant deaths that occurred before postnatal depression assessment, and mothers who died after postnatal depression assessment, 17,032 were eligible for analyses. Of these 16,560 (97%) mother-infant pairs had complete information on all potential confounders, contributing 130 infant deaths and 67457·4 infant months of follow up to the analysis. Of these, 12,618 had also been screened for depression during pregnancy.

Only two pregnant women and one recently delivered woman were reported to WB as being of concern by the fieldworker; all were recommended to seek attention from the community psychiatric nurses but none complied.

The prevalence of DSM-IV postnatal depression was 3.5% (n=591) (95% CI, 3.2-3.7). Detailed profile of study participants is provided in a companion paper¹⁹. In brief, the population was predominantly rural (70%), 90% percent of the mothers were married or cohabiting, and 36% had no formal education.

Postnatal depression and risk of infant death

All-cause infant mortality from the time of postnatal depression assessment up to six months of age (adjusted RR 2.83, 95% CI 1.56-5.13) was almost 3 times higher among infants of

depressed mothers compared to those not depressed, and almost 2-fold up to 12 months of age (adjusted RR 1.79, 95% CI 1.04-3.09) (Table 9.1). The effect to six months was similar when infant deaths occurring within seven days or within 30 days of the date of the postnatal depression assessment were excluded.

Figure 9.2 shows the infant survival curves up to six months of age excluding babies who died before the time of the postnatal depression assessment for four groups of depression. As can be seen survival is lowest for infants of mothers with postnatal depression compared to those with no depression or those with only antenatal depression. This is confirmed by Poisson regression analysis (online table 9.1) which showed that infant mortality among offspring of mothers depressed antenatally but not postnatally was similar to that of offspring of mothers who were not depressed at either assessment point (adjusted RR 1.32, 95% CI 0.68-2.56 p=0.408). In contrast, infant mortality was substantially higher for offspring of mothers with postnatal depression, whether they also had antenatal depression (adjusted RR 3.19, 95% CI 0.99-10.17 p=0.050), or not.

Risk of infant morbidity

Table 9.2 shows increased risks associated with postnatal depression for all infant morbidity indicators. Additional analysis indicated that these increased risks of infant morbidity were also apparent for women with antenatal depression only, although with generally smaller effect sizes than those for either postnatal depression only, or for those with both antenatal and postnatal depression (see online table 9.2).

9.5 Discussion

We found that maternal postnatal depression was associated with subsequent increased risk of infant mortality up to six months and up to 12 months of age, and with increased infant morbidity. Analysis of the separate effects of antenatal and postnatal depression suggests that the postnatal period may be critical for infant survival; the offspring of mothers with antenatal depression who had recovered by the postnatal assessment did not experience an increased mortality risk. In contrast the offspring of mothers with antenatal but not postnatal depression

were also reported as having increased morbidity, although at generally lower levels than those mothers with postnatal depression. We estimate that $63 \cdot 2\%$ of early infant deaths among depressed mothers are attributable to their depression. This translates to a population attributable fraction of $5 \cdot 8\%$ of all early infant deaths in the population which has a relatively low prevalence of postnatal depression of $3 \cdot 5\%$.

Our results are consistent with recent findings from a large national register linkage study in Taiwan.⁵ However, our study is unique in focussing on depression over the immediate postnatal period, and upon infant mortality in the first six months of life. Other strengths are that: we employed a large prospective cohort, measured depression exposure using a validated and standardised tool and encountered few refusals.

Despite the prospective design we cannot exclude respondent bias, particularly an effect of maternal depression upon the mothers' reports of infant morbidity. We also acknowledge the challenges in establishing causality, given the often chronic, remitting and relapsing nature of depression. Further, timing of depression assessments was variable.

There are several possible reasons to explain why postnatal depression may be associated with infant deaths. First we cannot rule out reverse causality in this study. Thus, a mother's depression may have been triggered by their infant's severe or terminal illness, and the subsequent death of the infant may not be confidently attributed to depression. Reassuringly, sensitivity analyses that excluded infant deaths that occurred one week, or four weeks after the depression assessment showed similar findings. Nevertheless, causality can be convincingly demonstrated by a trial showing that treating postnatal depression results in improved infant survival.

Panel: Research in Context Systematic Review

We searched PubMed with the terms "postnatal depression", "infant mortality", "infant death", "consequences perinatal outcomes", and "infant health" with no time restrictions. We selected only publications in English and assessed the evidence on the basis of the epidemiological quality of the reports.

The evidence pertaining to the impact of maternal postnatal depression on child survival is limited and thus inconclusive as only two cohort studies from Taiwan showing strong evidence of association and another from Ethiopia showing borderline significance, are reported. In both studies the impact of maternal depression in the year after birth was assessed. No studies to date appear to have assessed the impact of depression in the immediate postnatal period upon infant mortality in the first year of life.

Interpretation

This large population based study shows that a higher mortality in infants is associated with depression in the immediate postnatal period. Though unique in methodology, our study compares with previous linkage and cohort studies in Taiwan and Ethiopia, thus reinforces the evidence of association between maternal depression and child mortality. Our findings show that in terms of perinatal mental health, postnatal depression, rather than antenatal depression is the main risk factor for infant deaths in low and middle income settings and infant illness may explain this association.

However, the strong and independent associations with morbidity observed in this report and by other authors in Africa,²⁰ south Asia,^{21, 22} and HIC^{23, 24} provide evidence of the biological plausibility to our findings. Potential mechanisms include: poor mother-infant interaction,²⁵ reduced stimulation,²⁶ inability to prevent injuries,^{27, 28} and poor adherence to child survival interventions^{21, 29} including childhood immunisations,²² good hygiene behaviours such as hand-washing before feeding and safe food preparation and storage,³⁰ and prompt care-seeking for childhood illnesses.¹

Our study is the first large population-based cohort from sub-Saharan Africa to investigate the association between postnatal depression and infant survival, supported by a plausible mechanism indicated by associations with infant illness. We have reported robust findings of public health significance, but would encourage further testing of this hypothesis in other

settings to improve the external validity of our findings. In the meantime, there is a strong case to intervene in mothers who are depressed. Aside from the effect upon infants the disorder has been shown to be associated with considerable disability and reduced quality of life for the mother³¹, and affects the family³². Our findings provide support for the detection and treatment of clinically significant depression in the postnatal period, and re-echoes the call to address maternal depression as a human rights issue needing urgent attention.³³

Evidence for the successful integration of mental health in primary care using lay community human resources abounds,^{1, 34, 35} and models for scale up have been provided by the World Health Organisation through its Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP).³⁶ The mhGAP primary care guidelines on tackling perinatal depression require that antidepressants should be avoided as far as practicable, but recommend as a first step the need to address psychosocial stressors and reactivate social networks through psychological and psychosocial interventions such as interpersonal psychotherapy, behavioural activation, or cognitive behavioural therapy, in addition to an effective referral and supervision support from specialists.

We recommend that trials are urgently needed to evaluate the impact of different strategies to tackle postnatal depression. We further recommend that these trials should include infant mortality as an outcome to clarify whether the association found is causal, and to test whether treating postnatal depression in conjunction with improving the care-giving environment as is suggested by other authors³⁷, leads to improved infant survival. Tackling postnatal depression may therefore have a role to play in achieving the millennium development goal for child survival as well as being essential for optimal child development.

Acknowledgements:

We thank the women who consented to be part of this study and for their time. The surveillance team who collected and supervised the collection of the data are duly commended for their hard work. We also want to thank the mental health unit of the Kintampo Health Research Centre for their role in training field staff.

214

Authors' Contribution

WB conducted all analysis and wrote the paper with input from MP and BRK, and later reviewed by all authors. WB, MP, and BRK designed the study. WB, GTA, SS, and OA conducted the study. SS and LG managed the data and conducted some of the analyses.

Conflict of Interest

All authors declare they have no conflict of interest in the development of this report.

Figure 9.1: Flow Chart on Postnatal Depression Screening within Cohort.


Figure 9.2: Child Survival by Presence of Antenatal and/or Postnatal Depression up to Six Months of Age, Restricted to Babies Alive at the Time of the Postnatal Depression Assessment.



Postnatal depression	*No• Infants (n)	Total infant months of follow up	Infant deaths	Incidence mortality rate(per 1000 infant months)	Crude Rate Ratio (95% CI)	‡Adjusted Rate Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Infant mortality from time of po	stnatal depression assess	nent to 6 months of age					
Not depressed	15995	65081.4	118	1.86	1	1	0.001
Depressed	565	2376.1	12	5.28	2.83 (1.56-5.13)	2.83 (1.56-5.16)	
Infant mortality from time of po	stnatal depression assessi	nent to 12 months of age					
Not depressed	15995	110587.8	198	1.79			0.035
Depressed	565	4158.3	14	3.36	1.88 (1.09-3.23)	1.79 (1.04-3.09)	
Infant mortality from 7 days after	er postnatal depression as	ssessment to 6 months of age					
Not depressed	15989	63336-9	112	1.77	1	1	0.002
Depressed	564	2269.3	11	4.85	2.74 (1.47-5.09)	2.73 (1.46-5.09)	
Infant mortality from 30 days at	fter postnatal depression	assessment to 6 months of ag	e				
Not depressed group	15959	63198.4	82	1.29	1	1	0.001
Depressed group	562	2259.9	9	3.98	3.07 (1.54-6.11)	3.17 (1.58-6.34)	
*Infants at postnatal depression as	sessment						
‡ adjusted for: mother's age, education, marital status, wealth quintile, ethnicity, religion, area of residence, parity, early parturition, mode of delivery, perceived size of baby.							

 Table 9.1:Association of Postnatal Depression with Infant Mortality.

Outcome	*Number of infants	Number of visits (n)	†% of visits	Crude Risk Ratio (95% CI)	‡Adjusted Risk Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Any ill health on day of visit						
Not depressed	15986	112233	12.7	1	1	<0.001
Depressed	564	4101	21.5	1.90 (1.69 - 2.10)	1.70 (1.53 - 1.88)	
Any serious illness in past mont	h requiring care-seeking					
Not depressed	15986	112230	11.7	1	1	<0.001
Depressed	564	4101	14.6	1.35 (1.20 - 1.50)	1.34 (1.19 - 1.49)	
¶Diarrhoea within past 24 hour	8					
Not depressed group	9875	47877	6.4	1	1	<0.001
Depressed group	391	1991	12.1	2.17 (1.73 - 2.60)	1.80 (1.45 - 2.14)	
¶Vomiting within past 24 hours	5					
Not depressed group	8395	8395	4.6	1	1	0.007
Depressed group	304	304	9.9	2.15 (1.39 - 2.91)	1.98 (1.26 - 2.71)	
Fever within past 24 hours						
Not depressed group	9875	47878	8.5	1	1	<0.001
Depressed group	391	1991	15.0	2.10 (1.72 - 2.47)	1.80 (1.49 - 2.11)	
¶Cough within past 24 hours						
Not depressed group	9875	47877	14.0	1	1	<0.001
Depressed group	391	1991	20.2	1.60 (1.36 - 1.84)	1.49 (1.28 - 1.70)	
¶Persistent crying within past 2	4 hours					
Not depressed group	8396	8396	3.4	1	1	0.003
Depressed group	304	304	9.2	2.72 (1.71 - 3.73)	2.46 (1.48 - 3.43)	

*Number of infants who survived till mother's postnatal depression assessment.

¶Based on approximately two month's worth of data.

†Following postnatal depression assessment, at which the infant morbidity outcome was reported as having occurred in the previous 24 hours up to 12 months.

‡ adjusted for: mother's age, education, marital status, wealth quintile, ethnicity, religion, area of residence, parity, early parturition, mode of delivery, perceived size of baby.

 Table 9.2: Association Between Maternal Postnatal Depression and Infant Morbidity.

Course of depression across perinatal period	*Number of infants (n)	Total infant months of follow up	Infant deaths	Incidence/1000 infant months	Crude Rate Ratio (95% CI)	‡Adjusted Rate Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Not depressed at either assessment point	11162	43959.0	78	1.77	1	1	
Depressed at antenatal assessment only	1056	4150.9	10	2.41	1.36 (0.70-2.62)	1.32 (0.68-2.56)	0.408
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	262	1069.9	9	8.41	4.74 (2.38-9.45)	4.80 (2.39-9.63)	< 0.001
Depressed at both assessment points	138	534.1	3	5.62	3.16 (0.99-10.03)	3.19 (0.99-10.17)	0.050
Total	12618	49713.9	100				

*Infants of mothers assessed both during pregnancy and postnatally.

‡ adjusted for: mother's age, education, marital status, wealth quintile, ethnicity, religion, area of residence, parity, early parturition, mode of delivery, perceived size of baby.

Online Table 9.1: Effect of Antenatal and/or Postnatal depression on Infant Mortality Up to Six Months

Course of depression across perinatal period	*Number of infants	Number of visits (n)	†% of visits	Crude Relative Risk (95% CI)	‡Adjusted Relative Risk (95% CI)	p-value
Any ill health on day of visit						
Not depressed at either assessment point	11160	72332	11.1	1	1	
Depressed at antenatal assessment only	1056	7120	16.1	1.54 (1.39 - 1.68)	1.43 (1.30 - 1.55)	<0.001
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	262	1710	18.1	1.78 (1.47 - 2.08)	1.63 (1.36 - 1.89)	<0.001
Depressed at both assessment points	138	909	21.8	2.26 (1.77 - 2.75)	1.98 (1.57 - 2.38)	<0.001
Any serious illness in past month requiring o	care-seeking					
Not depressed at either assessment point	11160	72330	11.4	1	1	
Depressed at antenatal assessment only	1056	7120	14.1	1.27 (1.16 - 1.39)	1.25 (1.14 - 1.35)	<0.001
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	262	1710	16.8	1.55 (1.31 - 1.79)	1.54 (1.29 - 1.78)	<0.001
Depressed at both assessment points	138	949	14.9	1.41 (1.09 - 1.72)	1.39 (1.08 - 1.69)	0.014
¶Diarrhoea within past 24 hours						
Not depressed at either assessment point	6282	25799	5.9	1	1	
Depressed at antenatal assessment only	646	2862	8.3	1.53 (1.23 - 1.82)	1.41 (1.14 - 1.67)	0.003
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	161	633	12.8	2.55 (1.69 - 3.40)	2.14 (1.44 - 2.84)	<0.001
Depressed at both assessment points	86	389	14.7	2.89 (1.68 - 4.09)	2.34 (1.39 - 3.29)	0.006
Vomiting within past 24 hours						
Not depressed at either assessment point	5510	5510	4.2	1	1	
Depressed at antenatal assessment only	544	544	8.1	1.92 (1.33 - 2.52)	1.71 (1.15 - 2.26)	0.012
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	127	127	11.0	2.62 (1.28 - 3.95)	2.51 (1.19 - 3.83)	0.025
Depressed at both assessment points	72	72	9.7	2.31 (0.66 - 3.96)	1.97 (0.53 - 3.41)	0.187
Fever within past 24 hours						
Not depressed at either assessment point	5510	5510	8.9	1	1	
Depressed at antenatal assessment only	544	544	13.9	1.58 (1.16 - 2.00)	1.45 (1.10 - 1.79)	0.011
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	127	127	19.7	2.26 (1.23 - 3.29)	1.96 (1.20 - 2.72)	0.013
Depressed at both assessment points	72	72	11.1	1.25 (0.40 - 2.10)	1.13 (0.39 - 1.87)	0.723
¶Cough within past 24 hours						
Not depressed at either assessment point	6282	25799	13.6	1	1	
Depressed at antenatal assessment only	646	2862	18.9	1.48 (1.28 - 1.68)	1.40 (1.23 - 1.58)	< 0.001
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	161	633	20.9	1.71 (1.27 - 2.14)	1.57 (1.19 - 1.94)	0.003
Depressed at both assessment points	86	389	22.6	1.93 (1.33 - 2.53)	1.71 (1.21 - 2.22)	0.005
¶Persistent crying within past 24 hours						
Not depressed at either assessment point	5510	5510	3.3	1	1	

Depressed at antenatal assessment only	544	544	4.8	1.45 (0.87 - 2.04)	1.35 (0.80 - 1.90)	0.212
Depressed at postnatal assessment only	127	127	10.2	3.12 (1.45 - 4.78)	2.85 (1.27 - 4.42)	0.022
Depressed at both assessment points	72	72	8.3	2.54 (0.56 - 4.51)	2.35 (0.47 - 4.23)	0.160

*Number of infants who survived till postnatal depression assessment and whose mothers were assessed also at pregnancy

Based on approximately two month's worth of data.

[†]Following postnatal depression assessment, at which the infant morbidity outcome was reported as having occurred in the previous 24 hours up to 12 months. [‡] adjusted for: mother's age, education, marital status, wealth quintile, ethnicity, religion, area of residence, parity, early parturition, mode of delivery, perceived size of baby.

Online Table 9.2: Association Between Antenatal and/or Postnatal depression and Infant Morbidity

9.6 References to Chapter 9

- 1. Prince M, Patel V, Saxena S, Maj M, Maselko J, Phillips MR, et al. Global mental health 1 No health without mental health. Lancet. 2007; **370**(9590): 859-77.
- Rahman A, Prince M. Mental health in the tropics. Ann Trop Med Parasitol. 2009; 103(2): 95-110.
- Walker SP, Wachs TD, Gardner JM, Lozoff B, Wasserman GA, Pollitt E, et al. Child development: risk factors for adverse outcomes in developing countries. Lancet. 2007; 369(9556): 145-57.
- Webb R, Abel K, Pickles A, Appleby L. Mortality in offspring of parents with psychotic disorders: a critical review and meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry. 2005; 162(6): 1045-56.
- Chen YH, Tsai SY, Lin HC. Increased mortality risk among offspring of mothers with postnatal depression: a nationwide population-based study in Taiwan. Psychol Med. 2011; 41(11): 2287-96.
- 6. Deyessa N, Berhane Y, Emmelin M, Ellsberg MC, Kullgren G, Hogberg U. Joint effect of maternal depression and intimate partner violence on increased risk of child death in rural Ethiopia. Arch Dis Child. 2010; **95**(10): 771-5.
- Rajaratnam JK, Marcus JR, Flaxman AD, Wang H, Levin-Rector A, Dwyer L, et al. Neonatal, postneonatal, childhood, and under-5 mortality for 187 countries, 1970-2010: a systematic analysis of progress towards Millennium Development Goal 4. Lancet. 2010; **375**(9730): 1988-2008.
- 8. Egeland B, Farber EA. Infant-mother attachment: factors related to its development and changes over time. Child development. 1984; **55**(3): 753-71.
- Kirkwood BR, Hurt L, Amenga-Etego S, Tawiah C, Zandoh C, Danso S, et al. Effect of vitamin A supplementation in women of reproductive age on maternal survival in Ghana (ObaapaVitA): a cluster-randomised, placebo-controlled trial. The Lancet. 2010; **375**(9726): 1640-9.
- 10. Kirkwood BR, Manu A, Tawiah-Agyemang C, ten Asbroek G, Gyan T, Weobong B, et al. NEWHINTS cluster randomised trial to evaluate the impact on neonatal mortality in rural Ghana of routine home visits to provide a package of essential newborn care interventions in the third trimester of pregnancy and the first week of life: trial protocol. Trials. 2010; **11**: 58.
- GHS. Ghana Health Service. Ghana Health Service-Brong Ahafo Region: Population by districts. 2011 [cited 2012 26.05.2012]; Available from: http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/region.php?dd=6®ion=Brong Ahafo&nb sp;Region

- 12. Ae-Ngibise K, Cooper S, Adiibokah E, Akpalu B, Lund C, Doku V, et al. 'Whether you like it or not people with mental problems are going to go to them': A qualitative exploration into the widespread use of traditional and faith healers in the provision of mental health care in Ghana. International Review of Psychiatry. 2010; **22**(6): 558-67.
- APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for mental disorders-TR. In: APA, editor. Washington (DC); 2000.
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9 Validity of a brief depression severity measure. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2001; 16(9): 606-13.
- 15. Vyas S, Kumaranayake L. Constructing socio-economic status indices: how to use principal components analysis. Health policy and planning. 2006; **21**(6): 459-68.
- 16. O'Donnell O, et al. Analyzing health equity using household survey data: a guide to techniques and their implementation. Washington D.C: The World Bank; 2008.
- Localio AR, Margolis DJ, Berlin JA. Relative risks and confidence intervals were easily computed indirectly from multivariable logistic regression. J Clin Epidemiol. 2007; 60(9): 874-82.
- 18. STATA. Statistics/data analysis. 11 ed. Texas; 2009.
- Weobong B, Prince, M., ten Asbroek, G., Soremekun, S., Manu, A., Hill, Z., Kirkwood, BR. Determinants of postnatal depression in rural Ghana: findings from the DON population-based cohort study. Submitted; 2012.
- Ross J, Hanlon C, Medhin G, Alem A, Tesfaye F, Worku B, et al. Perinatal mental distress and infant morbidity in Ethiopia: a cohort study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2011; 96(1): F59-64.
- 21. Rahman A, Iqbal Z, Bunn J, Lovel H, Harrington R. Impact of maternal depression on infant nutritional status and illness: a cohort study. Archives of general psychiatry. 2004a; 61(9): 946 52.
- Rahman A, Bunn J, Lovel H, Creed F. Maternal depression increases infant risk of diarrhoeal illness: --a cohort study. Arch Dis Child. 2007; 92(1): 24-8.
- Ban L, Gibson J, West J, Tata L. Association between perinatal depression in mothers and the risk of childhood infections in offspring: a population-based cohort study.
 BMC public health. 2010; 10(1): 799.
- 24. Groer MW, Morgan K. Immune, health and endocrine characteristics of depressed postpartum mothers. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2007; **32**(2): 133-9.
- Cooper P, Tomlinson M, Swartz L, Woolgar M, Murray L, Molteno C. Post-partum depression and the mother-infant relationship in a South African peri-urban settlement. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 1999; 175(6): 554-8.
- 26. Baker-Henningham H, Powell C, Walker S, Grantham-McGregor S. Mothers of undernourished Jamaican children have poorer psychosocial functioning and this is associated with stimulation provided in the home. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2003; 57(6): 786-92.

- Howe LD, Huttly SR, Abramsky T. Risk factors for injuries in young children in four developing countries: the Young Lives Study. Trop Med Int Health. 2006; 11(10): 1557-66.
- O'Connor TG, Davies L, Dunn J, Golding J. Distribution of accidents, injuries, and illnesses by family type. ALSPAC Study Team. Avon Longitudinal Study of Pregnancy and Childhood. Pediatrics. 2000; 106(5): E68.
- 29. Patel V, DeSouza N, Rodrigues M. Postnatal depression and infant growth and development in low income countries: a cohort study from Goa, India. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2003; **88**(1): 34-7.
- 30. Thongkrajai E, Thongkrajai P, Stoeckel J, Na-nakhon S, Karenjanabutr B, Sirivatanamethanont J. Socioeconomic and health programme effects upon the behavioral management of diarrhoeal disease in northeast Thailand. Asia Pac J Public Health. 1990; 4(1): 45-52.
- Nicholson WK, Setse R, Hill-Briggs F, Cooper LA, Strobino D, Powe NR. Depressive symptoms and health-related quality of life in early pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2006; 107(4): 798-806.
- 32. O'Hara. MW. postpartum depression: causes and consequences. Springer-Verlag, New York; 1995.
- Wachs TD, Black MM, Engle PL. Maternal Depression: A Global Threat to Children's Health, Development, and Behavior and to Human Rights. Child Development Perspectives. 2009; 3(1): 51-9.
- Araya R, Rojas G, Fritsch R, Gaete J, Rojas M, Simon G, et al. Treating depression in primary care in low-income women in Santiago, Chile: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2003; 361(9362): 995-1000.
- Rahman A, Malik A, Sikander S, Roberts C, Creed F. Cognitive behaviour therapybased intervention by community health workers for mothers with depression and their infants in rural Pakistan: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2008; 372(9642): 902-9.
- 36. Dua T, Barbui C, Clark N, Fleischmann A, Poznyak V, van Ommeren M, et al. Evidence-based guidelines for mental, neurological, and substance use disorders in low- and middle-income countries: summary of WHO recommendations. PLoS medicine. 2011; 8(11): e1001122.
- Nylen KJ, Moran TE, Franklin CL, O'Hara MW. Maternal depression: A review of relevant treatment approaches for mothers and infants. Infant Mental Health Journal. 2006; 27(4): 327-43.

10. Chapter 10- Research Paper 5: Impact of the 'Newhints' Home visits Intervention Trial on Postnatal Depression in Rural Ghana.

13.4. Have you retained the copyright for the work? <u>N/A</u>

If yes, attach evidence of retention

If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, attach evidence of permission from copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include work

14. For a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published

- 14.1. Where is the work intended to be published? British Medical Journal
- 14.2. List the paper's authors in the intended authorship order

*Benedict Weobong, Alexander Manu, Augustinus HA ten Asbroek, Seyi Soremekun, Thomas Gyan, Samuel Danso, Seeba Amenga-Etego, Martin Prince, Charlotte Tawiah-Agyemang, Seth Owusu-Agyei, Zelee Hill ,Betty R. Kirkwood

Stage of publication – Not yet submitted

15. For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)

The candidate had a major role in all aspects of the DON study including conceptualisation, design, and conduct. He carried out all analyses and was responsible for writing this paper.

Candidate's signature

Supervisor or senior author's signature to confirm role as stated in (3)

Betty Kiluad

10.1 Abstract

Background: Although the evidence for the use of psychological therapies rather than pharmacological approaches for the treatment of postnatal depression (PND) is becoming strong and preferred, only six trials including four in low and middle income settings have tested community-based approaches to prevent postnatal depression (three based on home visits, and one on women's groups); the evidence of impact has been inconclusive. We therefore included PND as a secondary outcome in the Newhints trial in Ghana of the impact of home visits on newborn deaths.

Methods: Newhints is a cluster randomised controlled trial involving 98 supervisory zones; 49 zones were randomised to receive the Newhints intervention, and 49 to act as controls. Volunteers in Newhints zones were trained to make two home-visits during pregnancy and three within the first week of birth to counsel and problem solve on key newborn care practices and to assess and refer sick babies. A random subset of women were screened at pregnancy and 4-12 weeks after birth with the depression module of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). Analysis was by intention to treat (ITT) using random effects logistic regression to account for the clustered design. Effect sizes are reported as risk ratios with 95% confidence intervals.

Results: 7495 recently delivered women were screened for PND. Sixty-seven percent of women in the Newhints zones received at least one visit during pregnancy and 62% at least one after birth. The prevalence of PND was 3.3% in both Newhints and control zones; the risk ratio (RR) adjusting for the clustered design was 0.99 (95% CI 0.65, 1.50; p=0.96).

Conclusion: The Newhints home visits intervention had no impact on PND in Ghana, although the home visits approach contained psycho-educational elements of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy. Preventive interventions that include targeted approaches for 'at-risk' women are more likely to be effective in preventing the PND.

10.2 Introduction

Postnatal depression has gained increasing recognition as a condition of public health concern because of its high prevalence^{1, 2} and potential adverse consequences on: infant mortality³, growth and development ^{4, 5}. Interventions to reduce postnatal depression may therefore have a role to play in achieving the child survival millennium development goal. However, although the evidence for the use of psychological therapies rather than pharmacological approaches for the treatment of postnatal depression is becoming strong and preferred⁶⁻⁸, preventive trials are relatively few⁹ and the evidence for their effectiveness is weak¹⁰. Most are clinic-based.

To date only six trials including four in low and middle income settings have tested communitybased approaches to prevent postnatal depression (three of home-visits, and one of women's groups), and the evidence of impact has been inconclusive. In South Africa, supportive guidance in parenting by lay women home-visitors to women in the last trimester of their pregnancy, visited twice during pregnancy and weekly for the first eight weeks postpartum, had no impact on prevalence of depressive disorder at six months, but did reduce maternal depressed mood (symptom score)¹¹. Similarly, in India (Goa), two supportive home-visits at pregnancy and three in the postpartum period targeted at pregnant women (approximately 32 and 36 weeks' gestation) at risk of postnatal depression, delivered by an experienced mother, did not prevent postnatal depression¹². An improvement in maternal depressive symptoms was however reported in a home-visits intervention in Jamaica, targeting child rearing and parenting selfesteem among mothers of undernourished children¹³. Similarly a women's group intervention aimed at reducing neonatal mortality in India (Jharkhand and Orissa), reduced moderate postnatal depression by 57% but only in the third year of implementation¹⁴. Community-based interventions in high income countries also suggest similar inconclusive evidence; improvement in mental health in a US-based trial¹⁵, and no benefit in two UK-based trials^{16, 17}. In contrast community-based interventions using cognitive behavioural therapy in rural Pakistan⁸ and a combination of psychoeducation, treatment adherence support, and pharmacotherapy approaches in Chile¹⁸ are effective in treating symptoms of postnatal depression.

In this paper, we present results of the impact of the 'Newhints' home-visits intervention on postnatal depression in a predominantly rural population in Ghana¹⁹. The 'Newhints' intervention involved home-visits to pregnant and recently delivered mothers to promote newborn care practices, and to assess and refer sick babies. It used a story-telling and problem-solving approach delivered by community volunteers. The primary outcomes for the trial were newborn care practices and neonatal mortality. We postulated that this intervention might have an impact on postnatal depression as well.

10.3 Materials and Methods

Trial Design

The Newhints was a cluster randomised controlled trial conducted in seven contiguous districts of the Brong Ahafo region of Ghana. The study area covers a population of about 700,000 (GHS pooled data up to 2011)²⁰ with more than 120,000 women of reproductive age, and about 15,000 births a year. The neonatal mortality rate was 32/1000 live births at baseline²¹. With only four community psychiatric nurses stationed in the big towns, psychiatric services are inadequate and people with mental illness often seek help from traditional/spiritual sources²². Details of the trial design and intervention are given in the published trial protocol¹⁹.

The clusters were supervisory zones of between 8-12 community based surveillance volunteers (CBSVs). CBSVs were an existing cadre of volunteers who assist the district health management team with registration of births, mobilisation of the community for activities such as national immunisation days, registration of deaths, and with community child welfare outreach clinics. They had varied literacy competencies ranging from no education to high school graduates. In all there were 98 Newhints zones; 49 zones were randomised to receive the intervention and the other half acted as controls.

Intervention and Control Package

The 'Newhints' intervention is an integrated package developed after extensive formative research²³. CBSVs in 'Newhints' intervention zones were trained to make five home visits; two during pregnancy and three within the first week after birth. They were trained in providing supportive counselling, and establishing and maintaining rapport. At each visit, the CBSV provided directive counselling on essential newborn care practices, and problem-solved around any barriers the mother/family perceived in carrying out a behaviour using a story-telling approach. In a typical visit, the CBSV showed a set of counselling cards with pictures, specific to the theme of each visit and would first ask the mother/family their interpretation of the card. Following this, the CBSV then explained the message behind the card using a story-telling approach after which the CBSV checked with the mother/family if they were able to carry out the behaviour conveyed by the card. At this point, the CBSV either provided appropriate praise and encouragement when the mother/family agrees to carry out the behaviour, or helped the mother/family to identify practical solutions to any perceived barriers that could hinder the adoption of the behaviour targeted. This process was repeated at each visit and in addition, at subsequent visits, the CBSV checked if the behaviours had been carried out and continued the process of problem-solving. At each postnatal visit, the CBSV also assessed the baby for danger signs and referred if any were present. Newhints CBSVs received monetary incentives of GH¢ 5 (approximately \$5 at the time) per month. Full implementation was achieved by end of October 2008.

Pregnant women and their babies in the control zones continued to benefit from routine maternal and child health (MCH) care services available at the period of the trial, and 4-weekly visits by resident field workers. This included: antenatal care (ANC), Infant Welfare Clinics (IWC), access to free delivery and care (if signed up to the government's health insurance and free maternal care policy), and routine interactions with CBSVs concerning outreach MCH and immunisation clinics.

Depression Sub-study

The DON sub-study was set-up to evaluate the impact of the home-visits on postnatal depression, and included all pregnancies that ended in a live or stillbirth between 1st November 2008 (the month after 'Newhints' training was completed) and 11th July 2009. The evaluation was based on women who were screened for both antenatal and postnatal depression, the latter within four and 12 weeks postpartum.

Data Collection

Data collection was carried out by locally resident field workers (FWs) through 4-weekly surveillance visits. They were trained and supervised to administer the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) antenatally at the 4-weekly surveillance visit following ascertainment of pregnancy and at the surveillance visit after the birth was reported. By design, postnatal depression screening by FWs followed home visits by CBSVs and were conducted independent and blind of each other.

Background socio-demographic and socio-economic characteristics were collected at pregnancy ascertainment on marital status, maternal education, maternal age, maternal occupation, and a range of household assets. The latter were used to construct a wealth index of the household derived from principal components analysis of 42 questions on household assets, sanitation and household quality indicators²⁴. Women were then ranked according to their wealth index, and assigned to wealth quintiles with quintile 1 containing the least wealthy and quintile 5 the wealthiest²⁵.

Outcomes

Major or minor postnatal depression was defined by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders, 4th edition (DSM-IV), as a total of two or more symptoms on the PHQ-9, one of which must either be depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure). The PHQ-9 is one of few screening tools that enquires about the nine symptom based criteria for the diagnosis of DSM-IV depression, including duration and severity. Only symptoms that have been persistent and pervasive within a two-week period are rated. For major depression, either depression or anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure) must be rated, with a total of five or more symptoms. And for minor depression two to four symptoms must be rated. In contrast with other symptom based scale scores, these criteria identify characteristics of a clinically significant depressive episode. We had previously validated the PHQ-9 in the same setting against the gold standard of a local clinician's structured clinical diagnosis²⁶.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for the Newhints trial and the depression sub-study was granted by the ethics committees of the Kintampo Health Research Centre and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. The trial is registered on <u>www.clinicaltrials.gov</u> (identifier NCT00623337)²⁷. Informed consent was obtained from trial participants through a signature or thumb print, in the presence of a witness.

Statistical Methods

We carried out random effects logistic regression to account for the cluster-randomised design in an intention to treat (ITT) analysis, where ITT is defined by a woman's zone of residence. We also repeated the analysis restricted to women who were depressed during pregnancy to assess whether Newhints intervention may be able to reduce this risk as they have a high risk of depression continuing into the postnatal period. Effect sizes are reported as relative risks with 95% confidence intervals and p-values, estimated using the marginal standardization technique with the 95% confidence intervals for the ratios estimated via the delta method²⁸. Analyses were conducted using STATA 11²⁹.

10.4 Results

Figure 10.1 shows the trial profile. The 'Newhints' evaluation cohort comprised 16,329 deliveries. 6,637 of these took place after depression assessments ended in July 2009, thus 9,692 (59.2%) had postpartum visits that were scheduled for postnatal depression screening. Out of these, 8,470 (87.9%) completed the PHQ-9 within 4-12 weeks, and only four (0.04%) declined to participate. Among those who completed the postpartum PHQ-9, 7495 (88.0%) were also screened during pregnancy. **Table 10.2** shows that women in the intervention and control arms in the depression sub-study were similar. The majority resided in rural (70%) areas, most were educated (62%), and almost all (90%) were either married or cohabiting. 67% of women were visited at least once by CBSVs during pregnancy and 62% were visited at least once within the first week of birth²¹.

Table 10.3 shows that there was more antenatal depression than postnatal depression, though similar at baseline in each cohort. **Table 10.4** shows there was no evidence of benefit of the intervention on postnatal depression after adjusting for clustering; adjusted risk ratio (RR) 0.99 (95% CI 0.65, 1.50; p=0.96). We also found no evidence of an impact on the risk of postnatal depression among those depressed during pregnancy; adjusted RR 1.05 (95% CI 0.65, 1.72; p=0.83).

10.5 Discussion

The 'Newhints' home-visits intervention had no impact on DSM-IV major or minor postnatal depression among recently delivered mothers in a predominantly rural population in Ghana. Although this intervention was not specifically designed as a mental health intervention, the home-visits contained psycho-educational elements of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT). The mechanism by which home visits may be expected to improve mental health is that home visits are known to improve the quality of the home environment, parenting skills and uptake of childhood immunizations³⁰, and self-efficacy³¹ which are catalysts for assured mental wellbeing. In addition our evaluation took place immediately after full implementation was achieved, and we were only able to evaluate the impact on depression in the immediate postnatal period (4-12 weeks), and any benefits may not have accrued within this relatively short period. This may explain why two previous trials: a home-visits intervention by paraprofessionals in Denver Colorado, USA and women's groups intervention in Jharkand, India improved the mental health of mothers after two years following intervention implementation^{14, 15}. Further, though visit coverage based on at least one home-visit after birth was relatively high (63%), this did not appear to be an important factor for preventing postnatal depression. Lastly, arguments for the impact of floor effects due to our relatively low prevalence of postnatal depression may equally be tenable in our setting.

We acknowledge some limitations in our study: timing of assessment of outcome of postnatal depression was variable; however this was similar in Newhints and control arms. We also note that women had regular 4-weekly visits from resident fieldworkers enquiring about the pregnancy, the birth, and the health of the infant; these visits that may have resulted in important friendship bonds and rapport, in themselves may have had a positive benefit on the mental well-being of women in both Newhints and control arms, and potentially subdued any additional impact of CBSV home-visits on the risk of depression.

Nevertheless, this finding of no benefit is consistent with reports from other trials conducted in South Africa¹¹, the United Kingdom^{16, 17} and India¹², involving the use of lay home-visitors. In addition findings from Cochrane reviews suggest that overall psychosocial/psychological

interventions do not stop the development of postnatal depression, though studies that provided intensive postpartum professional support, targeted 'at-risk' women, were individual-based as opposed to group, or had only a postnatal component, were more effective in preventing postnatal depression¹⁰.

In contrast, there is evidence suggesting that psychosocial and psychological interventions are not only an effective treatment option for women suffering from postnatal depression at least in the short term^{8, 32}, but are also efficacious in treating general depression in women in low income settings¹⁸.

In sum, further efforts are required to identify effective prevention approaches as there is: 1) increasing evidence of the pervasive impact of postnatal depression on the health-related quality of life of the mother³³ and child survival^{3, 34, 35}; 2) prevention is better than cure particularly because of the delicate nature of the postnatal period, and the safety concerns regarding the use of antidepressants during breastfeeding, coupled with the relative cost of scaling up psychological interventions. Preventive interventions that include targeted approaches for 'at-risk' women or those who experience a difficult delivery or have a severely ill baby are more likely to be effective in preventing the onset of postnatal depression. Stepped care models may be appropriate in such cases, starting with psychosocial/psychological treatment and advice, avoiding antidepressant treatment as much as possible, as recommended in the WHO mental health gap action programme guidelines (mhGAP-IG)³⁶.

Acknowledgements:

We thank the women who consented to be part of this study, and for their time. The surveillance and data entry teams are equally commended for their hard work. Funding for this study was provided by the UK Department for International Development, Saving Newborn Lives programme from The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and WHO.WB also received support for his fees, travel, and subsistence from the Psychiatric Research Trust of the Institute of Psychiatry, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and the UK Department for International Development

Figure 10.1:Trial Profile



Table 10.1: Selected Trials Assessing the Effect of Community-based Interventions on Perinatal Depression

Region/type of study	Intervention/content	Study population	Levels in comparison group	Impact status
	•	Preventive		
Africa/Asia				
Cooper et al. 2009 –RCT (South Africa)	Preventative support and guidance in parenting by lay women home-visitors	Pregnant women	15.8% at 6 months postpartum (SCID)	 No significant reduction in prevalence of depressive disorder (X²=0.85, p=0.36) at 6 months (12.4%). Reduced maternal depressed mood (symptom score)
H 1 4 1 2000 DCT			7.70/ (2) (1 (CDD0)	(z=2.05, p=0.04) at 6 months $(2.78%)$
(India)	Supportive nome-visits delivered by an experienced mother	postpartum depression	7.7% at 3 months postpartum(EPDS)	7.8% at 3 months postpartum(EPDS)
Tripathy et al. 2010-RCT (India)	Participatory action and learning on strategies to address maternal and newborn health problems through Women's groups.	Recently delivered women, 6 weeks after birth	10% at year 3 (K10)	1.57% reduction in moderate depression at year 3 (OR 0.43 95% CI 0.23-0.80)
				2. No significant reduction in severe depression at year 3
HIC				
Barnes et al. 2009- Crct (UK)	Preventative informal support to parents on child care and parenting advice (Home-Start scheme-UK) by lay health worker visitors	Pregnant women	Incidence of minor/major depression (26.1%) (SCID/EPDS)	Authors report no impact on reducing incidence of minor/major depression in the supported group (32.6%), though no test of significance was reported.
Ngai et al. 2009- Quasi experiment (Hong Kong)	Childbirth psycho-education by health professionals	Pregnant women	Mean of depressive symptoms at 6 months postpartum: [7.6 (SD=4.5)] (EPDS)	Lower mean of depressive symptoms at 6 months postpartum: [(5.8, p=0.01) (SD=4.0)]
Olds et al. 2004-RCT (USA)	Preventative promotion of adaptive health behaviours and social support by paraprofessionals home-visits	Pregnant women	Mental health scores (101.2) (Psychological resources composite scale)	Paraprofessional home-visits associated with improved maternal mental health scores (99.2; p=0.03)
Wiggins et al. 2004-RCT (UK)	Preventative supportive listening by lay health home-visitors	Women with deliveries within first 9 months	Prevalence of depression at 12 and 18 months (30%) (EPDS)	No impact on reducing postnatal depression (28%) at 12 and 18 months (RR=0.86 CI 0.62 to 1.19).
	·	Treatment		
Africa/Asia				
Rahman et al.2008- RCT (Pakistan)	Cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT)-based by lay lady home- visitors	Depressed women in third trimester	 53% at 6 months postpartum (SCID) 59% at 12 months 	 Significantly lower prevalence of major depression (23%) at 6 (OR=0.22, CI 0.14-0.36) months postpartum Significantly lower prevalence of major depression (27%) (OR=0.23, CI 0.15-0.36) months postpartum
HIC				
Milgrom et al. 2005-RCT (Australia)	Group CBT, compared to group counselling and to individual counselling	Depressed mothers at 6-8 weeks postpartum	Mean EPDS score (16.6)	Data too few to analyse, but mean depression scores following CBT was 12.2, thus reduced by 4 points.
Dennis et al. 2003-Pilot RCT (Canada)	Standard community services plus peer volunteer mother to provide support via the telephone	Depressed mothers postpartum	Prevalence of depression at 9 months (52.4%- EPDS))	Significant improvement in depression (15%) at 9 months following a 2 month follow up
Sharp et al. 2010-RCT	Compared anti-depressant to community-based psychosocial non-directive counselling	First 6 postnatal months		Anti-depressant: 45% improvement Psychosocial: 20% improvement; OR [3.4 95% CI 1.8 to 6.5]

Characteristic	Control zones	Newhints zones
Recently delivered women with both pregnancy and postpartum PHQ-9 data	3,725	3,770
A		
Age group	11.0%	10.0%
20.20	51 3%	51.0%
301	37.6%	36.8%
No data	0.3%	0.3%
M-ritel -t-t	0.570	0.570
Martial status	50.0%	56 504
Living together	20.1%	25 104
Widow/ diversed/caperated	2 204	2.6%
Single unmarried	2.3%	2.070
No data	0.3%	0.3%
Highest educational level reached	0.570	0.570
Sec/post-secondary	5.9%	5 9%
Pre-secondary	36.5%	38.8%
Primary	20.1%	21.9%
None	37.1%	33.0%
No data	0.4%	0.3%
Works outside the home		
Yes	73.0%	70.8%
No	26.7%	28.9%
No data	0.3%	0.3%
Wealth quintile		
1 st (least wealthy)	20.0%	19.7%
2 nd	22.0%	20.0%
3 rd	19.4%	21.6%
4 th	18.1%	20.4%
5 th (wealthiest)	19.7%	17.2%
No data	0.8%	1.0%
Religion		
Catholic	21.2%	21.7%
Protestant	45.6%	46.4%
Muslim	25.7%	22.8%
Traditional/other	6.9%	8.3%
No data	0.5%	0.8%
Place of residence		
Urban	31.5%	26.6%
Rural	68.5%	73.4%

Table 10.2: Socio-demographic/socio-economic Categorical Characteristics of Trial Participants in Depression Sub-study.

*percentages may not add up to 100 because of rounding

Table 10.3: Baseline Estimates of Perinatal Depression[†]

Depression	N(% depressed)	N(% depressed)	
	Control Zones	Newhints Zones	
Antenatal depression	260/2369 (10.9)	270/2360 (11.4)	
Postnatal depression	81/2369 (3.4)	83/2360 (3.5)	

† Baseline postnatal depression was estimated from data collected during the run-in period (January 2008-October 2008) of the trial.

Table 10.4: Effect of Home-visits on DSM-IV Major/Minor Postnatal Depression Among **Recently Delivered Women (ITT)**

Outcome	N(% depressed)	N(% depressed)	Crude Relative Risk	†Adjusted Relative Risk (95% CI)	p-value	
	Control Zones	Newhints Zones	()5/0 (1)	(75 /0 C1)		
Postnatal depression	3725 (3.3)	3770 (3.3)	1.00 (0.78,1.28)	0.99 (0.65,1.50)	0.96	
to divised for clustering						

†adjusted for clustering.

10.6 References to Chapter 10

- Gavin, N.I., et al., *Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence*. Obstet Gynecol, 2005. **106**(5 Pt 1): p. 1071-83.
- 2. Sawyer, A., S. Ayers, and H. Smith, *Pre- and postnatal psychological wellbeing in Africa: a systematic review.* J Affect Disord, 2010. **123**(1-3): p. 17-29.
- Chen, Y.H., S.Y. Tsai, and H.C. Lin, *Increased mortality risk among offspring of mothers with postnatal depression: a nationwide population-based study in Taiwan*. Psychol Med, 2011. 41(11): p. 2287-96.
- 4. Stewart, R.C., et al., *Common mental disorder and associated factors amongst women with young infants in rural Malawi*. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol, 2010. **45**(5): p. 551-9.
- Patel, V., N. DeSouza, and M. Rodrigues, *Postnatal depression and infant growth and development in low income countries: a cohort study from Goa, India.* Archives of Disease in Childhood, 2003. 88(1): p. 34-37.
- Patel, V. and B. Kirkwood, *Perinatal depression treated by community health workers*. Lancet, 2008. **372**(9642): p. 868-9.
- Rojas, G., et al., *Treatment of postnatal depression in low-income mothers in primarycare clinics in Santiago, Chile: a randomised controlled trial.* Lancet, 2007. **370**(9599): p. 1629-1637.
- 8. Rahman, A., et al., *Cognitive behaviour therapy-based intervention by community health workers for mothers with depression and their infants in rural Pakistan: a cluster-randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2008. **372**(9642): p. 902-909.
- 9. Patel, V., et al., *Treatment and prevention of mental disorders in low-income and middle-income countries*. Lancet, 2007. **370**(9591): p. 991-1005.
- 10. Dennis, C.-L., *Psychosocial and psychological interventions for prevention of postnatal depression: systematic review*. BMJ, 2005. **331**(7507): p. 15-.
- Cooper, P.J., et al., Improving quality of mother-infant relationship and infant attachment in socioeconomically deprived community in South Africa: randomised controlled trial. BMJ, 2009. 338(apr14_2): p. b974-.
- 12. Hughes Marcus, P.M., Prevention of Postpartum Depression and Adverse Child Outcomes in a High Risk Sample of Pregnant Women in Goa, India: Randomised Controlled Trial. 2009, Kings College London, Institute of Psychiatry.
- 13. Baker-Henningham, H., et al., *The effect of early stimulation on maternal depression: a cluster randomised controlled trial.* Arch Dis Child, 2005. **90**(12): p. 1230-4.
- 14. Tripathy, P., et al., *Effect of a participatory intervention with women's groups on birth outcomes and maternal depression in Jharkhand and Orissa, India: a cluster-randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2010. **375**(9721): p. 1182-1192.

- 15. Olds, D.L., et al., *Effects of Home Visits by Paraprofessionals and by Nurses: Age 4 Follow-Up Results of a Randomized Trial.* Pediatrics, 2004. **114**(6): p. 1560-1568.
- Barnes, J., R. Senior, and K. MacPherson, *The utility of volunteer home-visiting support* to prevent maternal depression in the first year of life. Child: Care, Health and Development, 2009. 35(6): p. 807-816.
- Wiggins, M., et al., Postnatal support for mothers living in disadvantaged inner city areas: a randomised controlled trial. J Epidemiol Community Health, 2005. 59(4): p. 288-95.
- Rojas, G., et al., *Treatment of postnatal depression in low-income mothers in primarycare clinics in Santiago, Chile: a randomised controlled trial.* Lancet, 2007. **370**(9599): p. 1629-37.
- 19. Kirkwood, B.R., et al., *NEWHINTS cluster randomised trial to evaluate the impact on neonatal mortality in rural Ghana of routine home visits to provide a package of essential newborn care interventions in the third trimester of pregnancy and the first week of life: trial protocol.* Trials, 2010. **11**: p. 58.
- 20. GHS. Ghana Health Service. Ghana Health Service-Brong Ahafo Region: Population by districts. 2005 [cited 2012 26.05.2012]; Available from: http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/region.php?dd=6®ion=Brong Ahafo&nbs p;Region.
- 21. Kirkwood, B.R.M., A; ten Asbroek, HA; Soremekun, S; Weobong, B; Gyan, T; Danso, S; Amenga-Etego, S; Tawiah-Agyemang, C; Owusu-Agyei, S; Hill, Z, Impact of the "Newhints" home visits intervention on neonatal mortality and care practices in Ghana: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Lancet-Submitted, 2012.
- 22. Ae-Ngibise, K., et al., 'Whether you like it or not people with mental problems are going to go to them': A qualitative exploration into the widespread use of traditional and faith healers in the provision of mental health care in Ghana. International Review of Psychiatry, 2010. **22**(6): p. 558-567.
- 23. Hill, Z., et al., *How did formative research inform the development of a home-based neonatal care intervention in rural Ghana?* J Perinatol, 2008. **28 Suppl 2**: p. S38-45.
- 24. Vyas, S. and L. Kumaranayake, *Constructing socio-economic status indices: how to use principal components analysis.* Health Policy Plan, 2006. **21**(6): p. 459-68.
- 25. O'Donnell, O., et al, *Analyzing health equity using household survey data: a guide to techniques and their implementation.* 2008, The World Bank: Washington D.C.
- Weobong, B., et al., *The comparative validity of screening scales for postnatal common mental disorder in Kintampo, Ghana.* Journal of Affective Disorders, 2009. **113**(1-2): p. 109-117.
- Clinicaltrials.gov. [cited; Available from: http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00623337.

- Localio, A.R., D.J. Margolis, and J.A. Berlin, *Relative risks and confidence intervals* were easily computed indirectly from multivariable logistic regression. J Clin Epidemiol, 2007. 60(9): p. 874-82.
- 29. STATA, *Statistics/data analysis*. 2009: Texas.
- Kendrick, D., et al., *The effect of home visiting programmes on uptake of childhood immunization: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* J Public Health, 2000. 22(1): p. 90-98.
- Cutrona, C.E. and B.R. Troutman, Social support, infant temperament, and parenting self-efficacy: a mediational model of postpartum depression. Child Dev, 1986. 57(6): p. 1507-18.
- 32. Dennis, C.L. and E. Hodnett, *Psychosocial and psychological interventions for treating postpartum depression*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2007(4): p. CD006116.
- 33. Nicholson, W.K., et al., *Depressive symptoms and health-related quality of life in early pregnancy*. Obstet Gynecol, 2006. **107**(4): p. 798-806.
- 34. Deyessa, N., et al., *Joint effect of maternal depression and intimate partner violence on increased risk of child death in rural Ethiopia.* Arch Dis Child, 2010. **95**(10): p. 771-5.
- 35. Weobong, B., ten Asbroek, G., Soremekun, S., Gram, L., Danso, S., Amenga-Etego, S., Owusu-Agyei, S., Prince, M., Kirkwood, BR, Association of Postnatal Depression with Increase Infant Mortality and Morbidity: findings from the DON Population-based Cohort Study in Rural Ghana. Submitted, 2012.
- 36. Dua, T., et al., Evidence-based guidelines for mental, neurological, and substance use disorders in low- and middle-income countries: summary of WHO recommendations.
 PLoS Med, 2011. 8(11): p. e1001122.

Section D

11. Chapter 11: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications

11.1 Summary of Principal Findings

11.1.1 Burden of Perinatal Depression

- The prevalence of postnatal depression in a predominantly rural and ethnically diverse population in Ghana was lower 3.8% (95% CI: 3.5%, 4.1%). This is considerably lower than estimates for SSA 18.3% (95% CI 17.5%-19.1%) and high income countries 12.9% (95% CI 10.6%-15.8%).
- It is also considerably lower than the prevalence of antenatal depression which was
 9.9% (95% CI 9.5%-10.3%). This is within range of estimates reported in SSA [11.3% (9.5%-13.1%)] and high income country settings [10.2% (95% CI 7.0%-14.2%)].
- In this setting, 34% of women with postnatal depression were also depressed antenatally. Thus, 66% of postnatal depression was 'new' onset. This is in line with the general trend reported in other studies in SSA.
- The high prevalence of depression during pregnancy is mostly self-limiting and only a small proportion [12.5% (95% CI, 10.7%-14.2%)] of women remain depressed after birth. This is similar to the general trend in SSA.

11.1.2 Determinants of Perinatal Depression

 Pregnancy-specific (obstetric history, parity, planned pregnancy or not) and sociodemographic/socio-economic (maternal age, marital status, SES) factors dominate as risk factors for antenatal depression. About 1 in 3 women who were either never married or of poor wealth status were more likely to be depressed during pregnancy. Also older women (>30) and those who did not follow the Catholic faith were 15% more likely to be depressed during pregnancy. Of the pregnancy-specific factors, the risk associated with being depressed during pregnancy if the pregnancy was unplanned was >50%, and 30% if the woman experienced a pregnancy loss.

- On the other hand, in addition to antenatal depression, birth or baby-related factors (e.g. newborn illness, still birth, postpartum/peripartum complications, season of birth), dominate as risk factors for postnatal depression. The risk of postnatal depression was particularly higher within the baby-related factors; the risk associated with increased postnatal depression was 3-fold among women whose newborn was ill, more than 2-fold among those whose baby died before the postnatal depression assessment, and >90% among those who had a still birth. Of the birth-related factors, more than a third of mothers who experienced severe complications after birth, and 20% who suffered complications during labour were more likely to have postnatal depression.
- These risk factors were similar for 'new' cases of postnatal depression and for cases where depression was also detected antenatally.
- Risk of persistent antenatal depression was >2-fold among women who had a still birth, whose baby was ill after birth, or whose baby died before the postnatal depression assessment. It was also associated with PHQ-9 score, with high scorers (9+) >2 times more likely to remain depressed after birth.
- Contrary to other consistent findings, chronic social and economic adversity defined by poor wealth status is not associated with persistence antenatal depression, probably because of the self-limiting nature of antenatal depression.

11.1.3 Consequences of Perinatal Depression

- Both antenatal and postnatal depression was associated with adverse consequences for either the mother or the baby.
- Antenatal depression was associated with a 19% increased risk of caesarean section/instrumental delivery, 11% of severe self-reported peripartum complications, 27% of postpartum complications, and 25% prolonged labour (>23h).

- In contrast, its impact on perinatal outcomes were less obvious as it was only associated with a 52% increase risk of newborn illness within the first month after birth, and marginally associated with preterm delivery. It was not associated with neonatal mortality, still births, and low birth weight. In addition, antenatal depression was not associated with delayed initiation of breastfeeding, or non-exclusive breastfeeding within the first month of the baby's life.
- Maternal postnatal depression in the immediate postnatal period was associated with an almost three-fold increase in the risk of infant mortality up to six months of age.
- Infant mortality among offspring of mothers depressed antenatally but not postnatally was similar to that of offspring of mothers who were not depressed at either assessment point (adjusted RR 1.32, 95% CI 0.68-2.56 p=0.408).
- In contrast, infant mortality was substantially higher for offspring of mothers with postnatal depression, whether they also had antenatal depression (adjusted RR 3.19, 95% CI 0.99-10.17 p=0.050), or not.
- If this association is causal, we estimate that 63.2% of early infant deaths among depressed mothers are attributable to their depression.
- This translates to a population attributable fraction of 5.8% of all early infant deaths in the population which has a relatively low prevalence of postnatal depression of 3.5%.
- Maternal postnatal depression was also associated with infant morbidity, and this appears to be the plausible pathway linking maternal depression and infant deaths.
- Antenatal but not postnatal depression were also reported as having increased morbidity, although at generally lower levels than those mothers with postnatal depression

11.1.4 Impact of 'Newhints' Intervention

• The Newhints home-visits intervention delivered by community health volunteers did not have an impact on reducing postnatal depression (RR) 0.98 (95% CI 0.67, 1.43; p=0.91).

11.2 Strengths and Limitations

11.2.1 Strengths

This PhD is unique in many ways:

- The large sample size is unprecedented in low and middle income settings, and provides adequate power to be able to examine a range of determinants and also to assess consequences for rare outcomes such as infant mortality.
- The cohort design is the best approach for assessing the 'new' onset cases of postnatal depression and persistent antenatal depression, and to ascertain causality.
- This was based on a 4-weekly surveillance covering the whole population with relatively high depression screening completion rate (>90%), and modest losses to follow up rate of 7.9%. In addition, as data were collected on relatively short 4-weekly surveillance cycle, recall challenges will be limited.
- Depression was assessed both at pregnancy and after birth using a culturally valid tool that is able to provide approximate diagnosis of DSM-IV depression. The clinimetric criterion applied in this PhD allows for comparison with global estimates of antenatal and postnatal depression, and provides the basis and justification for clinical intervention.
- The author is well acquainted with the setting where the research was conducted, trained all field data collectors and thereafter provided directly observed supervision. This ensured good quality data from motivated data collectors.

11.2.2 Limitations

- Though the PHQ-9 depression measure was able to indicate DSM-IV diagnosis of depression, it is a screening tool and is thus only able to provide 'probable' diagnosis of depression. However, it has uniform response options, short, and easy to administer and thus suitable for large scale studies.
- The measure of antenatal depression had been previously validated for recently delivered mothers but not for pregnant women. As there is some evidence that depression in pregnancy and postnatal period show significantly different symptom profiles, a possible misclassification bias in the prevalence of antenatal depression in this PhD may not be excluded. However, the symptom frequencies in our population appear to be similar for antenatal and postnatal depression.
- Depression was only assessed once during pregnancy and once after birth. Conducting repeated measures particularly at different pregnancy trimesters would also help in understanding duration dynamics of depression and the ability to be able to measure persistence antenatal depression with some degree of certainty that it is actually a continuation of an episode of depression from pregnancy to the postnatal period. In addition, the differential impact of determinants at different stages of pregnancy or the postnatal period could be better examined.
- Some key putative risk factors of perinatal depression such as social support and partner violence were not measured. Given that these are consistent independent risk factors their role in the risk factor profile generated for the women within the setting of this PhD are yet to be elucidated.

11.3 Conclusions and Recommendations

This PhD provides results from the first large scale epidemiological investigation of perinatal depression in Ghana, and the SSA region as a whole. The results raise important questions for both maternal and child health, and mental health programmes that need to be answered by future research, and have immediate implications for mental health programmes.

11.3.1 Five Main Research Areas:

- There is strong evidence for a link between antenatal depression and severe maternal morbidity. Important questions would be to understand whether this is causal and whether treating antenatal depression together with improving obstetric care could lead to a reduction in maternal morbidity.
- Similarly, would treating postnatal depression reduce the burden of infant morbidity or mortality, and lead to improved infant outcomes?
- Given that a third of women with postnatal depression were also depressed antenatally, what are the relative benefits of strategies tackling antenatal depression and/or postnatal depression in terms of adverse consequences avoided for mother and baby, and the cost-effectiveness of achieving this.
- Given the strong evidence relating birth or baby-related determinants and postnatal depression, would improving delivery and new-born health care reduce the prevalence of postnatal depression?
- Finally, it is crucial to investigate the relative advantages different communitybased maternal and child health interventions have on improving the mental health of pregnant and recently delivered women. The key question is how to achieve through innovative strategies, a seamless integration of maternal mental health interventions into existing reproductive and child health care (antenatal/postnatal care) programmes, drawing on locally available professional and community resources.

11.3.2 Programmatic Implications for Mental Health Policy and Practice in sub-Saharan Africa

Table 11.1 addresses the findings of this PhD in the context of intervention strategy and development. It shows on the left hand side the specific area of perinatal depression needing attention, and on the right is the proposed intervention strategy. In the middle are the findings of this PhD that have informed the various intervention strategies.

- The clinimetric attributes of the PHQ-9 means that it can be used for the detection and subsequent treatment of perinatal depression within primary care settings. It is short, easy to administer with uniform response options, and generally acceptable to a largely illiterate population. Non-mental health professionals can easily be trained to administer the PHQ-9.
- The burden of antenatal depression though self-limiting has deleterious consequences on the health of the mother during labour, and the health of the new born as well. The burden of postnatal depression which is made up of a third of antenatal depression and two thirds of 'new' onset cases after birth, has debilitating effects on child survival and also contributes to severe childhood illness. Interventions are required to tackle both antenatal and postnatal depression. Tackling antenatal depression will effectively lessen the burden of postnatal depression by a third.
- The determinants of antenatal depression are uniquely different from those of postnatal depression. The implications are that whilst population-level non-targeted interventions are required to tackle antenatal depression through improving the socio-economic status and enhancing her ability to make decisions related to her reproductive health, selective interventions are required to tackle postnatal depression. Thus, women with delivery difficulties and sick new-borns would have to be identified and provided special care to prevent the

onset of postnatal depression. In addition, women should be encouraged to deliver at health facilities equipped to deal with obstetric care.

- The consequences of postnatal depression may be avoided if women at highrisk of developing postnatal depression are identified for selective prevention. Those whose depression is unable to be prevented could be treated with psychological/psychosocial approaches as a first option. Similarly, tackling the consequences of antenatal depression would require that interventions are either designed to prevent antenatal depression or women who are depressed at pregnancy are provided non-pharmacological treatment. Arguably, most of antenatal depression would resolve when the woman is able to negotiate a successful delivery but the fact still remains that for some women, being depressed at pregnancy results in severe peripartum/postpartum complications, including new-born illness, and these women may not be abandoned!
- Maternal and child health home-visits interventions in their 'raw' state may not provide additional mental health benefits to the mother in terms of reducing postnatal depression. It may be necessary to build-in mental health specific psychological/psychosocial interventions to such programmes.
- The findings of this PhD provide further justification for the promulgation and implementation of mental health policy and legislation that is particularly lacking in developing countries. Any such legislation will seek among other things; provide dedicated funding for a seamless integration of mental health delivery at the primary care level and put in place structures for routine screening for perinatal depression and high-risk women at antenatal and postnatal visits and to provide appropriate treatment.
- Maternal perinatal depression poses a global threat to child survival and development, and to maternal physical health. The human-rights of mothers and babies via the mental health lens is therefore in question. The United Nations

Fund for Population Activities (UNFPA), and the World Health Organisation (WHO) have recognized this threat and thus declare that 'political will, concerted action by global stakeholders, and resources are needed now to integrate maternal mental health in endeavours to achieve the Millenium Development Goals (MDG)'. The MDGs are expected to be evaluated soon, and it is my fervent hope that the role of maternal mental health in restructuring post-MDGs efforts will be given enough prominence!

Within Ghana and the rest of the sub-Saharan Africa region, it is my conviction that these findings would help make a strong case for the provision of maternal mental health services at the primary care level. This would be done through extensive dissemination of the findings as seen from the prepared manuscripts presented in this thesis, local workshops with key stakeholders, and development of interventions appropriate at the primary care level. With a gradually increasing mobile cellular penetration, interventions delivered using the mobile phone may be the next generation of effective interventions in mental health.

Category of Perinatal Depression	Findings	Intervention Strategy
Measurement	Criterion validity: 94% sensitivity; 75% specificity Construct validity: approximate DSM-IV diagnosis of probable depression.	Confirms clinical use of PHQ-9 to detect depression for treatment and assess impact of preventive interventions
Prevalence and course of perinatal depression	 low persistence of antenatal depression (highly self-limiting) higher proportion of onset postnatal depression 	 Intervention may be more effective when targeted at postnatal depression because most of it is 'new' onset Nevertheless, targeting to prevent or treat antenatal depression would result in preventing a third of women who would become depressed after birth.
Determinants of antenatal depression	 Chronic social and economic disadvantage Lack of autonomy with pregnancy decision making Parity 	- Population-level women empowerment interventions that address these problems among women of reproductive age.
Determinants of postnatal depression	 Severe maternal birth- related morbidity. Poor birth outcomes Newborn ill health 	 Identify women for selective preventive intervention Improve delivery and new- born health care as priority
Determinants of onset postnatal depression and persistent antenatal depression	- These are common and similar to risk factors for overall postnatal depression	 Identify women for selective prevention Inform the content of treatment interventions at pregnancy and after birth
Consequences of postnatal depression	 Infant mortality up to six and twelve months Infant morbidity 	 Identify women for selective prevention. Provide treatment.
Consequences of antenatal depression	 Severe maternal birth- related morbidity Newborn ill health Prolonged labour Bed-net non use 	 Treat women with antenatal depression using psychosocial/psychological approaches. Prevent the onset of antenatal depression using population-level women empowerment programmes

Table 11.1: Summary of Study Findings and Recommendations for Intervention Strategy.
Redacted: pp. 253-61



12. Appendix 1: PHQ - 9 Validation Study Published Report

Weobong, B; Akpalu, B; Doku, V; Owusu-Agyei, S; Hurt, L; Kirkwood, B; Prince, M; (2009)

The comparative validity of screening scales for postnatal common mental disorder in Kintampo, Ghana. Journal of affective disorders, 113 (1-2). pp. 109-17. ISSN 0165-0327

This published study has been removed for copyright reasons, but is available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.05.009

13.Appendix 2: Coverage of Epidemiological Studies on Perinatal Depression within Low and Middle Income Countries

Region/studies	Prevalent antenatal depression	Prevalent postnatal depression	Onset PND estimates	Persistence AND estimates	Determinant s-AND	Determinants- PND	Determinant s-onset PND	Determinants- persistence AND	Consequences- AND	Consequences- PND	Consequences- persistence
SSA (N=37)											
DON-study	9.6%-DSM	3.8%-DSM- IV[%onset=6 6%]	2.5%- DSM-IV	12.4%- DSM-IV	\checkmark	N	\checkmark	N	V	\checkmark	\checkmark
Deyessa et al. 2011 (Ethiopia)	Х	5.5%-ICD 10	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Hanlon et al. 2010 (Ethiopia)	12%- SRQ20	4.6%-SRQ20. [% onset=45%]	2.4%- SRQ20.	21.4%- SRQ20	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	X
Servilli et al. 2010 (Ethiopia)	Х	9.3%-SRQ20	Х	7.3%- SRQ20	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Medhin et al. 2010 (Ethiopia)	12%- SRQ20	5%-SRQ20	2.8%- SRQ20	23%- SRQ20	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Ross et al. 2010 (Ethiopia)	9.2%- SRQ20	4.6%-SRQ20	2.1%- SRQ20	2.5%- SRQ20	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Hanlon et al. 2009 (Ethiopia)	12%- SRQ20		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х
Okronipa et al. 2012 (Ghana)	Х	10%- EPDS	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Stewart et al 2008 (Malawi)	Х	29.9%- SRQ20	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Ola et al. 2011 (Nigeria)	7%-SRQ- 20		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Adewuya et al. 2008 (Nigeria)	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Esimai et al. 2008 (Nigeria)	10.8%- HADS		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Ebeigbe & Akhigbe 2008 (Nigeria)	Х	27.2%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	V	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Adewuya et al. 2007 (Nigeria)	8.3%- DSM-IV		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Adewuya et al. 2006(Nigeria)	Х	13.5%-SADS	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Abiodun et al.	19.1%-		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

Region/studies	Prevalent antenatal depression	Prevalent postnatal depression	Onset PND estimates	Persistence AND estimates	Determinant s-AND	Determinants- PND	Determinant s-onset PND	Determinants- persistence AND	Consequences- AND	Consequences- PND	Consequences- persistence
1993(Nigeria)	GHQ										
Abiodun et al. 2006(Nigeria)	Х	18.6% -EPDS	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Owoeye et al. 2006 (Nigeria)	Х	23%-EPDS 17.5%-ICD10	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Ukpong & Owolabi 2006(Nigeria)	Х	29.8%-BDI	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Fatoye et al. 2006(Nigeria)	Х	22.9%- ZUNG	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Adewuya et al. 2005b(Nigeria)	X	14.6%-EPDS	X	X	X	\checkmark	X	X	X	X	X
Adewuya & Afolabi 2005 (Nigeria)	X	13.4%-ZUNG	X	10%-ZUNG	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Adewuya et al. 2005a(Nigeria)	X	14.6%-SCID- NP	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Owoeye et al. 2004 (cross-sectional) (Nigeria)	Х	23%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	X	х	X	Х
Ukpong et al. 2003 (Nigeria)	X	27.3%-GHQ	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Uwakwe et al. 2003 (Nigeria)	Х	10.7%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
*Aderibigbe et al. 1993 (Nigeria)	30%-GHQ	14%-GHQ	Х	4.9%-GHQ	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Rochat et al. 2011 (South Africa)	47%-DSM		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Hartley et al. 2011 (South Africa)	39%-EPDS		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Ramchandani et al. 2009 (South Africa)	Х	16.4%-PDT	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Madu & Roos 2006 (South Africa)	Х	80%-EPDS (1 week after birth)	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Tomlinson et al. 2005 (South Africa)	Х	34.7%-SCID	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Cooper et al. 1999 (South Africa)	X	34.7%-SCID	X	X	X		Х	X	Х		X
Spangenberg et al. 1991 (South Africa)	X	27.2%-BDI	X	X	X		Х	X	X		X
Tomlinson et al. 2004 (South Africa)	X		X	X	X		X	X	X	X	X

Region/studies	Prevalent antenatal depression	Prevalent postnatal depression	Onset PND estimates	Persistence AND estimates	Determinant s-AND	Determinants- PND	Determinant s-onset PND	Determinants- persistence AND	Consequences- AND	Consequences- PND	Consequences- persistence
Nakku et al. 2006 (Uganda)	X	6.1%-MINI	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
*Cox 1976 (Uganda)	16.7%-SPI	12.4%-SPI	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
*Cox et al.1982 (Uganda)		28.6%-SPI	?	?		\checkmark					
Cox et al.1983 (Uganda)	6.8%- ICD10	10%-ICD10	5.7%- ICD10	22%-ICD	V	V	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Ndokera and McArthur 2010 (Zambia)	X	9.7%-SRQ20	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Chibanda et al. 2009 (Zimbabwe)	Х	33%-DSM- IV	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
*Nhiwatiwa et al. 1998 (Zimbabwe)	19%-SSQ	16%-SSQ	9%-SSQ	46.3%-SSQ	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Asia (N=28)											
DON-study	9.6%-DSM	3.8%-DSM- IV	2.5%- DSM-IV	12.4%- DSM-IV	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Nasreen et al. 2010 (Bangladesh)	18%-EPDS		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х
Gausia et al. 2009 (Bangladesh)	33%-EPDS	22%-EPDS	9.8%- EPDS	63.8%- EPDS	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Black et al. 2007 (Bangladesh)	Х	52%-CES-D	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Xie et al. 2007 (China)	Х	17.3%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Wang et al. 2003 (China)	Х	43%-BDI	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Qiao et al. 2012 (China)	11%- HADS		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х
Edwards et al. 2006 (China)	Х	22.4%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Savarimuthu et al. 2010 (India)	Х	26.3%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Patel et al. 2003 (India)	Х	22%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Patel et al. 2002 (India)	42%-EPDS	23%-EPDS	8%-EPDS	38%-EPDS	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	X	Х
Patel et al. 2003 (India)	X	23%-EPDS	X	Х	Х	X	Х	Х	Х	V	Х
**Patel & Prince.	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х

Region/studies	Prevalent antenatal	Prevalent postnatal dopression	Onset PND estimates	Persistence AND ostimatos	Determinant s-AND	Determinants- PND	Determinant s-onset PND	Determinants- persistence	Consequences- AND	Consequences- PND	Consequences- persistence
2006 (India)	depression	depression		cstimates				AND			
Chandran et al.	16%-	19.8%-ICD10	11%-	66%-	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
2002(India)	ICD10		ICD10	ICD10							
Andajani-sutjahjo et	12.5%-	66%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
al. 2003 (Indonesia)	EPDS										
Ho-Yen et al. 2007	Х	4.9%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
(Nepal)	40.40/		N/	X/		X	V	N/	X/	N/	X/
Shah et al. 2011 (Balviston)	48.4%-		х	Х	N	Х	X	X	Х	Х	Х
(Fakistall) Hussin et al. 2011	25.8%_	21.6%_EPDS	16.4%-	38.3%-	1	1	1	1	X	x	X
(Pakistan)	EPDS	21.0/0-LI DS	EPDS	EPDS	v	ľ	,	v	Λ	Λ	Λ
Rahman et al. 2007	25%-		X	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х
(Pakistan)	ICD10										
Rahman et al. 2007	24%-	49.6%-ICD10	5.6%-	94%-	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
(Pakistan)	ICD10		ICD10	ICD10							
Rahman et al. 2007	25%-		X	57%-	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х
(Pakistan)	ICD10			ICD10		**	**	**	1	**	
Rahman et al.	25%-		X	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	N	Х	Х
2004(Pakistafi) Dehmen et el	ICD10	40% SDO	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	1	v
2004h (Pakistan)	Λ	40%-SKQ	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	v	Λ
Rahman et al.	25%-	28%-ICD10	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
2003(Pakistan)	ICD10										
Kalyani et al. 2001	Х	63.3%-EPDS	\checkmark	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
(Pakistan)		(@2 wks)									
Saikh et al. 2011	40%-CES-		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х
(Pakistan)	D										
Kazi et al. 2006	39.4%-		X	Х	N	X	X	X	V	Х	Х
(Pakistan)	16.80/		v	v		v	v	v	v	v	v
(Pakistan)	10.8%- HADS		Λ	Λ	v	л	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ
Affonso et al. 2000	X	60.8%-EPDS	x	X	X	X	X	X	X	x	x
(9-country sample		00.070 21 25									
study, including											
south America and											
Asia)[Taiwan]											
Limlomwingse et al.	20.5%-	16.8%-EPDS	Х	Х	N	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
2006 (Thailand)	EPDS		X	37	N/		V	N/	N/	N/	X7
Liabsuetrakul et al.	х	9%-DSM-IV	А	Х	А	N	А	X	Х	Х	А
Fisher et al 2007	x	33%_EPDS	x	x	x	$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$	x	x	X	X	x
1 isiter et al. 2004	2 1	-55/0-LI DS	11	11	2 1		21	11	21	21	11

Region/studies	Prevalent antenatal depression	Prevalent postnatal depression	Onset PND estimates	Persistence AND estimates	Determinant s-AND	Determinants- PND	Determinant s-onset PND	Determinants- persistence AND	Consequences- AND	Consequences- PND	Consequences- persistence
(Vietnam)											
Navpreet et al. 2008	30.7%-		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
(Asian women in	EPDS										
UK)											
Lteif et al. 2005	13.9%-				\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
(Lebanon)	BDI										
South America (N=28)											
DON	9.6%-DSM	3.8%-DSM- IV	2.5%- DSM-IV	12.4%- DSM-IV	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Galler et al. 1999	Х	16%-ZUNG	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
(Barbados)											
Galler et al. 2004	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
(Barbados)											
Galler et al. 2004b	X		X	X	Х	Х	X	X	Х	Х	Х
(Ballor et al. 2000	v	10% ZUNG	v	v	v		v	v	v	2	v
(Barbados)	Λ	1970-20110	Λ	Λ	А	v	Λ	Λ	Λ	v	Λ
Galler et al. 2006	x		х	х	х	X	х	X	х		х
(Barbados)											
Falceto et al. 2004	Х	37%-DSM-	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
(Brazil)		IV									
Ferri et al. 2007	13.6%-		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х
(Brazil)	CIDI									,	
Pinheiro et al. 2011	Х	22.7%-EPDS	12.3%-	10.4%-	Х	Х	X	X	Х	N	Х
(brazil)	v	20.7% EDDC	EPDS	EPDS	V		V	V	V	V	V
(Brazil)	А	20.7%-EPDS	А	А	А	N	А	А	А	А	А
Lovisi et al 2005	19.1%-		x	x	V	X	x	x	x	x	x
(Brazil)	CIDI										21
Moraes et al. 2008	Х	19.1%-HAM-	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
(Brazil)		D									
Pinheiro et al. 2006	Х	26.3%-BDI	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
(Brazil)											
Da-Silva et al. 1998	X	42.8%-EPDS	Х	X	X	Х	X	X	Х	Х	Х
(Brazil)				**							
Faisal-Cury et al.	20.2%-		X	X	N	X	X	X	Х	Х	Х
2009 (DIaZII)	V	17.0%_EDDS	v	v	v	v	v	v	v		v
(Brazil)	Λ	17.9%-EFDS	л	Λ	Λ	Δ	Λ	Λ	Λ	v	Λ
Walters et al. 1998	Х	47%-CES-D	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

Region/studies	Prevalent antenatal	Prevalent postnatal	Onset PND estimates	Persistence AND	Determinant s-AND	Determinants- PND	Determinant s-onset PND	Determinants- persistence	Consequences- AND	Consequences- PND	Consequences-
	depression	depression		estimates	5 11 12		5 011500 1112	AND		11.2	persistence
(Chile)											
Florenzano et al. 2002 (Chile)	Х	50% (2 wks)- EPDS	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Risco et al. 2002 (Chile)	Х	48%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Da-Silva et al. 1998 (Chile)	Х	4.6%-CES-D	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Jadresic & Araya 1995 (Chile)	Х	36.7%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	X	Х	Х	Х
Jadresic et al. 1992 (Chile)	Х	28.7%-EPDS	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Alvarado et al. 1992 (Chile)	Х	20.5%-DSM- III-R	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Lozoff et al. 1987 (Costa Rica)	Х	34%-CES-D	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Lozoff et al. 1996 (Costa Rica)	Х	46%-CES-D	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Affonso et al. 2000 (9-country sample study, including south America and Asia)[Guyana]	X	57%-EPDS	Х	X	Х	Х	X	Х	X	X	X
Baker-Henningham et al. 2003(Jamaica)	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х
Lara & Le 2009 (Mexico)	36.8%- CES-D		Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Wolf et al. 2002 (postnatal depression in 3 samples (chile, costa rica)puts prevalence in Latin America between 35-50%	X	35-50%- CES-D	X	X	X	N	X	X	X	X	X

Rahman studies based on the same sample

Outcome Measures Explained:

SSQ-Shona symptom questionnaire

SCID- Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV disorders

GHQ-General health questionnaire

SADS-Schedules for affective disorders and schizo

HADS- Hospital anxiety and depression scale

MINI-Mini international neuro-psychiatric interview

PDT-Pitt depression questionnaire

CES-D: Centre for epidemiological study-depression scale

CIDI: Composite international diagnostic interview

HAM-D: Hamilton depression scale

BDI: Beck's Depression Inventory

ICD-10: International Classification of diseases, 10th edition

SPI: Goldberg's standardized psychiatric interview

Summary:

Outcome	Number	of studies	
	SSA	ASIA	SOUTH AMERICA
Prevalence AND	11	15	4
Prevalence PND	33	20	20
Onset estimates	6	9	1
persistence	7	6	1
Determinants AND	11	9	3
Determinants PND	20	16	5
Determinants onset	2	1	0
Determinants persistence	2	2	0
Consequences AND	5	7	1
Consequences PND	12	5	8
Consequences persistence	4	0	0

14. Appendix 3: Data Collection Forms

14.1 DON Form

NTAMPO HEALTH RESEAR	TAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CENTER				DON_	DON_PREG Form No.					FORMNO
BAAPAVITA/NEWHINTS "I	DON"										
ON (PREGNANCY) FORM											
BACKGROUND and ID:									1		_
1.1 Cluster code:											CLUSTER
1.2 Woman's ID :	Γ										WOMANID
1.3 Woman's name		I			1	L	1	1		-	
1.4 Week group:						Ionth v	sit num	ber:			MONTHNO
1.6 Date of visit:											DATEVISI
1.7 Staff code:			•••••				11				FW
2. STATUS: 2.1. Status at time of visit:	1. Presen	it	2. C	urrently	y in hos	pital	3. Te	mporar	ily abs	ent	STATUS
							6 Wi	1			
	4. Died		5. N	loved o	ut		0. 11	narawi	n		
	4. Died	alarm	5. N	loved o	ut		0. •• 1	Indrawi	n		
NOTE 1: IF NO WITNESS AT ' RESCHEDULE THE VISIT.	4. Died 7. False a TIME OF V	alarm ISIT, PLEAS	5. M	foved or P THE C		NTING	PROCE	ESS AN	n D		
NOTE 1: IF NO WITNESS AT ' RESCHEDULE THE VISIT. NOTE 2: THIS FORM IS ADM REPORTING SHE IS PREGNA AND THE PROFILE FORM. 3. INFORMATION AND CONS EXPLAIN THE OBJECTIVES OF DETAILED ON THE INFORMA' ENDORSE THE DECLARATION WJakenkan krataa a ekyerek Akyere me. Me nsemmisa a Na se mepene so se meka dw Mesane te asee se metumi at a memma sentia meyJJ saa.	4. Died 7. False a 7. False a TIME OF VI INISTERED NT. IT SHO SENT: F THIS QUES TION SHEET N BELOW: yer€ botae n me w⊃ no nh umadie yi ho we me ho afi	alarm ISIT, PLEAS AT THE FI DULD BE FI STIONNAIR Г. OBTAIN F e dwumadie wehwemu yi o a, mete nec iri nhwehwer	5. N E STOP E STOP CLED IN E TO TH IER AGI ahodo5 ho nso, w5whe nu yi an	Aoved o THE C SIT THE N AFTE IE WOM REEMEN a EWD n. wDayi a whe se n waa emu	ut CONSEI E WOM R THE IAN BY NT TO I hwehwa ino akyo neyɔ ny nhyehy	NTING IAN IS MONT PARTIC Emu yi ι erε me. inaa as εe bi ma	PROCH SEEN A H (PRE ING TH IPATE nu e. u bere	ESS AN FTER GNAN E STAT BY ASF	n D CY) F(TEMEN KING H	ORM TT HER TO)
NOTE 1: IF NO WITNESS AT ' RESCHEDULE THE VISIT. NOTE 2: THIS FORM IS ADM REPORTING SHE IS PREGNA AND THE PROFILE FORM. 3. INFORMATION AND CONS EXPLAIN THE OBJECTIVES OF DETAILED ON THE INFORMAT ENDORSE THE DECLARATION WJakenkan krataa a ekyerek Akyere me. Me nsemmisa a Na se mepene so se meka dw Mesane te asee se metumi at a memma sentia meyJJ saa. 3.1 Mepene so se meka nhwehv	4. Died 7. False a TIME OF VI INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTERED INISTER	alarm ISIT, PLEAS O AT THE FI OULD BE FI STIONNAIR Γ. OBTAIN F e dwumadie wehwemu yi o a, mete nec iri nhwehwεr	5. N E STOP E STOP CLED IN E TO TH ER AGI ahodo5 ho nso, w5whe nu yi an	Aoved o THE C SIT THE N AFTE IE WOM REEMEN a εw2 n. w2ayi a whε sε n. waa εmu	ut CONSEI E WOM R THE IAN BY NT TO I hwehwa ino akyo neyɔ ny nhyehy 1	NTING IAN IS MONT PARTIC Emu yi I ere me. inaa as tee bi mu . Aane	PROCH SEEN A H (PRE ING TH IPATE nu e. u bere	ESS AN FTER GNAN E STAT BY ASF	n D CY) F(TEMEN KING H	DRM TT HER TO) WAGREE
NOTE 1: IF NO WITNESS AT RESCHEDULE THE VISIT. NOTE 2: THIS FORM IS ADM REPORTING SHE IS PREGNA AND THE PROFILE FORM. 3. INFORMATION AND CONS EXPLAIN THE OBJECTIVES OF DETAILED ON THE INFORMAT ENDORSE THE DECLARATION WJakenkan krataa a Ekyerek Akyere me. Me nsemmisa a Na se mepene so se meka dw Mesane te asee se metumi at a memma sentia meyJJ saa. 3.1 Mepene so se meka nhwehw 3.2 Signature/thumbprint participant: Signature/thumbprint Vitness:	4. Died 7. False a 7. False a TIME OF VI INISTERED INIS INISTERED INIS INISTERED INIS INISTERED INIS INIS INISTERED INIS INI	alarm ISIT, PLEAS AT THE FI DULD BE FI STIONNAIR F. OBTAIN F e dwumadie wehwsmu yi o a, mete nec iri nhwehwsr	5. N E STOP RST VIS LLED IN E TO TH ER AGI ahodo2 ho nso, w2whe nu yi an	Aoved o P THE C SIT THE N AFTE IE WOM REEMEN a EWJ n wDayi a whe se n aa Emu	CONSEL E WOM R THE MAN BY NT TO I shwehwa uno akyu neyɔ ny nhyehy.	NTING IAN IS MONT READ PARTIC Emu yi I ere me. inaa as inaa as inaa as	PROCE SEEN A H (PRE ING TH IPATE nu e. u bere	ESS AN FTER GNAN E STAT BY ASF	n D CY) FC TEMEN KING H	ORM IT HER TO	O
NOTE 1: IF NO WITNESS AT ' RESCHEDULE THE VISIT. NOTE 2: THIS FORM IS ADM REPORTING SHE IS PREGNA AND THE PROFILE FORM. 3. INFORMATION AND CONS EXPLAIN THE OBJECTIVES OF DETAILED ON THE INFORMATION WDAKENKAN KRATAGA & EKYEREK Akyere me. Me nsemmisa at Na se mepene so se meka dw Mesane te asee se metumi at a memma sentia meyDD saa. 3.1 Mepene so se meka nhwehw 3.2 Signature/thumbprint participant: Signature/thumbprint Vitness: 3.4 Name of witness:	4. Died 7. False a TIME OF VI INISTERED INIS INISTERED INIS INISTERED INIS INISTERED INIS INISTERED INIS INIS INIS INISTERED INIS	Alarm ISIT, PLEAS AT THE FI DULD BE FI STIONNAIR F. OBTAIN F e dwumadie wehwemu yi o a, mete nec iri nhwehwer	5. N E STOP RST VIS LLED IN E TO TH ER AGI ahodoz ho nso, wowhe nu yi an	Aoved o P THE C SIT THE N AFTE IE WOM REEMEN a EWJ n wDayi a whe se n aa Emu	ut CONSEI E WOM R THE IAN BY NT TO I hwehwe ino akya neyɔ ny nhyehy [1]	NTING IAN IS MONT READ PARTIC ETE THE inaa as inaa as inaa as	PROCE SEEN A H (PRE ING TH IPATE nu e. u bere	ESS AN FTER GNAN E STAT BY ASF	n D CY) FC TEMEN KING H	ORM IT IER TO	O

4. PERCEPTIONS OF PREGNANCY:

4.1 Did YOU plan to fall pregnant? Note: If pregnancy terminated before your vis	sit please c	1. Y	es 2. No 3. or 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4	3. Not sure	PLAN	PREG
4.2 Do YOU have a preference for a boy or a girl?	1. Girl	2. Boy	3. No preference	4. NA	SEXP	REFW
4.3 Does your PARTNER have a preference for a boy or a girl?	1. Girl	2. Boy	3. No preference	4. Not Known	5. NA	SEXPREFP
4.4 Are you aware of the sex of your unborn baby(s) through a scan or other means?	1. Yes, Boy(s)	2. Yes, Girl(s)	3. Yes, Boy/Girl (twins)	4. No	PR	EKNOW

5. WELL-BEING IN PAST 2 WEEKS:

Now I would now like to ask you if you have been bothered by any of the following problems over the <u>last 2</u> <u>weeks.</u>

5.1 Have you been bothered by little interest or pleasure in doing things?

Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ wanigyeâ anaa wahosâpâ so ate âwo wo nneâma a wo yâ mu anaa?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	LINT
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

5.2 Have you been bothered by feeling down, depressed, or hopeless?

Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ wanigyeâ so ate anaa wo werâ aho anaasâ wo ho nni mfasoô?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	FEELDOWN
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

5.3 Have you been bothered by trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much? Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ wontumi nna anaasâ woda dodo?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	PSLEEP
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

5.4 Have you been bothered by feeling tired or having little energy? Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ âyâ a wote nka sâ wabrâ anaasâ ahoôden a âwô wo mu no sua?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	FEELTIRED
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mprɛɛ pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

5.5 Have you been bothered by poor appetite or overeating?

Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ wo kôn nnô aduane anaasâ wodidi boro soô?

0 No. not at all	1 Ves some of the time	2 Ves most of the time	3 Ves All the time	POORAPPI
0. NO, not at an	1. Tes, some of the time	2. Tes, most of the time	5. Tes, All the time	100101111
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

5.6 Have you been bothered by feeling bad about yourself or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down?

Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ wo ankasa wompâ wo ho, anaasâ wadi nkoguo wô abrabô mu anaasâ wadi woho ne wabusua hwammô?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	FEELBAD
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

5.7 Have you been bothered with trouble concentrating on things, such as engaging in a conversation or being able to complete your household chores?

Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ wontumi mfa wadwene nsi nneâma so, sâ âbia nkômmôdie mu anaasâ wo tumi yâ wo daada fie nnwuma die?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	PROBCONC
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, bere bia.	

5.8 Have you been bothered by moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed? Or the opposite, which is being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual? Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu âha wo sâ nnipa ahunu sâ wahokeka anaa wokasaa yâ brâoo dodo anaasâ wontumi tena faako na wokyinkyini basabasa a anka ânsâ sâ âba saa?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	SLOWFIDG
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

5.9 Have you been bothered by thoughts that you would be better off dead or thoughts of hurting yourself in some way?

Nnawôtwe mmienu a atwam yi mu ayâ adwendwene ama wo sâ âyâ mpo sâ anka wo wu anaasâ anka wofa kwan bi so di woho dâm?

0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	DEADHURT
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

Note: If all questions 5.1 to 5.9 are circled '0', please STOP - draw two parallel lines across rest of questions and go to information at end.

5.10 Have any of these problems made it difficult for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with people?

Ôhaw ahodoô(**spell out problems recorded**) a wo akasâ âha wo yi, ama ayâ den ama wo sâ, wo bâ yâ wo nnwuma, wo bâ hwâ wo fie nnoama so, annasâ wo ne afoforo bâdi nkitaho?

	1			1
0. No, not at all	1. Yes, some of the time	2. Yes, most of the time	3. Yes, All the time	DISABIL
Dabi, ɛnnte sa koraa	Aane, etɔ berɛ bia	Aane mpree pii	Aane, berɛ bia.	

END OF DON PREGNANCY FORM. CHECK THE FORM, THANK THE WOMAN

14.2 Profile Form

KINTAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CENTER KIVAP OBAAPAVITA PROJECT PROFILE FORM 270505 ENG						PR	PROFILE Form No.						FORMNO
BACKGROUND and ID:													
Cluster code:												CI	LUSTER
Woman's ID:												w	OMANID
Woman's name:		•						•		•		Nz	AME
Date of visit:	•••••											D	ATEVISIT
1.5 Staff code:												FV	V
1.6. Status at time of visit:	1. Pr	esent		2.	Currer	ntly in l	nospita	1 3	. Temp	oorari	ly abse	ent	STATUS
	4. Di	ed		5.	Moved	l out		6	.Withd	lrawn	l		
1.7. Are you filling in this form as : 1. FW 2. IEC INT - a fieldworker visiting a woman you have found to be pregnant (FW) 0. IEC INT - or as a member of the IEC team making your random adherence checks (IEC)?. 0. IEC INT								INTTYPE					
SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC CHA	ARACT	ERISTI	CS:										
2.1. In what year were you born	? [190	8 = NK]		•••••			1	1	9			YEARBORN
2.2. In what month were you bo	rn? [88	3 = NK]											MONTHBORN
2.3. Do you know your age? (in	years)	[88 =]	JK]										AGE
2.4 DI ACE THE MOTHED IN		ле тие		OWIN	GAGI	C C P O				l			
1. 15 - 19 years	2. 20 -	-29 yea	rs		3. 30) – 45 y	vears		4. M	lore t	han 45	years	AGEGRP
	1 10												
2.5. Hignest educational level re 1. None		2. Prima	ry scho	ool			3. M	iddle/c	ontinu	ation	scho	ool,	MEDLEV
4 Technical/commonoial/SSS		Doct	niddla	2011222	tagal	han	JSS		ndom		ncina		_
secondary school	t	raining,	secreta	arial	- teaci	liei	teacl	her, pol	ytechr	– nu nic, et	c.		
7. University	8	3. Not k	nown				//////	///////////////////////////////////////		//////	/////		
2.6. Number of years completed education]	l at the	highest	level re	eached?	[88 =	NK, 9	9 = NA	A, 00 =	no				NUMYRS
2.7. Are you currently single. m	arried.	or livins	g with a	a man, c	or are v	ou wid	lowed.	divorc	ed or s	epara	ited?		
1. Married	2	Living	togeth	er			3. 1	Widowe	ed	•			MARRIED
4. Divorced	5	Separa	ted				6. 5	Single,	unmar	ried			1

2.8. What is your religion?

2.8. What is	your re	ligion?					-							_
1.Catholic	2. Pro	otestant	3. Penteco	ostal	4. Mu	slim	5. Tra Afric	aditional an	6	. Other	:			RELIGION
2.9. What et	nnic	11. Akar	e.g.Bono.	12.	Bimoda			13. Daga	rti.		14. Ft	lani		ETHNIC
group de	o you	Ashant	i, Fanti.etc.	anti.etc. Chokosi Fra				Frafra	1, Ku	Isasi				
belong t	o?	15 Ga /	\ danaha	16	Gonia 1	Dagom	ha	17 Konk	omh	9	18 M	0		_
-		15. Ga, F Ewe	Audingue,	Ma	moriisi	Dagoin	Ua,	Rasar	e.	а,	10. 14	0		
		19 Sisal	a Wala	20	Zambra	ha		21 Band	v a/Par	ntra	22 0	her		
		17. 51541	<i>a</i> , <i>w a a</i>	20.	Zamora	Uu		21. Dunu	u/1 u1	ina	22.00			
2.10. Do you	i own ai	ny land?									1. Y	es	2. No	WOWNLAND
2.11 Do you	hovo l	and on	1 Vac m		Vac. no	rt of	2 1	Voc nort o	f	1 V	ac ront	ad	5 No	OWNI AND
2.11. D0 you	i liave la	2 110 OII	1. Tes, III	y 2.	mily lon	at or ad	5. 1 hug	hand's	1	4. 1	es, rem	eu	J. NO	OWINEARD
which y	Ju Tarin	-	Uwii	14	inny ian	lu	nus	Juliu S		lanu				
2.12. What d	0 001 9	row (on v	our land)?											
1. Food item	s. main	v for 2	Food items	. maii	nly for	3. Cas	sh cron	s: tobacco	D. Cas	shew.	9. N	A. nc	o farm	CROPS
home cons	sumptio	n 2	sale on the	marke	et	cocoa	. etc.	5. 100 uee t	, eu	511 c (, ,	<i></i>	, 10	, iui iii	
	r	I					,				1			_
2.13. Do you	have a	regular ca	sh income/a	are you	ı a salari	ed wor	ker?							
1. Yes, profe	ssional	- teacher,	nurse, 2	2. Yes,	clerical	/secreta	arial	3. Yes,	sean	nstress,				SALARY
accounts, ad	ministra	ative						haird	resse	er etc.				
4. Yes, trade	r/food s	eller	5	5. Yes,	laboure	r/dome	stic	6. Other	r:				7. No	
				wor	ker/farm	ner								
SAY NOW	YOU A	RE GOIN	G TO ASK	ABOU	JT THE	'HOUS	SEHO	LD' AND	EX	PLAIN	WHA	ΤA		
HOUSEHOI	LD IS													
2.14. Who is	the hou	isehold he	ad?										-	
1. You	2. You	ır husband	3. Your	father	4. Ye	our mo	ther	5. Other:					8. NK	HOUSEHEAD
2.15. In what	t vear w	as the hou	sehold head	l born?	? [1908 =	= NK1				1	9			ННУОВ
20100110 0000	e jeur n		iseniora neue		[1)00].				-	-			
														-
2.16. How o	ld is the	household	d head now	(in yea	urs)? [88	= NK]			• • • • • •		•••••			HHAGE
2.17. What v	vas the	household	head's high	est edi	ucationa	l level	reache	d?						
1. None			2. Primary	school		3	.Middl	e.continu	a-	4. Tec	hnical	com	nercial	HHMEDLEV
						ti	on sch	ool, JSS		SSS. S	becond:	ary sc	hool	
5. Post-midd	le colle	ge,	6. Post seco	ndary.	nursing	. 7	. Unive	ersity		8. Not	knowr	<u>) ~-</u> 1		
teacher train	ing, sec	retarial	teacher, pol	ytechn	ic	,,								
L	U,		· 1	2					1					
2.18. What w	vas the	number of	years that the	he hou	sehold h	ead co	mplete	d at the h	ighes	st level				HHNUMYRS
reached	1? [88 =	= NK, 00 =	no educati	on]										
	-			-										
2.19. Does th	ne house	ehold head	l have a regu	ılar cas	sh incon	ne or sa	laried	job?						
1. Profession	al – tea	cher, nurse	e, 2. Cler	ical /	3. Tra	der / b	usiness	sman /	4. E	mploye	ed trade	esmar	n, driver	HHSALARY
accounts,	adminis	strator etc.	secre	tarial	driv	ver with	h own	car etc.	wi	thout o	wn car	, buil	der, etc.	
5. Farmer/lal	oourer/c	lomestic	6. Othe	er:							7. N	0	8. NK	
Worker														
2.20. Do me	mbers o	f the house	ehold do an	y farm	ing?						1. Y	es	2. No	HHFARMING
					-									
				-	10						4			
2.21 Door o	•		مستحملها معام		A9						1 V	00	1.0 Ma	
2.21. D0es a	nyone 1	n the house	enold own a	iny lan	u :	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	1. 1	CS	2. INO	HIOWINLAND

HHOWNFARM 2.22. Does anyone in the household own their own farm?..... 1. Yes 2. No

2.23. What do they grow?					
1. Food items, mainly for	2. Food items, mainly for	3. Cash crops – tobacco, cashew,	9. NA, n	o farm	HHCROP
home consumption	sale on the market	cocoa, etc.			
2.24. Does anyone in the ho	ousehold own: Chickens	or ducks?	1. Yes	2. No	CHICKEN
			1. 105	2.110	
	Sheep or	goats?	1. Yes	2. No	SHEEP
	Other ani	mals?	1. Yes	2. No	OTHANIM
	Table?		1. Yes	2. No	TABLE
	Sleeping	mattress?	1. Yes	2. No	MATTRESS
	Cupboard	l, wardrobe, room divider?	1. Yes	2. No	DIVIDER
	Mosquito	o net?	1. Yes	2. No	MOSNET
	Sewing n	nachine?	1. Yes	2. No	MACHINE
	Bicycle?.		1. Yes	2. No	BICYCLE
	Radio?		1. Yes	2. No	RADIO
	TV?		1. Yes	2. No	TV
	Gas or ele	ectric cooker?	1. Yes	2. No	COOKER
	Fridge or	freezer?	1. Yes	2. No	FRIDGE
	Motorcyc	le?	1. Yes	2. No	MOTORCYCLE
	Car?		1. Yes	2. No	CAR
				1	1
2.25. Does your household	have electricity?		1. Yes	2. No	ELECTRIC
					1

2.26. What is the main source of drinking water for members of your household?

11. Piped into	12. Public tap	13. Handpump /	14. Closed well	15. Open well	WATER
dwelling/yard/plot		closed bore hole			
16. Stream / river	17. Lake / dam /pond	18. Water trucks	19.Rain water	20. Other	

2.27. How long does it take for you to go there, get water and come back?

1. Less than 15 minutes	2. 15 minutes- less than 30 minutes	3. 30 minutes – less than 60 minutes	REACH
4. 60 minutes or more	9. NA / drinking water source is in con	pound	

2.28. What kind of toilet facility does your household have?

	5 5			_
1. Flush latrine / WC	2. Ventilated improved pit /VIP /KVIP	3. Other pit latrine	4. Open fields	DEFAEC
5. Defaecate in house, fa	aeces transferred elsewhere / bucket latrine	6. Other:		

2.29. What are the total number of rooms in the household used for sleeping? $88 = NK$		ROOMS
2.30. What are the total number of people that slept in the household last night? $88 = NK$		RESIDENT

2.31. Do you own or rent the house you live in, or do you have another type of arrangement, such as "perching"?

1. Sole Ownership	2. Joint Ownership	3. Renting	4. Family/relation's house	OWNHOUSE
5. House provided rent free	6. Perching	7. Other:	8. NK	

MATERIALS USED IN THE	CONSTRUCTION (OF THE HOUSE [OBS	SERVE]						
2.32. Floor of sleeping room	1. Cement	2. Mud/clay	3. Ot	her:		8. NK	FLOOR			
2.33. Roofing	1. Metal/asbestos	2. Thatch/mud	3. Ot	her:			ROOF			
2.34. Wall	1. Cement	2. Mud	3. Ot	her:			WALL			
					-		_			
2.35. Does the household have a separate room with a roof just for cooking? 1. Yes 2. No 8. NK										
					1	1	-			
2.36. Does the household have a separate sleeping room for children?1. Yes2. No8. NK										
2.37. Does the household have a domestic worker not related to the household head? 1. Yes 2. No 8. NK										
							-			

3. FERTILITY AND OBSTETRIC HISTORY

Now, I would like to ask you some questions about any pregnancies and children that you have had.

3.1 How many male children of your own are living with you right now? [00 = NONE]	BOYALIV1
3.2 How many male children of your own are living elsewhere? [00 = NONE]	BOYALIV2
3.3 How many female children of your own are living with you right now? [00 = NONE]	GIRLALIV1
3.4 How many female children of your own are living elsewhere? [00 = NONE]	GIRLALIV2
3.5 Do you have any children who were born alive but died later? How many? [0 = NONE]	DEADCHN
3.6. Have you ever lost a pregnancy? How many? [0 = NONE]	ABORT
3.7. Have you ever had a stillbirth? How many? [0 = NONE]	STILLBIRTH
3.8. Have you ever had an ectopic pregnancy? How many? [0 = NONE]	ECTOPIC
3.9. CALCULATE THE TOTAL NUMBER OF PREGNANCIES SHE HAS HAD, THAT IS THE SUM FOR 3.1 – 3.8 [DO NOT INCLUDE THE CURRENT PREGNANCY]	
CHECK THIS NUMBER WITH HER AS FOLLOWS:	
3.9.1. I would like to check with you the total number of pregnancies you have had. From1. Yes2. Nowhat you have told me, you have had a total of [SUM] pregnancies. Is this correct?2. No	CORRECT

IF THE ANSWER IS NO, REPEAT QUESTIONS 3.1 TO 3.8 UNTIL YOU HAVE AGREEMENT. NOTE THAT THIS NUMBER SHOULD NOT INCLUDE THE CURRENT PREGNANCY IF SHE IS PREGNANT. NOTE ALSO THAT IN OUR DEFINITION TWINS COUNT AS TWO PREGNANCIES AND TRIPLETS AS THREE.

3.10. Have you ever had a Caesarea	n Section?				[1. Yes	2. No	CS			
3.11. Have you ever had a delivery instrument?	where the bab	y had to be pull	ed out with	ı an		1. Yes	2. No	VACUUM			
3.12. DATE OF BIRTH OF LAST CHILD [THE ONE BEFORE THIS PREGNANCY OR THE ONE BEFORE THE CHILD JUST BORN; 080808 = Not known; 090909 = No child]											
3.13. Where did you deliver your la [USE FACILITY KEY CODF	st child? E; 99 = NA, N	o child or delive	ered at hom	ne]				WHEREDEL			
4. HEALTH HISTORY: Now I wo	uld like to ask	some questions	about you	r healtl	h						
4.1. How would you describe your	state of health	in general?	1. Excelle	ent	2. Good,	3.]	Poor	HEALTHY			
4.2. Have you been admitted to hos 1. Yes, for illness during pregnancy	pital for more 2. Yes, fo	than 2 days in the theorem of the theorem of the theorem of the term of term o	he past 12 3. Ye	months es, for a	s? accident/ir	ijury	4. No	ADMIT			
4.3. Has a doctor ever told you if yo	ou have any of	f the following i	llnesses?								
]	Heart disease	or hypertension	?		1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	HEARTDIS			
	Varicose veins	s?			1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	VEINS			
]	Kidney diseas	e?			1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	KIDNEY			
	Asthma?				1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	ASTHMA			
	ГВ?				1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	ТВ			
]	Epilepsy?				1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	EPILEPSY			
]	Diabetes?				1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	DIABETES			
	Jaundice or he	patitis			1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	JAUNDICE			
	Any other seri	ous illness:			1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	OTHILL			
4.4. Do you currently REGULARL condition?	Y take any me	edicines for an il	llness or he	alth	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	MEDICINE			
4.5. Have you ever had any surgical	l operation on	your womb?		4 37	an other		5 N-	WOMBODS			
1. res, U-section 2. Yes, fr	idro1a	5. Yes, D&C		4. Y	es, other:		5. No	WONDOPS			
4.6. Have you ever had any other su 1. Yes (SPECIFY):	rgical operati	on?					2. No	OTHOPS			

END OF PROFILE FORM. CHECK YOUR FORM AND THANK THE RESPONDENT

14.3 Birth Form

KINTAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CENTERBIRTH Form No.KIVAP OBAAPAVITA PROJECTFORNEW BIRTH FORM 15052009 ENGFOR
--

COMPLETE THIS FORM FOR ANY PREGNANCY ENDING AT SIX OR MORE MONTHS WHETHER SHE HAD A LIVE BIRTH OR STILLBIRTH.

1. BACKGROUND and ID:

Cluster code:												CLUSTER
1.2 Woman's ID :												WOMANID
Woman's name:												
Date of visit:												DATEVISIT
Staff code:												FW
2. END OF PREGNANCY Date of delivery:												DATDELIV
How many babies did you ha	ve?											NUMBABY
Did this pregnancy end	l early, on tin	ne, or l	ate?		l. Early		2. On t	ime	3. L	ate	8. NK	PREMBAB
How many months pregnant	were you with	n this c	hild/ch	nildren	? (88 = 1	NK)						GESTATE
3. DURING PREGNANCY												
How many times did you reco [00 = NONE] [ASK TO	eive antenatal D SEE ANTE	care f NATA	rom a o AL CAI	doctor RE RE	or nurse CORD,	durin EXCL	g pregna JUDE IL	ncy? LNESS]				ANC
How many tetanus toxoid imi $[00 = NONE, 88 = NK,$	munisations d ASK TO SEE	lid you E ANY	receiv MED	e durir ICAL I	ig pregn RECOR	ancy? DS, Y	ELLOW	CARD]				TETTOXD
How many tetanus toxoid imi $[00 = NONE, 88 = NK, 1]$	munisations h ASK TO SEE	ad you E ANY	u ever n MED	eceive ICAL I	d before RECOR	this p DS, Y	regnanc _i ELLOW	y? [CARD]				ТЕТТОХВ
WAS HAEMOGLOBIN< 10 ATTENDANCE? [CHE	EVER RECO ECK FROM H	ORDE IER C	D DUF ARD;	RING H 8 = NC	IER AN O CARD	[C]		1. Ye	s 2	2. No	8. NK	HAEMOG
During pregnancy did	you sleep und	ler a be	ed net?		1. Never	: 2	. Someti	mes	3. Alv	ways	8. NK	BEDNET
Did a doctor or a nurse ever s.	ay you had m	alaria	during	pregna	ancy?			1. Ye	s 2	2. No	8. NK	MALARIA
Are you currently registe	ered with the	new di	strict n	nutual l	nealth ir	Isurano	ce	1. Ye	s 2	2. No	8. NK	HEALTHINS

scheme?

Is your baby/babies registered with the new health insurance scheme?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA, s	tillbirth	BABYINS

Have you had any visits from a CBSV?

3.9	During pregnancy?	0. No (No visits)	1. Yes (1 visit)	2. Yes (2 visits)	3. Yes (3 or more visits)	8. NK	CBSVPREG
3.10	Since delivery?	0. No (No visits)	1. Yes (1 visit)	2. Yes (2 visits)	3. Yes (3 or more visits)	8. NK	CBSVPP

4. LABOUR AND DELIVERY: Now I would like to ask you some questions about the labour and delivery.

Did you deliver in a health facility, on the way, or at home?

1. Clinic/hospital/	2. At home	3. At the TBA's	4. On the way to the clinic/ hospital/	PLACEDE
Private maternity home			maternity home	
5. On the way to the TBA's	6. Multiple birth	is at different	7. Other (specify):	
	places, specif	y:		

Was the decision to go to the health facility [ASK IF ANSWER TO Q4.1="1" or "4", OTHERWISE CIRCLE "9. NA"]

Planned during pregnancy?	1.Yes	2. No	9. NA, did not deliver in a	PLANNEDHF
			facility or on the way to one	
Taken because problems occurred in	1.Yes	2. No	9. NA, did not deliver in a	EMERGENCY
labour/delivery?			facility or on the way to one	

Did the waters break before labour	1. Before labour started	2. During labour or	8. Don't know	WATERBRK
or during labour?		delivery		

How much time before you started labour did the waters break?

[ASK IF ANSWER TO Q4.4="1" or OTHERWISE CIRCLE "9. NA"]							
1. Less than 4 hours	2. 4 to 23 hours	3. 24 hours or more	8. Don't know	9. NA, broke	TIMEBRK		
				during labour			

Did the person assisting with delivery wash their hands before or during the delivery?

	<u> </u>				_
1. Yes, with soap	2. Yes, with water only	3. No	8. NK	9. NA, nobody assisted with	WASHHANDS
				delivery	

On what surface did you deliver? PROMPT

 1. Indoors, uncovered	2. Indoors, t	floor covered with plastic	3. Outdoors, inside of the c	ompound	DELSURF
floor	sheet/mat/cloths/rags			-	
4. Outdoor outside of the co	mpound	5. Other (specify)		8. NK	

Did you have a Caesarean Section

1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	CS
1. Yes	2. No	9. NA,	KNOWCS
		no CS	

Did you know you were going to have a CS before you went into labour?

Now, I would like to ask about SERIOUS problems you may have experienced during labour or soon after delivery.

Did	you	experience:
Dia	you	experience.

Surgery to repair or remove the womb?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	SURGERY
Tear in the vagina	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	VAGTEAR
Heavy bleeding from vagina during labour, delivery or after delivery?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	DBLEED
Convulsions during labour, delivery or after delivery?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	DCONVUL
Loss of consciousness during labour, delivery or after delivery?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	LOSSCONC
Did somebody have to remove the placenta from inside the uterus?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	RETPLAC
Were you given an IV drip?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	IVDRIP
Were you given a blood transfusion?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	BLOODTR
The umbilical cord coming out before the baby?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	PROLAPSE
Dark green fluid in the birth fluids?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	MECONIUM
	I]

5. PROBLEMS SINCE THE BIRTH: Now I'd like to ask about problems you may have experienced since the birth.

Have you experienced any of the following?				
Large clots and heavy bleeding from the vagina	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	PPCLOT
Offensive or foul smelling vaginal discharge	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	PPDISCHARG
Hot body	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	PPFEVER
Leaking urine or faeces	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	PPLEAK
Breast infection: swollen, painful, "pompo", discharge, etc.	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	PPMASTITIS
Any other serious problem I have not mentioned [SPECIFY]	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	PPOTHPROB
				_

SAY THAT YOU WILL NOW LIKE TO ASK SOME QUESTIONS ABOUT THE BABY (BABIES).

6. FIRST BABY			С	CHILD1ID					
6.1 Where was this baby b	orn?								
1. Clinic/hospital	2. Private maternity home	3. At home/TBA	 On the way to the clini- hospital /TBA 	c/ B1PLACEBIR					
6.2 IF THE ANSWER TO 6.1 IS 1 OR 2, STATE WHERE. [USE CODE FROM FACILITY KEY]									
6.3 Was this baby born via	a normal delivery through the	vagina?							
1.Normally, through	2. Baby was pulled with	3. By caesarean sectio	n 4. Other. Specify.	B1TYPDELIV					
the vagina	an instrument								
6.4 Who delivered this bal	by?								
1. Doctor 2. Midwife	e 3. TBA 4.Other	5. Deliver	red 8. Don't kn	OW B1WHODELIV					

1. Doctor	2. Midwife	3. TBA	4.Other	5. Delivered	8. Don't know	B1WHODELIV
			person/relative	myself		

6.5 Was the baby	born alive ie.	. did it cry	or move or br	eathe	after birth	?			1. Ye	es	2. No	B1ALIVE
6.6 Is the baby sti	ll alive?	1. Yes2. No, died withian hour of birth			a 3. No first d	, died ay	4. No, died after 1 day			9.] stil	NA, lbirth	BISTATUS
6.7 If the baby died, how many days old was it when it died? (99= Still alive OR Stillbirth)										B1AGEDIED		
6.8 Is/was the bab	by a male or f	emale?					1. N	Male	2. Fem	ale	8. NK	B1SEX
6.9 Which part of	the baby can	ne out first	:?		1							
1. Head	2. Feet/bott	om 4.	Hand/arm		5. Other	. SPECIFY	(8.1	NK	BIPOSN
6.10 Does the bab [EXAMINE /	oy have any c AND SPECII	ongenital : FY]:	abnormality?		1. Yes	2. No	8.	. NK	9. N.	A, bal	by dead	B1ANOMALY
6.11 How big was when he/she was	s the baby born?	1. Very	tiny	2. 8	Smaller th	an average	;	3. A	verage	size		B1SIZE
[PROMP]	[]	4. Large babie	r than most s	5. \	5. Very big baby 8. D			8. D	on't kno	ow		
ASK TO SEE AN 6.12 Weighing Ca	Y HEALTH ard/Discharge	OR FAM Slip	ILY CARDS I	FOR T	THE BAB	Y.	Γ	1. See	n 2	. Not	seen	B1HLTHCARD
6.13 Family Card								1. See	n 2	. Not	seen	B1FAMCARD
RECORD BIRTH	IWEIGHTS I	FROM CA	RDS (IN KIL	OGR/	AMS; 888	S = NO RE	L COI	RD)				
6.14 FROM HEA	ALTH CARD	/DISCHA	RGE SLIP:						<u> </u>			B1BIRTHWT
FROM FAMILY 6.15 BII	CARD: RTHWEIGH	Г										B1BIRWTFC
6.16 CO	LOUR CODI	NG OF W	EIGHT	1	. Red	2. Yell	ow	3	Green		9. NA,	B1LBWCODE
					<u> </u>	(1.3-2.4	+7Ν	<u>-g) (</u>	2.J+ N g) ·	ino cafu	
IF RESPONSE T PLEASE DRAW AND GO TO SE	FO Q6.6 IS " 7 A DOUBLI CTION 7.	'9" (STIL E LINE T	L BIRTH) OI HROUGH TI	R "2" HE RI	(BABY I EST OF '	DIED WIT FHE QUE	THI ST	N AN IONS	HOUR FOR T	COF THIS	BIRTH) BABY,	
What was used t	o cut the umb	vilical core	19									
1. Clinic/hospital instrument (scissors, razorblade, knife, etc)				2. New razorblade/knife (not from clinic/hospital)				B1CORDCUT				
3. Old razorblade,	/knife (not fro	om clinic/l	nospital)		4. Other	•					8. NK	-
What was used t	o tie the cord	2								•		-
1. New thread	2. U	sed thread		3. Otł	ner:			8. NK				B1TIECORD
Since hirth who	at has been ar	nlied to th	e hahv's umhi	lical	ord stum	n?						

Since birth, what has been applied to the baby's umbilical cord stump?1. Nothing. Left it alone2. Hospital clinic medicine3. Shea butter4. Leaves or herbs5. Palm oilB1CORDMED

6. Ground nut oil	7. Other:	8. NK

Was the baby dried after	1. Yes, Before	2. Yes, After	3. Yes, After	4. No, Not dried	8. NK	B1DRIED
delivery?	cord tied	cord tied,	placenta	after birth		
		Before placenta	delivered			
		delivered				
Was the baby wrapped after	1. Yes, Before	2. Yes, After	3. Yes, After	4. No, Not	8. NK	BIWRAPPED
delivery?	cord tied	cord tied,	placenta	wrapped		
-		Before placenta	delivered			
		delivered				

6.22 How soon after birth was the baby first put to the mother's breast?

	5 1				
1. Immediately	2. Within an hour of birth	3. After 1 hour but	within first	4. Between 12 & 24 hours	B1BFSTART
		12 hours			
5. Day 2	6. Day 3	7. Day 4 or after	8. NK	9. NA, mother did not	
				breastfeed baby	

6.23 IF Q6.22 WAS "1", "2' OR "3" CIRCLE "99/NA", OTHERWISE ASK:

Why was the baby not put to the mother's breast in the first 12 hours after birth?

11 M. (1	10 (1.11.111 /	12 (1.11.1.1	DIDAVIDEAS			
11. Mother III / Weak	12. Child III / Weak	13. Child died	DIDATIKLAS			
14. Nipple / breast problem	15. Not enough milk	16. Mother working				
	e	C				
17. Child refused	19. Did not want to give colostrum	20. Mother died				
	-					
10.01		C	-			
18. Other	99. NA, mother did breastfeed baby in first 12hrs					

In the first 24 hours after birth, Was the baby offered anything else: [PROMPT]:

(up to 2 hours total)

	Breastmilk fro	m another woman?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	B1DAYWET	
	Other milk [P] Lactogen, SM	ROMPT for: cow's milk A]?	s, tinned milk, infant formula,	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	B1DAYOTH
	Other fluids [H	PROMPT for: water, tea	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	B1DAYFLUID	
	Any foods [PF cerelac, nutrin	ROMPT for: any solid font in the solid font for the solid font for the solid for the s	e, 1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	B1DAYSOLID	
	Did you give colos	trum to this baby?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	B1COLOSTRU	
	How soon after del	ivery was the baby bath	ned?				
	1. Less than 1 hour	2. 1-6 hours	3. after 6 hours but less 4 than 24 hours 4	4. after 24 ho	ours 8.	. NK	B1FIRSBATH
	Was the water heate	ed?		1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	B1HOTWATER
	Was the baby well i	n the first 24 hours afte	r birth?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	B1DAYWELL
	Have you heard of SK	IN-to-SKIN Contact be	etween the mother and 1. Yes	2. No 8	B. NK B	1HEARDSS	С
L	her baby as a way to t	ake care of the new bab	y?				
	6.33 A. Was the bab	y placed in SKIN-to-SI	KIN contact in the first 24 hours a	after delivery	?		
	1. Not at all	2. A little	3. Moderate amount 4. A lot		5. Most c	of the time	B1SKTOSKIN

(between 2 to 5

hours total)

(more than 5 but

less than 12 hours)

(day & night, more

than 12 hours)

1. Before the cord	2. After the cord	3. After the	4. After one hour	8. NK	9. NA, baby was	B1IMMSKIN				
tied	tied, before the	placenta delivered,	after delivery		not put SKIN-to-					
	placenta delivered	within the first hour			SKIN at all.					
		after birth.								

6.33 B. IF Q6.33 A, was "1. Not at all" then circle "9/NA". IF Q6.33 A. was "2", "3", "4" or "5" then ask: How soon after delivery was the baby placed SKIN-to-SKIN for the first time?.

IF BABY HAS DIED PLEASE DRAW A DOUBLE LINE THROUGH THE REST OF THE **QUESTIONS FOR THIS BABY, AND GO TO SECTION 7.**

SAY THAT YOU WILL NOW ASK SOME QUESTIONS ABOUT THE LAST 24 HOURS

How many times did you bath your baby during the day yesterday? 88= NK		B1BATHE
How many times did you breastfeed your baby during the day yesterday? 88= NK		B1BFDAY
How many times did you breastfeed your baby during the night? 88= NK		B1BFNIGHT

Did the baby sleep under a bednet last night?

In the last 24 hours, was the baby offered anything else: [PROMPT]: Breastmilk from another woman?

> Other milk [PROMPT for: cow's milk, tinned milk, infant formula, Lactogen, SMA]? Other fluids [PROMPT for: water, tea, traditional medicines]?

Any foods [PROMPT for: any solid foods, gruels, porridge, bread, rice, cerelac, nutrimix]?

SAY THAT YOU WILL NOW ASK SOME QUESTIONS ABOUT WHETHER THE BABY HAS BEEN WELL

Since birth, has the baby had any illness that you thought was serious or severe

B1ILLNESS

B1CURSOLID

B1ABNCRY

B1UNRESP

B1WEAK

B1DIFFBR

B1FASTBR

B1HOTBODY

B1COLDBODY

8. NK B1BEDNET

IF ANSWER IS NO, DRAW A DOUBLE LINE THROUGH THE REST OF THE SECTION, AND GO TO SECTION 7. What illness/illnesses did the baby have?

a miless/milesses and the baby have:				
Weak, abnormal crying, or no crying	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA
Unresponsive/Lethargic	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA
Too weak to feed or stopped feeding	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA
Difficulty breathing	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA
Fast breathing	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA
Very hot body	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA
Very cold body	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA

1. Yes 2. No 8. NK **B1CURRWET B1CURROTH** 1. Yes 2. No 8. NK **B1CURFLUID** 1. Yes 2. No 8. NK

8. NK

2. No

2. No

1. Yes

1. Yes

1. Yes

2 No

									7
	Convulsions/shocks	1. Y	es	2. N	lo	8. N	٧K	9. NA	B1CONVULS
	Jaundice	1. Y	es	2. N	lo	8. N	٧K	9. NA	B1JAUNDICE
	Vomits all feeds	1. Y	es	2. N	lo	8. N	١K	9. NA	B1VOMIT
	Asram	1. Y	es	2. N	lo	8. N	٧K	9. NA	B1ASRAM
	Puni	1. Y	es	2. N	lo	8. N	٧K	9. NA	B1PUNI
	Other serious illness, please specify:	1. Y	es	2. N	lo	8. N	NK	9. NA	B1OTHERILL
Was care s	sought outside the home for this illness/illnesses?	<u></u>	1. Y	'es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1CARESEE
Who was co	nsulted?		1 V		2 No		8 NK		BITRADHEAL
Druggist?			1. 1 1. Y	'es	2. No	,	8. NK	9.NA	B1DRUGGIST
CBSV?			1. Y	es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1CBSVCARE
Doctor/nurse	e at a clinic?		1. Y	es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1CLINCARE
Doctor/nurse	e at a hospital?		1. Y	'es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1HOSPCARE
Was he/she	admitted to the hospital?				1. Ye	s	2. No	9. NA	BIADMITTED
Where was ["83	he/she admitted? [ENTER CODE FROM FACILITY KE 8"=Not known, "99"=Not applicable]	Y]							BIPLADM
Did anyone	advise you to take the baby to the clinic or hospital during	this i	llness	/ illne	esses?			<u>.</u>	
Family mem	ber?		1. Y	'es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1FAMREFER
Traditional h	iealer?		1. Y	'es	2. No)	8. NK	9.NA	B1THREFER
Druggist?			1. Y	'es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1DRGREFER
CBSV?			1. Y	'es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1CBSVREF
TBA?			1. Y	'es	2 No		8. NK	9.NA	B1TBAREFER
						1			

IF ONLY ONE BABY END FORM HERE, DRAW A DOUBLE LINE THROUGH THE REST OF THE FORM, THANK THE RESPONDENT, AND CHECK YOUR FORM.

<u>NOTE</u>: THIS FORM IS ADMINISTERED TO EACH BABY IN THE EVENT OF A MULTIPLE BIRTH

14.4 Process Evaluation Form

KINTAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CENTER KIVAP NEWHINTS PROJECT PROCESS EVALUATION FORM ENG 17032009				PROCESS EVALUATION Form No.					m No.	FORMNO			
BACKGROUND and ID:													
Cluster code:													CLUSTER
1.2 Woman's ID:													WOMANID
Woman's name													
Date of visit:													DATEVISIT
Staff code:													FW
Status of mother at time of visit:	1. Present 2. Currently				ntly in	hosp	ital	3. Te	empora or anotl	arily a ner rea	bsent ason)	STATUS	
	4. Died	l		-	5. Move	d out			6.Wi	ithdrav	vn		
Date of mother's death [DRAW A LINE THROUGH IF NOT APPLICABLE]								DATEDIED					
STOP IF THE MOTHER IS DRAW A LINE ACROSS T RESCHEDULE VISIT LAT	S NOT PR HE REST ER IN DA	ESENT OF TH Y OR	Γ. IE FOI WEEK	RM II E IF N	F STAT MOTHE	US = 2 R IS	2, 4, 5 TEM	5, or (POR	6. ARIL	Y ABS	SENT		
STATUS OF THE BABY													
2.1 Is the baby (babies) still al	ive?						1. All	l Aliv	'e	2.B	aby(ie	es) died	BSTATUS
IF ANY BABY DIED, DRA	W DOUBL	E LIN	E THR	OUG	H REST	Г OF	FOR	M, E	ND IN	TERV	VIEW	7	_
CBSV VISITS PEAD OUT: Lwould like to a	sk vou som	a quast	ions ab	outvi	site that	CRSV	a have	o hoo	n maki	'na			
Did you have any visits from a delivery and newborn baby?	a CBSV in	which l	ne discu	issed a	about yo	our pro	egnan	cy,		<i>ng.</i> 1. Ye	s 2	2. No	VISITANY
If Not , Why not? [PROMPT]													
CBSV did not visit me						1. Y	les	2. N	No	8. NK	C 9	9. NA	VISNOCBSV
I did not have time for these v	isits					1. 1	les	2. N	No	8. NK	C Ç	9. NA	VISNOTIME
I did not like/trust CBSV						1. 1	les	2. N	No	8. NK	C 9	9. NA	VISNOTRUST
I did not think the visits were	useful					1. Y	les	2. N	No	8. NK	C Ç	9. NA	VISNOUSEF

Other, specify:	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	9. NA	VISNOOTHER

IF ANSWER TO 3.1= "2, NO CBSV VISITS RECEIVED", END INTERVIEW HERE, DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH REST OF FORM

Did the CBSV give you a card like this during any of the visits to keep home? [SHOW EXAMPLE OF NEWHINTS FAMILY CARD]

IF yes: Can you show me the card

1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	CARDFAMILY
1. Card presented	2. Card not presented	9. NA	CARDFAMSHW

1. Yes

2. No

VISPREGANY

IF A FAMILY CARD IS PRESENTED, USE IT ALSO TO COMPLETE SECTION 8 AT THE END OF THE INTERVIEW

CBSV VISITS DURING PREGNANCY

READ OUT: I would like to ask you about any visits the CBSV made **DURING PREGNANCY**.

Did you have visits from a CBSV during your pregnancy

If "No", why not?	The CBSV did not know that I was pregnant	t The CI about r but did	3SV knew ny pregnancy n't visit me	I was too busy to receive any visits	I delivered before CBSV could make a visit		VISPREGNOY
	I Moved-In just before or after delivery	Other,	specify:	8. NK.	9. NA, had visits		
How did the CBSV know about your pregnancy? [PROMPT]	1. I/my family informed the CBSV	2. CBSV asked me/my family	3. The Obaapa fieldworker informed the CBSV	4. Other source of information, Specify:	8. NK	9.NA, CBSV didn't know	KNOWPREG

How old was your pregnancy when the CBSV came the first time to discuss the pregnancy or planning for the birth? [WRITE IN MONTHS. 88= NK, 99=NA, no visits received in pregnancy].		VISPRGFRST
How old was your pregnancy when the CBSV came the last time before delivery to discuss the pregnancy or planning for the birth?		VISPRGLAST

[WRITE IN MONTHS. 00= NO SECOND VISIT in pregnancy, 88= NK, 99=NA, no visits received in pregnancy].

CBSV VISITS AFTER DELIVERY

READ OUT: Now I would like to ask you about any visits the CBSV made AFTER DELIVERY.

Did you have any visits from a CBSV after delivery to assess the baby

1. Yes 2. No

VISDELANY

If "No", why not?	The CBSV did n know that I had delivered	ot The CE about n didn't v	3SV knew ny delivery but visit me	I was too busy to receive any visits	I move after del	d just ivery	VISDELNOY
	Other, specify:			8. NK.	9. NA, h	ad visits	
How did the CBSV know about your delivery? [PROMPT]	1. I/my family informed the CBSV	2. CBSV asked me/my family	3. The Obaapa fieldworker informed the CBSV	4. Other source of information, Specify:	8. NK	9.NA, CBSV didn't know	KNOWDEL

IF ANSWER TO 5.1= "2, NO CBSV VISITS AFTER DELIVERY", DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH REST OF SECTION 5 AND 6 AND CONTINUE WITH SECTION 7

VISIT SCHEDULE AFTER DELIVERY:

How soon after delivery did the CBSV make the first visit?	1. Within the first hour	2. After 1 hour but within three hours	3. More than 3 hours but less than 6 hours	4. More than 6 hours after delivery but within a day	VISDELDAY
	5. on the 2 nd day	6. On the 3rd day	7. After 3rd day	8. NK	

CODE NUMBER OF DAYS OF FIRST VISIT AFTER DELIVERY: IF ANSWER TO 5.3 WAS 1-4 ENTER 01, IF ANSWER WAS 5 ENTER 02, IF ANSWER WAS 6 ENTER 03, IF ANSWER WAS 7 ASK HOW MANY DAYS AFTER DELIVERY. (88=NK)

FOR QUESTION D to 0 USE "88" IF VISIT WAS MADE BUT DAYS SINCE DELIVERY OR PREVIOUS VISIT ARE NOT KNOWN; USE "99" IF NO VISIT WAS MADE

How many days later did the CBSV make the next (second) visit?		VISDEL2
How many days later did the CBSV make the next (third) visit?.		VISDEL3
How many days later did the CBSV make the next (fourth) visit?		VISDEL4
How many days later did the CBSV make the next (fifth) visit?		VISDEL5
How many days later did the CBSV make the next (sixth) visit?		VISDEL6
How many days later did the CBSV make the next (seventh) visit?		VISDEL7

VISDEL1

READ OUT: Now I would like to ask you some questions about what the CBSV did:

Did the CBSV weigh the baby on the first visit after delivery?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	WEIGHTDAY1
Did the CBSV weigh the baby on any other visit?	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	WEIGHTOTH

Did the CBSV tell you anything about the weight of your baby?

	1.Yes 2.	No 8. NK	9. NA, Not weighed	WEIGHTTELL
--	----------	----------	--------------------	------------

If yes, what did the CBSV tell	1. The baby was small or	2. The baby's weight was	3. Other, specify	9. NA: Not weighed	WEIGHTINFO
you?	very small	okay			

Did the CBSV take the baby's temperature?	1. Yes, on all visits	2. Yes, on some visits	3No, not at all	8. NK	CHKTEMP
Did the CSBV count the baby's breaths?	1. Yes, on all visits	2. Yes, on some visits	3No, not at all	8. NK	CHKBREATH

REFERRALS

At any of the visits, After the CBSV checked your baby, did they tell you that you needed to take your baby to get treatment at a health facility?			1. Yes	2. No	REFCBSV
If Yes, what was the reason for this?	1. Baby sick	2. Baby very small	8. NK	9. NA	REFWHY

IF NO REFERRAL, DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH REST OF SECTION 6 AND CONTINUE WITH SECTION 7

Did the CBSV give you a referral slip like this? [SHOW EXAMPLE OF REFERRAL SLIP]	1. Yes	2. No	8. NK	REFSLIP
If yes, can you show it to me?	1. Referral slip shown	2. Referral slip not shown		REFSLIPSHW

IF A REFERRAL SLIP IS PRESENTED, USE IT ALSO TO COMPLETE SECTION 9 AT THE END OF THE INTERVIEW

Did the CBSV discuss any of the following ways of caring for your baby on the way to the facility?:

Keeping the baby skin to skin	1. Yes	2. No	8.NK	REFDISSSC
Keeping the baby well wrapped (if skin to skin not done)	1. Yes	2. No	8.NK	REFDISWRAP
Breastfeeding continuously	1. Yes	2. No	8.NK	REFDISBF

Did you take the baby to the facility?	1. Yes	2. No	REFTAKE
--	--------	-------	---------

If "No", why not?

CIRCLE ALL THOSE MENTIONED. DO NOT PROMPT

Financial constraints	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOFINAN
Transport constraints	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOTRANS
Husband did not allow	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOALLOW
Husband not at home	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOHUSBA
Waiting to see if baby improved	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOWAIT
Used herbal or home treatment/ visited trad. healer first	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOHERB
Thought baby was okay	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOOKAY
Other, specify:	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFNOOTHER

IF THEY DID NOT TAKE THE BABY, DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH REST OF SECTION 6 AND CONTINUE WITH SECTION 7

How soon were you able to take the baby to the facility?

1. Within 1	2. After 1 hour	3. More than 3 hrs	REFWHEN
hour	but within 3 hours	but within a day	
4. Next day	5. Two (2) or more days later	8. NK	

If you did not take the baby to the facility on the same day, why not?

CIRCLE ALL THOSE MENTIONED. DO NOT PROMPT

Financial constraints	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFDLFINAN
Transport constraints	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFDLTRANS
Husband did not allow	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFDLALLOW
Husband not at home	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFDLHUSBA
Waiting to see if baby improved	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFDLWAIT
Used herbal or home treatment/ visited trad. healer first	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFDLHERB
Other, specify:	1. Mentioned	2. Not Mentioned	9. NA	REFDLOTHER

FOR THE FOLLOWING QUESTION EXPLORE HOW MANY FACILITIES THE MOTHER TOOK THE BABY TO FOLLOWING THE REFERRAL BY THE CBSV (Either because she chose to consult

more than one or because she was referred on)

To how many facilities in total did you end up taking your baby to after the CBSV told you to?

1. One	2. Two	3. Three	4. More than three	9. NA	REFFACNR
--------	--------	----------	--------------------	-------	----------

Ask the following questions 0 to 6.12 only for the <u>FIRST</u> facility they took the baby to:

								1
To which facility did you take your baby FIRST ?		Facility	Facility Name=					
WRITE FACILITY CODE FIRST FACILI	ITY:							REF1CODE
How did you get to this (first) facility? [RECORD MAIN WAY ONLY]	1. Walked	2. Bicycle	;	3. Mc	otorbike	4. Tro Bus	-Tro /	REF1TRANS
	5. Taxi	6. Private	car	7. Otł	ner, speci	ify:		
Did you do any of the following on the way	to the FIRST	facility?						
Keeping the baby skin to skin		·			1. Yes	2.	No	REF1SSC
Keeping the baby well wrapped (if skin to s	skin not done)				1. Yes	2.	No	REF1WRAP
Breastfeeding continuously					1. Yes	2.	No	REF1BF
In this (first) facility, how quickly were you seen by a health worker?	1. Less than 30 minutes	2. More than minutes but le than 1 hour	30 ess	3.Mo hour than	ore than to but less 3 hours	4. 1 3 h	More than ours	REF1WAIT
Was your baby admitted in this (first) facilit	ty you went to?	1. Yes, admitted 4 Sent hor treatment	me wit	2. NO, to anot facility th e	, referred ther 7 5. Sen treatm	3. T fact sen t home, ent	Freated at ility and t home no	REF1ADMIT
Did you go to a second facility? And why?	1. Yes, becau was referred	se the baby	2. Ye on ou	s, not i ir own	referred l initiative	out went	t 3. No	REF2TAKE
IF ONLY ONE FACILITY WAS VISITE	ED , DRAW D	OUBLE LINI	E THF	ROUG	H QUES	STIONS	5 0 to 6.2	5
Ask the following questions 0 to 0 only	for the <u>SECO</u>	<u>ND</u> facility t	hey to	ok the	e baby to	:		
What was the name of this (second) facility	?	Facility N	ame=					
WRITE FACILITY CODE SECOND FAC	CILITY:							REF2CODE
Did you go straight away to this (second) fac	cility	1. Yes	-	2. No, home t	went first	3. No	o, other	REF2STRAIT
How did you get to this (second) facility? [RECORD MAIN WAY ONLY]	1. Walked	2. Bicycle		3. Mot	orbike	4. Tro-	Tro / Bus	REF2TRANS

	5. Taxi	6. Private car	7. Other, specify:		
In this (second) facility, how quickly were you seen by a health worker?	1. Less than 30 minutes	2. More than 30 minutes but less than 1 hour	3.More than 1 hour but less than 3 hours	4. More than 3 hours	REF2WAIT
		1. Yes,	2. NO, referred to another	3. Treated at facility and	REF2ADMIT

Was your baby admitted in this (second) facility you went to?

1. Yes,	2. NO, re to anothe	ferred r	3. Treated at facility and	REF2ADM
admitted	facility		sent home	1121 21 1210
4 Sent home with 5. Sent		home, no		
treatment to give treatme		nt		

Did you go to a third facility? And why?

1. Yes, because the baby	2. Yes, not referred but	3 No	DEE2TAVE
was referred	went on our own initiative		KEF5IAKE

IF ONLY TWO FACILITIES WERE VISITED, DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH QUESTIONS 0 to 0 Ask the following questions 0 to 0 only for the <u>THIRD</u> facility they took the baby to:

What was the name of this (third) facility??			Facility Name=					
WRITE FACILITY CODE THIRD FACILITY:								REF3CODE
Did you go straight away to this (third) facility		1.	Yes	2. No, went home first 3. No, of		, other	REF3STRAIT	
How did you get to this (third) facility? [RECORD MAIN WAY ONLY]	1. Walked	2.	Bicycle	3. Motort	oike 4.	Tro-7	Γro / Bus	REF3TRANS
	5. Taxi	xi 6. Pri		7. Other, specify:				
In this (third) facility, how quickly were you seen by a health worker?	1. Less than 30 minutes	2. More than 30 minutes but less than 1 hour		3.More than 1 hour but less than 3 hours		4. N 3 hc	fore than ours	REF3WAIT
Was your baby admitted in this (third) facili	ty you went to	?	1. Yes, admitted 4 Sent home w	2. NO, ret to another facility	ferred r 5. Sent	3. T facil sent home	reated at lity and home	REF3ADMIT

GENERAL QUESTIONS ABOUT THE VISITS

READ OUT: Now, I would like to ask you some general questions about all the visits that you received from the CBSV, both in pregnancy and after delivery.

treatment to give

treatment

Apart from you and the CBSV, who participated in the visits? [PROM	PT]	

Mother or mother-in-law	1. Yes	2. No	VISPRESMOT
-------------------------	--------	-------	------------

Husband/father of the baby	1. Yes	2. No	VISPRESHUS	
Sister/sister in law	1. Yes	2. No	VISPRESSIS	
ТВА	1. Yes	2. No	VISPRESTBA	
Other. Specify:	1. Yes	2. No	VISPRESOTH	
Was your CBSV male or female?	1. Male	2. Female	CBSVSEX	
Did the gender of the CBSV matter to you?	1. Yes	2. No	CBSVSEXMAT	
Did the CBSV have the same ethnicity as you?	1. Yes	2. No	8.NK	CBSVETHNIC
If 7.4= "2, No" : Did it matter to you that the CBSV had a different ethnicity?	1. Yes	2. No	9. NA: CBSV same ethnicity	CBSVETHMAT
IF 7.5= "1, Yes", can you explain why? [WRITE IN CAPITALS] :				CBSVETHWHY
If you become pregnant again, would you like the CBSV to come and visit you again	1.Yes	2. No	8. NK	CBSVFUTURE
Would you recommend the CBSV visits to other women in the community?	1.Yes	2. No	8. NK	CBSVRECOM
				ODV
IF FAMILI CAKD WAS PRESENTED EARLIER EAPLAIN I.		WOULD NO	W LIKE IUC	Uri

IF FAMILY CARD WAS PRESENTED EARLIER EXPLAIN THAT YOU WOULD NOW LIKE TO COPY INFORMATION FROM THE CARD

OTHERWISE DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH SECTION 8 AND GO TO SECTION 9

CBSV Name: (WRITE "BLANK" IF NAME NOT FILLED)						
CBSV ID [TO BE ENTERED BY NEWHINTS TEAM]						CBSVID
COPY FROM APPOINTMENTS TABLE ON "NEWHINT USE "77 77 77" IF "DAY OF DELIVERY" IS WRITTEN USE "99 99 99" IF DATES LEFT BLANK Date of next visit	S FAM	IILY	CARD	,,,,		_
Date of next visit: 1						CARDVIS1
Date of next visit: 2						CARDVIS2
Date of next visit: 3						CARDVIS3
Date of next visit :4						CARDVIS4

Date of next visit :5								C	ARDVIS5
Date of next visit :6								C	ARDVIS6
Date of next visit :7								C	ARDVIS7
Date of next visit :8								C	ARDVIS8
Date of next visit :9								C	ARDVIS9
Date of delivery:								CARI	DATEDEL
	1. Day of	2. 1 day	after	3.20	or more	days		11 1	

First visit after delivery on (circle)

 1. Day of delivery
 2. 1 day after delivery
 3. 2 or more days after delivery
 9. Not Filled
 CARDELVISI

BIRTH WEIGHT: COPY INFO FROM CARD. IF COLOUR IS LEFT BLANK USE "9", NOT FILLED" IF WEIGHT IS LEFT BLANK, USE "9.9"



IF "REFERRALS" SECTION ON FAMILY CARD IS LEFT COMPLETELY BLANK: DRAW DOUBLE LINE ACROSS 8.6 AND 8.7

DATE REFERRED : COPY INFO FROM CARD. USE "99 99 99 " IF LEFT BLANK

Date referred :				CARDATREF1
Date referred :				CARDATREF2
Date referred :				CARDATREF3

REASON REFERRED : COPY INFO FROM CARD. USE "9, NA or Not Filled" IF LEFT BLANK

Reason referred :	1. Very small	2. Sick	9. NA, or Not Filled	CARWHYREF1
Reason referred :	1. Very small	2. Sick	9. NA, or Not Filled	CARWHYREF2
Reason referred :	1. Very small	2. Sick	9. NA, or Not Filled	CARWHYREF3

IF REFERRAL SLIP WAS PRESENTED EARLIER, EXPLAIN THAT YOU WOULD NOW LIKE TO COPY INFORMATION FROM THE REFERRAL SLIP OTHERWISE DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH SECTION 9, THANK THE MOTHER, END **INTERVIEW**

COPY FROM REFERRAL SLIP:

Age of baby (in days)						REFSLPAGE	
Date referred :						REFSLPDATE	
Seen at facilty by	1. Filled		1. Filled 2. I		2. No	t filled	 REFSEENFAC
Date (seen)						REFSEENDTE	

THANK THE MOTHER AND END THE INTERVIEW

14.5 Postpartum Form

KINTAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CE	NTRE	POSTPART For	m No.	FORMNO
KIVAP OBAAPAVITA PROJECT				1 OKUM (O
POSTPARTUM FORM 301003 ENG				
1. BACKGROUND and ID:				 7
1.1. Cluster code:				CLUSTER
1.2. Woman's name		·		
1.3. Woman's ID :				WOMANID
1.4. Date of visit:				DATEVISIT
1.5. Staff code:		·····		FW

2. STATUS:

2.1. Status at time of visit:

1. Present	2. Currently in hospital	3. Temporarily absent	STATUS
4. Died	5. Moved out	6.Withdrawn	

IF STATUS = "3", "5" OR "6" DRAW A DOUBLE LINE THROUGH THE REST OF THE FORM. IF STATUS = "2" OR "4" FIND ANOTHER PERSON TO ANSWER THE QUESTIONS FOR THE STUDY WOMAN IF POSSIBLE.

3. MATERNAL POSTPARTUM MORBIDITY:

Since my last visit to you 4 weeks ago have you had:

	3.1. Heavy bleeding?	1. Yes	2. No	PPBLEED
	3.2. Bleeding with large clots?	1. Yes	2. No	PPCLOTS
	3.3.Convulsions like in children?	1. Yes	2. No	PPCONVUL
	3.4. Hot body?	1. Yes	2. No	PPFEVER
	3.5. 'Fainting'	1. Yes	2. No	PPFAINT
	3.6. Jaundice (not fever alone)	1. Yes	2. No	PPJAUNDICE
	. 3.7. Foul smelling vaginal discharge?	1. Yes	2. No	PPDISCHARGE
	3.8. Chest pain or pain in the ribs?	1. Yes	2. No	PPCHEST
	3.9. Any other serious problem that I have not mentioned [SPECIFY]:	1. Yes	2. No	PPOTHPROB
3.10. Did you se	eek care at a clinic or hospital or consult a traditional healer for any of the	1. Yes	2. No] PPILL
problems you ha	ave tota me about (1

3.11. How long were you in labour before the baby was born (that is from the start of regular or painful contractions)?

	1. Less than 4 hrs	2. 4 to 11 hrs	3. 12 to 23 hrs	4	. 24 hou	irs or more	8.NK	9. NA, CS	TIMELAB
3.	12. Did you think th	nis was too long?	1. Yes, to	oo long	2. No,	normal dura,	ion 8.	Cannot tell	TIMENORM
3.	13. How much did ; 0000000 = DID N	your delivery cost you OT PAY; 8888888 = 1	? IN CEDIS DON'T KNOW						AMTPAID
3.	14. At what time of	the day was the baby	born?						
	1. 5am-7am	2. 8am-12pm	3. 1pm-4pm	4. 5pm-8	pm 5	5. 9pm-1am	6. 2ar	n-4am	TIMEDAY
3.	15. Are you having	any problems with bro	eastfeeding?				1. Yes	s 2. No	BFEEDPROB
3.	16. What problem?	1. No/not enough	2. Cracked	/painful	3. Bre	east infection	swollen	, "pompo",	TYPEBFPROB
		milk 4. Other:	nipples		pai 9. NA	inful, dischar A, no problem	v dead		
3.17 Has the baby had the BCG/TB immunisation? DEMONSTRATE 1. Yes 2. No 8. NK 9. NA, WHERE IMMUNISATION IS INJECTED INTO ARM 2. No 8. NK Stillbirth									BCG
N	OW ASK THE WC	DMAN FOR HER PIN	K ANTENATA	L/POSTNA	ATAL C	CARE CARE).		_
2	18 Is there a record	l of the woman having	received vitemi	nΛ		$1 \operatorname{Vos} 2$	$N_{O} \mid Q$	No cord	MEGADOSE

3.18. Is there a record of the woman having received vitamin A	1. Yes	2. No	8. No card	MEGADOSE
after delivery on the card?				

END OF POSTPARTUM FORM. CHECK YOUR FORM AND THANK THE RESPONDENT
14.6 Infant Form

KINTAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CENTER						NT For	n No.				
KIVAP OBAAPAVITA PRO	OJECT										FORMNO
INFANT FORM 120209											
1. BACKGROUND and ID:											
1.1. Cluster code:											CLUSTER
1.2. Woman's ID :											WOMANID
1.3 Woman's name						II		II II			
1.4. Infant ID number:									С		INFANTID
1.5. Infant visit number:			· · · · · · · · · · · · ·								INFVISIT
Date of visit:											DATEVISIT
1.7. Staff code:											FW
2. STATUS:											
Status at time of visit:	1. Present		2. C	urrer	ently in hospital 3. Te (for			emporarily absent or another reason)			ISTATUS
	4. Died		5. M	loved	l out		6.W	lithdrawr	1		
Date of death [DRAW A LIN	E THROUGH II	F NOT AF	PPLICAE	BLE]							IDATEDIED
IF THE ANSWER TO 2.1 IS SECTIONS 3 AND 4 ONLY OTHERWISE, END INTERV BABY IS DEAD, END INTE MORBIDITY:	"2. Currently in 1 IF THE MOTHE TEW AND DRA RVIEW. DRAW	nospital" (R OR US W A LIN / A LINE	OR "3. T JUAL CA IE ACRO ACROS	empo AREF OSS 7 S TH	orarily a R OF TH THE RE IE RES'	bsent", HE INFA ST OF ′ T OF TI	CONT ANT IS THE F HE FO	TINUE W S PRESE CORM. I RM	VITH ENT. F THE		
In the past month did [name c him/her to a clinic, hospita	hild] have a serio 1, or traditional h	ous illness lealer beca	s for whic ause he/s	ch yo he w	ou took as ill?			1. Yes	2. No	C	ISEEKCARE
Was he/she admitted?					1. Ye	s 2.1	No	9. NA,	not been	ı ill	IADMITTED
Where was he/she admitted? [ENTER CODE F	FROM FA	CILITY	KEY	۲]			1			HOSPITAL

SAY THAT YOU WILL NOW ASK SOME MORE QUESTIONS ABOUT THE LAST 24 HOURS

In the last 24 hours was this baby put to the mother's breast?.....

1. Yes 2. No 8. NK CURRBF

In the last 24 hours, why was the baby not put to the mother's breast? IF Q4.1. WAS "1/YES" CIRCLE "99/NA"

11. Mother ill / weak	12. Child ill / weak	13. Child died	CURRREAS							
14. Nipple / breast problem	15. Not enough milk	16. Mother working								
17. Child refused	18. Child reached weaning age	19. Mother became pregnant or								
		delivered another child								
20. Mother started using	21. Other:	99. NA, mother did breastfeed baby								
contraception		in the last 24 hours								

In the last 24 hours was the baby offered anything else?: [PROMPT]
breastmilk from another woman?
other milk: [PROMPT for]: cow's milk, tinned milk, infant formula,
Lactogen, SMA?
other fluids: [PROMPT for]: water, tea traditional medicine
any foods: [PROMPT for]: any solid foods, gruels, porridge, bread, rice,
cerelac, nutrimix?
In the last 24 hours has the baby been well?
·
In the last 24 hours has the baby been able to suckle or feed in a normal
way?
Did the baby sleep under a bednet last night?
Did the baby sleep under a bednet last night?

IMMUNIZATIONS

Since the baby was born, did you take the baby to a health facility for immunizations and or weighing

Can I see the Child Health Records card for this baby?

IF CARD IS NOT PRODUCED DRAW DOUBLE LINE THROUGH REST OF FORM, END INTERVIEW

OPEN THE CARD TO THE 'VITAMIN A SUPPLEMENTATION' PAGE (PAGE 2). COPY THE DATES AND DOSAGES FOR **ALL** VITAMIN A DOSES THAT HAVE BEEN RECEIVED (I.E. WHERE BOXES FOR THE DATE AND DOSE ARE FILLED IN), WHETHER THEY OCCURRED IN THE PREVIOUS MONTH OR NOT. USE "88 88 88" and "888" IF DATE AND / OR DOSE ARE LEFT BLANK.

Vitamin A 1	DATE				DOSE		0	0	0	IU	VADATE1 VADOSE1
Vitamin A 2	DATE				DOSE		0	0	0	IU	VADATE2 VADOSE2
Vitamin A 3	DATE				DOSE		0	0	0	IU	VADATE3 VADOSE3

1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	CURROTH
1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	CURRFLUIE
1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	CURRSOLIE
1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	CURRWELL
1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	CURRSUCK
1. Yes	2 No	8. NK	IBEDNET

8. NK

1. Yes

2 No

CURRWET

1. Yes	2. No	PNCEVER		
1. Card	2. Card not			
produced	produced	CHRCARD		

Vitamin A 4 DATE							DOSE				0	0	0	IU	VADATE4 VADOSE4
------------------	--	--	--	--	--	--	------	--	--	--	---	---	---	----	--------------------

OPEN THEN CARD TO THE 'IMMUNISATIONS' PAGE (PAGE 3). COPY THE DATES FOR **ALL** VACCINATIONS THAT HAVE BEEN RECEIVED (I.E. WHERE BOXES FOR THE DATE, PLACE GIVEN, ETC. ARE FILLED IN), WHETHER THEY OCCURRED IN THE PREVIOUS MONTH OR NOT. USE "88 88 88" IF DATE IS LEFT BLANK.

TUBERCULOSIS (BCG)

At Birth	DATE							BCGDATE
POLIOMELITUS (OPV) (BIRTH	I)							
At Birth	DATE							OPVBDATE
1st (6 weeks)	DATE							OPV1DATE
2nd (10 weeks)	DATE							OPV2DATE
3rd (14 weeks)	DATE							OPV3DATE
DIPHTERIAL/PERTUSSIS/HEP	ATITIS B	/HAE	MOPI	HILUS	5 INFI	LUEN	ZAE I	3
1 st (6 weeks)	DATE							DPTHH1DATE
2nd (10 weeks)	DATE							DPTHH2DATE
3rd (14 weeks)	DATE							DPTHH3DATE
MEASLES (9 months)	DATE							MEASLSDATE
YELLOW FEVER (9 months)	DATE							YFEVRDATE

END OF INFANT FORM. THANK THE RESPONDENT AND CHECK YOUR FORM

14.7 Month Pregnancy Form

KINTAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CENTER	MONTH (PREGNANCY) Form No.	
		FORMNO
KIVAP OBAAPAVITA PROJECT		
MONTH (PREGNANCY) FORM		

BACKGROUND and ID:

1.1 Cluster code:										CLUSTER
1.2 Woman's ID :										WOMANID
1.3 Woman's name										
1.4 Week group:	1.5 Month visit number:									
1.6 Pregnancy visit number: .							•••••			PREGVISIT
Date of visit:										DATEVISIT
1.8 Staff code:										FW
]
2. EVENTS:										1
Status at time of visit:	1. Present2. Currently in hospital3. Temporarily absended (for another reason)							sent son)	STATUS	
	4. Died		5. Move	d out		6.W	ithdrav	vn		
	L									1

2.2 Date of death [DRAW A LINE THROUGH IF NOT APPLICABLE]

STOP IF THE WOMAN IS NOT PRESENT. DRAW A LINE ACROSS THE REST OF THE FORM. IF

THE WOMAN IS DEAD COMPLETE QUESTIONS 3.1 TO 3.3. IF THE ANSWER IS "1" "2" "3" OR "4" FILL IN A **BIRTH FORM**

3. PREGNANCY:

3.1 Are you still pregnant?	1. Yes	2. No	PREGNANT
IF THE ANSWER is 2, No, ASK HOW THE PREGNANCY ENDED			J

3.2 What happened?

1. "wawo"	2. "wawo atwene"	3. "wasane awoe"	4. "wapon ba"	ENDPREG
(term live birth)	(term stillbirth)	(live birth, but died)	(premature, lost the baby)	
5. ectopic	6. "apon"/"asei" (lost before 6mo)	7. False alarm	9. NA, still pregnant	

3.3 Date pregnancy ended [09/09/09 IF STILL PREGNANT]

DATDELIV

DATEDIED

IF SHE GAVE BIRTH, ie. "1", "2", "3", OR "4", COMPLETE THIS FORM, THEN FILL IN A BIRTH FORM.

4. GENERAL MORBIDITY:

Now I want to ask you about any illnesses you've had since my last vis	sit.				
4.1 Have you been ill?				2. No	ILL
4.2 Was the illness severe enough for you to seek care outside the home, that is, go to a doctor, clinic or traditional healer?	1. Yes	2. No	9. NA, not ill		HOWILL
4.3 Were you admitted to the clinic or hospital?	1. Yes	2. No	9. NA, not ill		ADMITTED
4.4 Where were you admitted? [ENTER CODE FROM FACILITY KEY]					

END OF MONTH PREGNANCY FORM. CHECK YOUR FORM. AND THANK HER FOR HER TIME.

14.8 Month Standard Form

KINTAMPO HEALTH RESEARCH CENTER		MONTH (STANDARD) Form No.					FORMNO	
KIVAP OBAAPAVITA PROJECT								
MONTH (STANDARD) FORM								
BACKGROUND and ID:					n			_
1.1 Cluster code:								CLUSTER
1.2 Woman's ID:								WOMANID
1.3 Woman's name								
1.4 Week group:	1.5 Month visit number:							MONTHNO
1.6 Date of visit:								DATEVISIT
1.7 Staff code								FW
2. EVENTS:		1						
Status at time of visit:	1. Present	2. Current	atly in hospital 3. Tempo (for and				absent ason)	STATUS
	4. Died	5. Moved	out 6.Withdrawn					
2.2 Date of death [DRAW A LINE THROUGH IF NOT APPLICABLE]								DATEDIED
STOP IF THE WOMAN IS NOT PRI	ESENT. DRAW A LINE ACRO	SS THE RE	ST OF TH	E FORM	1			_
2.3 Are you pregnant?						1. Yes	2. No	PREGNANT
3. MORBIDITY:								
3.1 In the past month, since my last visit	, have you been ill?					1. Yes	2. No	ILL
3.2 Was the illness severe enough for you to seek care outside the home, that is, go to a doctor, clinic or traditional healer?		1. Yes	2. N	ю	9. NA, not ill		HOWILL	
3.3 Were you admitted to the clinic or he	hospital? 1. Yes 2. No 9. Not applicable			plicable	ADMITTED			
3.4 Where were you admitted? [ENTER	CODE FROM FACILITY KEY]							HOSPITAL

END OF MONTH FORM. . CHECK YOUR FORM. AND THANK HER FOR HER TIME.